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FOREWORD

From time immemonal, Tirumala, the Holy Abode of Lord
Venkateswara has been venerated as one of the most hallowed
places The Vedas, ancient Tamul works of the Sangam period,
the pasurams of Alwars and the sankirtanas of Tallapaka poets
proclaim that the Lord of Seven Hills 1s the most blissful Archa
form of Snman Narayana Many great dynasties of the South,
especially the Pallavas, the Cholas, the Pandyas, and the
Vijayanagar emperors lhberally patromsed the Tirumala temple
and the inscniptions found on the walls 1n the temples at Tirumala
and Tirupati give more or less a vivid picture of the Temple and its
admmstration from ninth century to eighteenth century

SnTKT Viraraghavacharya's History of Tirupati' which
was first published i 1953 deals with the history of the temple, its
layout and general admimistration  After closely studying the avail-
able source matenals like the inscriptions, ancient records and
Iiterary works, late Sn Viraraghavacharya has meticulously brought
out a comprehenseve account of the temples of Tirumala and
Thirupati  The author who was basically an engineer by profession
combines his scientific spint of enquiry with his traditional theis-
tic approach to present a lucid and fairly accurate History of
Tirumala Temple

It 15 also our endeavour to bring out many more books on
sanatana dharma, agamas, temple art and architecture, scriptural
texts, besides tllustrated books for our young readers Much em-
phasis 1s also laid on reprinting some of the popular publications
which were not available for several years

EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Tirumala Tirupati Devasthanams
Tirupati






INTRODUCTION.

"The History of Tirupati by the lste Dr. S.
Krishnaswami Ayyangar, published by the Tirumala-
Tirupati Devasthanams Committee, dealt with the
settind in which the sacred Temple of Sri Venka.
teswara existed under the administration of Hindu,
Muslim and British rulers. Such mention as was
possible was made, therein, of the various costly
endowments and Bifts to the Temple. In the present
work, the author deals, in addition, with the reliious,
social and economic aspects of the Temple, the evoln.
tion of the norm of worship and its effect on the
worshippers,

The author traces the changes that have occurred
in the norm of worship pari passu with the develop.
ment of the metaphysical and philosophical ideas of
the Upanishads as expounded by Sri Ramanuja. He
also traces how the Tamil Prabandhams came to find
a place in the ritual, even though worship in all
Vaishnavite temples were exclusively governed by the
appropriate Apamas. In separate chapters, he deals
with how food-offerings came into existence as part
of ritusl, how endowments for the purpose were made,
abused and attempted to be set right; the structural
development from a one-room Koyil-Alwar to a hupe
Temple. th. form of the Murti and the euthorities
therefor; and, when and how other idols were insta-
lled there. The temples of Sri Govindaraja end Sri
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Ramaswsmi and other shrines at Tirupati have been
presented to the reader in detail topether with the
manner and reasons for their affiliation with the main
Temple of Sri Venkateswara. )

A separate chapter is devoted to a retrospect of
the Temple administration from ancient times setting
out lucidly and cogently the menner in which the
Temple was managed originally by the Srikaryakarta
appointed by the Pallava Kings; then by the Sabhai-
yar constituted by the village assembly of Tiruchanur
during the period of the later Pallava and Chola
Kings; thereafter, by the Sthanattar appointed by the
Yadavarayas; and how after the Yadavarayss, the
Sthanattar divided themselves into two units, one for
the secular and the other for the religious admini-
stration of the Temple until it passed into the hands
of the Nawab of Arcot.

The author has devoted four separate chapters to
the development and zenith of the Temple, the
increase of ‘food offerings and festivals and consoli-
dation of the religious community during the
Vijayanagar reign i, from the time of Saluva
Narasimha to Sadasivaraya and the Aravidu Kings.

Separate chapters have also been devoted for the
Apamas and the Alwars and Acharyas. The author’s
presentation of the several forgotten portions of the
Apamas is original and will dispel the general impres-
swn that temple worship is merely pantheistic.

The work 1s very original and the suthor's deep
study, of not only the inscriptions but also of the
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INTRODUCTION

various sacted texts has resulted in Riving a rational
explanation of the various, and even minute, deteils
of worship and endowment, the interconnections of
which have been forgotten or rendered obliviohs
through the dim vista of distant centuries. I trust
this will be the first in the line of such thought—pro.
voking works in respect of religious institutions and
hope that managements of other such institutions will
have all their historic records collected and presented
by competent persons to the worshippers.

The author is eminently fitted to have undertaken
this work and he has done it in 8 way worthy of the
great traditions of his family and of his personality.
It is his life mission and he has placed the world
under 3rest gratitude. At this ade that he should
have atterpted this task and finished so well speaks
volumes of his sincerity and devotion to this task.

MADRAS,

2-2-1953 } (Sd.) K. VENKATASWAMI NaIDU






PREFACE.

At an age past seventy, while I was compiling a table of latitudes
and longitudes for various places in India, the Will of God slowly
instilled into me the idea of writing this book on the famous temple
of Tirupati or Tiruvengadam. While I was attempting to find
out from ancient inscriptions the chronological methods of recording
the dates and the changes in such methods from time to time,
I referred to the Tirumalai-Tirupati Devasthanam Inscriptions
published in six volumes. Going through the first of the volumcs,
the polished language and the deep piety in which some of them
were couched evoked my interest in the higher aspect of the subject
matter of the same. Particularly, the imprecation in Inscription
No. 8 in Vol. I caught my imagination. The devout Princess
Samavai, in making endowments to the Silver Murti of Bhoga
Srinivasa installed by her in 966 A.D., says “ Both the feet of
those who protect this Dharmar shall for ever be adornments
to my head” and appeals to Sri Vaishnavas in particular to protect
the charity. This is very inspiring relief to the other inscriptions
relating to later foundations of charity in referring to which the
donors invoked curses on those who disturb them saying “ Those
who disturb this charity shall be incurring the sin of having slaugh-
tered a hundred cows in Kasi.” The inspiration produced by
the love of mankind, the piety and humility of no less thana Princess
of the time can only be felt. Such was the height of culture of
our mothers and fathers in ancient India much of which has been
lost but which, I dare say, could still be revived.

Thus inspired, in my quest I could not find any work dealing
with the structural, religious, ritualistic, economic, administrative
and social developments of the temple. I have, therefore, in my
humble way traced in this book how from probably an open wooden
structure as might be inferred from Kulasekhara Alwarls songs,
the temple has developed by stages of a single-room stone structure
which was thereafter reinforced by a wall outside into its present
size and magnificence, how Samavai installed the silver Murti
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of Bhoga Srinivasa with the resultant increase of worshippers;
how the Vaikhanasa Agamic form of worship yielded itself to
the present form from the time of Ramanuja; how social equality
was put into practice and achieved to a great extent by the adoption
of Nammalwar’s Tiruvoimo]i, during religious gatherings and
festivals, inculcating the Bhakti form of worship; how the taxation
policy of the state was framed from time to time with a view to
developing the temple and the cult it stood for with particular refer-
ence to the taxes that existed; how food offerings were introduced
tackling successfully socio-economic problems; how endowments
were conceived, founded and administered by various classes
of people at various stages of development with various objects;
how the administration passed by stages from state control to
popular control, from the Madaptyadar appointed by the /King
to the Sabhaiyar or committee chosen by the King and later to
the Sthanattar chosen by persons interested in the institution
and the shape things took up to the present day through the Muslim
and British rule.

In order to set forth the structural and ritualistic significance
of the temple, I had to study the Agamas in their original as there
is no work dealing with the subject in any of the popular languages.
1 have endeavoured to present in English, with as much detail as
possible, the significance of the Agamic forms in a separate chapter.
Likewise, 1 have devoted separate chapters for the Alwars and
Acharyas and their influence on the Temple and on the spread
of Srivaishnavism. In separate chapters, I have dealt with the
historical connection of the various rulers of the land with this
Temple.

1 am grateful to the Lord who enabled me to complete a work
which, from its nature and volume, would have been too formidable
to attempt at any age, with decaying health and an eye-sight which
has almost failed. In writing this work, the one thing I tangibly
felt is that, if He wills nothing is impossible. He gave me the
steadfastness, energy, eye-sight and the willing and affectionate
co-operation of eminent men and good friends who never felt tired
to give me suggestions and some of whom sat for hours with me
doing tiresome work. I shall be failing in my duty if I do not specially
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thank Dr. B. S. Baliga, the Curator, and Sri M. C. Subramanya Iyer,
the Assistant Curator, Madras Record Office, for the advice and
suggestions they gave me from the time I began this work. I have
also to thank the Hon'ble Justice Sri P. V. Rajamannar, the
Hon’ble Justice P. Rajagopalan and Sri V.K. Narasimhan of
The Hindu for reading through the first draft of the book and
giving me encouraging advice. I feel highly grateful to Sri C.
Rajagopalachariar, the Chief Minister of Madras, and Sri K.
Venkataswami Naidu Garu, the Minister for Endowments, to
the former for the Foreword and the latter for the Introduction
to this book. The Members of the T. T. Devasthanam Committee
with Sri Venkataswami Naidu Garu as the President have en-
couraged me by taking it as a Devasthanam publication. The
present Board of Trustees and their Chairman, Sri V. S. Thyagaraja
Mudaliar, have evinced keen interest in getting the work completed.
Sri C. Anna Rao Garu, the very energetic and talented Executive
Officer of the Devasthanams, has been continuously taking deep
interest in the publication without which it could not have been
completed so early. My thanks are also due to Sri Parthasarathy
Bhattacharya for reading through the chapter on Temples and
Agamas and giving usefu! siiggestions. Sti D. T. Tatacharya, M.O.L.,
has not only been going through the proofs carefully and giving
valuable advice but also has been seeing to my properly interpreting
the Siddhantha aspect of temple worship. Sri T. R. Narasimhan, B.A
the Superintendent of the T.T.D. Press has been largely
responsible for having the work executed in the Press and
for getting the blocks of the drawings and pictures carefully
prepared. Sri P. Chenchuramiah, the Devasthanam Draftsman,
prepared the important drawings and the tracings for making
the blocks. My sincere thanks are due to them. Lastly, I have
to say that no thanks can adequately express my deep debt to
Sri M. Narasimhachariar, Assistant Public Prosecutor, Chittoor,
for sparing continuously a portion of his valuable time for correcting
my manuscripts, giving instructive suggestions and, in short, for
dealing with this work as his own.

12—1—-53. T. K. T. VIRARAGHAVACHARI
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HISTORY OF TIRUPATI

(The Tirumala, Tirupati Temples)
CHAPTER 1

TIRUMALA, TIRUPATI AND TIRUCHANUR.
Geography, Topography and Topology.

TIRUMALA has always been known by its ancient name
Vengadam (Tiruvengadam); and the Hill on which the Temple
stands was known as the Vengadam Hills. Tirupati owes its
importance to having been, from the date of its founding, a necessary
adjunct to Tirumala. Sri Ramanuja is said to have done this
about the beginning of the twelfth century A.D. But the precise
date cannot now be ascertaiued directly with any degree of accuracy.
There was obviously a very petty village with a small shrine of Sri
Parthasarathy Swami even before Sri Ramanuja’s advent. There
is, however, neither inscriptional evidence nor tradition about this.
Tiruchanur, known in ancient days as Tiruchchokinur and Tiruch-
chukanur, is more ancient than Tirupati, although it cannot claim
the same antiquity as Vengadam. Chandragiri is another place
about 7 miles West of Tirupati and about 5 miles South of the
Hill; and the road from Chandragiri affords a second access to
the Tirumala Temple.

A glance at the map usually attached to the ! M. & S.M. Railway
guide will show that a Metre gauge chord line from Katpadi junction
to Renigunta junction and thence to the Gudur junction connects
Tirupati with the Broad gauge S.W., N.W. and N.E. lines of that
railway system, all converging towards Madras. To follow the
modern practice of locating places, we may state that

Tirumala is in Lat. 13°41' N Long. 79°-21' E.

Tirupati is in Lat. 13°-38" N Long. 79°-25' E.

Tiruchchukanur in Lat. 13°-364' Long. 79°-27" E.

Chandragiri is in Lat. 13°-35}’ Long. 79°-19}' E
"1, Now it is calied Southern Railway and thereis Broad gauge fiom
Renigunta to Tirupati.
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Tirupati is served by a railway station which is located at
almost the south-east end of the town. Tiruchanur has a railway
station about two miles away from the village. Chandragiri
Railway Station is practically between the Tirumala Hill and the
village of Chandragiri. To reach Tirupati pilgrims have to change
from the Broad gauge to the metre gauge at Katpadi, Renigunta
or Gudur.!

The traditional . ascent to the Hill has been from Tirupati,
crossing a series of seven hills or ridges by a pathway paved mostly
with rough sandstone boulders, although in later years cut-stone
steps were introduced where steep ascents and descents have to
be negotiated. Even this ascent has now become antiquated owing
to the construction of a metalled motor road within the past ten
years. While the ascent by foot along the old route would take
2} to 3 hours, the travel in a motor vehicle does not take more
than an hour. The Government of Madras? are now running
daily a regular bus service for pilgrims from Madras to
Tirupati and back. The old route is still being used by people
who are too poor to pay the motor fare or who have taken a vow
to ascend on foot. The foot path route is provided with electric
lighting.

The old route entails more physical exertion and subjects
pilgrims who are unable to walk the entire distance to the vexatious
behaviour of the dholiwallahs who are engaged to carry them.
But it has the distinct advantage that the pilgrim has ample
opportunity to admire the beautiful landscape presented to his
view from various points during the ascent. *3The remarkable
and highly picturesque scenery is due to the great mural scarps
into which the massive quartzite beds have been worn. The
quartzites are generally very massive and semivitreous in texture
and occur in thick beds, which often show but little lamination.
The prevalent colours of the quartzites are pale greys and drabs,

I. Now there are direct express trains from Madras, Vijayawada,
Hyderabad, and Puri.

2 Now Buses are operated both by the Governments of Andhra Pradesh,
Tamilnad and Karnataka from various places.

3, Taken from the North Arcot District Manual
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all weathering to shades of buff or pale orange. The principal
lines of scarp face the south. In places we find bare walls standing
vertically.” After the steep and arduous ascent of the first hill,
the pilgrim approaches the big tower (Gopuram) known as the
Gali Gopuram—which however came into existence only in 1628
as the gift of Matla Anantaraya. If from here the pilgrim turns
back facing south, he sees laid out before him a fine landscape
with the railway line and the river Swarnamukhi traversing the
plains, with a number of tanks dotted all over the road, winding
its way through, and the towers of the temples in Tirupati and
Tiruchanur raising their heads above the houses. To his left
is the huge mass of quartzite blocks rising vertically.

Walking further along, he has an easy ascent with here and
there level country to break the monotony. On either side there
is rich vegetation. At the Avachari Kona (or Ammayar Kaneru)
he meets with a sharp descent into a ravine followed by a difficult
ascent on the other side known as the ‘ KNEE BREAKER * hill.
This ravine is one of the loveliest sights and the pilgrim rarely
fails to halt for 15 to 30 minutes to enjoy the scenery and to refresh
himself. Nearing the top of this ascent there is a small mantapam
and shrine of Sri Ramanuja called Bhashyakar Sannadhi, which
has a tradition connected with it. The tradition is that it was
at this mantapam that Sri Ramanuja daily studied under his uncle
Tirumala Nambi the various esoteric meanings of the Ramayana.
It was also at this place that Sri Ramanuja was received by his
uncle Tirumala Nambi with all Temple honours when he visited
Tirumala after he was given the distinctive titles of Emberumanar,etc
There are a number of mantapams all along the route. There
is also a deep step well, the Muggu Bavi. A little further to the
left and away from thetrack is a structure called the Ghanta
Mantapam, where tradition tells us there used to hang a bell which
would be struck as soon as Naivédyam for Tiruvéngadamudayin
was performed each noon. It was only after the hearing of this
gong at Chandragiri that Sri Ranganatha Yadavaraya took his
day’s meal. Close to the Avachari Kona there is the clephant path
from the Chandragiri side for elephants to go to Tirumala.

* ppwsrd wAourdr; WTETod

3



HISTORY OF TIRUPATI

Within the last half a century many coffee hotels have sprung
up along this ancient path to Tirumala The disadvantage 1s that
the pilgnm has to pass endless rows of professional beggars all along
the route Some fan you for a pie some sing your prassc for a
like amount There are men exposing to view their ugly sores
some real and but many more faked There are fakirs resting their
body on pikes fixed into a plank of wood Here are beggars of all
types and all ages If one has the patience one may mahe an
interesting study of common ways 1n which the human mind woiks
and the depths to which poverty can sink a human being Just
before the Brahmotsavam, a regular caravan of these men gather
on the hills The poor house feeding has been an additional
attraction

The pilgtim who goes 1n a motor vehicle misses not only much
of the beautiful natural scenery but also this study of human nature
and its ways  The old route 1s all exhilarating while the new motor
route 1s all excitement, excitement caused by the too many hairpm
bends and sharp curves At every turn one’s attention 1s ti.ctted
on ones safety and stabilitv rather than on the scenery cien if
he can see 1!

Long beforc Tuupati had its birth, Tiruchchukanur(the modein
Tiruchanur) was a wvillage of importance duning the centuries
of Pullava and Chola rule It had a willage counci! o1 Sabha,
which managed the affairs of the Tirumala Temple also Tt s
about 2 nules south of Tirupati and on the banks of the Swarna-
mukhi River The numerous spring channels excavated from timc
to time along its bed served to heep up wet cultivation in this
area It was practically the last point, on the old highway (Vadak-
kuval), connecting the Tamil country of Tondaimandalam with
the region to the north of the Hills known as the land of the
Vadugars But circumstances made 1t imperative that Tirupati
should be made more important by artihicial means,such as making
it obligatory for anyone having any dealings with the Tiumala
Temple to keep a house n Tirupati

Chandragiri 15 the next village to demand notice It came
Into existence, at any rate into notice, from the time of Siluva

1. AS..ond Ghit Road alsu was constructed and opencd to lralﬁ_c
m Angu t 1974
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Mang: Deva, the great grandfather of Saluva Narasimha and one
of the Generals who served under the command of Virakumdra-
Kempanna during the campaign launched to shatter the Sultanate
of Madura This was i the second quarter of the fourteenth
century It grew into a big town with 1its fortifications and Mahals
as the fortified town of the Saluvas and the Viyayanagar Kings
It has since shrunk m size and importance Where extensive
mansions once stood there are green fields to-day The old forti-
fications, the moat and the Mahals are today only relics of therr
ancient glory The Railway station 1s about a mile to thz north
of the village  The stories connected with the place will be referred
to later

From the pomt of view of the Temple, it 1s the Tirumala
Hull that should recerve our attention i a larger measure The
temple and the small village surrounding 1t are so situated that
there are four recogmised pathways leading thereto We have
already 1eferred to those from Tirupat: and Chandragiri  There
1s & third from Balupalli on the east (Mamandur Hill Road) from
near the Mamandur Railway station The fourth 1s from Nagapatla
side on the west There are other footpaths also such as the one
from Karakambadi, which played their part in the 18th century
and the forest path connecting Talakona on the extreme west
of the Hill to the Tirumala Hill  These can best be seen by a
reference to the annexed map of the Hill

The Hill 15 but a part of the mountan range designated as
the Eastern Ghats It may be taken to start from the Anamalais
1n the extieme south of the Madras state and to traversc the Coimba-
tore District, the eastern frontier of Mysore territory, thiough
the Salem and the present North Arcot Districts, before entering
the Chittoor District at Palamaner It takes a direction somewhat
east of Noith upto the Talakona Water Falls, where there 1s o
deflection towards the east till 1t reaches Tirumala  To the east
of Tirumala 1t ends 1n a gap through which the M & SM  Railway
Broad gauge (N W ) 1s laid  The length of thus bit of the Eastern
Ghats may be taken to be about 12 miles between Talakona and
Tirumala, as the crow flies  The actual forest path along the
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crest of the Hill may be about 20 miles. This portion seems to
have been considered very holy from time immemorial. As evidence
of this we see even today that the Kona (water course) commencing
from the Talakona Falls on the extreme west is called the Papa-
vinasam Kona. The water course on the eastern end is also called
the Papavinasam Kona. This bit of the Hill, in spite of indiscrimi-
nate felling, is thickly wooded and contains valuable red saunders
wood and other varieties used for building purposes. There are
said to be rare herbs of medicinal value all over the hill and parti-
cularly in the ravines. The highest peak of the hill on the Talakona
side is 3,583 ft. above Mean Sea level. Narayanagiri Peak which
is south-west of the Tirumala Temple is 3,622 ft. high.

The Talakona Falls and the Vagu seem to be the natural result
of the wrench which the Hill was subjected to by the sharp turn
from north to east. The level of the hill on the north is about
3,583 ft, east and south about 3,800 ft. The waterfall itself is at
2,650 ft. with a drop of 80 ft. The level country to the west of
the hill, through which the Ry. line from Pakila to Dharmavaram
passes, is -about 1,800 to 2,000 ft. above sea level. The hill has a
sharp slope towards the plains. There is a Siddheswara temple
on the plains and close to the hill on the west. This waterfall,
being the first one on the hill, is known as the Talakona Falls.

Intimately associated with the Temple of Tiruvengadamu-
dayan are two konas on the Hill. One is called the Papavinisam
(obviously the eastern one) and the other the Avichiri vanka.
The former drains the part of the Hill which may be said to be
to the north of the Temple and the latter the part to the south,
rather south-east, of it. Both are important on account of the
many sacred Tirthams thereon.

THE PAPAVINASAM VANKA:—This Vanka has many
rivulets as its feeders, draining the northern and the southern
slopes. The annexed map will make this clear. Even otherwise
the latitude, longitude and the height above M.S.L. shown here-
under will give an intelligent understanding of the course of the
Vanka and the places where the sacred waters (Tirthams) are
met with, Many of these are rarely visited by the ordinary pilgrim.
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Tirtham. Lat. N. Long. E. Height.
Flowing from N.W,
Pasupu Tirtham .o 13°43-30"  79°-19-30" 2950

Kumira Dhira .. 13°43'-45  79°-19'-40" 2700
Rémakrgna Tirtham .. 13°-44'-15"  79°-20'-45" 2250

Tumburu Kona Lo 130440230 79°-21°-20" 2250
Flowing from S,W.
Jabali Tirtham Lo 13°41'40" 79°-20'-15" 3000
Akasa Ganga .. 1374250 79°-20-30" 2700
Pépavinasam oo 13°-42°-55"  79°-20-30" 2000
Sanaka Sanandana
Tirtham ..13°43'40"  79°-20"-25" 2000

(Note—The seconds given in Lat and Long are only meant to
show the relative position of the Tirthams).

The Hill here slopes from 3200 ft. to 2000 ft.
The most noteworthy ones are Tumburu Kona, Akasa Ganga
and Papavinasam.

Tumburukona is a very interesting water-fall in the east,
more easily approached from Mamandur Railway Station. “ Here
is a canyon into which the water precipitates itself and then flows
along a smooth granite bed, with some extraordinarily deep circular
pools at intervals, full of fish. The vegetation near the mouth
of the entrance to the canyon is very dense and the scenery charm-
ing."! The tradition is that many Rishis used to live there. It
is now a favourite haunt for tigers and other wild beasts. At
one spot there is a cave which is supposed to lead to a secret passage
to the temple. But what is more worthy of notice is the tradition
that when the idol of Sri Ranganitha was finally conveyed to
Tirumala to avoid desecration by the iconoclastic Muslims during
their invasion of the South in the early part of the 14th century,
the idol is said to have been dropped down a deep ravine along

N

1, Taken from the N. A, District Manual

7



HISTORY OF TIRUPATI

with the bearer and to have been worshipped there for some time.
There is said to be a small mantapam in the middle of the water-
course which may have been the place referred to in the tradition,

The Papanasam is a waterfall and pool about 3 miles from
the temple. A bath there is supposed to cleanse one of all sins.
The ensuring water is supposed to get discoloured in proportion
to the intensity of the sins committed. Tradition has it that Sriman
Tirumala Nambi used to fetch water from this place for the daily
Tirumanjanam and worship of the God, until one day God tested
the intensity of his devotion by appearing as a hunter and asking
for some water to quench his thirst. When it was refused, he
thrust an arrow and drank off all the water. The unsuspecting
Tirumala Nambi found the pot empty when he reached the temple.
But he found that the God had also received his Abhishekam,
When next he went to fetch water the hunter told the old gentleman
that there was an equally pure water source much nearer and
shot an arrow which touched the spot, whence the Akasaganga
began to flow. Since then water is said to be brought from this
nearer source. Tradition connects both Akasa Ganga and Papa-
vin"sam. So pilgrims go invariably to bathe in both these places.

The Papavinasam Veénka crosses the M. & S. M. Railway
line at about a mile south of Balupalli and 3 miles north of
Mamandur Railway Station.

AVACHARI VANKA: This Vanka, at any rate, the southern
confluence, takes its source from near the place where the old foot-
path and also the present motor road to Tirumala cross it. It runs
practically eastwards and crosses the M & S. M. Rly line (Broad
gauge) after traversing Karakambadipilayam. It receives the
waters from the Gogarbham and the Vaikuntha Tirtham and the
north and from the Sesha Tirtham and Sitamma on the south.

Tirtham. Lat. N. Long. E. Height.
Gogarbham .o 13°-41°-05"  79°-21'-20" 2500
Vaikuntha Tirtham .. 13°-40'-40"  79°-22'-0" 2200
Sesha Tirtham ..o 13°41-25" 79°-23'-20" 1950
Sitamma Tirtham .. 13°-41'-55’ 79' -23'-30" 2500
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Bhima Tirtham and Alvar Tirtham are two distinct waterfalls
on the Tirupati side of the Hill

Tirtham Lat N Long E Height
Bhima Tirtham 13°-39"-20 29 -23 -0 2100
Alvar Tirtham 13 -39 -20 79°-25 -15 700

These are the principal sacred waters on the Hilf It will
be observed from the map that as in the case of Talakona Falls,
even here the waterfalls have been caised by the contortions to
which the Hill has been subjected by the twist towards NE on
the Venkatagiri side The Tirthams are more numerous at
the eastern end of the Hill But at both the west and the east
ends the sacred waters go under the name “Papavinasam ” This
lends support to the traditional meaning attached to the term
Vengadam as applied tc this portion of the Hill, viz, that 1t burns
away all sins (Papam) There are many legends which the puranas
have concocted for the edification of the pious and credulous
ptlgrim

Before we take leave of the sacred Tirthams, we may as well
notice a parallel in the case of the Ahobilam Hill Temple The
hill there by some sudden twist sheared into two branches at a
place very near to what 1s now known as ““ JwWALA NRISIMHAM
As 1 the case of the Papavinasam canyon in Tirumala, there 1s a
grand canyon there also whence the mountain 1ivulet known as
“ Bhavanasani * emerges, whose source 1t 1s extremely difficult to
approach  The hill on either side has a deep vertical cut of several
hundred feet depth The scenery 1s one of great beauty with
ferns hanging in wreaths of long length On onc side of this
chiff there 's a narrow foot path leading up to the small shrine
called Jwala Nrisimham (already referred to) and there 1s a very
cool trough of water close by Ascending to the top we have
what s called ** Ukku Sthambham  (Iron Pillar) set up by some
unknown hand, which some women and men also perambulate
to beget children It 1s considered a very sacred region There may
be many more places like these all along the Eastern Ghats wherever
the hill has been at some remote time 1n the past subjected to violent
convulsions.
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The Tirumala Hill has had several other names given to it.
These are Sesha Saila (or Seshachalam), Garudichala, Venkatadri,
Nardyanadri, Vrishabadri, Vrishadri, and Anjanadri. Each of
these names is associated with some fable or other which in these
days of enlightened views on religion need not be dwelt on at length.
Some of these will however be referred to while dealing with old
traditions relating to the sanctity of the Hill. In the inscriptions
the hill is referred to only as Vengadam of Tiruvengadam down
to the 15th century A.D. ’

Topography of the Tirumalai Temple.

The earliest notion of the topography of the place where
the Mula Murti or Dhruva Beram was found standing (for He
was not installed by any human hand), was that He was on the
summit of the Hill or Ucchi. This has to be inferred from the
words used in Silapadhikaram:—

ks Quiargy gugut wlwg &AL Hms’

It must have been due to this notion that He was also named
* Uchchiyilninran ” (He who stands on the summit). The rice
measure for food offerings was also for several centuries known
as the “ Uchchiyilninran-kal " (the Kal or kalam of Uchchiyil
Ninran). This notion appears to have persisted, or was adopted
as the legacy of tradition ?till about the middle of the 13th Century
A.D. Owing to a better knowledge of the topography of the hills
surrounding the temple, the realisation that the temple was actually
on a much lower level than its surroundings became more general
in later days. For we find in the middle of the 14th century that
the processional deity had been styled “ Malai kuniya Ninran”
standing where the hill bowed low and the grain measure was
also renamed Malai Kuniya Ninran-Kal. We have no means of
knowing whether the capacity of the new measure was any different
from that of the old. The Hill Temple measure was however
always different from that used in the Tirupati Temple which
was once called Arumolidevan and subsequently Chalukya
Nirdyanan-kdl. Although the term * Malaikuniya Ninran”

10
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appears 1n the mscriptions only from 1354 A.D. we have every
reason to believe that the real low level of the temple floor was
known at least two centuries earlier. This assertion 1s made
from the fact that one of Periya Nambr’s disciples had the surname
“ Malar Kuniya Ninran > which must have then been one of the
appellatories of the God in Tirumala. Periya Nambi himself
was one of Sri Alavandar’s disciples and his birth 1s taken to be
in 937 AD. Malatkumya Ninran's birth would have been some
time 1n 980—90. It 1s not unhkely that he took part in the con-
struction of the skeleton temple, when it must have been felt that
the level was lower than the surroundings and that effective drainage
arrangements were necessary. That may account for the surname
he got

To the north of the Temple the hills rise to 3426 ft. where
there 1s a trigonometrical station. A little further near the Jabali
Tirtham the levei 1s 3177 ft., to the east the hills rise from about
2250 to 2750 ft, to the south to 2920 ft and in the south west
the Narayanagiri rises to 3620 ft. These figures will give an idea
of the hollow 1n which the temple 1s situated No wonder that
the place has been malarial  For water supply the small village
around the temple depends on the pond called Alvir Tirtham,
which receives 1ts supply from the surrounding country and the
subsoil springs A tank called ‘ Murtiniyakan Cheruvu’ on the
hill to the north-west has so porous a bed that 1t retamns very little
water. The construction of a reservoir by damming up a part
of the Papavinasam Kona and conveying water therefrom by
conduits has now been undertaken.

The drainage of this low lying village of Tirumala (the Temple
in particular) 15 an urgent problem, not less than that of fresh
water supply
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TOPOLOGY.

This short account of the topography will be jncomplete
without its complement topology. It is therefore being dealt
with in brief. As a matter of fact, topology has been in no small
measure responsible for the immunity which this temple enjoyed,
while almost all the others in South India were desecrated by the
merciless hand of the Muslim invader. So long as the fate of the
country depended on the rivalry and mutual jealousy of the Hindu*
rulers, there was no question of the interests of the temple being
affected adversely, whoever became the ruler. We shall sce from
the inscriptions that each successful invader contributed his own
share to the prosperity of the temple. The manner in which
the topography of the country and the Hills made invasions by
men of alien religious faith affect the fortunes of this temple will
have to be briefly reviewed here. The success in this direction
was also in no small measure attributable to the sagacity and
ready wit of the people of Tirupati and those in the direct manage-
ment of the temple. The quickness with which they comprehended
the psychology of the alien invaders and the readiness with which
they dangled before them a recurring revénue from the temple
made the invaders realise that it was better not to cut the udder
that yields an unfailing supply of milk.

It is worth repeating here that the Eastern Ghats enter the
Kangundi Zamindari in the south-west of the district, and passing
northwards gradually bend towards the east as far as the Tirupati
Hills. Here the range is broken by a long valley which passes
northwards into the Cuddapah district by the villages of Karakam-
badi and Mamandar. The M. & S. M. Railway (N.W. line)
passes through this gap. East of the Mamandur valley, the Ghats
once more rise, and follow a north-easterly course until they enter
the Nellore district from the Kalahasti Zamindari. This range
of the hills separates the Balaghat or Mysore plateau from the
Payan Ghat or the low country.

Numerous passes lead from the lowlands to those above the
ghats. The three more important ones are the Kallir, the Mogil!
and the Saiyana Gunfa passes. The Karakambadi pass on the
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eastern end is thc fourth which assumed historical importance
in the 18th century. There is also the Nagapatla ghat road leading
to Bhakarapet which has some importance. All these can be
seen on the annexed map of the Hills. These passes afforded
facilities for invaders. The fortunes of the temple were not affected
adversely until the Damalcheruvu Pass and the Karakambidi
Pass gave opportunities for the invaders to gain access to
Chandragiri and Tirupati.

The Kallor pass in the Chandragiri Taluk runs along the
Damalcheruvu valley and through Kallirpalayam to the Piler
Taluk. The Trunk road from Madras to Cuddapah runs along
this route.

The Mogili Pass is in the Chittoor Taluk and through it passes
the road from Madras to Bangalore. The rise of the ghat is gradual.
The Saiyanagunta Pass leads from Gudiyattam to Palamanér,
where it joins the road from Mogili. The ascent is steep. The
old route to Bangalore via Niyakkanéri Ghat on the western
borders of Gudiyattam taluk is too steep.

Malik Kafur's invasion of Southern India in 1310 A.D,,
although it carried fire and sword as far as south Raméswaram,
did not in the least affect the Tirumala Hills and the surrounding
country. Nor did the changing fortunes of the Cholas, Pandyass
the Hoysalas and the Vijayanagar Kings make any difference
to the prosperity of Tirumala. Things however took a disastrous
turn after the overthrow of the Vijayanagar Kingdom in the battle
of Talikota in 1565 A. D. As the result of a treaty between
Shah Jehan (the Emperor of Delhi) and the Bijapur Sultan, Vellore
passed into the hands of Bijapur and Chandragiri was acquired by
Golkonda in 1636 A.D. The next adventurer to these parts was
Sivaji, who as the result of an arrangement with the Sultan of
Golkonda, made an expedition into the Carnatic to recover from
his brother Venkiji the possession he got from their late father
Shahji. He entered the Carnatic by the Kallir Pass in 1676 A.D.
and captured Vellore, Arni and even Gingee. But he had to
retrace his steps on an urgent call from his ally, the Gblkonda
Sultan. Sivaji proclaimed himself king in 1674 A.D. In 1684
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A.D., we find an envoy of his turning up in Tirumala as a devotee,
and offering not cash, but a gold *kanthi’ for an endowment.
Sivaji died soon after and Gingee was also retaken by Aurangazib’s
General, Zulfikar Khan in 1694 A.D.

Passing over the intervening period of history, we find Raghoji
Bhonsle advancing in 1740 to the head of the Ghats and ready to
descend along the Kallur Pass. Dost Ali opposed him at a spot
in Damalcheruvu where the hills close in and an embankment
across was got repaired for effecting the defence. Raghoji defeated
the Muslim and slew his son. Raghoji is said to have retired
from the Carnatic with a crore of rupees, representing one year's
revenue. We know that Raghoji endowed Srinivasa with some very
costly jewels which are still in existence. The turmoil in the
Carnatic had as one of its results the assignment of the revenues
of the Tirumala Temple to the British Government in Madras.
In 1753 an audacious adventurer by name Muhammad Kamal marched
to Tirupati from Nellore (where he was engaged in pillaging
and plundering) and the British got alarmed at the prospect
of their losing the revenues from Tirupati. He was, however,
captured and executed after a fight on the plains of Tirupati.
Muhammad Kamal must have come by the Karakambadi Pass.

In 1757 the Maharatta General, Balavant Rao crossed the
plateau of Mysore, and camped at Kadapanattam, at the head
of the Kallapulla ghat in Palamanér Taluk. He did not however
turn his army against Tirupati, but scoured Vaniyambidi, Ambur
and Vellore. In the same year a party of Mahdratta horsemen
under the command of Gopal Rao came down the Kallir Pass
to Damalcheruvu and demanded of the British two lakhs of rupees
as compensation on some grounds. When this was refused he is
stated to have diverted his attention to Tirumala to plunder the
Temple. This however is hard to believe. He might have paid
his obeisance and made some presents also. What was more
likely is that the British who had called for his help would not
reimburse him for his waiting when they found his help unnecessary.
He would naturally have gone up to the Sthanattar, narrated the
perfidy and secured from their hands, willingly perhaps, one year’s
revenue which was due to the British. Subsequently when the
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revenue was demanded they might have told the British that Gopal
Rao plundered the temple. The true history of this temple can
be written only after a careful study of the old records.

In August 1757 one Nazibulla visited the fort of Salava and
threatened to take away the offerings made by pilgrims during
the next Brahmotsavam. As the revenues of Tirupati were assigned
to the British, they sent a detachment of the army to Tirupati
to make sure of their revenue. But Nazibulla turned back as
many pilgrims as he can, after perhaps divesting them of their
belongings. In 1758 another brother of the Nabob, Abdul Wahab,
made another bid for the wealth of the Temple. But the English
were careful enough to foil this attempt. He however took
possession of the fort of Chandragiri and waited for an opportunity.
Bussy on his way back from Hyderabad halted at Tirupati and
wrested from the lessee of the temple the year’s revenue, while
Nazibulla from Neilore and Abdul Wahab from Chandragiri
helped him in this (October 1758).

The Maharatta Chieftain Gopal Rao who had been called
back urgently by Balaji Rao left behind his Captain Narayana
Sastri, who stayed at Karakambadi. In July 1759 with the help
of the Palegar, he ascended the Tirumala Hill and reoccupied the
temple. The English sent 300 sepoys and 15 Europeans. But it
was found that only about 80 sepoys belonged to the castes which
are permitted to ascend the hills. These went up and “ there was
hard fighting before the temple and many lost their lives on both
sides.” A second reinforcement was sent. But even this contained
mostly men who cannot ascend the hill so the English Commander
Major Calliand attacked Karakambadi village instead and
consigned it to the flames. Narayana Sastri had to retreat. The
renter of the temple was reinstated by the English. The renter
during these years under the Nawab of Arcot, the French and the
English successively was one Dorai Srinivasachari who considered
it a sacred duty to outbid muslim competitors with the main object
of preventing a muslim from having an opportunity to ascend
the Hill.

15



HISTORY OF TIRUPATI

When the Second Mysore War broke out in 1779, and Hyder
drew a beit of destruction from Pulicat in the North to Pondicherry
in the south and another belt of about a dozen miles radius round
Vellore, sacked and burnt everything inside these limits (Hyder
Kalabham).Colonel Bailie was asked to hasten from Guntur via
Kalahasti and Tirupati. The Colonel considered this roate
dangerous and went by a route nearer to the coast. Thus Tirupati
and Tirumala were saved from fire and sword.

After the battle of Sholinghur in 1781 and prior to the seige
of Vellore in 1780-81, Hyder was in person at the Kallir Ghat
to intercept supplies of grain going to the English at Vellore and
was helped by the Zamindars of Kalahasti and Karvetnagar in
this. The Poligars also were in league with him. So Tirumala
and Tirupati were left undisturbed. Muhammad Ali’s brother
handed over Chandragiri to Hyder. During the whole of 1781,
although Sir Eyre Coote was within easy marching distance of
Chandragiri he never did so. It was in the possession of Aldul
Wahab. Coote does not appear to have been aware of its importance.
in 1782 Hyder redeemed the fort of Chandragiri and sent Abdul
Wahab as prisoner to Seringapatam. Hyder died at Narasinga-
rayanpet near Chittoor, where his tomb remains to this day. It is
indeed strange that he never allowed his men to ascend the Tirumala
Hill or to plunder the temple.

In 1791 Lord Cornwallis (Governor General) himself took
command of the army in the Third Mysore War against Tippoo
and feigning to ascend the Mysore plateau by the Nayakaneri
Ghat, diverted his march at the last moment and passed through
the Mogili Ghat.

On 3lst July 1801, the whole of the Carnatic passed into
the hands of the English. But the poligars of the Chittoor District
continued to give trouble. These were driven into the jungle,
but they continued to harass and plunder pilgrims going to Tirupati.
The roads leading to Tirupati had to be regularly patrolled by a
body of sepoys. Even martial law had to be proclaimed against
the insurgent poligars.
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The Tirumala temple passed into the hands of the English for
direct management in 1801, The Moyne Japta of that period will
show to what meagre rations the daily food offerings to Sri Venka-
tesa had been reduced at the time.

All these incidents are mentioned in a sketchy manner to
show that the sanctity of the Temple and the Vengadam Hill was
fully respected by the Muslims and the English alike in spite of
the fact that the topography of the Hills was such that military
operations were carried on time after time within a few hours’
march of the temple and right at the foot of the Hill itself. This
topology of Vengadam looks like a fairy tale and adds considerably
to the topolatry of everything connected with the Hill and the
Temple. History tells us more than all the fables depicted in the
numerous Puranas. What impression of sanctity this unique
immunity from desecration would have created in the whole of
South India, and even in the Deccan South of the Vindhyas, can
best be imagined.

There is, however,another side to this picture which we cannot
afford to ignore. The traditional sanctity of the Hill and the Deity
thereon had perforce to be preserved by payment of an annual
subsidy of about two lakhs of rupees every year. The old system
of management of the temple seems to have gone out of use and a
renter was appointed by the Nawab of Arcot to collect the revenues
of the temple. The last we hear of the existence of Sthanattir
was in an inscription dated 19th March 1684 in Telugu language
and script, when Raja Sri Sivarija Ramachandra Yadamatara
Dabirsa and Timmanayyangar made an endowment by payment
of a gold kanthi and not cash. From another inscription dated
15-6-1638 we find that Sri Rangaraja Maharaya (with all the
old Prasastis of the Vijayanagar Kings) was considered the ruling
sovereign. These inscriptions are in Telugu which is the language
of the country. We also find from the history of South India
that as the result of a treaty between Shah Jahan and the Sultan
of Bijapur in 1636, Bijapur and Golkonda became more inde-
pendent and that by the year 1656 Vellore passed into the hands
of Bijapur, while Golkonda secured Chandragiri. In the inscription
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dated 16-3-1684 the Sthanattar do not mention any one as the ruler
of the country, which only‘means that they did not choose to
recognise the Sultan of Golkonda.

. When. Asaf Jah set himself up as the Nizam of Hyderabad
effectively in 1724, Daud Khan was_appointed by him as Nawab
of the Carnatic. The Tirumala temple would in consequence
have come under his sway. It must have been from about this
-date (1724 A.D.) that an arrangement was made by which the
Tirumala Temple had to pay every year two lakhs of rupees to
the Nawab as subsidy. There was no molestation of the temple
as a result. We find mention of this source of revenue when in
1753 Muhammad Kamal marched to Tirupati to plunder the temple
and the British had to send a detachment to ward off the attack,
since the revenues of the temple were assigned to the English under
some arrangement between them and the Nawab.

How was this amount to be made up every year? The renter
had to devise a scheme for realising the amount and earn some
more for his services. A levy was made on pilgrims who resorted
to the temple. Before bathing in the waters of the A]var Tirtham
and the Swami Pushkarani, every pilgrim had, according to custom
to recite certain verses in Sanskrit which a Brahmin purohit would
do. This right to dictate the mantrams was leased out and the
lessee levied a fee per head. So also when according to custom a
pilgrim wanted to have his head shaved in Tirumala. When
camphor had to be lighted a fee of one rupee was levied. For
attending Archana a fee of seven rupees and so on for every item
of worship. When an ornament or cloth was presented to the
deity for perpetual wear, an amount equal to the value of the
article had to be paid. This is called Vartana. When a food
offering was made by a pilgrim, an amount equal in value to the
offering had to be deposited in addition to the cost of the food
offering. Through all the centuries down to about'1750, we hear
in the inscriptions no other sacred waters on the Hills excepting
Akasaganga and Papavindsam. Several new ones were made
sacred and legends extolling the sanctity of each had to be manu-
factured.
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Near the Gogarbham Tirtham there is a round stone known
as “ Kshétra Pila ” about which there is no mention in any of the
inscriptions. It was made a place of great sanctity for settling
disputes. Oath was administered at this place before lighted camphor
to swear to truth and a fee (heavy enough) had to be paid to the
temple to be allowed to do this. An iniquitous system for which
there is neither traditional, sastraic nor moral sanction, was sedu-
lously cultivated, which benefited the renter, the Nawab and perhaps
a few of the temple functionaries. When in 1801 the temple passed
entirely into the hands of the Court of Directors in England, this
system was continued in its entirety. The renter system was abo-
lished and direct management stepped in. The system which the
English inherited from the Nawabs is told in full in an article pub-
lished in the Asutic journal for 1831 which is given as an appendix.
The Gazetteer published in 1847 (Pharoah & Co., Madras) states:
* The Brahmins maintain that the Hindu Princes allowed the reven-
nues from this source to be entirely expended on the spot in religious
ceremonies and that the Mussalmans first appropriated the produce
to their own use. During the early wars between the English
and the French nations in India, this source of revenue was one of
the first fruits of British conquest.” How much revenue the English
Government derived from 1804 to 1843 when in the latter year
they had reluctantly to pass on the administration to a still more
hungry Mahant, we have never been told. When the Mahants
were cleared out and the T. T. Devasthanams Committee stepped
in, the iniquitous system was continued as before, nay the rates
were revised to bring in more revenue. The concomitant evils of
subordinates influencing pilgrims in all manner still continues.
Is it not time that this enforced levy of fees for worshipping God
is removed and voluntary contributions are made the rule? There
will then be less of corruption and more freedom of worship for
the penniless man and the multi millionaire alike. We may scan
the published inscriptions from end to end and fail to find even
a’scrap of evidence, direct or inferential, to'show that at any time
before the temple passed into the hands of Muslims there was
any levy of fees for offering worship in the manner a pilgrim desired
to do.
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The instructions issued by Lord Clive in 1800 A.D. to the
Nawab of Arcot in connection with the arrangements to be made
for affording conveniences to Rajah Raghottama Rao, one of the
principal ministers of H. H. the Nawab Nizam-ul-Doulah Asafjah
Bahadur of Hyderabad, during his pilgrimage to Tirumala are
worth repeating in this connection. They will clearly show that
pilgrims were subjected to compulsory levies and were harassed.
Raja Sri Mysore Tirumal Rao was deputed on behalf of the

" British Government to perform the duties of hospitality as if Lord
Clive himself was present. The temple was then under the full
control of the Nawab of Arcot.

“(1) All offerings of dresses or jewels which may be made
by the said Raja to the Deity must be preserved in the wardrobe
of the Pagoda dedicated to Balaji; and no person must prevent the
Deity from being arrayed and decorated with the said dresses
and jewels.

(2) You must not appropriate any part of the offerings which
may be made by the Raja to the Deity.

(3) The said Raja must not experience any kind of mole-
station or interruption in his devotional visits or in the festival
ceremonies in compliment to the Deity.

(4) You must select and allot a commodious and suitable
habitation for the said Raja and his followers.”

“Tt is likewise ordered that you do not demand any duty or
custom either from the Raja or any of his followers but consider
them totally exempted from the same and treat them with utmost
politeness.” Lord Clive agreed with the Nawab of Arcot that
he would himself bear the customs duties etc.

After his pilgrimage Raja Raghottam wrote on 29-9-1800
to Lord Clive thanking him for all the kindness shown and added
“ Raja Sri Tirumal Rao will communicate with you on the subject
of pilgrims, and if you should be so good as to arrange the business,
it would be beneficial to the Sarkar and the pilgrims.” This
extract delicately gives us a picture of the difficulties which pilgrims
had to undergo in offering worship. All the factors which contri-
buted to the growth of such difficulties still exist.
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IN the last chapter, it was discussed how the sanctity of the
Véngadam Hills and of the Deity presiding was preserved by those
charged with that task during the period of the Muslim incursions
and thereafter. We have now to enquire how and when this
sanctity came into existence. Many are the legends connected
with this and not one of these has any historical basis. We have
known the well tried and familiar method which our ancient Rishis
pursued in making the aspirant realise the “ Absolute Truth or
Brahman.” It consisted in a graded process of ‘ N&ti’ or elimi-
nation of what it is not. We have similarly to examine the legends
to realise that they do not present the truth. Then something
more appealing to the intellect and the heart has to be sought for.

Sanctity of the Hill—Legends,

Legends dealing with the sanctity of the Hill are distinct
from those which deal with the sojourn of Vishnu from Srivai-
kuntam (His heavenly abode) to this Hill. We will first refer
to those relating to this Hill,

(1) It appears that in the last Krita Yuga, there lived on the
Hill a Rakshasa by name Vrishabhasura who did great penance
near the Tumburu Kona waters on the Hill. When Sri Vishnu
appeared to him and wanted to know his desires, he said that
he did not care to receive any boon from Hari, but that he wished
to have a direct fight to see who was more powerful. In the end,
the Asura had to be killed only by making use of the ** Sudarsana
Chakram.” Since then, the Hill came to be known as Vrishabha-
chalam, Brahmandapuranam is said to be the authority for this.
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(2) In the Tretdyuga, there lived a lady by name Anjanidevi
in the country round Pampa Saras (in the present Hampi of the
Bellary District). Being childless, she did great penance on this
Hill and the God of winds, Vayu appeared to her and, blessed
her with a child who was Hanumin or Anjénéya. So the Hill
got the name Anjanichalam or Anjanadri.

) (3) In the Dwapara Yuga, when Sri Vishnu was with Sri
Lakshmi and not-at-home to any one, the wind-God Vayu tried
to enter the room which Sesha (Adi Sesha, the serpent who is His
constant attendant) was guarding. The Wind-God was prevented
from entering. This resulted in a commotion and Sri Vishnu
himself was not able to settle the quarrel. They wanted to test
who was the more powerful. Adi Sesha wound himself round
Mount Meru and covered the mountain with his thousand-headed
hood. Vayu began to blow fiercely with the result that the in-
habitants of the three worlds felt considerably distressed. So
they approached Adi Sesha and represented to him that the imme-
diate reaction of their power test was disastrous to all others.
To mitigaté this, they requested Adi Sesha, as the more amiable
of the two, to just lift one of his thousand heads for a second.
He did this and lo! a portion of Mount Meru was blown away.
And that bit alighted on the earth as our Tirumala Hill. So it
came to be known as * Seshichalam ™ since then. If this were
true,the legends of the Krita and Treta yugas would be chronologi-
cally impossible.

(4) In the Kali yuga, our own age, there lived in Kalahasti,
a very pious and learned Brahmin by name Purandara Somayaji
who after doing penance was blessed with a son, named Madhava
who although as learned as the father, was lustful. He took a
fancy for a .chandala woman who was addicted to all conceivable
vices and was to boot a whore. This Madhava gave up all rules
of caste and lived with her happily for twelve years on the banks
of the Krishna. When she died, he became, crazy, roamed about
and followed a party of kings who were on their pilgrimage to
Tirumala. When he went up the Hill and stood along with the
others in front of the temple (or God, we are not sure), a horrible
stench arose from his body and all the Devas came there to find
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out why. All of a sudden, there shot up a fire enveloping his
body and his sins were ail burnt away. So the Hill came to be known
as Venkatachalam (the Hill which® burns away all sins). But
great Sanskrit scholars have not even to this day been able to
derive this meaning etymologically for the word Venkata. It was
prophesied or blessed that this Madhava would be reborn as the
illegitimate son of a Chola King and would rule over Tondai
Mandalam. Vamana Puréina seemsto be responsible for this story.

To make all these legends improbabilities, there is another
legend which says that Sri Venkateswara made this Hill his habi-
tation on a day 28 Mahdyugas before the present one of which
Kali is the last Yuga. One Maha Yugam(according to the Purinis)
is equivalent to 43,20,000 Manava years and 28 such Maha Yugas
have passed since Sri Vishnu came over to Tirumala, i.e., 7,77,60,000
Manava years.  This is said to be mentioned in the Varaha,
Vamana, Bhavishyottara, Brahma, Brahmanda and Padma Purinas.

Legend as to why Sri Vishnu came over here.

It appears that Bhrigu Maharshi who wanted to see how
cach of the Trimirtis was performing His duties, came over, after
testing Brahma and Siva, to Sri Vishnu. He found the Lord
in a posture of repose sporting with his consort. The Rishi could
not bear the sight of the Deity, whose duty it was to protect His
creation by keeping constant watch, sporting with his consort.
So he gave a kick on His chest and that part of the chest happened
to be the portion which was Sri Lakshmi’s resort. Sri Vishnu
enquired of His Bhakta whether on account of the kick, the Rishi’s
feet had received any injury or pain. Lakshmi got infuriated with
her Lord for not punishing the Rishi for his misdemeanour, but
trying to pacify him. So She left Sri Vishnu, who in turn left Sri
Vaikuntam and came over to Tirumala as the best spot on earth
where He could spend his time. One day He chanced to sight a
fair lady sitting on, or born of the flower Lotus, (Padmam, e )
and wished to marry her. She was the foster-daughter of the petty-
ruler of Narayanavanam, Akasa Raja (in Puttur Taluk -of this
District). Being penniless, he had to borrow a large sum of money
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for marriage expenses and dowry, form Kubera, the God of Wealth.
He has been to this day repaying it in annual instalments to the
rulers of the land till the British Government left the management
of the Temple in the hands of the Mahants of Tirupati.

Then there is the story that the first Temple of Sri Venka-
teswara was built by one Tondaimén Chakravarthi who was the
ruler of this part of the country in the early years of the Kali Yuga.

" The surmise of historical research workers is that the first Chola
King of Tanjore, Karikala, had an extra-marital connection with a
Naga Princess; and the offspring was one Adondai, who founded
Tondaimandalam and was known as Tondaiman Chakravarthi.
Before he built the temple,the Deity was covered over by an ant-hill
and cows used to go to the top of the ant-hill and automatically
empty the milk from the udder. It was only when this pheno-
menon was noticed that the ant-hill was opened out and the
discovery made. So according to this story of the Brahméanda
Purana, Tiruvéngadamudaiyan’s existence was discovered only in
Chola Karikila’s time, somewhere about the first century A.D.
As against this, there is the statement in the North Arcot District
Gazettee (1894) that there was a record preserved in the temple
of the benefactions of various Kings of the past. The earliest
entry showed that the second (inner) enclosure wall (Prakaram)
was built by Parikshit Maharajah, and the outer enclosure wall
(outer prakara) by his son Janamgjaya. Vikramarka Maharaja
made several improvements six centuries later. But according to
the other legend the temple itself is said to have been built later
on by Tondaiman Chakravarthi, son of Karikala.

There is also another book of fables called Venkatachala Mahat-
myam, which came into being on palm leaves in 1491 A.D., and
the author of which was one Pasindi Venkatatturaivar (a Brahmin
Brahmachari doing service in the temple). It was allowed to be
read in the temple with arulappadu (divine permission). Later
it used to be read off and on at the request of donors. But after
the middle of the 16th century, it seems to have gone out of use.
We havé nothing to show what really were the stories of fables
included in that compilation. It is common knowledge how
the readings in the Puranas used to get corrupted from time to
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time and from place to place. To the writer's knowledge, an
important palm-leaf work dealing with Yatidharmam (the rules
of Sanyasam), kept in the Fort St. George about 60 years ago
was tampered with by some eminent pandits. There is a common
saying applicable to all Puranic stories which runs thus in Tamil
“Indappoy Kandattilumillai” (@ss00un v 6554 8y Bodw)-
*“This lie is not even in Skanda Puranam.”

Taking up the thread where we left off saying that the Mahants
stepped into the shoes of the East India Company as the lawful
heirs of Kubera to collect dues from the God of Tiruvengadam,
we find further developments in the legend. The Mahants were
not the rulers of the land. Also the God stood only as the debtor
discharging his debts in instalments. There must be more
substantial ground to stand upon. The legend was coined that
Sri Venkateswara played at dice with a great bhakta by name
Hattiram Bhavaji, who is presumed to have come to the Hill some
time about 1500 A.D. Sri Venkateswara was pleased to lose the
game every time. He first placed the temple itself as bet and
lost. Lastly being at a loss to find anything else, He played His
own Self as bet and losing the game became the servant of Sri
Hattiram Bhavaji. That was adduced as the reason why in 1843,
the East India Company had to hand over the God, the Temple
and all that it contained to one of Hattiramji's disciples, Sevadasji.
So the position of creditor and debtor was changed to one of master
and servant. God has always been the most obedient servant
of His Bhaktas. This fable was started probably in the first edition
of the Venkatachala Mahatmyam in print. To make this fable
go about the country, several editions were prepared, Sanskrit
text in Telugu script (1884), Sanskrit Text and Devanagari script
(1887), Telugu Text (1896),Devanagari Script published in Bombay
(1904),lastly Devanagari Script Sanskrit Text and Hindi Translation
(1930). The last one contained pictures, the front page one being
Sri Venkateswara playing at dice with Hattiram Bhavaji. To
this last edition and its illustrations, an eminent Sanskrit scholar
lent his name.

Regarding the dnreliability of palm leaf and other works
claiming antiquity and therefore truth, there are two which come
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to our notice. One is mentioned in the North Arcot Gazetteer
(P. 325), ** an old palm leaf book in the possession of one of the
village-officers of Chandragiri ” which stated that the Chandragiri
Fort was originally built by one Immadi Narasinga Yadavarayulu,
one of the Kings of Nardyanavanam in this district (999 A.D.).
He (Immadi Narasinga) “ proceeded to Tirupati in order to visit
the God and after accomplishing his object set about building
palaces on the hills parallel to Seshachalaparvatam in sight of
which he always wished to dwell.” Mr. Cox, the compiler of the
Gazatteer then goes on to say that the ruins of the buildings upon
the Addakonda Hill including a small fort are still in cxistence.
Then Mr. Cox recites a story that a kite carried off the Rajas
red turban mistaking it for a piece of flesh and dropped it on the
Chandragiri Hill. Finding this to be a very good spot and a good
omen, he built a fort and founded thecity. Part of the story is
correct according to the inscriptions in Tirumala. It was
Sriranganatha Ydidavariya who after the troublous period of
Muslim invasion of the South by Malik Kafur and Muhammad
Tughlak, finally wanted to rest his war-weary frame in Tirumala
and buili a’palace thereon about the year 1359 A.D. But the
founding of Chandragiri and the first building of the Fort has
been recognized as the act of Siluva Narasinga Déva Udaiyar
and not Immadi Narasinga Rayalu of Narayanavanam. Saluva’s
grand-father, Mangideva, may have shifted his capital from
Kalyanapuram to Nirayanavanam sometime about 1370 A. D.
Saluva Narasinga Deva only built the fort circa 1450 A.D.

The palm ledf goes on to'say that ten of the Yadavarayas
ruled for 314 years after Immadi Narasinga and then the
Vijayanagar dynasty took their place. The story told is that one
Venkatapati Naidu who was left to guard the gate surrendered
to Krishna Devarayalu, on a demand made by him through a
messenger. So it was in (999 plus 314) 1313 A.D. that Krishnadeva-
raya should have occupied the Chandragiri Fort, whereas according
to history, he ascended the Vijayanagar throne only in 1509 A.D.
In a further portion of the story Venkatapatideva Maharayar
is stated to have died in Chandragiri on the new moon day of
Bhadrapada in the year Nandana. This must be equivalent to
1592 A.D. in which year must have commenced his reign.
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The other book of some facts and more fables and untruths
is the Itihdsa Mala on which Dr. S. Krishnaswami Ayyangar
based some reliance, but soon found that it defied facts and
historical dates. This book relates mainly to the activities of Sri
Ramanuja. Palm leaf books have been more successfully tampered
with than would be possible with printed books.

The criticism levelled against legends does not however give
an answer to the enquiry how and when the Hill came to be
considered sacred.  Silappadhikiram (756 A.D. according to
Dr. Swamikannu) does not tell us that the Hill was sacred, nor
does it say when the God manifested himself there. It was only
the A]wars that have sung the glory of the Hili and the God. The
Hill has been considered 1n still later periods as the body of
Adisesha and therefore called Seshachalam. The earliest of the
Alwars may have lived not earlier than the Sth or 6th century
A.D. As will be pointed out later, when faced with the spread of
Buddhism and Jainism, they were put to the necessity of postulating
a God and a religion which was neither rank Saivism nor rank
Vaishnavism. Tiruvengadamudaiyan was thus represented as the
only True God who combines in Himself all the Murtis. rather
the Para-Vasu deva of the Pancharatnas and the Adi Murti of the
Vaikhdnasas. Who then can fix the date of his Birth? The Hill
came to be depicted as Adi Sésha who is ever attendant on Him.
Being so sacred many of the Alwﬁrs_, according to later tradition,
abstained from ascending the Hill .to worship Him and Sri
Ramanuja has been credited with havigg ascended the Hill on his
knees may be all a fable. None of the Alwirs has stated that
the Hill represents the body of Adi Sésha. The later day tradition
seems to have been coined to explain the omission of the image
of Sesha in Sanctum. We find Namma]war's shrine at the Alwar
Tirtham where the pilgrim takes his purificatory bath,and Periyalwar
shrine is stationed at the place where the pilgrim commences his
ascent of the Hill. These seem to have been started with a mystic
or esoteric significance. The sanctity however consists entirely
in the Murti being a Deity acceptable to all sects although the
worship has always been according to the Vaikhanasa Agama,
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pereft of some of its offensive sectarian aspects,! and not the
Pancharatra which Ramanuja followed and which he ntroduced
in almost all the other Vishnu temples in South India. So even
the Waikhanasas felt satisfied Neither S Alavandar, nor Sri
Ramanuja did mstal any of the Vaishnavite Alwars or Acharyas
inside the Tirumala Temple It was only to Sri Ramanuja that
a shrine was allotted by common consent  No further innovation
was ever attempted Therewn lies the superior sanctity of the
Hill and 1its temple over all the other and older temples South
India

The reason assigned for this manifestation ot Archavataram
(form fo1 1dol worship) in the daily rituals 1s that He 1s Mayavi.?
His ways are inscrutable.

He left His Vaikuntam and came down to settle on the bank
of the Swami Pushkarimi, on this Hill. Nothing more 1s said.

The above sloka (verse) forms a part of the daily ritual called
mantrapushpam. Seeing that the latter contams a verse® wishing
prosperity to Sri Nammalvar also, 1t may reasonably be presumed
that the slokas were composed when the present form of worship
was formulated soon after the stallation of the silver Muiti
now known as Bhoga Srimivasain 966 A.D  But 1t might reason-
ably be asked whether the bare statement contained in 1t, that
the Supreme Being left Vairkuntam and took his abode in Tirumala
without any reason being assigned can beaccepted as truth when
there are different stories in the Puranas implcitly believed by the
public which assign different reasons for His manifestation here.
The earliest reliable historical records are the devotional songs
of the Alwars and the description given in the Silappadhikaram,
and all these are 1n Tamil. Among these 1t 1s only Nammalvar

1. More will be said about this later

2 Mayavi Paramanandam tyaktva Vaikuntam uttamem Svamipuskaragj
tiré ramaya saha modate. bhOgiraja ginm gatva svamipuskanni tate samate
ramam kante ramamye Sriyahpatih

3. Snnagaryam mahapury@m Tambraparnyutters tate Tantrini mila
dhamne Sri Satagopaya mangalam
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who speaks of the sanctity of the Tiruvengadam Hill and explains
the reason for the Supreme Being Paran (ugeir) transferring His
abode from the Heavens to this Hill. His mystic vision made
him affirm that his statement (which obviously was also the current
belief) embodies the Truth (@wu). The etymological meaning of
the word Vengadam (Qe - burn, and &:_w the fruits of past acts)
is burning away the effect of all past Karmas. This Hill, he affirms,
possesses that great virtue. So God selected this spot for His stay
on earth. His decision to reside in Vengadam is according to Sri
Nammalvar for the sole purpose of affording facilities to earthly
beings to worship Him in the same manner as and along with the
Heavenly Beings headed by Brahma who are said to be doing
here daily what they have been doing in Vaikuntam. Here in
Veéngadam, after His sojourn to the place, the same Heavenly
Beings share with us on equal terms the privilege of deing all
manner of service which his bhaktas desire to do. Namma}var
assigns a naive reason for the sojourn of the Supreme Being by
citing two typical i.nstances. When dumb cattle who live to serve
human beings with their milk were threatened with destruction
by the fury of pelting rain and biting cold He as Sri Krishna lifted
up a hill and held it over them to afford shelter. Again when one
of the most highly evolved of human beings, Maha Bali, who was
ideally‘-jgst, Jtruthful and charitable was very nearly losing his
soul by-h#s failure to conquer the self although he had conqueerd
the worlds, the Lord out of his overflowing Love came unsolicited
to save him by showing him that all his conquests and achieve-
ments fell far short of the small gift he was asked to make to the
Lord. We in this Kali age stand between these two extreme instances.
We are gifted with certain limited powers and with a desire to
serve Him in the same manner as we are told that the Heavenly
Beings (arewart) do in Heaven. As we cannot go there and serve
Him with this material body the Supreme Being has for our special
benefit come over to Vengadam saying good-bye to Heaven.
Véngadam is Heaven, the Kaliyuga Vaikuntam. All this is
attributed to the infinite and unaccountable love of God (his Pasam,
(ureb), Let us therefore go to Véngadam where our Karmas
will be destroyed -and where we can do service to him such as
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bringing water for abhishekam, flowers for worship and dhupam
(incense) and deepam (light) etc.

Nammalvar does not refer to any Purauic story to account
either for the sanctity of the Hill or for the manifestation of the
Supreme Being on earth. His explanation is purely devotional
mysticism.

Nammad]vir’s mysticism has been largely responsible for the
form of worship which has been developed in the temple ever since
Bhoga Srinivasa was installed. It was after listening to the exposi-
tion made by Sri Alavandir of the ten verses (of the 3rd ten of
the 3rd centum) in Tiruvoimoli that his grandson Sri Tirumala-
Nambi just past his teens, made a solemn resolve, took his grand-
sire’s blessings and repaired to Véngadam where he dedicated his
whole life to the daily service of Lord Vénkatésvara in the manner
recommended by Namma]var in his songs. The same verses when
explained by Sri Ramanuja made Sri Anandélvar repair to the
Tirumala Hill to keep company with Tirumala Nambi in doing
service to the Lord. (These verses are given at the end of _fhis
Chapter).

There is also a story in Chapter V of Mausala Parva of Sri
Mahabharata which may be taken to have some connection or
throw some light on the manifestations of the Supreme Being on
earth to give a start to a new form of worship known as- Archi-
vatira. This form of worship supercedes the older ones, viz.,
Para, Vyiiha, Vibhava and Antaryami and has been recommended
by God Himself as the one best suited for usin the Kali Yuga.
Sri Krishna while departing his human body in the manner described
in the Mahabharata, exhibited to Brahma and the other Devas as
well as Rishis, etc. His real form with four hands, and Sri Devi
seated on his right breast. Without going into details it may
be stated here that Brahma and the othersaddressed him as the

. one bearing the bow, obviously referring to his avatir as Sri Rama
who killed Vali with the bow and who therefore paid for that
act with his life as Krishna at the hand of Jara the hunter. The
Divine Spirit ascended to the Heavens piercing the Solar Orb.
There the spirit appeared to Brahma and the others as a stone
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image and simultaneously a voice from the Heavens proclaimed
that He would appear on earth in that shape,which while appearing
to be stony and lifeless would possess considerable (spiritual)
power, that He would remain on earth thereafter and that Brahma
and the Devas should continue their worship there. This incident
happened at the end of the Dvipara Yuga. At the commencement
of the Kali Yuga His manifestation in V&ngadam seems to have
taken place. The image has Sri Devi on the right chest. It shows
scars on both shoulders extending to the arm pit as if they were
due to the constant wear of the bow-string and the sling of the
arrow pouch. There are no other weapons, not even the Sankham
and the Chakram. What is known as Brahmaradhanam (worship
by Brahma) accordingly takes place every night and that Tirtham
is served to worshippers the first thing i \he morning during
Visvaripa séva.! The Deity was also invested with the bow
during the days when Silappadhikaram was written.

The Poetic ecstacy of Nammalwar about Tiruvengadamudayan

Tiruvaimozhi 3 pattu.

(1) Without (availing) a moment’s rest, in intimate (close),
contact and without any wavering we should do service to that
Jyoti of Sublime Beauty who is on (the) Tiruvéngadam (Hill) where
the (Hill) streams flow making a deafening noise to Him who is
the great father of my sires and grandsires.?

(2) He is the progenitor of our forebears [father’s fathers’
fathers fathers Sires[ (the creator of all things). In all His endless
glory He is the Lord of Tiruvengadam (Hill) where the Heavenly

1. Nowit is called Viswarupa Sarva Darsanam.
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Beings headed by their King Brahma worship with abundance of
flowers.!

(3) He is Lordly, He is Mayan (possesses inscrutable and
wonderful wits): His eyes are like the petal of the red lotus, His
lips and mouth of red colour like that of ripe fruit; His colour is
that of the dark clouds. He is the Lord of the glorious Heavenly
Beings and He stands-in Tiruvengadam wherefrom flow sparkling
waters.?

(4) He is extolled as the Lord of the Heavenly Beings (Vina-
varkku Isan). But is that really any glory to Him? He stands
on the Tiruvengadam Hill in all His unsurpassable and effulgent
Jyoti (Param sudar jyoti, uggpari Gsrg) and has extended his
infinite love and compassion (umew Pisam) even to me, a mean
creature (Neechan) who has nothing good to boast of. (His
greatness therefore lies in extending His love to sinners like me),?

(5) This Lord of Tiruvéngadam (QmCaukisL ggmen) is
everything good and nothing bad. He is the nectar (s suw)
ofall the Vedas so highly valued by greatmen versed therein.
Will it be considered a full description if it is stated that He is the
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Adi Marti (the Primeval Being) who is worshipped in all the
worlds as a jyoti? (No)!

(6) Let all those who groan under a load of past Karmas,
(s Mg swhsnisés) only say Nama (5uw) to Véngadat-
turaivar (He who lives on the Vengadam Hill) and all their past
Karmas and what they may happen to commit in this life will be
completely burnt (Gesb=burn, & %ser accumulation of past sins;
Gueaidr=sins which may be committed in this life). This is
Satyam (@wuy), By so doing they will only be acquiring good
to themselves.?

(7) This spacious Tiruvengadam Hill will ensure for us (Vidu)
Moksham on equal terms with the Heavenly Beings who headed
by their King Brahma, carry on their head loads of flowers, water,
dhipam and deepam for his worship if we emulate them and say
Nama to Him as they do.®

(8) He lifted a Hill to protect (the dumb cattle) from biting
cold and pelting rain. He in days of yore measured the worlds
with his Feet (to save the Soul of Maha Bali). This Paran (Para
Brahman) left (His Heavenly abode) and has settled on the great

1: CerHurd aderaagh Osme
9 Qi & BQuarwe yereur G
CuwBui pylusss vssmss
89afis SplaumsL g omiwCuw

2, Camsmaer QuubCuwed &y poeyn
sThss gHEL G poamCu GFdari
Gauﬁmx..jgmpwrrrf&é 50 Qeverewr
T S Y FWESTIECs

3. swpgorowd Biésitgrunsras@
Huit by wrarat araraiiGsrQEy@h
sow@pud Holums brwsl Gé
swmQarard @5t sLdEearpCuo.

} 33



HISTORY OF TIRUPATI

Tiruvéngadam mountain. By worshipping that hill alone all
our sins will vanish (3% guib),!

(9) Those (Bhaktas) who in word and thought worship the
lotus Feet of this Shepherd of Tiruv&ngadam will be freed from the
enfeebling effects of old age, birth, and disease.?

(10) (Therefore) Before the appointed end of our life is
approached and before age and weakness set in, let us repair to the
flower gardens and groves on the slopes of Tiruvengadam
o ) Hill which is the seat of the Lord.?
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CHAPTER III.

How the temple became popular and famous,

AN attempt was made in the last chapter to show that neither
the so-called Puranic accounts nor other legends can be trusted to
explain when and why the God of Tiruvengadam manifested
Himself on the Hill, and why the Hill itself came to be credited
with the virtue of burning away all sins. It cannot, however,
be doubted that the Hill was considered sacred and the Deity
thereon more so. The fact that neither the Hill nor the Deity
thereon is mentioned by name in the Itihdsas, the Vishnu Purana,
Sri Bhagavatam and the Bhdratam does not militate against it.
It was, however, rarely resorted to by pilgrims in ancient times.

So was and still is Ahobilam, to which among the Alwars
only Sri Tirumangai Alwir seems to have paid a visit. It was so
inaccessible. It came into prominence during the period of the
Sangama Dynasty of the Vijayanagar Kings and after the battle of
Talikota again relapsed into obscurity. The writer knew personally
the conditions that prevailed there about 35 years ago. There
was no regular daily worship although the Temple is said to have
been consecrated according to the Panchardtra Agama by the
Ahobila Mutt Jiyars. There was a Niyogi Brahmin of the Cuddapah
District doing puja voluntarily although he knew nothing of the
Agama form of worship. He would make 108 pradakshinams
after bath with his wet clothes on; then enter the temple, trim
the lamp left burning overnight, ring the bell and offer to the Deity
the water, flowers and Tulasi which he brought with him, He used
to cook a small quantity of rice which he would first offer to God
and then partake of it himself. This was for the Tiruvilankoyil
God in the plains. Five miles away on the Hill is the real Ugra
Narasimhaswamy partly in a rock-cut cave. There was no daily
puja for Him. Once a week on Saturday the same Niyogi gentle-
man would go to the Hill, do abhishekam and offer the puja in
the only simple style known to him. Outside the temple, and even
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inside the Gopuram, animal sacrifice used to be made by the villagers
making the waters of the Bhavanasini stream (on whose banks
the temple is situated) run red with blood. In spite of all these
deficiencies, Sri Vaishnavas and all other Hindus too, consider
the place sacred. The Brahmotsavam is attended by tens of
thousands of pilgrims.

Tiruvéngadam might have been in similar state in the earlier
stages. Except for the Alwars singing its glory, there was nothing
historically great about it. Epigraphical researches disclose that
some Vishnu temples existed from unknown times and more were
built from time to time and endowed by the Pallava Kings. What
are known as the Charudevi plates go to show that among other
things land-grant was made to Narayana of Kulimahdtaraka
temple at Dalaru (in Nellore District). There is also the Uravapalli
grant in the eleventh year of the reign of Simhavarman (486 A.D.)
to God Vishnuhara in Kandukuru (Nellore District). There is the
Mahéndravadi inscription (600-630 A.D.) showing that a cave
temple called Mahendra Vishnu Simha temple was cut during the
reign of Mah&ndravarma 1, probably in Mah&ndravadi. During
the same period, there is the Mandagappattu inscription mentio-
ning the erection of a temple for Brahma, Vishnu and Iswara without
the use of bricks, timber, metals and mortar. An inscription of
the Pallavaram cave temple is of the same period. In Kanchipuram
so many temples were built during Mahendravarma’s and his
successors’ time. During the eighth and ninth centuries A.D.
also grants were made very near to Tirupati for the Siva
and Vishnu temples &s may be seen from inscriptions in Gudi-
mallam in Chittoor District, Tiruvallam (North Arcot District)
and Tirumukkidal (Venkatesa’s temple). These are not repeated
here in extenso as we are not much concerned with the details.
Among the donors are the Bina Kings (Mavali Vana Rayas) one
of whom Vijayaditya Banardya is a donor for the Tiruchukanir
Tiruvilankoyil about the closing years of the ninth century A.D.
The absence of any inscription showing grant of land or relating
to the construction of a temple on Tirumala cannot therefore be
accounted for only by a simple statement that inscriptions were
rare in those days as Dr. S. Krishnaswami Ayyangar would have
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us believe. It can be accounted for only by assuming that the
Tirumala temple, although considered sacred, was not considered
important. That must also have been the reason for having a
Tiruvilankoyil in Tiruchukanir or a Venkatesa’s Temple in
Tirumukkudal in those early days.

But the necessity for a proper temple in Tirumala soon came
to be realised and became an accomplished fact in the early years
of the tenth century A.D.

The developments in temple worship, both Saivite and Vaishna-
vite, which led to this will now be considered. The period we are
going to consider is anterior to the birth and growth of the philoso-
phical sects known as the Advaita and the Visishtadvaita schools
adumbrated by Sankara and Ramanuja and the Dvaita school of
Madhva. The former lived, for all we know, in the first half of
the ninth century A.D. and the latter, Ramanuja, in the eleventh
and the first half of the twelfth century A.D. and Madhva lived
much later. We have to deal with the period when Appar, Sundarar,
Manikkavasagar and Tirugnanasambandhar were the great saints
of the Siva cult and the Vaishnavite Alwars (twelve in number)
stood for the new Vaishnava-cult, because we really have no means
of knowing what definite form Vishnu worship took in anterior
days. For one thing it does not appear to have been of the Bhakti
type which the Alwars, and particularly, Namma]war enunciated.
There may have been the Vaikhanasa form of worship or some
form of Pancharitra. But Panchardtra itself was presumably
based on a rational and acceptable basis by Yamuna Muni or
Alavandar in his Agama Pramanyam and later by Védanta Désika
in his Pancharitra Raksha. A glance at the Vaikhanasa Samhita
will show how offensively Vaishnavite was the old type which
made Brahma and Siva attendant beings waiting by the side of
Vishnu, Siva in particular being placed in the Paisicha Zone. Or
worship may have been of the haphazard type the writer described
about Ahobilam. If we compare the description given in the Silap-
padhikaram about Srirangam and about Tiruvéngadam, we have
to conclude that there was regular worship in the presence of a
congregation of worshippers so far as Srirangam was concerned,
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whereas in the case of Tiruvengadam it would have been a mere
dressing up of the form of the Deity. The words used in regard
to Srirangam are “ Several worshipping with Sthotrams.”* There
is no mention of a congregation of worshippers or of worship in
regard to Tiruvengadam. The Sun and the Moon could well have
shone on the Deity as he stood, according to the author’s des-
cription. ’

The Siva cult was ruling in Kanchipuram in the fifth, sixth and
seventh centuries A.D. and the competing religions were Jainism
and Buddhism. Mahendravarma (€00-630 A.D.) was a Jain before
he was converted to Saivism by Appar (Tirunavukkarasu). During
those days, according to the Chinese traveller Hieun Tsang, there
were about 80 Hindu and Jain temples in and around Kanchi,
and about 100 Sangharamas and 10,000 priests of the Mahayana
sect. Kanchi was the birth place of Dharmapala, the well known
metaphysician who was the head of the Nalanda University. This was
the state of affairs when Hieun Tsang visited Kanchi in 642 A.D,
In the Pandyan country also there were Buddhists but mostly
given to commercial pursuits. It was also during the period of
Narasimhavarma I, that Manavarma (of the Mahavamsa of Ceylon)
was in Kanchi seeking Narasimhavarma’s help to regain the
throne in Ceylon. In the Pandyan country, one Pandyan king
Nedumaran was converted from Jainism to Saivism by Sambandar.
This might have been about 760 A.D.

There was thus very keen rivalry, if not struggle b tween
he heretical religions, Jainism and Buddhism, on the o.ie side
and the Vedic types, if we may use that term, of Hinduism represen-
ted by the Siva and the Vishnu cults on the other. The Siva cult
seems to have been the stronger in the earlier stages. As regards
Buddhism, Hieun Tsang himself felt despondent about its future
as it was in a decaying state. So was Jainism. Mahendravarma
in his Prahasana (farce) called “ Mattavilasa” (in Sanskrit)
ridiculed the Kapalikas, Sakhya Bhikshus and Pasupatas.

1. “wari QsrCsphp’’
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To comprehend fully the abuses that had crept into Buddhism
Jainism and Saivism, we have to go a little more into details without
unduly taxing the patience of the reader. The Mahayana Bud-
dhism not only copied from Hinduism image worship, but had
also developed all the Tantrik forms. Tara, Vajra Yogini, Kshétra-
pila were worshipped with the use of mantras, bijas and japa.
The life led by the Sikhya Bikshus did not in any way maintain
the good name of Buddhism. The Jains seem to have been held
in no better esteem by the public. When Mahéndravarma I
(Pallava) and Nedumaran (Pandya) changed their faith from
Jainism to Saivism it must have been a sad commentary on that
religion. And Mahendra did not stop with that. He wrote the
prahasana, severely ridiculing both Jainism and Buddhism. Further,
both these religions were exotic in origin and no religious literature
worth the name seems to have been produced in the language of
the country (Tamii). Sanskrit had become a part of the recognised
language and all Vedic literature, the Puranas etc., were also
available in Tamil for the benefit of the common man. South
India was in those days in close contact with Ceylon. Manavarma
of Ceylon had to flee from Ceylon to seek the help of Narasimha
Varma to regain his thronic, and was a refugee in Kanchi. The
precepts of Buddhism were not being put info practice; and that
was patent to the Hindus here.

The great protagonists of Saivism in this century (scventh)
were Appar, Minikkavisagar and Sambandar. They did yeoman’s
service in weeding out the exotic heretic religions. But did their
work yield fruitful results? If it had done so, there would have
been-little chance for Vaishnavism (as we know it now) to gain
acceptance.

These two, Saivism and Vaishnavism, are known as Vedic
religions, because they start with an implicit faith in and acceptance
of the Vedas, Upanishads, Srutis, Smritis, the Agamas, Itihasas
and the main Puranas. At the time we are dealing with, there
was not a systematic evolution of the Advaita philosophy and
much less of the Visishtadvaita system, nor of the Dvaita school.
There were, no doubt, temples dedicated to Siva and Vishnu,
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Whether the rituals therein were being performed strictly according
to the Saiva and the Vaishnava Agamas, we cannot definitely say.
The Saiva Agamas may have been observed. As regards the
Vaishnava Agamas, there were two Schools, the Vaikhanasi and
the Pancharatra. It is likely that the former may have been in
vogue before the Pancharatra became more popular. Historically
there is nothing to guide us in the matter. There is however, a
tradition among the Vaikhanasa Archakas that all the temples
in the Tamil country—and it was the same in the Andhra country
also—were originally consecrated according to their own tenets.
But in later times, it was Sri Ramanuja who converted one by
one all of them to the Pancharatra system, which he favoured—
the only exception being Tirumala. The legend is that a Srirangam
Archaka, for performing his father’s sraddha, invited Sri Ramanuja
as the bhokta and that at the end he declined to utter “ Truptosmi ”
(“ T am satisfied ”’) unless the key of the temple was handed over to
him, which was done. Having got hold of the key, Sri Ramanuja
made them accept Pancharatra to govern the temple worship
before handing back the key. Anyhow, there is the grievance of
that community in the matter, although the story on the face of
it looks improbable.

What was wrong with the state of Saivism that made Vaishnae
vism to rear its head? The defect scems to have been in the ugly
forms which the Tantrik form of worship assumed. Temple
worship which has been enjoined for the Kaliyuga is inextricably
mixed up with the Tantrik rituals, whether the temple is of Vishnu
or Siva. In the latter, there is Siva worship and Devi or Sakthi
worship. They are not in two water-tight compartments. Whichever
is the Tshta Dévata for the specific purpose the appropriate Tantra
for propitiation is adopted. The one that came in for the greatest
amount of abuse- and which wrought havoc on Saivism is what
is known as Vamachara or Virachara ritual of Shakti which requires
Panchatatva for its due performance. They are vulgarly styled
Pancha makira. It is presumed that the Sadhaka must have been
duly initiated before he could be considered fit for the Sidhana
(practice). The necessaries that make it up are called Madhya,
Mamsa, Matsya, Mudra and Maithuna (Wine, meat, fish, grain
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and woman) It is also called Rahasya Puja (Lata Sidhana)
It 15 best not to say more about this  In support of this, the Tantrik
pandits quote Manu as the authority, and seem to rely also on
the Kalikopamishad of the Atharva Veda

* Na Mamsabhakshana dosho na madvée, na cha maithune

Pravritiresha bhitanam nivrituistu mahaphala ™
(Manu)

(There 1s no wrong in the eating of meat norin the drinking
of wine, nor in sexual intercourse, for these things are natural
to men At the same time, abstention theiefrom 1s productive
of great good ™)

Further, animal sacrifice was considered unobjectionable, since
n the Asvamédha Yajna by Yudhishtira a horse was killed, offered
to the Devas and eaten In the great Yaina which lasted a hundred
years, Shaunaka and other Rishis used to listen to the Srimad
Bhagavata from the mouth of Suta and at the same time sacrificed
animals.

Theite was (it 1 not known 1f they still exist) a sect called
Mabhavritas who took a rigid vow to eat only from a human skull
as bowl, wear round their neck a garland of human bones and
perform their penance i cremation and burial grounds seated on
human corpses The Jangams formed another class whose meat-
eating, drinking and other vices were 1evolting to public morals
All these formed component parts of Saivism. Black-art and
necromancy form a part of the cult, although they are condemned
as underworld tantras. The presiding devatas are from the Saivite
pantheon. The Agamas relating to these have however been classed
as Asat Agamas.

It 15 modern Vaishnavism that 1s considered to have made a
departure by copying the Buddhist principle in prohibiting ammal
sacrifice  Even 1n Yagas and Yajnas it 1s only a pasu (cow) made
of rice or other grain flour that 1s used for sacrifice

The Alvirs were not content with these departures  They
preached and practised more revolutionary doctries taking care
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not to shock the ideas of Varnasrama Dharma prevalent in those
days. So far as spirituality was concerned, there was no distinction
based on caste, non-caste or sex. They copied Buddhism and
made women eligible to become acharyas. When we look at the
composition of the recognised Alvars, we may classify them as
follows:

The first three Alvars— Poygai Alvar, Bhutattalvar and
Payalvar:— They never let anybody know what caste or parentage
was theirs, nor did any one know. All of them hail from Kanchi
Mandalam — Kanchi, Tirukkadalmalai (Mahabalipuram), and
Mailai, (Mylapore). Their birth date is ascribed by Dr.Swamikannu
Pillai to about 719 A.D. But it is immaterial for our present purpose,
to know the exact date.

(4) Tirumalisai Alvar:—He himself said that he was not
born in any of the known castes. He was a fondling brought up
by a Védan (huntsman). He became greatly learned in the Sastrds
and even the Vedas, Jainism, Buddhism and the Saivite Pasupata
Agamis. He preferred Vaishnavism of his own choice. His birth
date is supposed to be 720 A.D. (Dr. Swamikannu).

The above four represent Kanchi Mandalam, and not one of
them was a caste man, as far as was known.

(5) Nammalvar:—Was the son of a highly cultured Sudra
couple, Kari and Adaya Nangai. From the moment of birth,
he was considered a remarkable spiritual being. He was born in
Tirukkurukai (Tirunelveli District) about 798 A.D. He is
acknowledged to be the greatest of the Alvars.

(6) Madhurakavi Alvar:—Of very orthodox Brahmin parentage
of the village of Tirukkoilir, a Sima V&di, who after sojourn
throughout India found in Namma]var his great Achdrya. It is
to him that Sri Namma]var is said to have vouchsafed Tiruviruttam
(Rigvedasaram), Tiruvasiriyam (Yajurveda), Periyatiruvandadi
(Atharva Veda) and Tiruvoimoli in particular which is the sheet
anchor of the modern Sri Vaishnava Siddhantam and practice.
He is said to have been born in 797 A.D.
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(7) Periyalvar:—Born in Srivilliputtiir of orthodox Vaishnava
family. He is also known as Vishnu Chittan, and Pattarpirdn
and sang the celebrated ““ Pallandu Pallandu™. Born 725 A.D.

(8) Andal:—The foster daughter of Periyalvar picked up as a
fondling in the flower garden of Periyalvar about 776 A.D. in
Srivilliputtiir. She remained a virgin and is reputed to have
become the consort of Sri Ranganatha. A woman Saint.

(9) Kulasekhara Alvar:—Also known as Kollikkavalan, a
Kshatriya, born in Kollinagar (or Tiruvanjikkulam) as the son of
Dridhavritaraja, a great Sanskrit poet and scholar. Became a
devout Sri Vaishnava and Saint. 767 A.D. (Kerala). His name
is given to the gold-plated door step in the Tirumala Sanctum
(Kulasekharappadi).

(10) Tondaradippodi Alvar:—Born of orthodox Brahmin, Sri
Vaishnava parentage in Tirumandarakkudi. Also known as
Vipranarayanan. He served i Srirangam temple maintaining
Nandavanam (787-88 A.D.).

(11) Tiruppanalvar :— Fondling brought up by Chandala
parents of Urayur. Is reported to have been taken into the sanctum
of Sri Ranganatha on the shoulders of Lokasaranga Muni. Born
601 A.D.

(12) Tirumangai Alvar:—Born of fourth varna (Sudra) in
Tiruvali Tirunagar, was ruler of that place. Became a great saint
after a rchequered career of romance and dacoity. A great traveller
all over India. 776 A.D.

While Namma)var, Perialvar, Anda], Kulasekharan and
Madhurakavi may be said to belong to the extreme South composed
of the Pandya and Kerala countries, Tondaradippodi, Tiruppanan
and Tirumangai Alvars represent the Chola country. We have
seen that Poygai, Bhitam, Périya]var and Tirumalisai represent the
Kinchi or Tondai mandalam. If we bear this distribution in mind,
we will see that in the Tondai mandalam, the impact with Jainism
and Buddhism was a little earlier than in Pandyanadu. On the
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whole almost all the Alvars may be said to be contemporaries, the
concentration of the largest numbers being in the tracts where
the heretic religions had to be contended with. The new faith
preached by all these Aivars was in essence the same, based on
Bhakti and Love. The team represents almost all castes of society
and both the sexes.  The leader of this pantheon has been universally
recognised by all Srivaishnavas to be Nammal]var, a Sat Sidra by
birth. The most learned of the Brahmins was his devoted Sishya,
Madhura Kavi. Madhura Kavi is considered by some to be
the same as Maran Kari, who excavated the cave temple and
installed Narasimhaswami in the Anamalai Hills, 770 A.D. during
the reign of the Pandya King Varaguna Maharaja. If so there
must be some thing wrong with the birth date.

Periya Alvar of Pandya Nadu was also a Brahmin; Kulase-
khara, a Kshatriya, who preferred a devotee’s robe to that of a
monarch. Andal, the foster daughter of a Brahmin, preferred
to remain unmarried and became a devotee.

All the four Alvars of Kanchi Mandalam were of unknown
parentage. And Tirumalisai distinctly states that he did not come
of any of the four castes.

Tirumangai and Tondaradippodi of the Chola country had
not a clean record of life before they became great devotees and
Saints.

It will thus be seen that the new faith held out equal opportu-
nities for all to become saintly and that the sins of the past in
this life cannot stand in the way of reformation to the extent of
a clean wiping out of all past record. It copied the Buddhists in
this respect and also in respect of placing women on a footing
of equality with men in the spiritual field. It was the acquisition
of the power of intense love that made it possible for Tirumangai
Alvir to switch over in one instant from the materia! to the spiritual
plane.

But was this pantheon of the Alvars recognised in their life
time? And how does it in any way affect the practices of the
Tiruvéngadam temple?
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The pantheon certainly did not come into existence till after
the days of Sriman Natha Munigal and even long after Sri Rama-
nuja’s days. The tradition is that the Alvars’ hymns were sung
in odd bits in different temples scattered all over the Tamil country
and that Nathamuni during his tours of pilgrimage observed that
they contained- great spiritual truths in the finest Tamil. He set
about compiling them together. Tradition says that he was able
to do this successfully on account of his yogic powers. This is a
tradition universally accepted by all Sri Vaishnavas. There is
in fact no evidence of the Alvars’ spiritual leadership having gained
country-wide acceptance during their lifetime. A few of them
seem to have attended the assemblies of disputation convened
by the Pandyan and the Chola Kings from time to time and proved
the superiority of their Vaishnavite tenets. Tradition also says
that when Tirumalisai Alvar entered an assemblage of Brahmins
reciting the Vedas on a great occasion, they stopped the recitation
as he was not a Dvija. When they forgot where they had left off,
it was Tirumalisai that pointed out to them by signs as to where
to commence, since in his humility he would not utter the words
himself.

Nor is there evidence that during Nathamuni’s days, a pantheon
of Alvars was created. But his grandson, Sri Alavandar showed
the way. In commencing his work * Stotraratnam,” he first
offers in three stanzas his prandmams to his grand father and Guru
Sriman Nathamuni and then in one stanza to Pardsara, because
he gave to the world true knowledge in his Vishnu Purana (Purana-
ratnam) and then in another stanza to the feet of Namma]var—
whom he calls the progenitor of his Kula (Vaishnavism)— Naha
adyasya kulapateh '—and who is the mother, father, wife, sons,
wealth and all else to him and his fellow Vaishnavas. We may
therefore take it as a settled fact that it was Yamuna Muni (A]a-
vandar) that made the Sri Vaishnava faith what it has since become
under the spiritual influence of Namma]var. But later on Sri
Ramanuja, while commencing the writing of his Sri Bhashya on
the Brahma Sutras, first prays to God Srinivasa (Brahmani Srinivase)
for giving him true knowledge and Bhakti. Then his prostrations
go to Vydsa. In this connection, the Acharya-parampara is not
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through Alavandar, Nathamuni and Nammilvar. Apart from

this unique deviation, every Sri Vaishnava knows that, according

to established custom, his first business after putting on his Ndmams

is to pay obeisance to his immediate Acharya and through him in

ascending order right up to Nathamuni and Nammalvar, After

Nammalvar his next saviours are Divine, viz., Vishvaksena, Sri and ’
Sridhara. So far as human Acharyas are concerned, Nammalvar

is the final one, because he is believed to have received his intuitiye

knowledge direct from God, through Sri and Vishvaksena. ;:/

Temples which were in existence from or before the days of
Namma]var may not have been modelled on the theological concepts
of Namma]var at the time of their consecration. But al;'temples
consecrated by Sri Vaishnavas after the days of Namma]var—
rather since Ajavandar's days—must be presumed to be in accor
dance with Nammalvar's conception of Vishnu worship. The
consecration of the silver image of anuvengadgmudanyan was
during the lifetime of Alavandar.

We have now to see why this new image was consecrated.
There was already the Svayambhu (self-manifest) Murti which
needed no consecration by human hands. But whatever kind of
Puja was there, before consecration f the silver image, it was
not according to Nammilwar’s conception. We have noticed
that Kanchi was the nerve centre of all the then known religions
of the South. The Saivite saint Appar called it * Kalviye karai
ilada Kanchima nagar ” (the great city of Kanchi where culture
knew no bounds). There as well as in the Pandyan country,
Jainism and Buddhism were active and alive. Saivism was running
riot in all directions good and bad. The old Vishnu temples
had their own well-worn Agamic ruts in which they were running.
The political conditions in the Tamil country during the eighth, ninth
and tenth centuries were anything but settled, owing to the incessant
wars between the Pallavas, Cholas and Pandyas with the Rashtra-
kiitas and the Chalukyas interfering in these wars. Kanchi itself
was more than once in the hands of Rashtrakiitas and therefore
under Jain influence. Of the Pallavas, some were Saivites and
some Vaishnavites, with no marked theological or philosophical
distinctions. As soon as the Cholas conquered Tondai Mandalam
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at the beginning of the 10th century, Saivite influence became
more prominent.

It was therefore necessary for Sri Vaishnava leaders to seek
some place where there was no old sectarian controversy and where
old feuds might not breed new causes of disturbance.

Where was the place besides Tirumala with a greater claim
to sanctity and where there was no settled form of worship as
yet established? Early at the commencement of the ninth century,
the Vaishnavas (they were not styled Sri Vaishnavas then but
Emperumanadiyar) consecrated a small temple called Tiruvilan-
koil of Tiruvéngadamudaiyan in Tiruchukanir. With the advent
of the Cholas as rulers of the land, a Siva temple of Parasarisvara
began to find favour there. The consecration of the Manavilap-
perumal (silver image) in Tirumala itself about the year 966 A. D.,
thus became a necessity. The popularity which the temple gained
in later years was entirely due to putting into practice the high
ideals of Sri Namma]var.

WHAT WERE THE IDEALS OF NAMMALWAR?

vt
We have seen that controversies were going on between the
protagonists of the different religions and sects. We also know what
Tiruamlisai A]var had to say in the matter:

 yPuTh Fwaw gult SETi U S ST
ffuri Radul i Qeudé-0a Jurw
vruady vreowds vrsady Cugsrsmi
rerlr urgar dérp.
(srevgps. D7 63)
eng8rb s HCw b swansHOWd & way ey
L4 arsw gy wrgriGsTb-ursQu s &

Qs sfurdné st Bsriurd §85wCw
aksl sAuQgrdr P&,
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These two stanzas go to show that the Alvar after careful
study of the Saiva Agamas, of Budhism and Jainism,
considered that by good luck, he came to place his faith in Vishnu
worship.

There were however the first three Alvars, who, though they
were as staunch as Tirumalisai in their faith in Vishnu worships
described the form of Tiruvéngadamudaiyan as one in whom both
Vishnu and Siva existed in happy combination. They also left no
doubt that He was Vishnu Mirti. Periya Alvar gives the description
of the Murti in the following stanza:

(1) He has in his form the flowing matted locks (jadai), the
high peaked crown (3 & qpig ), the shining dagger (gewwapey)
and the chakram, the snake coiling him and the golden sutram
round his waist. In Him, my father on Tirumala, the two forms
have gracefully blended into one.!

(2) The golden-hued Holy one (Siva) and the one who rose
to the skies to encompass this earth, Trivikrama (e esbsre
@ppwreé) Vishnu, the two may pass as separate ones, but the
one is really in the other.?

These two Alvirs believed in the identity of the two:—

(A) But Namma}var gives a more lucid exposition:

o gnlwl yalbm iy weer g e G
Ca vl dan@sripsse qyerma s g

(1) grips e yib Bawpyuy Gumaswepeyes &4y o
GpIaw Qura@ay s Csmd puwré-Gep
Brave el uryp PHwiluw Guinsses
Qrewpmey Quirerg dospy.’

(2) Qurer PsyCuald yhsmwub ereadugy b
P posp sTw Q5B g)b-er e gyib
Qowriss srpdha Gy gyib-g e
souabkss Qs qerer.’’
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".He has merged in Himself (in the undifferentiated state) Rudra,
Brahma and Lakshmi after losing their separate entity (G eir o) ;
He pierced by his growth the highest heavens to encompass creation.
Is there a Higher Divinity than that Mal (Vishnu) 7"

The idea that Rudra, Brahma and Lakshmi are separate Deities
having independant status is negatived by Namma]var. Tirumalisai
and several of the other Alvars share this view. In fact the view
is that Vishnu created Brahma who in turn created Siva. It is
in this sense that Tiruvengadamudaiyan has been presented to us.
He is not any of the ten Avatars of Vishnu. He is Narayana Himself
who for the benefit of mankind in this Kali age has made Himself
self-manifest in Véngadam for reasons known to him only.

This conception cannot possibly be engrafted on the older
Agamic Vishnu temples. This conception accounts for the absence
of any shrine even for Lakshmi in Tirumala. The Murti is
common to all sects, although the worship is to the Form of Vishnu.

(B) To make this clearer, in another place the same A]var
says:—

“Worship and praise each His own Deity (Ishta Devata),
they all reach my Tirumal (Vishnu).®

(C) Men have their own desires in this world and have there-
fore been propitiating different Deities who are supposed to have the
power to bestow different kinds of boons. These were being
done according to the Tantras laid down in the Agamas. Some
are good and some are bad. We know that non—Vaishnavas
have far too many Vritas. There is no need for these tiresome

1, Cupwdw BHL DA g wavQa7 cer
wrpefélé GCuwriGs ayapemGs?’
2, " mdeér sdGsTav® oA Lr@siiv Qs Peyd
Qs Ber sLtpy Queir §m wrgégé CrmGu.’’
SanruGurp 111 9-6.
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pujas. The Alvar says that Tiruvengadamudaiyan is the giver of
all gifts whatever be one’s desires.

(D) But he also says that if he is worshipped for the love
of it, He bestows on the worshipper the good things of this world:
then, as the result of one’s good actions, life in the other worlds
if so desired; and finally and by degrees or stages Moksham. All
the Vritas which require intermediaries in the shape of human
help and those of the lesser gods may be dispensed with. Sri
Vaishnavas have therefore dispensed with all Kimya Vrita Karmas.
Only such as are enjoined by the Sastras as obligatory need be
and must be performed. Even for these the Sankalpam is that
one has no claim to the fruits of the performance of such acts.
(Satvika tyagam).

(E) The highest va'ue which the Alvar attaches to Bhakti
and Bhaktas is expressed in the following stanza:

owisTRG Fr1Padr prflgd P fe Tsedw
BNGSHT QTGS G Lrengem LTenis enm &) gyh
W bSTREG FEST S S u el Grenr ) a0 Qerer gy an
swisTi S Qurd giwy wrQyod wysGer,
SmeurGwrf [T 7-6

He says that he is the devout servant of those who are Vishnu
Bhaktas, even if such happens to be born as lower than the lowest
of Chandalas. The superiority of Bhakti over the path pursued
by the performance of Vedic rituals (including Yagas, Yajnas
etc.,) is being annually proclaimed in the solem performance of a
festival known as the reading of the Kaisika Puranam early in the
morning of the Uttana Dvadasi day before day break. The Pura-
nam inculcates the superiority of Bhakti. A very learned Brahmin
pursuing the path to salvation according to Vedic injunctions was,
owing to a flaw in the performance of such Karma, destined to
become a Brahma Réakshas. It was vouchsafed that a great Bhakta
would turn up several years later at whose hands the curse would
cease to operate and the Brahmin would achieve salvation. A
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Chandala, by name Nampaduvan, was incessant and un
his Bhakti and observed Ekadasi Upavasam for twelve yeym)
the twelfth year, this Brahmarakshas waylaid the Chanda¥g3nd
wanted to eat his flesh The Chandala agreed to be the
but wanted a short respite so that he might go to the temple an
sing the usual praises of God. The Brahmarakshas could not
believe that the man would come back; but after many assurances
were given, agreed to wait. True to his word and against the
advice of a Brahmin, the Chandala kept the engagement. Then
it seems to have dawned on the Brahmarakshas that the moment
of salvation had come for him. He offered to let go the Chandala
if he would only transfer to him the virtue acquired by his devotion.
The Chandala said that he had no power to do that. He was
performing only Nishkama Karma. He had already passed to
God himself the fruits of his action. In a series of cajoling words,
the Brahmarakshas asked him to part with the virtue acquired
by the last song he sang in the Kaisika raga, but in vain. Then he
prostrated before the Chandala and requested him to obtain salva-
tion for him. The story of his life was then revealed. The Chap-
dala out of real hunulity pleaded that he was of the lowest of human
beings, but if he could really intercede to help another soul, he would
willingly pray to God. The Brahmarakshasa’s curse came to an
end and the Branmin got hus salvation. This ['uranam is being
read year after year by some member or other of family of Sri
Alavanddr m all the Vaishnavite temples in the Tamil country.
The reading or the Puranam 15 only to remind all Sri Vaishnavas
what was Namma}var's attitude to Bhaktas wherever they may be
born.

(F) Spiritual advancement 1s equally open to all. The composi-
tion of the Pantheon of A]virs bears testimony to this. In the
daily routine of a Vaishnavitc temple, it is to be clearly seen. There
are no separate compartments for different castes for worship
in the sanctum as is the case in many Saivite temples. All mix
freely and even discrimmately. The Tirtham vessel does not
get polluted after a spoonful thereof i1s given to a Harijan nor
is the Sathart considered polluted by being placed on the head
of a Harijan. There is one more proof in Tirumala. A portion
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of the cooked food, which is the first food offering after Tiruman-
janam, and the only one that is allowed inside the Kulasekharap-
padi, is kept in the sanctum. A little of it is given to the worshipper
after Tirthami and Sathlri. In ordinary Brahmin houses, if a
portion of the food is given to a Sudrd, the remaining portion is
considered polluted and unfit to be eaten by a Brahmin. In the
Tirumala temple, a small lump of prasadam will be accepted
with veneration by a Brahmin whose turn comes next to that of a
Harijan. There is no touch-pollution inside a temple, or even
in God’s procession in the streets. He who entertains the feeling
of pollution will be born a dog or an ass. In Srirangam one of
the tirtham mirasdars is a Sattida Srivaishnava. In the Tiru-
mala temple, these Sittdda Srivaishnavas enjoyed the privilege
of supplying all the articles required for Tirumanjanam, carried
in procession round the temple before being delivered inside
They were receiving honours and emoluments in return. They
also enjoyed the privilege of reciting prabandhams in goshti aiong
with the Brahmin Srivaishnavas and were given emoluments,
For some reason or other, they ceased to perform the sacred duty,
Inscriptions bear testimony to the practice.

This rather long exposition is given to show why and how
the temple of Tiruvengadamudaiyin became popular with all
the sects of Hindus. We may go to the Telugu and Kanarese
countries or Kerala and Maharashtra, the prefix Venkata will be
found tacked on to any kind of name. [t may be Venkata Raman_
Venkata Subrahmanian, Venkata Subban, Venkata Sivadu, Venkata
Narasa, Venkata Krishna etc. The reason is that Tiruvengada-
mudaiyan is considered the family Deity in many families in South
India. This acceptance as family Deity is due to the Alvars’
conception of the form of that Deity.

There is one question which any non-Vaishnava acquainted
with the routine of daily worship in this temple may raise. How is
it that the Sri Vaishnavas have for themselves exclusively one
item of worship called the Sattumurai to which the others are
not given admission? The answer to this consists of two parts.
One is that Sattumurai is not an item of worship in the view of the
Vaikhanasa Archaka nor according to Sri Ramanuja's work
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“Nityam..’ 1t is a function coming at the tailend after the orthodox
ritualistic worship according to the Agama is completed and after
the non-Agamic “Sahasranimarchana. It is only an innovation
made some time aftér the Muslims or the East India Company
assumed management of the temple. Barring the strict rituals
of worship in Sanskrit riks several of the other items and festivals
are of a compromise character, a compromise between Ramanuja’s
Pancharatram and Vaikhanasam. The Sattumurai is one of such
items. The second part of the reply is that the exclusion of devotees
of other persuasion is not an ancient custom. It was introduced
when the T.T.D. Committee first came to power. The overcrowding
in the temple was so much that bonafide Sri Vaishnavas, who
could recite the prabandhams and take active part in the function,
could not gain admission due to their chronic poverty and lack
of influence. On the other hand, spectators took up all available
space coming as they did with letters of recommendation. To
make the function successful admission was restricted to those
who could recite the prabandham so far as the portions relating
to Sattumurai were concerned. The function itself is a latter-day
innovation and does not find place in any of the inscriptions as
an item of daily worship. It was recited outside the Temple first
and then outside the Sannidhi and in front of Sri Ramanuja’s
shrine, on certain occasions only. The word Sattumurai is only
a Tamil word and has no equivalent in Sanskrit.

Thete is an assurance given by Namma)var in regard to Tiru-
véngadamudaiyan which cannot well be left cryptic. He advises
mén possessing high intellectual gifts (particularly poets) not to
prostitute the rare gift they possess for the gratification of unworthy
mortals for the sake of a small remuneration. He advises them to
earn their bread by doing hard manual work and to make use of
their gifts to worship and praise God, each his own Ishta Devata.
But if really boons have to be asked, he assures them that this
Deity will grant whatever is prayed for. The words used are
* Véndirrellam tarum kodil manivanpan™ and they are words
deliberate in expression. So we see people making pilgrimage
to Tirupati to fulfil their vows. The man who was blessed with
a son, another who got cured of a serious illness in a miraculous
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manner, the man who escaped a serious accident, the burglar
who escaped punishment, the one who wanted that he should
have no scorpion sting, nay—even the murderer who went un-
punished, all go and fulfil their vows.

The Alvir would not have overlooked the accepted mythology
that Bhasmasura, Hiranya, Maha Bali, Ravana, Kamsa and several
other Rakshasas were given the boons they asked for, all of which
were used against society and God. The one who granted those
boons could not have been ignorant of the fact that they were
going to be used against Himself. Evolution of the soul through
the exercise of Free will accounts for this paradox or Theodicy.

In the A]vir’s conception, the final goal of the individual
soul is Moksham (Vidu). There will be ups and downs in the
ascent to this goal. Errors are bound to bring about repentance
and must lead to success. The A]var does not hold out to even
the worst sinner the horrors of eternal damnation and hell. So
he says that God grants anything one asks for. By sheer experience,
he learns to ask for things which are for his eternal good. In the
spiritual ascent even failures count. The Alvar's advice is that
one must learn to love, heart and soul, even if that love is for a
material object. The capacity for intense love once acquired
can in a moment and at the mere touch of a great master be switched
over to the right object. When that is done it becomes Bhakti.
So we find in his songs that he represents himself as a woman
pining to gain Him who is the object of her love. We have a concrete
instance in the person of Tirumangai Alvar.

In the absence of Love (or Bhakti) as the dominant factor
the acquisition of psychic powers, through boons granted or as
the result of severe penance, may lead to disastrous consequences.
Leaving aside the Rakshasas, the powers acquired by Viswamitra
resulted only in making him land from one morass into another,
until he found out that Vasishta was the model to follow. There
was no soul more perfected than that of Maha Bali in his days.
But he knew not how to conquer the self and boasted that he was
n the supreme position of the Giver. God had to teach him
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that nothing was his, that his self was itself God’s own and had
to be surrendered to Him. While commenting upon this pheno-
menon, Namma}var beseeches God to play the same trick with
him. He wonders how he can repay God for this great act which
was done to him. He says that he gave away his self, his ego to
God’s keeping. As an after-thought he corrects himself and puts
the question to himself. What is my soul and who am I to dispose
of it? It is all His; He gave and He takes it away at His pleasure.

The history of this temple in its earlier days was shaped by
great men who were imbued with the A]vars® high and practical
philosophy. Its fame rose by leaps and bounds. Today, this
temple stands pre-eminently the greatest in the land.

*“ Vénkatesa samd Dévo nabhiitd na bhavishyat1 ” is repeated
day after day during Mantrapushpam. The closing mangalam is:

* Sri nagaryam maha puryam Tampraparnyuttarétaté,
tintri n€ mula dhamné Sri Sathagopdya mangalam ™

to remind us of Saint Namma]var.



CHAPTER IV.

History of the Tiruvengadam Temples (in Tirumala,
Tirupati etc.)

SYNOPSIS.

OUR ancients thought that it was possible to realise the infinite
through the finite, to comprehend the power and glory of the’
formless and all-pervasive Divinity through the worship of an
image with form which is usualiy consecrated and installed in
a temple. Just as we today try to concentrate the rays of the sun
by scientific processes and to utilize the mighty forces of solar
energy for serving our material welfare, the ancient Hindus tried
to focus the infinite powers and attributes of the invisible Divinity
in a visible image for ministering to our spiritual welfare. The
Mahabharata (Mausala Parvam, Chapter V) account of the origin
of image worship was already referred to in Chapter I1. This is
how image worship came into being and the object of this book
is to explain how it came in Tirumala and Tirupati, in what manner
and with what results. It is really not known when the Birthless
One came to have a birth on the Vengadam Hills of His own Choice
(Svayam Vyaktam). The large image-form seems to have been
there from an unknown date. All that we can say is when the
small stone temple was built to enshrine the image. In fact the
history of the Tiruvengadam Temple is seen to commence not on
the Hills, but in the small village of Tiruchokinur (Tiruchchokunur
or Tiruchchukanur) now going by the name of Tiruchanur or
Chiratanur about ten miles south of the Hills by road. Changes
in the political conditions of the country seem to have largely
influenced the building of a temple on the Vengadam Hill tself
and in the founding of a new village near the foot of the Hill by
Sri Ramanuja known as Tirupati. The Pallava rule during which
the temple was built was overthrown by the Cholas and Saivism
gained the upper hand for some time. For a correct undefstanding
of the inscriptions which reveal this history, it is necessary that
we should understand the religious atmosphere of the corresponding

.
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period and the political conditions favourable or unfavourable at
the time.

But before entering into details, it may as well be wseful to
state in briel the scope of the T. T. inscriptions. A temple in
Thiruchchuhantr ten miles away from the main focal point on
Vengadam proved unsatisfactory as it may give rise to a conflict
with the Siva Temple and dissipate energy. A small silver image
a replica of the main God (Dhruva Mirtior Periya Perumal), was
therefore made, bedecked with a number of jewels and formally
consecrated according to prescribed rituals in the year 966 A.D.
by a lady devotee, named Samavai. This small idol made it possible
for the Bhaktas to satisfy their cravings to worship the Deity with
all the ecstasy which the Alvars described in the outpourings of
their heart. A century later Sri Ramanuja came on the scene
and carried out many developments. The Yadavarayas who
were the local rulers, were largely responsible for placing the finances
of the temple on a satisfactory basis. The form of worship from
this period, right down to about 1300 A.D., was in closer accordance
with the tenets of Vaikhinasa Agama which governed the consecra-
tion of the temple. In the earliest days the worship does not appear
to have been in the strict Vaikhinasa form. The very Agama
warned the Vaikhdnasas not to interfere with old usages etc., in
Svayamvyakta temples. The images of the Alvars and that of
Sri Andal had no place in the sanctum, nor had they separate
shrines inside or outside the Tirumala temple. The image of Sri
Ramanuja was the sole exception. Even he had no separate
worship for him in the temple. This has been the state of affairs
even to this day. Even in Tirupati the shrines for Tirumangai
Alvar, Nammi]vir and Andal seem to have come into existence
in the latfer half of the 13th century A.D. The quantity of food
offerings was limited to the extent of the requirements of the temple
servants. There was little left for Desdntrics, or pilgrims. The
quantity was ridiculously below the standard fixed in the Agama
for the lowest class of temples (Adhamadhama).

There were no festivals of importance excepting the Brahmot-
savams, the two Vishu Sankramanas, the two Ayana Sankramanas,
the Mukkoti Dvadasi and much later the Utthina (Kaisika) Dvadasi.
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The Musiim invasions of the South India by Malik Kafur
In 1310 A.D. and by Mohammed Bin Tughlak brought about
some changes. Singayya Dannayaka, the military commander
and minister of the Hoysala King Vira Ballila, made some inno-
vations. He was a staunch Sri Vaishnava of the Mysore country,
whose ancestors must have been under the religious spell of Sri
Ramanuja who spent the period of his exile in that part of South
India. Nandavanams (flower gardens) and Mutts were established
by him. He came over to Tirupati to guard the political interests
of the Yadavardya ruler as the Pandiyan power had broken down.
He made the Yadavaraya in 1328 A.D. assign a village in his favour
for rendering certain food services to the’God. And the Yadava-
raya followed suit in the name of his forebear Yadava Narayana.
Just about the same time (1339 A.D.) images of the Utsava Murti
along with the two Nachchimar came to view in the inscriptions.
Certain new festivals were now instituted where food offerings
on a larger scale than before were made and distributed to the
congregation. There seems to have been no room for these images
in the old Vaikhanasa form of worship in Tirumala. Even in
Tirupati such festivals were unknown before. This Mirti is the
Malayappan of our day, known at the time as Malai Kuniya Ninra
Perumal. This innovation was in keeping with the type of festival
celebrations in the Tamil Chola and Pandyan countries.

We are in a position to trace the development of-the Sandhi
offerings and the Asthanams' as the direct or indirect effect of Malik
Kafur’s invasion of the South which drove some of the Southern
Srivaishnavas to Tirumala and Tirupati. We will find the singing
of Tiruppavai first in the later half of the 13th century A.D. in
Tirupati and of Tiruvaimoli in the third quarter of the 14th century
in Tirumala. The beginnings of the Arisanalayam Nandavanam
and Matham which later developed into the Jiyar Matham and also
of the Van Sathagopan Nandavanam which gave rise to the Ahobila
matham will be noticed. The date of construction of some parts

1. Sandbi offerings are food offerings made at the six periods of each
day as mentioned in the Agama. Asthanam is the function when the Utsava
Murti Lolds a durbar on certain i in a spaci pam when
food offerings are made and distributed.
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of the temple in 1250 A.D., including the gopurams, the renovation
of the sanctum on a grand scale and the construction and hasty
closure of the Mukkoti Pradakshinam and the first gold guilding
of the vimanams will also be discussed.

We will also go into the details of the administrative machinery
of the temple from the days of the’Srikaryakartas and the Sabhaiyars
of Tiruchchukanur to the Sthanattar(1209)acting under the authority
of the early Yadavardyas, the constitution in 1390 A.D. of an
ad-hoc independent body composed of four representatives o the
townsmen of Tirupati, three representatives of the Sabhaiyar, one
representative of the Archakas, the two Jiyars and two represen-
tatives of the newly created temple accountan's (Tiru-ninra-tr-
Udaiyar) all subject to the overriding control ol the King himself;
the gradual deterioration in the morale of this committee, the
growth in the volume of food offerings which was exploited to
the full by the Sthanattar and the attempts made by Siluva Nara-
simha and the Vijayanagar Kings to curb this evil and make more
food available 10 the pilgrims by the establishment of Ramanuja
Kiatams and Satrams. The evil, however, invaded cven thesc
institutions and food could be had for the pilgrims only on payment.
The Sthanattar and the Archakas and Jiyars seem to have sold
their share to lessees who sold the prasadams. When the endow-
ments for food offerings increased, the Sthanattar seemed to have
prevailed upon the donors to endow for Vagaipadi (baked or
fried in ghee) in increasing quantities so that their share might
be sold at convenience. The result of all this was the establishment
of a free feeding house in Tirupati by one Aravidu Kondaraja in 1547
in the Namma]var sannidhi which he built and about 2000 Sri
Vaishnavas irrespective of caste were fed there daily in a sumptuous
manner. This will be dealt with at length in its proper place.
The difficulty felt by the Sthanattar in the disposal of large quantities
of prasadams by sale was also sought to be overcome by the insti-
tution of festivals wherein payment was made in cash for all the
servants of the temple from the Sthanattar down to the sweeper.
These went under the sub-heads of expenditure called Tirumuna
Kanikkai( $ % apow & ewlléies)and Tirukkai Valakkam (8 4 ws
apdsu), These payments were, however, justifiable as the
servants were asked to work overtime.
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Arrangements for the daily recitation of the Vedas in the temple
(in addition to the Tiruvoimo]i) were sought to be made by Sri
Dgvariya Mahardya II (in 1430 A.D.) and this was long after
Tiruvoimo]i gained ground and Adhyayandtsavams celebrated.
Devardya had to make solemn promises on the shore of the Swami
Pushkarini to the Mahajans that yearly payment would be made
for their services. How the Emperumanadiyars or Tiruvidhisanis
(dancing girls) came into existence, how their influence grew till
one of their number was accorded higher honours than that of
any acharya or the king and how they suddenly disappeared
from the temple inscriptions will also be explained.

The growth in the type of food offerings from the simple cooked
rice, green-gram, ghee and curds, of the early days to the much
more gluttonous types such as Paruppaviyal Tirupponakam,
Tirukkanamadai, Dadhyodanam, the six kinds of Ogarais, the
Sarkarai pongal, Atirasams, Appams, Vadais, 1ddilis, Sukhiyan,
Godhi, Kasikkay, Bhétnikai, Pal Kulambu, and several more, all
these recorded in the inscriptions disclose how the authorities
catered more to the palate than to the spirit of the pilgrim. The
growith in the number of subsidiary temples in Tirupati diverted the
emoluments from the Sthanattar to other more needy stomachs.
What is of greater interest to the student of the ancient politica)
and economic history of the country is also clearly seen in the
inscriptions. The working of the ancient village assemblies, the
agency which enquired into their faults of commission and omission
and the method adopted for quick redress of grievances are port-
rayed in the inscriptions. The taxes levied by the king and those
which the village assembly levied are given in some detail. We
have also an instance of how a number of the Nattars of village
assemblies met to decide on common action when the suggestion
emanated from the king.

The rise in the cost of living from time to time is reflected
in the increased amount of money which had to be paid by the
donor for the same kind of food offerings. The actual prices of
commodities in bulk and in retail are recorded from the middle
of the 16th century A.D. These and several connected matters
have been faithfully recorded here with the aid of inscriptions.
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Although the usual method of making endowments for services to
be performed 1n the temple was either in the shape of money or
by the grant of villages, occasions are noticed n the mscriptions
when erther because money went underground owing to political
turmotls, or because the capacity of the Sthanattar foi judicious
expenditure on the improvement, repairs and creation of fresh
irrigation sources was doubted, the donois executed the works
themselves by paying labour in cash or n kind  Such changes
when read along with the change in chronology for the tecording
of mscriptions disclose to a certainly unsettled political condition
Where whole villages were granted it was not usual in the earliet
periods to state what the amount of annual income would be
Only the services to be maintained from the mcome were shown
But 1n later periods, particularly after Krishnadeva Maharava <
reign, 1t became the practice to state the normal income either
because prices fluctuated too much or because the Sthanattar's
capacity was doubted After the battle of Talikota, 1t 1s not even
the income, but the yield in gramn that was being noted We also
find that the prices of commodities were fluctuating in an uncertam
manner  The chronology cited in the inscriptions mentioned the
year of the reigning monarch till we reach the period when the
Pandyan suzerainty broke down and the Viayanagar reign had
not been well established Even n the earliest period when the
Pallava rule came to an end and the Chola rule had not been well
estabhished, the chronology adopted in the inscription was the
Sali Saka Agamn when the Pandyans collapsed and Malik Kafur
was rushing down the Saka year 1s referred to, and no mention
made of any ruling king Although the Vijayanagar soveieignty
was established due to the strong backing given by Saluva Narasimha
his policy was to avoid dynastic chronology and stick to the Saka
year only This was systematically adopted since then although the
name of the ruler was coupled with the mention of the Saka year
from the time of Achyutaraya When there were succession troubles,
the name of the king was not mentioned, or if the donor desired
such mention to express his loyalty to one party or the other, the
policy of the Sthanattar was simply to record the donor’s attitude.
These will go to show the status of the Sthanattar vis-a-vis the
ruler of the land.
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There is yet another point which will be noticed in detai|
in due course. The Vijayanagar Kings were less sectarian in their
attitude to the temple administration than their predecessors,
whatever the personal conviction of the particular emperor might
have been. This was more marked in the case of Krishna Deva
Maharaya. His gifts were incomparably large and costly, al Imade
in a spirit of personal attachment. He does not seem to have evel
enquired what was done with the huge amounts of money paid
by him. He did not show any preference for any Sri Vaishnava
connected or unconnected with the temple. Achyutadéva Maha-
raya was more demonstrative and egotistic as a Sri Vaishnava,
Even he does not appear to have interfered in the administration
of the temple. Sadasivadecva Maharaya seems to have been al
humility. His visits could not have been more than two. He
made no large endowments personally; he did however encourage
those who gave their all to the service of the temple and set his
heart on making arrangements which tended to give greater creature
comforts to the ever-increasing number of pilgrims. Benefactions
on a large scale were by far greater during his reign, mostly by
private agencies.

Speaking of private agencies and endowments, we should do
Justice to the residents of Tirupati and Chandragiri of those days
and describe the part played by them. The Archakas, Tirumala
Nambi and Anandalvar, laboured on the Hill a thousand years ago.
Then came the Jivars and other Acharyapurushas, who served the
temple since then. It has to be noted from the inscriptions that
they did not lead a parasitic life on the temple. When no crown
seemed to sit surely and safely on the head of the wearer, the citizens
of Tirupati, the Sabhaiyars of the surrounding villages and the
permanent religious office-bearers of the temple shouldered the
responsibility for the management of the temple. They were
given the highest respect by local rulers and military commanders,
made their own contributions as endowments from out of their
small savings, influenced their spiritual disciples to do likewise,
went about the country doing propaganda in the name of Tiru-
véngadamudaiyan, made the temple famous and themselves pros-
perous. The extent of their endowments was not insignificant
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and will be dealt with in detail later. Such names as Kollikkavali
dasar Mallanagal or Madhvadasar of Chandragiri, Tirukkalikanri-
dasar Algappiranar, Tholappar Ayyangar of the Sottai Tirumala
Nambi family, Kumira Tattayyangar, Srinivasa Tattayyangar, Koti
Kannikadanam Kumira Tattayyangar, Anandalvar, Koyil Kan-
didai Annan, Kandadai Ramanuja Ayyangar, Kandidai Dodday-
yangar of Sholinghur, Pratividhi Bhayankaram Apnan, Tiruven-
katachari (Chakravarthi family), Alagiya Manavila Jiyar, Mullai
Tiruvenkata Jiyar, Emperumanar Jiyar and his successors, Van
Sathagopa Jiyar and his successor Narayana Jiyar of the Ahobila
Matham, Sri Vyasa Thirtha Sri Pada Udaiyar, Devaraja Bhattar
of the Archaka family, the various members of the mercantile
community of Tirupati (very many of whom have made large
endowments), the temple accountants going by the name of Tiru.
ninra-ar-Udaiyar, the dancing girls known as Emperumanadiyars
attached to the temple in their numbers, ail have made notable
endowments at critical periods in the history of the temple.

One great experiment in softening the acerbities of socia
inequalities was made by them five centuries ago. The recitation
of the Tiruvoimoli by the Dwijas and the non-Dwijas alike in Sri
Ramanuja’s Shrine in Tirumcufa and sharing of prasadams on
terms of equality was so long ago as 1467 A.D. introduced and
practised. The non-Dwijas represented by the Sattida Sri Vaishnavas
were accorded the privilege of making the daily offering with full
paraphernalia of * Parimalam ™ used for the first function of the
daily puja called Tirumanjanam (Abhishekam). These articles have
been used for the holy bath and the emoluments given in return
were received by them daily. Such a function seems to have no
parallel in the history of any other temple. This will also be gone
into at length later.

The inscriptions of the post-Talikota period show distinctly that
royal patronage diminished or even disappeared. The only excep-
tions to this are the charities of Matla Kumara Anantaraja, who
built a number of temples and gopurams in Tirupati, Kalahasti.
Nandalur, Kanchi, Tiruvallur etc., and endowed for several free
feeding houses,. Almost all endowments have been made by private
individuals and several of them belonged to the Acharyapurusha
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families. During that period, money seems to have become so
scarce that donors carried out the repairs to existing irrigation
channels and excavation of a few new ones in return for which
the Sthanattar undertook to perform certain services for the merit
of the donor commensurate with the additional yield of grains
secured by the repairs etc. In 1684, we find a donor Dabirshaw—
giving away a gold Kanthi at its market value as an endowment
in place of cash. Villages were of course endowed.

Speaking of endowment of villages, it may be mentioned
that about 200 of them were, or ought to have been, in possession
of the Sthanattar scattered over wide tracts of the country. A
detailed list of these with particulars will be given later. But
from the middle of the 15th Century A.D. it was realised that the
Sthanattar could not do justice to the job of supervision and collec-
tion of rents, which probably were in kind. A separate department
known as the Tiruppani Bhandaram (Public works) was opened,
We have not been able to find out who were, or were not eligible
to be, members of this committee. But we know that it functioned
as a separate body, but in conjunction with the Sri Bhandaram.
While the latter may be called the Finance Department, the former
corresponds to the Department of Works (Buildings and Irrigation
including collection of rents). Yet another had to be created about
the end of the 15th century to be in charge of gold, bullion, jewellery,
gold vessels, costly silks etc., and to see to their repairs and upkeep.!
But whatever other departments were created, there is no evidence
énywherc in the inscriptions to show that the conduct of rituals
and festivals was subject to the supervision and interference of any
secular body. We may go further and state that there was perfect
amity among the Sri Vaishnavas, whether engaged in the services
or otherwise, in all ritualistic matters. It has already been pointed
out that this went to the extent of admitting all Sri Vaishnavas,
Dwijas, and non-Dwijas, to a due share in the performance of semi-
religious service and to sharing of emoluments. But this seems
to have been confined to that section known as Sri Vaishnavas.
When there appeared the possibility of even Dwijas of other religious
persuasion legitimately claiming the right to partake in services,
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such a service seems to have been sedulously and silently smothered,
That appears to be the reason why Vedaparayanam service failed
to take root in Tirumala. By common consent, it would look
like the sharing of prasadams having been denied to them, while
for the prabandhams recital there was liberal remuneration. This
has been a dominant feature of this temple.

Before closing these introductory remarks, it is necessary
to mention a few prominent points.

Other Shrines.

In Tirumala temple, there are separate shrines dedicated to
Sri Varadarajaswami, Sri Ranganatha and Sri Narasimhaswami;
whereas Sri Rama and Sri Krishna are accommodated inside in
the pantheon. In none of the other premier temples (Kanchipuram
or Srirangam) is there a corresponding provision for Tiruvengada-
mudaiyan. It is easy to explain. The shrines for Sri Varadaraja,
Ranganatha and Narasimha came to be built about the second
half of the 14th century at a time when the desecration and spoliation
of Hindu idols and temples were in swing under Malik Kafur and
Muhammad Toghluk. Tradition tells us that Ranganatha was
accommodated for three or four decades in Tirumala.  Although
a shrine for Varadaraja was built some time before 1350 A.D..
it does not appear that the Kanchipuram idol was accommodated
in Tirumala. We know that in 1481, the Muslim armies swooped
down to the gates of the Kanchipuram temple. plundered all the
jewels and massacred the Srivaishnavas there. There was likewise
during all thosc days the risk of the Ahobilam Narasimhaswami
temple being desecrated. Perhaps the God was for some time in
Tirumala. We know from uwadition that Adivan Sathagopa
Swami took charge of the small idol (whom we would call the
Mantra Salai Narasimham) and kept Him away from Ahobilam
ever since in the Ahobila Mutt without a definite habitation for
some centuries.

These are ref<rred to for the purpose of informing readers
that Tirumala served as a sort of refugee camp for Vaishnavite
idols of antiquity.

The next item relates to Tiruvenkata Mahatmyam or Venkata-
chala Mahatmyam. [t will be discussed at length separately,
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But enough for the present to state that it could claim no more
antiquity than 1491 A.D. It was composed, or compiled, by one
Pasindi Venkatatturaivar ahd read with Arulappadu (or divinc
permission) in that year. Therefore all the traditions relating to
Alamelmangai Thayar of Tiruchanoor must be taken with a pinch
of salt. Sri Padmavati Amman (or Alamel Mangai of Tiruchanur)
is nowhere referred to in our inscriptions. The presumptions
of the T. T. Devasthanam epigraphist and his interpolations in
brackets in the course of his translation of the original Tamil text
arc unwarranted. The Alamel Mangai referred to in the inscriptions
distinctly points to Bhudevi on the left bosom or Vakshasthalam
of Tiruvengadamudaiyan. The word Alamel Mangai Nachchiar
Sannidhi occurs for the first time only in 1477 A.D. and not before,
although Pulugu Kappu Murai for Tiruvengadamudaiyan was in
vogue from much earlier times.

So are the terms Kapila Thirtham and Sri Kapileswara Swamij
Temple in reference to Alvar Tirtam in Tirupati. Nowhere in the -
text, until we reach the year 1865 A.D., does the tcrm Kapila
Tirtham appear and Sri Mahant Dharmadasji introduced that
name. It was in the year 1563 A.D. that the God there is referred
to as “Kapileswar Nayinar.” Before that date, there was no
mention of a temple of that name, nor of the waterfall and the
pond having been called Kapila Tirtham. In all the inscriptions,
the waterfall goes by the name of Alvar Tirtham (the word Alvir
having reference to Sudarsana A]var or Chakratta]var) since it is
stated in one of the inscriptions that according to the rites pres-
cribed by Sri Ramanuja the waters there were sanctified by the
advent of Sri Govindarajaswami with Sri Devi, Bhu Devi and
Chakrattd]var. This matter also will be dealt with separately.

The subject matter of the inscriptions has been indicated
in brief in this introduction. The temptation remains to put into
a few sehtences the important events connected with the history of
this temple. A table of chronology will be added later showing
in detail the salient events. But a brief account may not be
unwelcome to many.

Apparently because Tiruvengadamudaiyan on the Hill was
inaccessible to most devotees, and probably at the instance of
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some of the Alvars and more probably Tirumangai Alvar (when
Sriman Natha Munigal and Uyyakkondar were yet in their teens)
a Tiruvilankayil was reared in Tiruchchokunur about the year
which represented the 5lst year of the reign of the Pallava King
Vijaya Danti Vikrama Varman and a perpetual lamp to represent
or symbolise the ever burning light of true knowledge was set ups
the corresponding probable year of the christian era being about
826 A.D. With the downfall of the Pallava power in 900 A.D.
and the advent of the Chola supremacy, a Siva temple also (Sri
Paraareswara’s temple) came into existence in the same place,
possibly having the royal support. By about the year 960 A. D.
when Srimad Yamuna Muni, the grandson of Sriman Natha
Muni and the great systematiser of Sri Vaishnava theology and
Vaishnava Agamas, was at the height of his influence, it must
have been considered an act of wisdom to transfer the worship
of the Tiruvengadam God to His rightful place on the Hill so
that all possible chances of a sectarian friction may be avoided.
For, after all, Tiruvilankoyil idol was only a Deputy of the Hill
God. A silver 1mage, being the replica of the main idol, was
made, the consecration duly performed and arrangements made
for the daily conduct of worship, for two Brahmotsavams in the
year and for the o"servance of certain calendar days. This may
have been in 966 A.D. This was the period when Sri Alavandar
and his grandson Tirumala Nambi were the Sri Vaishnava leaders.
Sri Ramanuja was, or is said to have been, born only in 1017 A.D.
Sri Ramanuja mus; have clearly seen that a temple and a God
on the maccessible Hill with very limited accommodation could
not serve as a rallying place for Sri Vaishnava devotees. He
must have had the ambition of a universal conversion to his faith.
Just about that time, the Chola King, who was a Saivite, ordered
that the inage of Sri Govindaraja of Chidambaram should be
thrown into the sea as the sea was the legitimate place of repose
for Vishnu. This image was taken hold of, removed to Tirupati
and the temple of Sri Govindaraja erected just to the right of Sri
Parthasarathyswami as wc face the shrine. The location of Sri
Govindaraja shows clearly that he came in as a refugee. But
the temple and Tirupati grew in importance, because the templc
was from its inception affiliated to the Tirumala Temple. The place
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served as a base for pilgrims to commence their journey up the
Hill. Further it was the policy of Sri Ramanuja’s successors to
construct a number of subsidiary shrines affiliating them to the
Hill temple, although each had its own resources to fall back upon.
Also a clever move was set on foot, of sending down from Tiru-
mala certain prasadams, such as Chandanam, Vastram, Appa
padi, Tirtam etc., on the Sattumurai day of the respective presiding
deity heralded by full temple paraphernalia, honours, Adhyapakam
and Védapérdyana Goshti and conveyed on the back of elephants
in procession. It must always have been a grand sight and a
gala day for pilgrims and the residents of Tirupati. The whole
show contributed to make Tirumala and Tirupati famous. But
during the days of Sri Ramanuja, such things had not taken definite
shape. They came in at least two centuries after him. In fact
there were no A]vars or Acharyas inside the temple nor even in
Tirupati during Ramanuja’s days. Even the unfailing performance
of routine worship seems to have been a doubtful matter till we
reach the year about 1200 A.D.

It must have been about 1160 A.D. or soon after, that the
foundations of the Gopurams in Tirumala (and perhaps in Tirupati
also) were laid. The earliest inscription we find on the basement
of the inner Gopuram may be assigned by inference to about 1180
A.D. The Yadavaraya Kings of Narayanavanam were the early
and the great patrons of the temple, the greatest of them being
Vira Narasinga Yadavaraya. It was during hjs days that the renov-
ation of the Garbhagriham in a grand style (Gsnan pauriié@®
Gs7ui gysé@Ban W) was made and the gold gilt Vimanam and
Kalasam were set up by him thus making the Tirumala temple
rival Suragiri (Mount Meru) in brilliance. This was about in 1250
A.D. Under his eyes, the Tirupati temple also grew in importance,
a four-faced car was built and a golden Kalasam was placed thereon.

New Festivals,

Then came the onrush of Malik Kafur’s troops destroying
and looting Hindu temples and idols.  Upto this date Tirupati
temples had only Brahmotsavams, seven in number month after
month in Tirumala and two in Tirupati, There were some Tingal
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Divasams (sacred days) also observed, The destruction of temples
in the south, and more the fear of such misdeeds, drove thousands
of devout Hindus up to Tirumala and Tirupati which somehow
(and naturally attributed to the power of Tiruvengadamudaiyan)
escaped the iconoclast. This was all after 1300 A.D. and right
up to 1360 A.D. These Tamils whose rituals of temple worship
commenced long befor? the birth of Yamuna Muni and Ramanuja
were well-versed in the Tiruvoimo]i (A)lwar Sri Suktis)and attached
greater importance to their recital than that of Vedaparayanam.
While before 1336 no trace of a processional deity and the two
Nichimars can be seen in any of the inscriptions, thereafter they
appear unfailingly in all processions. Processions, Asthanams,
and Tiruvolakkam (food offerings of varieties on a large scale
intended for distribution) multiplied in numbers. New kinds of
festivals in imitation of the practice in the South Tamil country were
instituted—Hunting festival, Yachting or Floating festival, swing
or Unjal festival, Pavitrotsavam (the only sastraic one), Adhyayano-
tsavam (recital of the entire Tiruvoimoli in 10 to 20 days), marriage
festival for the God, Fruit eating festival (Phalotsavam), Sahasra-
namotsavam, Sahasrakalasabhishekam, festivals on calendar days
such as new moon, full moon, Ekadasi, Dvadasi, Sankramanams
¢tc, multiphied. Alvars and Acharyis and even one’s own ancestorS
were ginen birth day celebrations and Sattumurai.  So much so at
the beginning of the 17th century A.D. there were 429 festivals for
365 days of the year. If ever there was a Védaparayanam, it
ceased (o be uttere until Devaraya Maharaya I thought it desirable
to mahe a permancent arrangement for its recital, although according
o ancient rule and custom, the Védas should not be recited for
remuneration  This was about 1443 A.D.

In the meantime, the result of the Muslim invasion was that the
Yadavarayas and the Pandyas were wiped out and the Vijayanagar
Kings stepped on the stage. Bukkaraya sought the blessings of
Tiruvengadamudaiyan about 1365 A.D. by offering one Sandm
food and by mstituting a Brahmotsavam. Siluva Mangideva,
one of his feudatories m Chandragiri, gold-gilt the Vimanam of the
Tirumala God for the second time in 1409 A. D. Devaraya made
some substantial arrangements for food offerings m 1429 A.D,
Saluva Narasimha, the trusted Minister and Commander-in-Chief
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of the Vijayanagar Kings till 1485, took the greatest interest in these
temples. Under the advice of a Brahmin, Kandadai Ramanuja
Ayyangar Narasimha converted them into a true copy of any of the
South Indian Tamil Srivaishnava Temples, the introduction of
the dancing girls not being excepted.

This period between 1450 and 1494 HKas its own merits and
demerits, but the merits predominate. After some not very
eventful years, we pass on to the period of Sri Virapratapa, Vira
Krishnad&va Maharaya, unequalled for his munificence, grandeur,
freedom from sectarianism and the ease with which he kept himself
above the influence of self-interested devotees. He showered gold,
jewellery, pitambaras, costly vessels, covered the Viman with
gold-gilt, never looked to his right or his left as to who took all
that wealth or managed it in the name of God. He lost his only
son and yet did not lose his faith in his own, his personal God
Tiruvéngadamudaiyan. He might have realised by then that
washing himself and his blood-stained sword in Rameswaram
could not wipe out the consequences of his many sins. Analysing
all the emperors of the Vijayanagar Dynasties—others did very
little for this temple in comparison—we find none second to his,
unless it be the unostentatious Sadasivaraya Maharaya. Aliya
Ramaraya, the King-maker, is represented in Telugu Kavyas as
a depraved man and tyrant. But from our inscriptions, we must
say that he was magnanimous with a sigh for the hard lot of
the poor man.

Private endowments were always given in plenty for this temple.
It should certainly be an interesting pastime for those responsible
for the secular management of these temples to find out in what
manner these endowments slipped out to the Devasthanam. They
may learn a lesson for the future. That Hindu religious endow-
ments have been a fruitful source for misappropriation and
embezzlement, our inscriptions show to be only partially correct.
Only in a few cases we find that a donor endows village; everything
is intact excepting the name of the village which has been clean
chiselled out. This is no plea for Government management which
can and did with impunity perpetrate worse deeds.
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Endowments were invariably burdened to the full with serviceg
to be rendered and food offereings to be made. When in some
instances the income fell short of the requirements additicwal
endowments were demanded and furnished.

/

Worghip was free to every pilgrim. No fee was ever demanded.
The aim was to provide food and shelter free to all pilgrims. It
was only when the Muslim rulers assured ownership of the temples
as an estate that the system of farming out the temple to a renter
was introduced to provide income to the ruler. This was brought
to light when the East India Company came forward to safe-
guard the income of the temple, which the Nawab of Arcot had
mortgaged to the company, against depredations made by the
Maharattas, the French and the free booters. As evils invariably
take deeper root even after the causes which bred them originally
are removed, the levy of fees for worship still continues in the name
of the good admunistration of religious institutions.

After the fall of the Vijayanagar Empire, private benefactors
maintained the greatness of the institution till the Muslims, the
Maharattas, and ultimately John Company came in as masters.
The history of these periods is wrapped up in obscurity and could be
written if the Govrenment of Madras will arrange for the study
of records in its possession.
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CHAPTER V

Tiruvengadam and Tiruchchokinur (or Tiruchchukanur)

EARLY ACCOUNTS

IN thss chapter an attempt 1s made to trace the modus
operand: of the early Vaishnavas of the Bhakt: school to make the
Véngadam Hill easily accessible to worshippers of Vishnu, and
mcidentally to gan popularity for the Pancharatra system of
idol worship as contrasted with the Vaikhanasa system which
was perhaps the more common one The difference between
the two may be compared to the difference between the Anglican
and the Reformed Church,or that between the Roman Catholics
and the Protestants The Pancharatra made it posible for any
brahmin of education, culture and charaeter to get himself initiated
as an archaka whereas the Vaikhanasa tenet reserved the privilege
to brahmins born in the old Vaikhanasa family The base of
operation nearest to Tirumala was Tiruchchokinur as Tirupat
had not then come into existence  An auxiliaty temple was cons-
tructed there and a duplicate Tiruvéngadamudaiyan was installed
Converston of Saivites mto Vaishnavism was obviously cared on
i a supplementary shrine wheie another image was set up to
preside over the comversion ceremony By the time attempts
were made by the Savites to stem this tide by the construction
of a temple for Stva m the same village (Srt Patisaiesvara or
T.ppaladisvaramuadatyan) 1t was considered better to transter
the work to Tirumala itself by entering to some sort of an
agieement with the Vaikhanasas there

Véngadam (or Tiruvéngadam) 1s the name of the Hill accordig
to the Tamil grammai “Tolkapptyam ™ The Sangam poct Mamu-
lanar gives the same name to the Hill  But the name of the Deity
Tiruvengadamudaryan (or any variant theicof) 1s not mentioned by
either of the above, nor 1s the existence of any temple for any
other Deity mentioned Mamilandr seems to rcler to festivals
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and fairs thereon as being occasions for drunken bouts and for
exchange of cerfam commoditics by barter. The Tamil classical
work “Silappadhikaram™ gives a description of the Deity o the
Vengadam Hill  which early <hows that the Deity is Vishnu,,
The Alvars have, as already pointed out earlier in this book,
described the Deity av one having Siva also m Himself.  Chrono-
logically these arc to be ascribed to the 8th Century A.D. or cven
earlier.

We have now to examine and find out what the mscriptions
in Vengadam and Tiruchchokinur have to tdl us on this
subject. Tiruchchokinur is now brought n since the carliest
inscriptions— that 15, all those that are found till we reach the date
of the consecration of the Manavilapperumal in the Tiruvengadam
Temple—are to be found only in Tiruchchokinur.  The only
exception to this is thc sohtary slab which was found as a stray
picce in front of the Tiruvengadam temple. This contains an
imcomplete inscription commemorating tne birth of one Vijayaditya
whom we identity with one of the local Bana Rulers. As will
be presently shown Vijayaditya might have been born about the
year 790 A.D. The year of the consecration of Manavalapperumal
as will be shown later, was much later than this.  There iy an
interval of one and three-quarter centuries between the two during
which period there are no mscriptions - Tirumala to tell us anything
about the temple cn the Hill.

There arc however inscriptions which were found m Tiruch-
chokinur and which give information about a temple there for
Tiruvéngadattupperumanadigal. There are eight inscriptions in
Tiruchchd' inur which relate to this period. These are numbered
1,2,4,5,6,7,12 and 13, n Vol. L. of the T.T. Devasthanam  Inscrip-
tions. No. 3 is the one which was found m Tirumala commemo-
rating the birth of Vijayaditya. If we can find out the probable
date of the birth of this Vijayaditva we will have found the date
of this inscription. In the note attached to this chapter this date
has been with tolerable accuracy iixed as 790 A.D. This will be
about 40 years after the writing of the Tamul classic ™ Silappadhi-
karam.” From the description given m that work of the Deity n
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Tiruvengadam, we have to conclude that there might have existed
in 756 A.D. a temple or structure which permitted the Sun and the
Moon to shed their light on the figure of the Deity. Nor was it
likely that a pukka temple was constructed between the years 756 A.D
and 790 A.D. If there existed a structure, Vijayaditya‘s birth would
have been commemorated on some portion of its walls, since he
was the cherished (like the Sarika bird on earth) son of the Bana
Ruler, Mavali Banaraya of the Vadugavali- twelve thousand within
which Tiruvengadam was situated. ’

The earliest inscription found in Tiruchchokinur was made
in the S1st regnal year of Kovijaya Dantivikramar. This we take
to be 826 A.D. This inscription tells us in distinct terms that a
proxy of Tiruvéngadatupperuminadigal existed in the Tiruvilankoyil
at Tiruchchokinur - RéCGern® aris S BCumke gy b
Quaureyeemis awisoeldss HmdderisCsrudp
QUEBDTRGE@EI G ..o verrireeirsen. *+ The construction of
the phrase (in Tamil) is that the Tiruchchokinur Tiruvengadathu
Perumanadigal was in existence there and that a Tiruvilankoyil-
peruman akso was set up as a junior Murty (or Utsavar). The T.T.D.
Epigraphist introduces the expression (as a representation of). The
proper phras: would be to represent. The main point to note
in thls inscripdon is that a Tiruvilankoyil (or proxy temple)
for the Tiruvengadam Deity was built and that a proxy Deity
was set up. (eippe@efedgs; The donor knew that it was
not an independent temple with a Svayam vyakta Murti in it
and that a proxy Deity only was set up for the convenience of
people. There seem to be some who take the view that the Deity
on the Hill was not known as Tiruvengadattupperuman, but only
as Subramanya; and that the Deity in Tiruchchokinur only
was Tiruvengadattu Peruman. It is an assumption not warranted
by the language used. The term Tiruchchokinur Tiruvengadattup-
perumanadigal would only go to show that he was not the Original
Deity on the Vengadam Hill, but only a copy thereof. There were
temples dedicated to Tiruvengadattupperuman in other places
also. There would have been a Mula Murti set up in Tiruch-
chokinur and a processional Deity would also have been set up
some time later as is stated in the inscription. Solanattu Ulagap-
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perumandr made a cash endowment in gold for setting up a
perpetual lamp before the Tiruvilankoil Perumanadigal (or the
Utsava Murti).

In addition to these two Murtis, there is a third one also men-
tioned in the endowment made by Vijayaditya, the Tirumantrasalai
Permanadigal. The last named may have been set up later than
826 A.D. and before the date of Vijayaditya's endowment whose
date is missing owing to the first part of the inscription being not
on the stone. But it may be safely assumed to be about 870 A.D.
Vijayaditya was the ruler a'd thereforc had the power to set
apart the income realised through the Bayyan Ko.l, whatever
that term may connote. From this inscription we learn that
there was a Ur-niyogam or village council, that the temple
was managed by a Koyirkon and that the head of the servants
in the temple was cailed Valluvakkon. Three distinct murtis
are mentioned, the Tiruvdlankoil Perumanadigal, the Tirumantra
Salai Peruminadigal and the Tiruvenkatattupperumanadigal.
From the fact that the Mula Murti is mentioned last, there is room
for the assumption that the first two referred to the local Deities
and the last to the God on the Tiruvengadam Hill. If the last
one really referred to the Tiruchchokinur Mula Murti, mention
should have been made of that Deity first, the other two coming
next.

Regarding the Tirumantira Salai Perumianadigal, an endow-
ment by one Gunavan Apardjitan, head of the Irungolas or irun-
golakkon, gives some information. We gather that Brahmins
were being fed in that temple. Tirumantra Salai is, as the name
indicates, the temple or shrine where the new ccnvert to the
Vaishnava faith was initiated into the Ashtikshara or Tiruman-
tram. It therefore happened to be the place where the convert
was also provided with food for the day. The endowment made
by Gunavan Apardjitan was for feeding two Brahmins Caily, not
necessarily Vaishnavas. Since the Pallava sovereignty came to
an end with Aparajitan, we may take it that his vassal Gunavan
made the endowment some time before 900 A.D., may be about
880 A.D. How the Ti-uvlankayil was kept going immediately
after the downfall of the Pallava Dynasty and before the Chola
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rule asserted itsclf, can be seen from an inscription dated Saka 824,
(+ eimeyy; 12 8 pyu P15 + & or 902A.D.). The Ayirakkadi and the Oratchi
who were the administrative officers of Tiruchchdkinur decided that
the net income received from the administration of the village
after defraying the expenses for the customary and obligatory
services, should be utilised for the Tiruvilankoyil. This is obviously
an extraordinary step which they had to take as the normal adminis-
tration had broken down. This shows that the village council
or assembly shouldered the responsibility of administration in a
case of emergency.

The necessity for and the function of a Tirumantra silai
may well be more fully explained. In our days we are accustomed
to have what are known as the Pancha Béram in a temple. There
15 the Mula Murti who is the immovable idol. There is also
the portable Utsavamurti along with the two consorts (Nachchimars)
for festival purpose. There are three others also, Kautuka, Snapana
and Bali Berams, for certain specific functions. The early centuries
of our anscriptions concern a period of Vishnu temple worship
anterior 1o the days of Sri Alavandar, and more so of Sri Rama-
nuja.  The present Agama form of worship was codified by Sri
Alavandar, as far as we can understand.

Tiruvilankoyil.

The Tiruvilankoyil and the Tirumantra salai are mentioned
only during that early period and not later. We have already
explained the term Tiruvilankoyil as a proxy temple representing
and next in importance to the original temple. An analogous
term is llavarasu or llayaraja. Tiruvilankoyil should not be con-
founded with the term Balalayam. Balalayam denotes a temporary
structure created for transferring thereto the Divinity enshrined
in the main Deity and his Koyil-alvar (Garbha Griham) during
the period that any repairs may have to be carried. As soon as
the repairs are finished there i1s a retransference to the Divinity
to the original Murti. When a new Murti is to be set up there
will be no room for a Balilaya Murti. The new Murti will however
be enshrined in a Koyil or Koyilalvar which along with the Murti
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will be duly consecrated. 1f it is only a proxy or junior Murti who
will be added, a Tiruvilankoil will be built and consecrated along
with that Murti, if the intention of the donor is to maintain that
Murti separately. Balilayam and Tiruvilankoyil should not
therefore be equated. A Tiruvilankoyil need no. necessarily be a
building with walls all round and with doorwav. It may as well
be a mantapam, with in some cases walls «n cither side, the front
and rear being left open. If one would look at the plan of the
Garbhagriham, the Pradakshinam around it and the front manta-
pam flanked by the Pradakshinam walls, in the Tirupati Govinda-
rajaswami temple the idea of a Tiruvilankoyil will be clear. For
purposes of certain festivals including Snapana Tirumanjanam,
the Utsava Murti with Nachchimar will be accommodated in
that mantapam. Tt will be a Tiruvilankoyil during the function.
In the case of Tirumala temple, the Sthapana mantapam, the
proper name being Snapana mantapam, functioned as the Tiru-
vilankoyil till the commencement of the I5th century A.D. when
the Tirumamani Mantapam was constructed. Throughout the
Brahmotsavam period the Utsava Murti would have been there
alone, that is to say for months till the Deepavali Asthanam. In
more recent times the Kalyana Mantapam came into use as the
Tiruvilankoyil. ~ Tiruvilankoyil does not carry with it the same
sense of sanctity as Koyil alvar, or Garbhagriham. Any mantapam
can be made a Tiruvilankoyil by a simple Samprokshana.

Tirumantirasalaipperuman.

In the early days one of the main functions of the leaders
of Vaishnavism was to convert the Saivites to Vaishnavism. It isa
well known fact that branding on the forepart of the shoulders
with the Chakram and Sankham marks was a necessary function
before being initiated into the Tirumantram or Ashtaksharam.
He must be an acknowledged and accredited Acharya who can
do this. Tradition tells us that Tirumala nambi gave his two
sisters in marriage only after the intended bridegroom embraced
Vaishnavism and went through the ceremony of branding and
initiation into Ashtakshara. Sri Ramanuja's father is onc of the
two.  We know that Sri Ramanuja created a band of 72 persons,
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known as Simhasanadhipatis who were given the authority and
the power to carry on this proselytising work. But our inscriptions
relate to a period which may be at least two centuries anterior
to Sri Ramanuja. The procedure adopted at that time seems to
be that the function took place in the presence of the Deity in the
Tirumantrasalai. The Sudarsana and the Panchajanya blocks
used for the branding would have been duly consecrated and in
enjoyment of the daily puja to the Deity. It is only such a conpsecrated
instrument that would have been permitted to be used for the
ceremony. After the daily Tiruvdaradhanam was over the branding
would take place. In all the Sri Vaishpava Mathams there is a
presiding Deity and the Sudarsana and Panchajanya also share
the daily puja. The Acharya-purushas who have been doing this
work have likewise been doing puja to some Murti or other and
the Sudarsanam and Panchajanyam would find a place in the
pantheon. After Sri Ramanuja organised his School of’ Acharyas.
there was no need for a Tirumantrasalai in temples. But before
his days there were only a few recognised Acharyas; the temple
was therefore the most accredited place. Even to this day this
kind of branding takes place in Tirumala by the seven recognised
Acharya Purushas of the Temple during the Brahmotsavam.

We can now have a clear picture of the three Murtis (with
perhaps a separate temple for each) existing in Tiruchchokinur at
the time of the downfall of the Pallava supremacy and the establlsh-
ment of that of the Cholas.

There are two more of the Tiruchchokinur inscriptions which
give room for doubtful interpretation. These are in the early
period of the Chola rule and probably of the years 935 and 927
A.D. Inscription No. 12 was made in the 29th regnal year of
Koparakésari Panmar (Parantaka I).

Itreads ‘‘wPay @sroiw QsTiuy Gssd uswpG
urdn(® Qus@srausray Boludbs_—"

2)irrnenn b g Iy i@ BEOwisaLs Qorle sg
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It ends with “......o?@QapCurd b Qu@wn o guri
TRGsy'".
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The 29th regnal year is 935 A.D. One Kodungdliran(' @ +ir @
Gsmgurymen’) of Malainddu made an endowment of 40 kalanju of
gold for burning a perpetual lamp in front of Tiruvenkata, and
the amount was received by the Sabhaiyar of Tiruchchokinur
for due performance of the trust. The inscription breaks off at
Tiruvenkata and leaves us in doubt whether it was for Tiruch-
chokinur Tiruvenkata or the Tiruvenkata on the Hill that the
trust was meant. The doubt arises for the reason that all the
inscriptions previous to this date (ie., 935 A.D.) show that the
managers of the temple (Sri Karyam) were taking charge of such
endowments, and the endowments were for the Tiruchchokinur
Temple. The powers of the manager of the temple would be limited
to the affairs of that temple. When, as in this case, the Sabhaiyars
step in as trustees the presumption would be that the trust was
meant for a temple outside the jurisdiction of the managers of the
Tiruchchokinur Temple. The only other Tiruvenkata was on the
Vengadam Hill. This theory is based on the assumption that the
Sabhaiyar co-existed with the managers of a temple, and appears
to be correct from a reading of inscriptions Nos. 8 and 9 (Vol. I)
of the same Chola’period, where the Sabhaiyar and the managers
of the temple of Vengadam are mentioned side by side. If our
surmise is correct, then we glean for the firsttime that there was
a temple on the Vengadam Hill in 935 A.D., where a perpetual lamp
could have safely burnt. Also that the Sabhaiyar of Tiruchchokinur
had the responsibility to look after its affairs.

There is also another piece of information which appears
in clearer terms than in a previous inscription. In the latter which
deals with an endowment for burning perpetual lights, the word
Emperuman adiyd appearsin a broken form( ¢ d Quepomer g Gur),
1t is not clear whether Emperumanadiyars refersto someagency which
looked after the due performnace of the charity. In the inscription we
are now considering (I, 12 of 935 A.D.) the inscription clases with the

. expressioneT b @u@umen g wm it g & &4 “EmperumanadiarRakshai”
who are therefore expected to protect the trust. This term obviously
is intended to denote those who were devotees of Emperuman

1. 14 2. 14 Emlowments by Vijayaditya
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whether Vishnu in general, or the particular Deity Tiruvenkatattu-
pperuman. This term marks one phase in the history of Vaishna-
vism. We will see that a quarter of a century fater, this phrase
yields place to ** Sri Vaishnava Rakshai ™ when Samavai conse-
crated the Silver Idol of Manavilapperumal in the Vengadam
Teniple in 966 A.D. Inscription No. 13 is probably of the date
927 and might refer to the Hill Temple.

As we are now studying the Tiruchchokinur inscriptions we
will take up all the incomplete ones available. Inscriptions No. 15
and 17 refer to some endowments made by one Arulakki, alias
Raja Raja Mivénda Vélan. Being incomplete slabs we are not
in a position to learn what the endowments were. Butthey were
made when Raja Raja I was the Chola Emperor and therefore
must have been between 985 and 1013 A.D. and the endowments
may have been for the Deity in Tiruchchoinur either in the Vishnu
or the Siva temple. The next one of which we can make some
sens¢ is of the 4th regnal year of Raja Raja IIl (1220 A.D.).
According to that inscription (incomplete one) Pokkiran Pandya
daraiyan made an endowment for the Vaikisi festival of Alagiya
perumd} (in Tiruchchukanur obviously). There is thus a gap of
over 200 years between the last one and this. Another inscription®
of about the same time (may be 1225 A.D.), although an incomplete
one has enough words to show that Andar’s son made a gift of land
somewhere in Perumbanappadi to the Tiruvilinko—for the spiritual
benefit of Narayana who died some ume ago whilé fighting for
Yadava Rayar. The battle of Uratti is obviously referred to, which
took place in 1223 A.D.

There are three more incomplete inscriptions which may be
referred to the same period when Pandiyadaraiyar was the Pokkaran
and the manager of the Siva Temple in Tiruchchokinur, These are
1. 95, 96 and 97. The first and the third are on the west and the
east wall of the Vahana Mantapam and the second on the east
Prikaram wall adjoining the Gopuram of Sri Padmavati Amman’s
temple. They will be between 1230-1240 A.D. The first one

L L3 2. 14
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mentions an endowment of some land, whose location is clearly
described, for the Nitya Utsavam of Emperuman. The second
one is not intelligible. The third one seems to be an endowment
by Pandiyadaraiyar perhaps for Tiruvilankoil in the shape of grain
and cash to be enjoyed by the Emperumanadiyar and the four gotras
(people) during Panguni Festival. There is next an inscription
which refers to a Ubhaiyam (I. 108) which a number of persons,
viz. (Pallava) rayan Yadavaraya Vilupparaiyan, S5a Vilupparaiyan,
Trikartardyan and also the Kaikkolar and Emperumanadiyar?,
had undertaken to perform. The temple treasury is referred to
as Sri Bhanddram. It ends with Sri Vaishnava Raksha. We
cannot possibly fix the year, although from the language and
contents, the year must be later than 1240 A.D.

Lastly, there are eight more fragmentary inscriptions all found
in Tiruchchukanur. Of these No. 129 is probably the earlier and
is on the east wall north of the Padikavali Gopuram. It mentions
40 Kalanju of gold. The word *“ Déverku " Qepaurt & occursand
may refer to Tiruvengada Dévar. It ends with Emperumanadiyar
Raksha, We know that this subscription was in use about 935
A.D. We also know that the term Tiruvenkata Dévar was being
used by the early Cholas (as in I. 19). The date of this inscription
would therefore be before 966 A.D. when the phrase Sri Vaishnava
Raksha came first into use. Inscriptions Nos. 127 and 128 are
of interest in that they mention Sri Vaishnavas of eighteen Nadus-
“uPQa C@pi L @ o, No. 128 ends with Qayal™ QG ey,
The date must therefore be after 966 A.D.Inscriptions Nos.118 to 122
all seem to refer to a period anterior to 1000 A.D. No. 118 mentions
of the Srikaryam people and the Tiruvilankoyil and would therefore
refer to a date before 900 A.D.

We have thus every reason to suspect that the Tiruvilankoyil
in Tiruchchukanur began to decline after 1000 A.D. although
as a building the Tiruvilankoyil continued to exist. We also
notice that a new Alagiya Perumal came into existence. Later
still we come to notice the existence of & Varadarajapperumal-

1, By the time this endowment was made in the time of Raju Raya III
the term Emperumanadiyar had come to signify dancing girls attached to
Vishnu temples
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CHAPTER VI

The Temple of Sri Parasareswara in Tiruchchukanar.

IN the introductory chapter or synopsis it was stated that
the silver replica of Tiruvengadamudaiyan was consecrated in .
Tirumala with a view .to avoiding any possible source of friction
between the Saivites and the Vaishnavites, since a temple for Siva,
known as Sri Parasaresvaraswami, was constructed sometime
after the Tiruvilankoyil in Tiruchchukanur. There is no mention
anywhere that tension existed between the two sects at that period
in Tiruchchukanur. It was also pointed out as the result of a
close study of the wording of some inscriptions, that the Vaishnavite
temple was doing proselytising work and therefore open to all
and that feeding also was open to members of both sects on equal
terms. There was therefore the possibility of friction and the
astute Vaishnavas of the day wanted to eliminate all chances of
such friction arising at a future date. Right up to the days of
Sri Ramanuja, however, there was no sign of such friction. There
is a well known story that one day when Sri Ramanuja, as one
of the students of the Advaitin Sri Yadavaprakasa, was anointing
the ‘head of his guru with oil for a bath, Yadavaprakasa gave
what was, on the face of it, a blasphemous interpretation of a
portion of the Chandogya Upanishad, “ Tasyayathd kapydsam
pundarikam evam akshini ™ in reference to the Purusha who is

1. It was Senkera's interpretation of the words in verse 7 of Chun-
dopys Upanisked section I thet broupht tears from the eyes of Ramsnujs
when he was studyind under Yadevaprakesa Sankars attsched to the word
‘kapydisa’ the meanind, the parts around the postial calosities of the monkey.
(Kapyasa: from Kapi-monkey and Asi-to sit). Trenslated into Enplish
Sankars's inverpretation of verses 6 and 7 conveys the meanind (in speakind
of the Purusha seated inside the Sun), * Of this Male, whose whole body is
olden there is some distinction in theeyes. They are red like unto Jotuses
which'are bright, as the parts around the postial calosities of the monkey''.
1t is quite out of atcord with the hijhly metsphysical plewe of the dis-
quesilion wnd, te sy the least, indecent. Romsnwja would have considered
it blasphemous to compare the colour of the eyes of the Purnsha who is
presained 10 reside in the Sun to the colour of a monkey's postisl calosities.
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in the Sun, which brought tears from the eyes of the disciple and
_ which fell on the thigh of the guru. The latter looked up and quickly
understood the cause. This must have been when Sri Ramanuja
was about 18 years of age (in 1035 A.D.). There were a few more
similar instances which brought about estrangement between
the student and his guru but there never was however any unpleasant
act done on either side. As a tit for tat there is the story that Sri
Ramanuja's disciple Kirattdlvin appeared under orders before
the Chola King Kulottunga I, for affixing his signature to the
statement “ Sivat paratarm ndsti” The silly meaning which
Karatta]van gave to the word ‘ Siva ’ saying that there was a Dronam
(measure) bigger than that, enraged the King who had his eyes
put out. Sri Ramanuja and his disciples left Choladesa thereafter
and resided in the Hoysala country (Mysore) until the death of

The sccepted interpretation of the same by the Vaishnava commentators
and by Ramanuja is, ‘'‘His eyes are like the lotus flower newly opened to the
sun's rays". The two verses 6 end 7 would reed in Endlish’ ‘Now that 3olden
Purusha, who is seen within the sun with 3olden beard, with Bolden hair send
Bolden in every part of the body up to the tip of His nailsiverse 6). His eyes
are like the lotus flower newly opened to the sun's rays... .....

The term ‘Kapyasa' of which the last sentence above is the translation
is expkine% in three ways.

() Kapi 1sthe sun who drinks water i.e. evaporates it; Kapyasa is
what is opened by him;

(i}) Kapi is the stalk for the same reason and the fiower stands thereon.

(iii) The whole word means standing in water. All these derivations
are accepted ones and the resulting meaning is, ‘as the lotus Jower standind
in deep water on its stalk and newly opened to the sun's rays is very pretty’

The world ‘pundarika’ accordinp to'‘Amarakosa’’is white lotus. But Sabara
the commentator of Jaimini's sutras, applies it to the red lotus. In substance
the idea seems to be ‘‘that His eyes were like unto the lotus flower just
blossoming (on its stalk risind from desp water) to the red rays of the rising
sun and displaying a blend of the red colour around the eddes of the petsls
shading into white in the middle,

Réjardm Tokkuram Tstys in s Endlish trenslation of the twelve
principal Upenishads renders it thus ‘' whose eyes are like unto lotuses
red as the orb of the risiny God of day." This is much the seme as the
Vaishnavite renderinj. .
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Kulsttunga I. But for these two equally impudent wordy insults,
there does not appear to have bsen any serious conflict such as
we read in history of the rivalry between the Roman Catholic
Church and the Protestant Church, nor anything like the mortal
fear .of the Church which made Copernicus delay publication of .
his book till he was actually on his death bed, nor the Inquisition
which Galileo had to face for refusing to disclaim faith in his
astronomical theories. The assemblies of our pundits at all times
reverberated with high sounding words and phrases in earnest
disputation, called Vakyartham, about the interpretation of a
particular “ Sitram ™ in the Brahma Satras. But this did not
weaken mutual respect. Sayanacharya, the great commentator
of the Vedas, was a contemporary of V&danta Désika, the effective
expounder of Ramanuja’s Sri Bhashya. He was invited by Sayana
to the court of the Vijayanagar King (Bukka) so that Desika may
shed his poverty. The latter declined the offer in his famous five
verses“‘Vairagya Panchakam’ andpreferredindependence and““uncha
vritti ” (begging in the manner laid down in the sastras). Appayya
Dikshitar, a great expounder of Advaita Philosophy, is said to
have written a beautiful commentary on one of* Desika’s works.
Mutual admiration never ceased; but rivalry to establish one’s
own point of view there was, and accompanied by indignation
also. This anecdote carries us-to about 1367 A.D. when Védanta
Desika seems to have died. But so far as the Saiva and Vaishnava
temples in Tiruchchukaniir were concerned we notice one instance
of discord in each case. An endowment for lighting 24 lamps
daily in Tiruvengadam Temple (incised on stone) for which the
Sabhaiyar of Tirumundiyam (near Tiruchchanur) were trustees
was not performed and the matter had to be enquired into by the
Chola Rija's (Rajéndra Soja) Adhikari and the defaulters were
properly dealt with. This action was about the year 1013 A.D.!
The Tirumundiyam Sabhaiyar were probably the Saivite counter-
part of the Vaishnavite Tiruchchukanur Sabhaiyars.

In 1225 AD. (I. 36) the Sthanattar of Sri Parasaréswara’s
temple alleged that the Sabhaiyar of Tiruchchukanur with whom
26 Kalanju of gold was deposited in 1008 A.D. as an endowment
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for certain services in that temple failed to carry out the trust,
They were made. to shell out the money and the Sthanattar of« he
Siva Temple were made the trustees. In both instances the origina]
inscriptions appear to have been willfully destroyed.

We do not find any other instance of friction. That about,
or some time before, the year 1000 A.D. there was some friction
is evidenced by the two incidents mentioned in our inscriptions.
The reader will now see the wisdom of the Vaishnava leaders of
the time in transferring their activities to Tiruvengadam Hill,
practically abandoning the Tiruchchukanur Tiruvilankoyil. In a
small village the two temples of rival sects could not have worked
in healthy co-operation. It is very necessary to go into the history
of the temple of Sri Parasareswara to feel convinced of their wisdom,

It has been already pointed out that the Tiruvilankoyil Vishnu
Temple should have been constructed some time before 826 A.D.!
in Tiruchchukanur. The earliest inscription which has reference
to the Siva temple is on the walls of that temple itself, in the 23rd
year of Sri Rdjakésari Raja Rdja Déva (1008 A.D.).2 There is
thus a gulf of nearly 182 years between the two. The natural inference
would be that the Siva temple should have been constructed not
long before 1008 A.D. The inscription is incomplete here. But
there is the other inscription (I. 36.) made in the ninth year of the
reign of Raja Raja Déva Il (1225 A.D.) wherein the inscription
of 1008 A.D. is reproduced in full. The latter is a complaint made
before Vira Narasinga Yadavarayar against the Sabhaiyar of
Tiruchchukanur (already referred to) for failure to carry out the
provisions of the endowment, viz., the supply of the necessary
articles for Tirumanjanam (Abhishekam) on the Uttarayana
Sankramanam day and rice, tamarind, curds, honey, sesamam,
pepper, turmeric sidari, chandanam, tender coconuts, sugar, green-
gram and betel nuts and leaves. Also 108 earthen pots and
kalasams. If in 1008 A.D. this temple had been of any importance
the endowment would have been not only for the Uttarayana
Sankramanam, but also for the Dakshinayana and the two Vishus
as well, similar to Samavai’s endowment of 966A.D. while installing
the Manavalapperumal in Tiruvengadam.

LLL 2 L8
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The history of South India indicates that the Chola Aditya I
conquered the Pallavas about 900 A.D. The latter while not making
any direct endowment for the Vishnu or Siva temple in Tiruch-
chukanur, appear to have encouraged their feudatories and others
to help to establish the Vishnu temple. With reference to the
Siva Temple of Sri Parasaresvara (Tippaladisvaramudaiyan) there
does not appear to have been any such encouragement even between
1008 and 1073 A.D., i.e., after the Cholas came to power. Although
there is no reference in our inscriptions to Sri Kalahastisvara,
it is fair to presume that it is an ancient one and was in a flourishing
condition, at least in the first quarter of the 11th century. For,
from Vaishnava tradition itself it is known that Sri Ramanuja’s
cousin, Govinda Bhattar, became a convert to Saivism and lived
in Ké&lahdsti for several years before he was re-converted to
Vaishnavism by his maternal uncle Tirumala Nambi. But, that
the temple of Tippalddisvaramudaiyan received no endowment
for nearly seventy years after 1008 A.D. when the Saivite Chola
Kings were ruling, goes to show that it was not considered at
the time a temple of importance. In the inscription of 1073,f Sri
Virardjéndra So)a Déva (Kulottunga 1) among his other birudus
adds ‘ V&nkatanitha purandara’ showing that he was equally a
devotee of Tiruv&nkatanitha as of Siva. From this inscription it is
seen that Munjaippundi (modern Mullapudi) was already a deva-
danam village of Tippaladisvaramudaiyan and that one Narana
Deva waived collection of taxes, such as Vattakkasu,® Tirugukkasu
etc., in favour of the temple. Next in 1094 A.D. (24th year of the
reign of Kulottunga 1) one Tiruchchirrambaia nambi presented
to the care of certain Saivite Brahmins, who were hereditary
archakas or Gurukkals of Tippaladisvaramudaiyan temple, 128
cows to supply ghee for 4 nandavilakku (at the rate of 32 cows
for one lamp). The next one? is more interesting because it brings
to light the procedure for converting a land paying taxes to the
state into a dévaddnam one. Five madai representing arrears
due (or fee perhaps )had first to be paid before the Maganikkangtti
(wsesidaban 1) would give effect to the King's oral orders to
convert Munjaippundi {re-named as Sivapadak®sarinalliir in honour
ofthe king)into a devadanam village free of all taxes. The inscription

I, L2 2. L2 3. 1 24,1105 AD.
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also brings to light that in addition to the Sabhaiyar there was
also a Ganattar (or assembly) of Siva Brahmins in Tiruchchukanur.
In 1134 A.D. (16th year of the reign of Vikrama Sola)! we notice
for the first time that there was a Vaikasi festival instituted and
that an arrangement was made for the supply of oil for lights
during processions in Vaikasi Tirunal. Thus a Vaikasi festival
had come into existence between 1105 and 1134, But it was not
until 1223 A.D? (7th year of the reign of Raja Raja TIl) that
permanent arrangements were made for the Tiruvardhajimampadi
and Tiruveluchchippadi (food offerings in the night and in the
early morning daily). Some lands under cultivation were purchased
and handed over to the members of three families who were doing
puja in the temple by one Pandiyadaraiyar for the spiritual benefit
of his son who lost his life in the Uratti battle. Details of daily
rations to be supplied by the Bhattars are also given. By this time
we find hereditary temple accountants also appointed. The trustees
for this endowment are not the Sabhaiyar of Tiruchchukanur, but
the Siva Brahmins (Bhattars) above referred to. There is thus «
stage of clear cleavage between the Vaishnavite Sabhaiyars and
the managers of the Siva Temple. Before we reach the year 1225
A.D. this temple had its own Sthanattar and an assembly called
Sri Mahé&swaras. The gist of the inscription (I. 36) is a complaint
before Vira Narasinga Yadavaraya against the Sabhaiyar of Tiruch-
chukanur by the Saivites above mentioned that in 1008 A.D.
an endowment was made (in an inscription) for the performance
of certain services. The Sabhaiyars contended that they were not
aware of any such inscription. After dueenquiry the King ordered
that the Sabhaiyars should place into the hands of the Sthanattars
of the Siva Temple, 26 kalanju of gold and that the Sthanattars
should thenceforth become the trustees of the endowment.

From the above account it will be seen that the Vaishnavites
from the date of founding of a Saivite temple apprehended the
possibility of friction and therefore removed the centre of their
religious activities to Triuvengadam Hill.

One more endowment was made by Pandiyadaraiyar who
was managing the Siva Temple, for the celebration yearl

. L 33, 1134 AD, 2, L3
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of a Masi festival, by assignment of land therefor. (l. 38,
1240 A.D.).

After 1240 A.D. there is no inscription relating to this temple
obviously because the Chola power in this part of the country
came to an end before 1248 A.D. and there was a showdown.
In 1547 A.D. the Tirumala Temple was paying 3 panams per
month as wages for a man to supply flowers daily. -

There is, and there naturally can be, no inscription which
would state why the Tiruvilankoyil had for all practical purposes
to be abandoned and the Vaishnava activities centred in Tirumala
itself. The Chola rule was in full swing and all the Chola Kings
were staunch Saivites. There was therefore no wisdom in sticking
to Tiruchchukanur. We have only to read between the lines to
explain the most important step which the Vaishnavites of the
day took. At that time Sri Alavandar was steering the ship in the
Tamil country for the spread of Vaishnavism and he must have
advised the Sri Vaishnavas to transfer their activities to Tirumala.

But before taking leave of the temple of Tiruppaladisvara-
mudaiyan, there are a few interesting things to learn about the
system of administration adopted by the Chola Kings. There was
an Adhikari in charge of each division who carried with him a
sort of circuit court; all disputes referred to him seem to have been
enquired into on the spot, after summoning and hearing the parties
as well as the witnesses. Judgment seems to have been delivered
on the spot. Even if the king issued an order to convert a tax
paying land into a * devadana sarvaménya,” the officer in charge
took care to realise all arrears of tax before giving effect to the
King’s order.

The Siva temple had a manager to do the madapatyam. There
were also the Sthanattar, the Ganattar and the Tiru-uln]ikai
Bhattar, who actually did the service. The charges for endowment
for burning one Jamp was a cash payment of twenty four kalanju
of gold or the award of 32 cows.

During the Chola period, and in the Siva Temple in particular,
rice was measured with what was known as Arumolidévan measure
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in kalams, tini, kuruni (@ @enf), nd)i and padakku. Weighment
was in palams; betel leaves were in bundles and betel nuts were
counted. The gold coins were the kalanju and manjadi and madai.
Gold was weighed in two styles, one known as Kudinaikkal and the
other Dharmakkattalai.

The Arumolidévan measure takes after the surname of Raja Raja
1, which describes him as one who never swerved from what he once
uttered. Alongside of the newly introduced standards of weights
and measures, there were the old ones of the owners of the soil;
timbu, vatti, soligai etc. These will be dealt with in a separate
chapter on weights, measures for grains, measurement of land etc.

There are taxes mentioned-Kadamaiydyam, Porkadamais
Padikaval, Vettisarikai, Kojvari and Silvari.

It is also worth pointing out how the inscriptions relating
to the Siva temple ended. In 1073 A.D. we find the subscription
“8ri Mahésvara Rakshai.” 1In cases where the pujaris of the
temple were the trustees of the endowment, the ending is *“ Kail
Tiruvunnaligai Siva brahmanaorm.”

But from 1134 A.D.onwards it ists @ 0 @awe? [TV @ Gay( Panma-
hésvara Rakshai), which is the counter part of * Sri Vaishnava
Rakshai.” The abandonment of ** Sri Mahesvara” and the adoption
of *“ Pan Mahesvara” (all mahesvaras) suggests that there were
different sub-sects even in Saivism at that time.
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CHAPTER VII.
Tiruvengadamudaiyan and the Tiruvengadam Temple.

WHEN we read or hear that a temple was built, the idea conveyed
to us is that a building of cut-stone was constructed, that an idol
of stone was made and that it was duly installed and consecrated
in that building. But when we speak of the Tiruvengadam Temple
we believe that the Temple only was built by some one, that the
1dol was already there and that it was neither made by man nor
consecrated by him. The tradition about this is that at the time
when Dvaparayuga ended and Kaliyuga set in Sriman Narayana
in Vaikuntam of His own will deemed it desirable to manifest
Himself as an Idol standing near the shore of a pond (since known
as Svamipushkarini) on the Tiruvengadam Hill. The reason for
this as vouchsafed by our ancients is that during the preceding
yugas men were endowed with great powers of physical endurance
for performing yoga and tapas as means to spiritual ends. These
ends were Atmévalokanam or self-realisation and Brahmavalo-
kanam or God-realisation. Atmavalokanam is beset with the danger
of the aspirant acquiring such great powers of control over nature
as may be considered an end itself and the existence of a higher
power may be ignored or disregarded. Hiranya and Mahabali
are examples of those who erred in this manner. Brahmavalokanam
alone reveals that the source of all power is God. To enable
men in the Kali age to achieve God realisation a less tedious
process, that is by intense love and devotion or Bhakti, has been
recommended by God Himself who revealed Himself as an Idol.
This is known as His Archavatara. All the faculties of man and
his sense organs are directed to worshipping the Idol with intense
love and devotion. Sri Andal is held up by Srivaishnavas as one
who by such means attained God-realisation and absorption
into the Godhead. It is purely a matter of faith that the Idol on
the Tiruvengadam Hill is regarded as manifestation of Sriman
Narayana and the Hill is considered as Kaliyuga Vaikuntam.
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TIRUVENGADAM TEMPLE
THE FIRST DISCOVERY.

But when the Idol was first discovered the scene was not
the same that we witness now. The ldol is stated to have lain
buried inside an ant hill, or mound of earth. The story goes that
in that age there lived on the Hill a small colony of cowherds,
that they noticed that their milch cows were returning home every
day with empty udders, that when they followed the cows they
found them going up to a mound and emptying their udders of
milk at a particular spot and that when the phenomenon was
reported to the king whose name was Tondaiman he had the mound
removed and, finding to his amazement an Idol under it, built
a temple to house the Idol. Some historians are of the opinion
that this Tondaiman Chakravarti lived in the first century B.C.
or A.D. If their opinion is correct a temple would have been built
at that period. Whether that temple was of cut-stone, brick-in-
mortar, brick-in-mud or of wood we are not told.

Such a story is not wholly unbelievable. There is for instance
a universal belief among Jews and Christians that God appeared
to Moses on Mount Sinai and revealed to him the Ten Command-
ments that these were transcribed on the spot on two tablets of
stone and deposited in a wooden box 4 feet x 2} feet plated with
gold. This box is known as the Ark which became the object of
worship of the Jews. And it is stated that under the command
of God king Solomon built about the year 1000 B.C. a grand temple
to serve as a permanent place of rest for it. Hindus unquestioningly
believe that in Tiruvengadam a similar miracle took place and
that Tondaiman built a temple. But the temple we see today is
not the one built by Tondaiman. The present temple is built of
cut-stone with carvings in what is believed to be the Pallava style
of architecture. The doors alone are of wood. Epigraphists
assert that cut-stone architecturein South India developed only
after the sixth century A.D. and that rock-cut cave temples found
here and there were their precursors. There are numerous inscrip-
tions which support this theory. Tondaiman's temple could there-
fore not have been of a durable type.
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Account of the Temple found in Silappadhikaram.

There is a description of the Vengadam Deity in the ancient
Tamil classical work Silappadhikiaram, The author of-this work
was not a worshipper of Vishnu. He is supposed to have been
a Jain. He puts into the mouth of a Vaishnavite pilgrim from
a village named Mangadu on the western ghat Hills a description
of Tiruvengadamudaiyan and also another description of Sri
Ranganatha of Sri Rangam. The description shows that the idol
on the Hill represented Vishnu (called by him Sengan Nediyon
(@ mivs ow @519 Gwmen ), The extract is given in full at the end of this
chapter with a commentary in English on the import of the descrip-
tion.It shows that the sun and the moon shone on the Idol. If, as
is evident from the description that the sun and the moon illumined
the Deity it must be either that there was no covering over the
Idol or that the covering was of a pavilion type. The pavilion
or mantapam would have been of stone or wood. There is nothing
improbable in this assumption: for we find in the T.T.D.Inscriptions
that idols were installed and consecrated in similar mantapams
in Tirupati during the 16th century. We also come across such
temples of Anjaneya and Ganesa in out of the way places. People
go there to fulfil their vows in the full faith that the Murties are
varaprasadis (granters of all boons). There is also the consideration
that the Alvars who flourished in the eighth and the ninth centuries
A.D. and who sang the glories of Tiruvengadam referred only to
the sanctity of the Hill. There is no mention in any of their songs
of a temple on it. If there was a temple the author of the Silap-
padhikaram at any rate would have mentioned it. We find that
in his description of Sriranganatha of Srirangam he mentions
that He lay recumbent on His Bed in His chamber. The author
of the Silappadhikaram and the A]vars may be said to be con-
temporaries more or less, It may therefore be reasonably assumed
that Tondaiman’s temple would have gone into disrepair long
before 750 A.D. and that the present building was raised much
later, that is at a date when the Pallava style of architecture was
well established in the plains. Nor was the temple as it now stands
constructed at one and the same time. The sanctum called the
garbhagriham along with the ante-chamber called Mukhamantapam
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or Sayanamantapam seems to have been built as one block about
the end of the 9th century or early in the 10th century. This was
soon followed by the covered pathway for circumambulation
and its enclosing walls called the Prathamavaranam or the Mukkoti
pradakshinam. Then came in 966 A.D. the structure known as
the Tiruvilankdyil. The probable dates for these will be discussed
in this chapter on due and full consideration of the available
inscriptions.

Then there is a long pause covered by the periods of the reign
of the Chola kings, from Rajendra Chola I to Raja Raja II. 1t was
when the weakness of the Chola power gave room for the Yadava-
rayas and other feudatories to assert a kind of semi-independence
that the next stage in the development of the temple commenced.
This may be taken to be sometime between 1160 A.D. and 1190
A.D., that is after the life time of Sri Ramanuja. Sri Ramanuja
is said to have built the temple of Sri Govindaraja in Tirupati
and to have reconsecrated the Idol in 1130 A.D. But it is not
the same thing as saying that he built the gopuram and prakara
walls in Tirupati. Nor was the gopuram in Tirumala constructed
during his life time. The evolution of the temple structures in
Tirumala extends even to the 15th and 16th centuries. We find
that Siluva Narasimha rayar endowed the village of Durgasamudram
in 1482 A.D. for the express purpose of constructing gopurams in
Tirumala and Tirupati and for constructing the Narasimharaya-
mantapam. Tallapakkam Tirumala Ayyangar added to the gopuram
and constructed the pushkari.i steps etc., in the 16th century.
There is also the Tirumalaraya Mantapam constructed in the latter
part of that century. These are mentioned here to show that there
was no blue-print on hand and that the additions were the choice
of the donors and were even made without sufficient foresight.

Garbhagriham and ‘Sayanamantapam.

These two form a monolithic structure and were constructed
at the same time.  There is however no inscription in Tirumala
or in Tirupati giving the year of construction. But there are inscrip-
tions, all in the Tamil language and Tamil script-some of which
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are incomplete and some fragmentary, which enable us to fix
an approximate date for this structure. One of these inscriptions
mentions that a local Béna ruler Vijaydditya made an endowment
for three different services, one of these being the burning of one
perpetual light or Nandavilakku daily for Tiruvengadathupperu-
manadigal (the God on the Tiruvengadam Hill). This endowment
could be ascribed to 830-850 A.D. and the inscription is on a
separate slab now preserved on a platform in the Sri Padmavati
Ammavaru Temple in Tiruchchukanur. For only one perpetual
light to burn day and night sheltered from the winds on the Hill,
Temple in Tirumala would have been a small one. The Garbha-
griham and the Sayanamantapam would answer to this description,
the Sayanamantapam being the place for the worshipper to stand.
The Banardya referred to above is the person whose birth was
commemorated on & slab found in Tirumala? in front of the temple.
His birth date would have been about the end of the eighth century
A.D. After the conquest of the country by the Cholas there are
two inscriptions probably of the years 927 and 936 A.D., during
the reign of Parantaka I, or Ko-parakesarivarman. One of these
tells us that a native of Oranganore in Malainadu-(Kodungoldrén)-
made an endowment of 40 kalanju of gold with the Sabhaiyar
of Tiruchchukanur in the 29th year of Ko-parakesari (935-936).
The other was probably in the 20th year of his reign and for a
like purpose. The inscription is fragmentary. Both the inscrip-
tions are on the west base of the present vahana mantapam in
Tiruchchukanur, although the service was to be performed in
Tirumala, and the Sabhaiyars of Tiruchchukanur werethe trustees
for the endowments. The reasonable inference is that although
there was a temple in Tirumala the inscription was made in the
place where the Sabhaiyars were residing. It might also be that
there was difficulty in taking a skilled workman to the Hill. Or
it might be due to the fact that the walls of the Tirumala Temple
were not such that an inscription could be cut thereon.

There is also another inscription which was made on the
north wall of the mukkoti pradakshinam of the temple in
Tirumalai on the Tth day of the reign of Rajendra Chola I le.

I L3
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1013 A.D.! From this inscription we learn that the Sabhaiyars
of Tirumundiyam were the trustees of some endowments, which
were for the service of lighting daily 24 oil lamps and one
camphor light for Tiruvengada Devar in Tirumala. They failed
to perform the service in full. The king’s Adhikari during his
audit of the acccounts detected this and made due enquiries of
the Devakarmis (religious service men) of the Tirumala Temple,
recovered from the Subhuiyar 23 pon which was all that could
be recovered. The amount was credited to the Treasury., or
Sri Bhandaram, of the Temple and the secular managers a d
the religious officers were ordered to look to the proper per-
formance of the lighting. The lighting of twenty-four oil lamps
could only mean that these were located outside the garbha-
griham and would naturally have been arranged in the corridor
of the pradukshinam. In the garbhagriham the akhandam
would have been fed with ghee and not oil. Tie orler of the
Adhikari was to the effect that oil should be transported daily
to Tirumala along with the other provisions for the Temple.
An endowment trust would run into non-performance only after
a fairly long period when in all probability the donors or their
relations were no more. We may therefore reasonably assume
that these endowments would have been made 50 or 60 years
before 1013 A.D. The date of those endowments might have
been of 950 A.D. And on that date the Temple consisted of the
Garbhagriham and Sayanamantapam and also the Mukkoti-prada-
kshanam as a covered and enclosed space.

The Tiruvilankoyil and the consecration of the silver Idol called
by the doner Manavalapperumal (Bhoga Srinivasa).

The Tiruvilankoyil is the structure now known as Stapana
mantapam which is a corruption for Snapana mantapam. It was
in this mantapam that the donor S&mavai got consecrated the
silver replica of the Mula'Beram whom she presented and for

1. The inscription was alre.dy referred to,
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whom she made endowments. The inscriptions relating to this
endowment are marked numbers 8 and 9 in Volume-I of the T.T.D.
Inscriptions. These two inscriptions are of the highest value
to us, for they mark the commencement of the popularity of the
Tirumala Temple. They are both on the North wall of the first
prakdram and are dated the 14th year of Koppatramahéndra-
panmar.! This Koppéatramah&ndrapanmar is identified as Ko=
Parthivéndra varman who was the son of the Emperor Sundara
Chola or Parantaka II. The son is said to have been made the
Viceroy of this part of the country, known as Tondaimandalam,
Sundara Chola’s reign covered the period of 953-970 A.D. Ko-
Parthivendra on the death of his father became the Emperor in
970 A.D. under the surname Aditya II, Karikala. These details
enable us to fix the year of the inscriptions.

The year of the inscriptions Nos. 8 and 9 Volume-I, the date
of the First Purattasi Tirunal and the date of consecration

of Manavalapperamal.

The earliest year for the appointment of Ko-Parthivendra
as Viceroy of Tondaimandalam would have been 953 A D. soon
after Sundara Chola became the Emperor. The fourteenth year
therefrom which is the date of the inscriptions will therefore be
966 A.D. Some may argue that the fourteenth year should count
from the date of Ko-Parthivendra’s accession to the throne as
Emperor. But as the period of his reign did not extend to 14
years after his accession this view would be unacceptable. Further
if the 14th year referred to the year after he became Emperor,
the name used should have been Aditya Karikala with all the
présasti which is usual to employ while referring to the Emperor.
The year 966 A.D. is therefore the date of our inscriptions. This
is borne out by the internal evidence contained in inscription
No. 8. It is given therein that for commencing the Brahmotsavam

1. The Tamil expression used docs not indicate the idea “in the reign of”
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the Tirumulaiattal (or seed sowing-usually referred to as Anku
rarpanam) should take place in Chitra (chitta nakshatram)
and that there should be possessions and festivals on the succeeding
nine days ending with the Tirthavari festival. The tenth day from
Chitra would not always be Tiruvonam (Sravanam) on which
day the Tirthavari should take place since Sravanam is the ninth
nakshatram from chitta. It has been an unalterable custom that
the Tirthavari, which is always on the tenth day, counted from
Ankurarpanam, should be when Sravana nakshatram is current,
So in very many years the Ankurarpanam would be in Hastha-
nakshatra to make sure that the Tirthavari is in Sravana. It
happens that in 966 A.D. Chitta nakshatram was current for
Axkurarpanam. In 967 and in 968 it was not so. In fact the
only nearest year after 966 to satisfy the conditions was 983 A.D.
in which year Ko-Parthivendra was not alive even in his capacity
as Emperor. In 966 A.D. on Tuesday 27th of the Tamil month
Avani (August, 21) Chitta nakshatram commenced at 6 ghatikas
after sunrise, so that it was current during the night when Anku-
rarpanam\ would have taken place. On Thursday the Sth of
Purattasi, which is ten days counted from Tuesday 27th August,
Sravana Nakshatra was current till 8 ghatikas 24 vighatikas after
sunrise, within which time Tirthavari would have taken place.
This period from Tuesday of one week to Thursday of the succeeding
week gives ten days. After the Ankurarpan day there would therefore
bave been festivals for nine days. The year 966 A.D. was Akshaya
according to the southern cycle. The Tirthavari of the first Purattasi
Tirunal institated by Samavai was thus in Akshaya year (966 A.D.)
Thursday the 5th of Purattasi (30th August).

The date of consecration of Manavalapperumal will next be
fixed. There is nothing in either of the inscriptions to help us
in this. But there are other considerations which do definitely
help us. The installation and consecration of the Idol and the
Purattasi festival for it are mentioned in the same inscription.
The reasonable inference is that the festival would have taken
place in the same year as the consecration of the Idol; also that
the consecration would have been on the earliest possible day
preceding the festival consistent with the astrological dictums
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guiding the selection of an auspicious day. It should be during a
uttariyanam month, ie., one of the Tamil months covered by
the northerly course of the sun. This would point to the month
Ani as the suitable one. Without going into the details of astro-
logical considerations it may be stated that Friday, Bahula Tritiya,
the 16th of Ani of Akshaya year, Sravana nakshatram, was the
day of consecration of Manavalapperumal (or Bhoga Srinivasa.)
The nakshatram Sravanam is known as the Avatira nakshatra
of Sri Venkatesa as also of Sri Varahaswami. The inscription
tells us that Karmarchana was performed for Tiruvengadattu
perumanadigal first and Abhishekam was performed next for the
Manavalapperumal (who was adorned with all the jewellery (or
Tiruvibharanam) mentioned therein, before the ceremony of
consecration took place. On that Friday Sravana nakshatram
commenced at 8 ghatikas after sunrise. The first 10 ghatikas of
Sravanam being inauspicious the consecration would have taken
place after 18 ghatikas from sunrise had expired. The Karmarchan
of the Dhruva Beram or Periya Perumal would have taken that
much time since an ordinary Abhishekam would have been per-
formed for the Dhruva Murti also. On the previous night (Thursday
night) there would have been flower decoration, now known as
Poolangi scva. Friday June 8, 966 A.D. would have been the day
of consecration of Manavalapperumal. This day in the month
of Ani was considered the most auspicious and the Nayanonmilanam
(opening the eyes of the new silver idol) would have been done
on the previous day which was also an auspicious day.

The Place of Consecration, The Tiruvilankoyil,

The Abhishekam and consecration of Manavalapperumal
took place in a mantapam which was called * Tiruvilankoyil
which term means Junior temple. A separate place for the Abhi-
shekam is a necessity as an Idol which had not been duly consecrated
could not find a place in the Garbhagriham. A mantapam was’
perhaps newly constructed, even if it was not already there, as
near to the Garbhagriham as possible so that at the moment of
consecration the new Idol may without loss of time be placed in
front of the Dhruva Beram and the connecting link for the flow
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of the Divine Power be established. We must remember, that
there was no invoking of Divine Power treating Manavalapperumal
as an independent Murti. This mantapam or Tiruvilankoyil was
constructed so as to be in front of the then existing temple which
consisted of the Garbhagriham and Sayanamantapam and the
Pradakshinam. The silver Idol (Manavalapperumal) was spiritually
united with the Dhruva Beram by a connecting gold link and silk
cord which were introduced at the proper moment. This gold
link and cord continue to exist and are long enough to allow the
silver Beram being shifted from near the Dhruva Beram to the
outer most eastern edge of the Tiruvilankoyil, where now is
situated the Bangaruvakili which is the first and imposing entrance
into the sanctum. How and when the Bangaru vakili and the
wall containing it were constructed will be discussed later. After
the consecration ritual was completed the silver Murti would
have found His place in the Garbhagriham just in front of Tiru-
vengadamudaiyan at the spot where we find Him now. He is
the Kautuka Beram for the Dhruva Murti and therefore made to
be an exact representation of the original.

It is worth restating that the Dhruva Murti played no part
in the consecration ritual except when the linking took place.
The usual daily puja, called Karmichana in the inscription, was
performed to Him. It was after completing this Karmarchana,
that the installation of the silver Image in the mantapam, the
Abhishekam and consecration in the mantapam, took place. It
may be mentioned here that the Marichi Samhita calls the daily
puja as Karmarchana (worship as prescribed).

The necessity for the Installation of Manavalapperumal.

The necessity for an Idol of a smaller size than the Dhruva
Beram would be apparent to all those who have faith in the Archa
form of worship as ordained in the Agamas. Six &sanas' are
prescribed therein and the worshipper performs the worship per-
taining to each of these. In the case of the Dhruva Murti paryanka

1. Asanas are the postures in which the murti is supposed to be for
facilitating worship such as bathing, dressing, eating and sleeping
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dsana (putting into bed) is an impossibility. Abhishckam (bathing)
is inpracticable every day owing to the difficulty of getting a large
quantity of water and the greater difficulty of removing the water
from the floor of the Garbhagriham. In regard to food offering
also there is a difficulty. It is to obviate these difficulties that a
smaller Idol was found necessary, All the upacharams, or services
rendered to this Idol are in effect rendered to the Dhruva Murti.
When large quantities of food (called Tiruppavadai) are deposited
in the front mantapam the silver Beram is brought near to the
Bangaru Vakili so as to remain within the consecrated limits and
the archaka offers the food to this Deity. All the doors being
kept open the food will be in the view of the Main Deity as well.

Ornaments or Tiruvabharanam of Manavalapperumal.

At the time of consecration the Silver Murti was decorated
with certain ornaments known collectively as Tiruvabharanam.
In Idol worship the idea of associating with the Murti certain
weapons and ornaments is an ancient one and the jewellery men-
tioned in the inscription is according to those ideas. These orna-
ments are here mentioned in extenso to give an idea of the culture
and civilisation of those days. These are:—

(1) Tirumudi (crown or Kireetam) which is set with 23
diamonds, 16 big pearls, two large centrc rubies or
(Tadavikkattina manikkam). (S®wy.).

(2) Ear ornaments consisting of gold makaram and coral

koppu for each ear. (Qureéraler ward, vwwdPer
Qeruiny)

(3) Necklace or garland of four strands of gold set with
14 diamonds, 3 rubies: 11 large pearls and several small
red pearls.

(4) One gold body belt or Udara Bandhanam,

(5) One gold waist girdle (Tiruvaraippattigai) set with four
rubies.

(6) Gold bracelet round each of the upper arms set with
two cut rubies (called Bihu Valayam),
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(7) Gold brac:lets four, each s3t w'th two rubies.
(8) Necklets“or valaiyal of gold, four.

(9) Anklets or Kirai of gold, two.
(10) Silver Prabha set with one big ruby (Nayaka manikkam)

The total weight of gold in all the ornaments was 47 kalanju:
These ornaments are only copies of those sculptured on the body
of the Dhruva Murti.

Whether Manavilapperumal has now all these ordaments
on His Divine Person or Tiruméni is a mootpoint. Having been
consecrated along with the Murti it is presumed that He has not
been divested of them.

Endowments Corpus and the Services.

The services for which the endowments shown in the two
inscriptions were made, have already been mentioned. What
the endowments were will now be described in some detail. These
two being the first endowments that we know of deserve special
mention. They are in the shape of lands purchased from a number
of parties aggregating to 7176-3/4 kulis. Inscription No. 8 Vol. I
accounts for 3000 kulies and No. 9 for4176-3/4 ku)ies. A kuli
is one square rod, the rod being a pole measuring 16 spans length.
If we assume that a span is equivalent to 9 inches, the endowments
would be about 24 acres in extent.

From the details given of the lands we learn that there was a
highway going northward and passing through Tiruchchukanur;
that lands belonging to the Tiruchchukanur Tiruvilankoyil temple
were purchased indicating thereby that that temple had begun
to be liquidated; that there was a tank called Perumbédna tank
leading to the inference that the country was under the Bina rule
and that there was also a tank called Panchavan Médevi &ri in
the name of one of the Chola queens leading to the inference that
when the inscriptions were made the Chola rule had become effective.

The Pallavas and the Cholas seem to have paid great atten-
tion to the improvement of irrigation sources in the country. The

101



HISTORY OF TIRUPATI

pame Salaiperumal-Tirumala shows that the Tirumantra Salai
in Tiruchchukanur was becoming a popular proselytising insti-
tution,

We also learn from a comparison of the closing words in
inscriptions Nos. 4, 12 and 8 (Volume I) that the worshippers of
Vishnu down to the year 936 A.D. styled themselves as Emperu-
mmaénadiyar. Thereafter they came to be called Sri Vaishnavas.
Sri Vaishnava Raksha became the subscription in all later inscrip-
tions. The significance and implications of this change would
be apparent to all.!

DETAILS OF THE ENDOWMENT PROPERTY

(&) Land purchased from the Sabhaiyar of Tiruchchukaour

'b) Land situated in Tirukkudavir nadu of Tiruvengadakkottam
purchased from the Sabhaiyar of Tiruchchukanbr and from Lakshmana
Nambi by payment in gold and also made tax free payment of compen-
sation {o the Tiruvilankoyil Peruman

(c) 'Nandiyerippatti and Maduppatti lands

(d) Land held io Jease by Lakshmana Nambi

(¢) Madhusiidanam-auiyarai

(f) Purushottamanpafti
No. (9)

(g) 267 kuliin Ayappatti land lying to the west of thehlgh road runn”
ing to the north

(k) 367 kulr called kulippatti

(i) 340 kuli opposite to the Perumb k

(j) 1221 kuli called Navisappafti

(k) 144 kuli callcd kusappatti

(/) 121 kuli calied pnruskdttamanpatti

(m) 1000 kuli in panchavan madgsi &ri

(n) 250 kvli purchased from Kalipperuman and Tambi Bhattan known
as Nadarseru

() 600 kuli purchased from Salaipperumal-Tirumala, known as kilpattu
in Kottur viilage

1. Before thc days of Sri Alavandar Vaishnavas did not form an
organised community but on’y individuals who had faith in Emperuman
(Vishnu) as the Supreme Dcity. Sri Devi was not considered as being co-¢qual
to Vishtu. It was Sri Alavandar who first made it an essential article of
faith that Sri and Vishnu should be worshisped together and as forming one
entity. Vishnu worshippers who did not subscribe to this doctrine such as
Dvaitins are orly Vaishmavas and not Sri Vaishnavas
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There is however a secret which is known only to a very
few worshippers but not mentioned in the inscription. There is a
Yantram on the Pitham of Bhoga Srinivasa and a corresponding
one under the Béram. It has a definite significance according
to the Vaikhanasa as well as the Pancharatra agama more so in
the latter. This will be considered in anotber Chapter.

Tirukkodi Tirunal (festival)

We also learn from these two inscriptions that a Tirukkodi-
tirundl need not necessarily be a ten days’ festival. The festival
ending with the Tirudvadasi day was only a seven days’ festival,
There were processions by day as well as by night during these
days. The Vaikhanasa agama provides for festivals of five, seven
and nine days. It is very unlikely that the Silver Idol inseparably
connected with the Dhruva Beram would have been the processional
Deity. We find a processional Beram in the Garbhagriham known
as Venkatatturaivar or Ugra Srinivasa which is reported to be
an ancient Idol. This Idol would have been the processional Murti
in those days. This will be considered at length in the next chapter

Alterations and additions made to the temple structure, the
installation of a fzw more shrines, the other Murtis installed in
the ‘garbhagriham’ and the Varahaswami Temple in Tirumala as
an independent temple will be mentioned in the next chapter.
Mantapams and Nandavanams which multiplied themselves in
large numbers will be dealt with as an Appendix. The real history
of the Tiruvengadam Temple commences with the installation of
Manavalapperumal in 966 A.D. Every inscription on the walls
of the ‘mukkoti pradakshinam’ is of a later, date. Soon after the
consecration of the Silver Idol, gifts and endowments were
made and inscribed on the temple walls. Although the Chola
kings made no gifts or endowments their queens seem to have
made some, as is observed from some of the fragmentary and
incomplete inscriptions. In the sixteenth year of the reign of Vira
Rajendra Panmar (Raja Raja-1) or in 1000 A.D., Parantaka Devi
amman, the widowed queen of Sundara Chola was the first to
present a gold pattam weighing 52 kalanju and set with six rubies,
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4 diamonds and 28 pearls.! About the same time Ulagamadevi,
the ducen of Raja Raja-I, appears to have made an endowment
of 29 kalanju of gold for burning one perpetual light or Nanda
Vilakku.? As the inscription is fragmentary the exact date cannot
be fixed, but must be between the years 985and 1013 A.D. It was
already noticed that it was onthe seventh day ofthe rcign of* Rajenda
Chola- (son of Raja Raja-I)i.e,, 1013 A.D. that the king’s Adhikari
enquired into the non-performance of lamp lighting by the Sabhaiyar
of Tirumundiyan and arranged for the future observance of the
trust. This inscription® is of special interest as it disproves the
futile contention of some people who argue that Tiruvengada
mudaiyan was the name of the deity in Tiruchchukanur, which
place they prcsume was called Tiruvéngadam and that there was
no such deity in Tirumala till about 1245 A.D. This inscription
is clear on the point that Tiruvéngada Devar was on the Tirumala
Hill, that endowments for lamp lighting in that temple were made
long anterior to 1013 A,D. and that oil for the purpose was ordered
to be transported daily to Tirumala. One Aru]akki alias Raja
Raja Muvéndavelan, probably a Chola officer,made two endowments
in the reign of Raja Raja-I, one of 40 kalanju of gold for lighting
one perpetual lamp and the other a grant of some land or village
in Avirkkurram on the south bank of (possibly the Kaveri) in
Solanadu. These are inscribed on separate slabs in Tiruchchukanur
and may have been intended for the Deity in that place. But the
endowments are here mentioned to show that even during the
Chola period their officers. made endowments for Vishnu Temples.
Apart from the one inscription of 1013 A.D. which shows the
method adopted by the Cholas for dispensing justice there is no
inscription to show that either Rajendra or any of his men made
endowments to this temple. Nor do we find any endowments
during the reign of any of his successors till we reach the reign
of Vira Rajendra Chola-IT or Kulothunga-I. Kulothunga made
no endowment. But his queen (Avanimuludaiyal) made some
arrangement for the supply of milk and curds. The inscription
is fragmentary and was found on a slab paved into the floor of
the west side of the first prakara. It must have found its way there

1. Vol I 14 2. Vol L. 16 3 Vol L 19
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when the flooring was laid after the renovation of the garbha-
griham and vimanam in 1250 A.D. The reference to Tiruvengada-
mudaiyan is in endearing terms “our Tiruvayppadi Tirumala
Avar” (amsepoL ®BardLur@........ Pouwih Qpaiss
ureep gt sUrepgs ), These words are very suggestive of the
tradition which states that cows emptied their udders into the
mound wherein the Deity was first discovered. There are four
more fragmentary inscriptions of this period. Two are on the
Mukkotipradakshinam walls; the one on the south wall seems
to indicate that a dévadinam village Tirukko—was granted to the
Sri Bhandaram; the other on the north wall of the third prakaram
refers to an endowment for food offering on some days by one
Kasyapan in the middle of the festival days. How this fragment
went into the third prakaram we cannot now explain. . The other
two are separate slabs, one being some Gurefisns by a Tiruma-
Kaivilli and the other probably an endowment of land in Sola
vala nadu. These fragmentary inscriptions are being dealt with
in detail to show that the temple was becoming popular after
the installation of Manavalapperumal and that the Chola kings
resorted to no persecution against Vaishnavism. Some may be
under the erroneous impression that because Sri Ramanuja feared
persecution at the hands of Kulottunga-1 and therefore took
refuge in the Hoeysala country till the death of Kulottunga,
there may have been a general persecution of Sri Vaishnavas.
Some of these inscriptions of the Chola period give the full *prasasti
of the kings which will be shown separately.
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CHAPTER VIII.

PART (1)
THE TIRUMALA TEMPLE AND ITS ENVIRONS.

IN the previous chapter the installation and consecration
of the silver Marti *“ Manavalapperumil,” now known as Bhoga
Srinivasa, was described. It was presumed that at that time
the temple consisted of the Sanctum Sanctorum (Garbha-griham)
and an ante-room (Mukha mantapam) together with an Antar-
mandalam or Pradakshinam or circumambulating corridor surround-
ing the former. There was also a mantapam (Ardha mantapam;
in front of the Pradakshinam called Tiruvilam Koyil (now called
Sthapana-mantapam). The present temple, however, is very muck.
larger and is composed of a number of structures, gopurams (towers)
and prakarams (compound walls) which will be described in this
chapter. Before doing so a topographical description of the temple
and its environs will be given.

Topography: —Whcther the pilgrim ascends on foot by the
old pathway or travels by the new motor road he will arrive at
the top of the hill at about the same spot near to the temple. He will
there find the Fnquiry office of the Devasthanam and the Devas-
thanam Dispensary facing him. There is also the old unfinished
or mondi gopuram which was recently renovated and furnished
with a roof and a kind' of turret much unlike the others of the
old style. This gopuram faces the south. A short paved roadway
towards the north leads to another small gopuram and portal
of older construction. It is after crossing this gateway that the
street known as the Sannidhi street runs east to west straight to
the main gateway and gopuram of the temple known as Mukha-
dviaram or the ' Periya Tiruvasal, and now called ‘Padikavali
Gopuram.’” At the eastern end of this street stands the shrine of
Anjanéya or Hanumin, facing the temple. To the left is the
old thousand pillared mantapam. That part of it which abuts
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TIRUMALA TEMPLE AND ITS ENVIRONS

the street has in recent times been converted into living tenements
and a portion for the police station. - To the north of the road
lies the Periya Jiyar matham, a market stall and a few shops. At
the western end and right in front of the gopuram is a small but
tall four pillared mantapam which was much used during festivals
in olden times. From this manapam there is a flight of steps te
the full width of the street,descending to meet the East Mada Street
running north to south in front of the main gateway of the temple.

Pilgrims usually secure lodgings in one or the other of the
pilgrims’ quarters belonging to the Devasthanam or may have
to be under obligation to Pandas who not only provide lodgings
but act as guides and cater to all the requirements and conveniences
of their wards.

As the main object of the pilgrim is to worship in the temple
the usual formalities observed before entering the temple will
now be described.! He goes or is taken to the small pond which
is provided with cut-stone steps and has a mantapam at its centre
called Neerili mantapam. This pond is situated to his right as
he faces the temple and close to the north prikaram wall of the
temple. A number of shops on its banks however hide its view.
This pond is called the  Swami Pushkarini ** or Tirukdnériand is
considered so holy that all the thirty-three crores of sacred waters
in creation are said somehow to find their way into it on the sacred
day known as ‘ Mukkdli Dvadasi” Here a purohit who claims
hereditary privilege, helps the pilgrim to a purificatory bath in
the traditionally accepted manner after reciting the Sankalpa
mantrams. The pilgrim is then made to circumambulate the four
main streets surrounding the temple and the Pushkarini which
form the ¢ Mshapradakshinam.” On the north-western shore of
the Pushkarini and almost near the middle of the north mada
street stands the temple of Sri Varaha swamy, also known as Varaha
Nainar and Gnanappiran,(the boar avatar of Sri Vishnu). The pilgrim
is expected to worship this God first so that spiritual knowledge or

1. Tradition considers it xécrilegim.s for any pilgrim to ascend the Tiru-
mala Hill with shoes on and without bathing (particularly) in the Alwar
Tirtham in Tirupati.
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Giianam may dawn on him and make him fit to worship Sri Venka-
téswara. The north and south mida streets of the Mahipradakshinam
measure about 800 feet each in length and the west madastreet is
about 900 fect. But the cast mida street running in front of the main
temple and alongside the east bank of the Pushkarini measures about
750 feet. The ground slopes from west to east. The entire area boun-
ded by these streets is very much lower in level than the outlying
country. It may roughly be taken that the m:da streets are about 15
feet lower in level than the outlying ground whereon houses have
sprung up. The ground beyond this rises rapidly on all sides.
The space enclosed by the mida streets would originally have been
uncven ground and considerable amount of excavation and levelling
should have been done to bring it to its present shape. The area
of this plot is roughly 16 acres and comprises the Temple proper,
the Swami Pushkarani, the Varahaswamy temple and a site called
the Pata Pushkarini where a tank was constructed by Achyutaraya
Mahiraya in the 16th century and subsequently filled up by the
Mahaats in the 19th century. There are also behind the Temple
and the Swami Pushkarini a number of lanes and houses which
at one time were cultivated gardens (Nandavanams) maintained
to supply daily fruits and flowers for the use of the Deity. The
vast amount of excavation and levelling done should naturally
have made the temple authorities realise that the Deity stood
on very low ground. So they seem to have changed His name
from ¢ Uchchiyilninrin * (he who stood on the summit) to ‘ Malai
Kkuniya nintdn’ (he who stood where the hill bowed). Out of the
total area of 16 acres the present temple covers 2.20 acres, the
Swami Pushkarini 1.50 acres and the Pata Pushkarini 2.50 acres
(the Pata Pushkarini is now a flower garden with some houses).
The remaining 10 acres are covered by a number of lanes, houses
and some matams, although originally they were all flourishing
Nandavanams supplying flowers and fruits to the temple. The
present Ahobila matam in the south mada street (facing south)
was one such flower garden-or Nandavanam in the early years
of the 14th century A.D. with a matam located in the garden.
The matam then bore the name “ Vap Sathakopan Tirunanda-
vanam.” There was also the Sitakaraganiam Matam. Some
fragmentary and incomplete inscriptions of the pre-Yadavaraya
period mention some matams whose names are however lost,
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The old land-marks on the boundary of this area are (1) The
Tirumala Nambi Tirumi)gai (the house in which Tirumala Nambi
lived in the last quarter of the 10th century A.D.) It was the
first building, (a stone mantapam with mud walls all round) in
the south mida street facing the north. It is near this place that
the processional deity makes the first halt during festival processions
and the recital of Veédas and the Tamil Prabhandam commence
formally with the blessings of the deity. The Ahobila matam
(or Van Sathakdpan matam) is also in this street some distance
further west facing the south. There are also the old residences
of some of the other Achiryapurushas (2) At the end of the south
mida street and nearly where it meets the west mada street stood
the garden ‘Tirumalikai’ (or garden house) where Sri Ananthalvar,
the famous disciple of Sri Ramanuja, lived in the last quarter
of the 11th century A.D. The garden and the tank stand outside
the temple area. At the south west corner the path way from
Chandragiri joins this mada street. There is a mantapam at the
junction. (3) In the west mada street are a number of choultries
facing the east, the well-known ones being those which belong
to the Maharaja of Mysore and the Raja of Pithapuram (the latter
is now owned by the Devasthanam). There are also other matams
of recent origin. Some of the Acharyapurushas and the Sabhaiyar
of Tiruchchukanur owned houses in this strect. After 1843 A.D.
the Mahants of the Hattirimji Mutt who were also the Vichirana-
kartas of the temple extended their possessions. It is worth remem-
bering that as in the south mada street so also in all the other
streets the houses were originally stone mantapams which were
subsequently converted into houses by raising mud walls between
the pillars. They might have been built by the temple authorities
and given as free quarters. (4) The Pata Pushkarini and the
Swami Pushkarini together abut a large part of the north mada
street. The archakas (nambimars) have their houses on either
sidc of this street. Sri Varahaswami temple is on the shore of the
Swami Pushkarini and at its north-west corner adjacent to the archa-
kahouses, a house site (facing south) which was confiscated from
an erring archaka was gifted away by Sri Krishnadévardya Maha-
raya to Sriman Vyisa Tirtha Sripada Udaiyar for constructing a
Madhwa Matam in 1524 A.D. The forebears of our Ex-Governor
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General, Sri C. Rajagopalachari had their home in this strect
next cast to this matam. This street has a steep gradient from
west to east and the dragging of the big four faced wooden car
during the Brahmotsavam has to be managed by dexterous appli-
cation of breaks and steering. At the north east corner is the Kalthér
mantapam (s&CGg i wewuh) Where during the Vijayanagar days
swing festivals used to be celebrated. At the north west corner the
hill-path from Bhakarapet to the temple joins this strezt, and at
the north east corner the one from Mamandur and Piliutla joins.
The pathway to the Akasa Ganga and the Papavinasam waterfalls
also take off at the latter corner. (5) The cast mada street has the
Swiami Pushkarini and the temple to its west, while there are some
houses of acharyapurushas, and others and also the Brahmatantra-
swami matam (Parakalaswami mutt) on the cast side. The large
four faced wooden car and the car-stand mantapam, the Divanam
building of the Devasthanams and the Vahana mantapam are also
on this side. At the southern end can be secn the west face of the
thousand pillared mantapam. The most disquieting and disfiguring
feature of the east mada street is the existence of a large number
of coffee hotels and shops along the shores of the Pushkarini which
pollute the tank. There are also numerous shops in temporary
sheds of inflamable material abutting the temple wall and the
base of the thousand pillared mantapam. These have considerably
narrowed the already narrow width of this street. In case of a
fire accident all the inscriptions on the temple wall will be lost.
The starting of the car procession in this narrow space is a difficult
affair. Even the mantapams which were comstructed by Saluva
Narasimha and other great devotees on the shores of the Pushkarini
for use during the floating festival have become shops and coffee
hotels.

The Thousand Pillared mandapam,

The thousand pillared mantapam is rectangular in shape
and is bounded on the west by the cast mida strect, on the north
by the sannidhi street, on the east by the street or pathway from
the newly renovated gopuram to the small gopuram at the eastern
end of the sannidhi street and on the south by the street in front
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of the Sri Hattiramji matam, The Hathiramji matam stands
on high ground and is on a level with the top of the terrace of the
thousand pillared mantapam. There is a row of corrugated iron
sheds for housing pilgrims constructed on this terrace and facing
the Hattiramji mutt. The ground floor of the mantapam stands
half submerged by the street on its east side. This mantapam
was constructed from out of the annual income of the village of
Durgasamudram which Saluva Narasimha endowed in 1472 A. D.
for the specific purpose of building gopurams, mantapams and
prakdram walls of the temple. 1t does not now serve the purposes
for which it was originally constructed. Its renovation and use
for festivals would commemorate the name of that great bene-
factor.

Sri Hattiramji Mutt:—This is still an important matam in
Tirumala although its secular connection with the temple, and
therefore its influence, nominally came to an end from 1933 when
the Committee system of management replaced the Vicharanakarta
Mahant. The Mahant however continued to be a hereditary
member of the Committee and wielded much power. The adminis-
tration of the temple by the Mahant Vicharanakartas from 1843
A.D. onwards was marked by a series of litigation which chara-
cterised it as one of embezzlement, misappropriation and diversion
of temple funds.

The Committee which replaced the Mahant in 1933 had not
the legal powers to prevent the diversion of temple income.
* Dalalies * still ply their old trade with impunity and even openly.
The rival temple within the matam still continues to receive
votaries. It is believed that the unwary and simple-minded pilgrim
is seduced by the Dalali into the Matam and is made to feel con-
vinced that it would be more pleasing to Sri Venkateswara if the
intended votive offerings are given away in part or in full to the
Matam. There seems to be no provision in the new H. R. E.
Act of 1951 to effectively check diversion of temple income.

In the old days a pilgrimage to Tirumala was not without
its risks and discomforts. Rulers and men having wealth and
influence would bring with them a retinue of followers for purposes
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of safety. During the years when the Muslim Emperor of Delhi
and the Nabob subordinate to him, the French and the English
were fighting for political supremacy conditions seem to have
been far worse than during the Vijayanagar rule. Reference was
already made in Chapter I as to how the British were employing
the caste Hindu sepoys to safeguard the routes during the Brah-
motsavam period. But neither the British nor the Muslims ever
set foot on the Hill out of respect to the sentiments of the caste
Hindus. After the management of the temple passed into the
hands of the Mahants in 1843 A.D. circumstances made it necessary
to violate the old traditions. Increase in the commission of grave
crimes even within the Mahant’s Matam on the hill and the
non-co-operative attitude of the Mahants to facilitate detection
compelled the Government to establish in 1872 a police station
on the hill and a police force to maintain law and order. European
district officers of the magistracy, the police and the excise depart-
ments were permitted to ascend the hill, for exercising supervision
and control; but not other officers. The exemption was, however,
extended to others also at the diseretion of the Mahant.

A very commodious and well-furnished Travellers' Bungalow
was constructed in recent times for the halt of a European Governor
of the Province. This bungalow has since been improved by the
Devasthanam Committee. A hill which according to tradition
burns away all sins, became a rendezvous for criminals committing
grave crimes and Ewropean officer had to be welcomed on the
Hill. The Travellers’ Bungalow is in a lovely spot overlooking
the pathway to Chandragiri and on the shores of the Anantha]var
tank which supplies drinking water to the pilgrims,
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CHAPTER VIIL

PART (2)

THE TIRUMALA TEMPLE:—Gopurams, Prakarams,
Pradakshinams and the Structures thereon.

THE Sanctum is surrounded on all sides by three compound
walls known as Prakarams or Avaranams. The space enclosed
between these walls increases in width, the narrowest being between
the Garbhagraham wall and the first prakaram and the widest
being that between the outer and the middle prakdrams. As is
usual there is only one entrance for each prakaram which is on
the east side and gopurams have been constructed over the two
outer entrances. The space enclosed between each set of prakdram
is called a pradakshinam or antarmandalam or circumambulating
space. The pradakshinam surrounding the Garbhagriham has,
however, remained closed for the public, except for one day in
the year, for about seven centuries past.

After circumambulating the maha-pradakshinam, the pilgrim
arrives at the main gateway of the temple or Periya Gopura Vasal
or Padikavali. At a distance of about 120 feet from this gateway
is the inner Gopuram with its gateway. From these gopurams
take off on either side high compound walls about 4 feet in thickness
which completely enclose the ground covered by the temple.

The outer Gopuram.

The outer Gopuram stands on a quadrangular base, 38 feet
south to north, and 32 feet east to west. The gateway or opening
called Mukha Dviram or Tiruvisal is in the middle and about
11 feet wide. There are two cutstone door frames symmetrically
placed from either end. The door jambs, the sills and soffits of
these are of wide and thick cut stone and carved in the traditional
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style. The front doorway alone has folding doors hung on pivots
and made of stout lattice wood work, backed with thick battens
fastened together by stout iron nails having artistic heads. The
doors are closed during nights after temple service, bolted and
locked from inside. There is also a trap door on the left side door
which is kept open on occasions when the main doors have to be
kept closed. Only the privileged few are allowed to get into the
temple by this trap door. The compound walls emanating from
“the outer gopuram measure 414 feet east to west and 263 feet
south to north.

No inscription records the date of construction of this Gopuram
and the prakaram attached to it. An approximation could however
be made. There is an inscription on the right side front face
of the door-jamb wall of the Gopuram dated the twelfth regnal year
of Tribhuvana Chakravartigal Sri Yadavardya Viranarasinga
Dévar which records the gift of 62 cows and two breeding bulls
for the daily supply of ghee for lighting two Nandavilakku. The
year would correspond to 1217 A.D. The place where the
inscription is found leads us to believe that the outer Gopuram
had come into existence before that date. Chronologically the
next inscription is on the door-jamb wall (front) in Sanskrit language
and Grantha script. That states that Sriman Viranarasimha Deva
Nripati having conquered his enemies and having become famous,
assumed all the emblems of royalty—such as elephants, garland,
svéta chchatram—also that he had himself weighed against gold
and that with that gold he made Vénkatagiri rival Suragiri (or
‘Mount Meru) in brilliance. This event would have taken place
late during his reign and perhaps some time about 1260 A.D.
There are many otherinscriptions of still later dates on this Gopuram.
But the one which deserves notice is fragmentary and is in a niche
above the first tier of the Gopuram to the south of the passage.
Translated into English it reads, ** Ksh&masura who is Ganapati
TP for him who forcibly expelled from the town.” These
words appear to refer to the exploits of the Emperor Sundara
Pandya who reigned from 1251—1275 A.D. The fragment may be
assigned to about the year 1260 A.D. It might be surmised from
this that the outer Gopuram, aithough constructed before 1217
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A.D. had only a bald terrace until about 1260 A.D. when the
first tier of the gopuram appears to have been raised. The con-
struction of a bald Gopuram (without the tiers) might have been
the work of one of the earlier Yadavardyas, perhaps Ghaiti Déva
or Rajamalla or even Sri Viranarasinga. It may be stated here
that all the inscriptions relating to Jatdvarman Sundara Pandya
(the overlord of the country from 1251 A.D.) are on the right
and left base of the'inner Gopuram, including No. I-45 of the year
1264 A.D. and No. 1I-51 which refers to his crowning himself in
Kanchi. The presence of a fragment in a niche in the first tier
of the outer gopuram leads to the inference that the tiers of the
outer Gopuram were constructed at a very late period when some
of the Pandyan inscriptions had even gone to pieces. We know
that Saluva Narasinga DEva endowed the village of Durgasamudram
for the purpose of constructing and repairing gopurams etc., about
the year 1472-1482 A.D.! The tiers might have been constructed
during that period. The construction of the prakiram walls might
have commenced soon after the completion of the Gopuram
(without the tiers). At any rate, at the time when Sri Ranga-
nathaswamy of Srirangam was brought to Tirumala about 1320
or 1330 A.D. the outer prikdram walls were in existence, since
the shrine for Sri Ranganatha abuts the south prakiram wall,
Inscriptions however were not made on these walls until the end
of the 15th century or the beginning of the 16th century. The
most conspicuous is the one on the east wall, outer side, south
of the Gopuram inscribed by the personal engraver of Sri Krishna
Deva Maharaya. It is in Sanskrit poetry and prose and Telugu
script. In it the geneology of the Emperor is traced from the
Moon. The geneology is only a preamble to an endowment
made by him in the year 1513 A. D.! of three villages from the
income of which a Brahmdtsavam was to be celebrated annually
for Tiruvengalanatha Dé&va for the merit of his father Narasa-
ndyaka Udaydru and his mother Nagardjam mangiru. A Kanarese
version of the same in Nandinagari script is on the south wall of
the second prakdram. It is thus seen that the third or outer
prakdram wall came into use for inscriptions long after the second
one had been largely used.

1, 11, 79; 1482 AD. 2, ML 69, 1513 AD.
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THE SAMPANGI PRADAKSHINAM.
(Or the third Avaranam.)

Leaving the outer Gopuram passage behind, the pilgrim enters
& mantapam 36 ft. x 36 feet standing on sixteen pillars and adjoining
the Gopuram. In front of this and at a distance of about 50 feet
therefrom is a similar mantapam situated in front of the inner
Gopuram. This will be described later. These two mantapams,
with the open space in between practically cover the width of the
front or eastern portion of the Sampangi Pradakshinam,. which
is the name given to the quandrangular space between the outer
prakaram and the next inner one. Although the frontage or open
space here is about 120 feet in width, on the other three sides it is
hardly 50 feet. The structures and objects found in this portion
will now be mentioned.

Krishnarayar Mantapam :—This one adjoins the outer Gopuram
above mentioned. This name is given to it for want of a better
one. The objects which come to view therein are a number of
statues, placed on either side of the passage with their back to
the west wall of the gopuram. It is worth noting that all the
statues of the emperors are bare-bodied except for the under-wcar
or loin cloth. This is in conformity with the rules enjoined by the
Agamas and the Purdnas when going to worship the Deity in a
temple. There are thirty two rules for observance and these will be
given later. On the north side are three statues in bronze which
represent Sri Vira Krishnadeva Maharaya with two of his queens,
Tirumala Devi on the left and Chinna Devi on the right. The
emperor wears the crown which is said to be of his own design.
On the south side are three more, the first one being the copper
statue of King Venkatapatiraya. The next two are of stone repre-
senting an Emperor and his queen. The Devasthanam epigraphist
has stated that they represent probably Tirumalaraya and his
queen Vengaldmba. This, however, does not appear to be a
correct surmise as none of our inscriptions couples with his name
the Emperor’s titles. They are more likely to represent Achyutaraya
Mabaraya and his queen Varadajismman. There is a clear cut
Vadagalai caste mark on the fore-head of the Emperor, just below
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the crown. It is an undisputed fact that Achyuta Raya was a
staunch sectariaf Sri Vaishnava. Soon after his liberation from
the Chandragiri fortress, he was given a sacred bath in the Tirumala
Temple with the consecrated water poured from the conch used
for the daily Tirumanjanam of Bhoga Srinivasa. The coronation
then took place in the temple itself for the first time. This conch
(Sankham) would have been handled for this purpose only by an
Acharyapurusha since an archaka would not have been accepted
by that emperor as a religious preceptor. Kumdratatayyaugar, son
of Ettir Sottai Tirumalanambi Tholappar Iyengar, who was a
prominent Vadagalai Acharyapurusha would naturally have done
the abhishekam and crowning ceremony. It. has to be borne in
mind here that Achyutaraya personally performed the Srinivasa
Sahasrandmarchana while the archaka had to content himself
with reciting the 1,008 names. This shows how conceited he was
as a Sri Vaishnava devotee. The statue shows that he was a Vada-
galar. It is also seen from an inscription of his endowment for the
celebration of a Lakshmidevi festival in Tirumala that he preferred
to be styled therein as Swami Achyutaraya Maharaya (not Sri
Vira Achyutaraya Maharaya) and his wife as Swami Varadaji
Amman. Swami is generally the eponym prefixed to the name of a
Srivaishnava held in veneration. For the above reasons, we may
state confidently that these two statues represent Achyutaraya and
his queen Varadajiamman. By way of contrast, it may be noted
that there is no caste mark on the forehead of Krishnadévaraya
and Venkatapatirdya. Venkatapatiraya has a long garland of beads
(letus or tulasi) round his neck; so also Achyutaraya. Although
Achyuta and Krishna wear the kanthi (neck ornament) the kanthi
of the latter has something like a rudraksham in the middle. There
are three other statues stationed near the Dhvajastambha mantapam
and facing north. They are those o Khemaran (Todara Mall)
and his family Mata Mobanade and P.ta B b..

Ranga Mantapam.

Abutting the east and south walls of the outer prakéram
and to the south of the Krishnardya mantapam is the Ranga Manta-
pam standing on high basement and measuring about sixty feet
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east to west and 108 feet north to south. At nearly its southern
end is a small shrinc about 12 feet square which has long been
kept closed. The shrine appears to have been the abode of Sri
Ranganatha of Srirangam during His stay in Tirumala in the years
1320-1360 A.D. After the idol was conveyed back to Srirangam
the shrine seems to have been closed. In front of it is the big
S&shavdhanam screening the above shrine. A portion of the
mantapam on the eastern side as well as the western side has been
converted into store rooms. This Ranga Mantapam might have
been constructed by Sriranganatha Yadavaraya, the local ruler,
to accommodate Sri Ranganatha of Srirangam when the idol was
removed from Srirangam owing to the fear of molestation by the
Muslim hordes of Malik Kafur about the year 1310-1320 A.D.
The shrine is a small one owing to the fact that only the Utsava
Vigraham was brought over. Consequently a small Miila Vigraham
would have been manufactured locally to serve as Mulaberam,
and installed within the shrine. The mantapam is spacious enough
to accommodate the fairly large number of refugee Pancharatra
worshippers who would have gone over from Srirangam to
Tirumala for carrying on the worship according to the Pancharatra
Agama, which is different from the Vaikhinasa Agama of the
Tirumala temple. The spaciousness of the mantapam suggests
that when Sri Ranganatha was here His daily services according
to the Pancharatra dgama were performed with great eclat by
the large band of Sri Vaishnavas who accompanied that Deity.
This left its mark on the present composite form of daily worship
since developed in Tirumala and in the many festivals introduced
which were before foreign to the Vaikhanasas. It is worth remind-
ing that congregational worship in Srirangam was current even
at the time the Silappadhikaram was composed (uert Qsreg
gése)in756 AD.

The Tirumalarayan and Anna Unjal Mantapam.

Next to the Ranga Mantapam and extending to within 12 feet
of the east prakaram wall of the inner Gopuram is another spacious
mantapam measuring 40 feet east to west and about 80 feet north
to south. This mantapam consists of two parts constructed at
different periods. The southern or inner portion (10 ft. x 45 ft.)

118



THE TIRUMALA TEMPLE

has a more ¢levated basement than the front one and might have
been constructed by Siluva Narasimha in the middle of the 15th
century for celebrating the Anna Unjal Tirunal instituted by him
in the year 1473 AD.! This structure was renovated and extended
to its present size and shape by Araviti Bukkaraja Ramaraja Sriranga-
raja Tirumalaraja in the last quarter of the 16th century. In this
mantapam other festivals like the Vasantotsavam, were also cele-
brated during Tirumalaraja’s time. This Mantapam has finely
carved high pillars depicting a warrior riding a horse standing crect
on its hind legs over an elephant, etc. It is in this Mantapam
that the Processional Deity, Malayappan has been annually holding
His Asthanam or Durbar on the evening of the hoisting of the
Garuda Dhvajam on top of the Dhvajastambham to mark the
commencement of the Brahmotsavam. The prasadam distribution
on this occasion called Tirumalarayan pongal is a delicacy greatly
appreciated by pilgrims. Although the endowment made by him
for that has disappeared, the pongal continues to be offered regularly.
In the middle of the older structure stands the cut-stone carved
pavilion where the Deity is seated for the occasion. This Mantapam
practically touches a portion of the Dhvajastambham Mantapam
At its north-east corner is a small raised pail where the elephant
(on whose back during the Brahmotsavam days a pot of the water
from the Akasa-ganga falls is brought in street proccssion) bends
down for the person bringing the water to alight. The above
structures are all on the southern side of the open space. On the
northern side there is another Mantapam about 42 feet square with
an enclosed room of about the same size in continuation. This
room is called the Aina mahal, and is of late origin. lts front
mantapam is now used for vending prasadams. In an article
contributed to the Asiatic journal of the Year 1831 by the highest
Revenue Officer of the district it is stated that Addala (ego)
festival was being celebrated most likely inthe room in this mantapam
the walls being lined with huge mirrors.

Poola Bavi:—To the north of the Aina Mahal is a step well
called the Poola Bavi into which all the flowers used for the deco-

1. This probably is the mantap.m mentioned in 1. 79 as the Narasimha-
raya mantapam
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ration of the Deity are thrown after removal. The tradition is that
flowers on the hill should be used only for God and not for man.
It is also the rule according all Agamas that flowers removed
after use by the Deity should be deposited in a well.

Dhvajastambha Mantapam:—This mantapam appears to have
been built for the purpose of affording shelter on the occasion
of the Dvajarohanam ceremony of the Brahmotsavam. As the
festival occurs about the month of September when there are
rains, a mantapam has always been a necessity. The Bali-pitham
and Dhvajastambham which measure together about 15 ft. east
to west stand practically in the centre of this mantapam in front
of the inner gopuram. Thc Balipitam which stands in front
of the Dhvajastambham is square in shape and made of cut-stone,
broader at the base and decreasing by steps to a smaller size at a
height of about S} ft. The Bali-stone on top is about a foot in
diameter. The structure was in recent years covered with gold
gilt copper plates. The Dhvajastambham or flag-staff is a long
piece of timber circular in section and encased in gold gilt copper
sheeting. 1t stands on a cubical cut-stone structure also covered
over with gold gilt copper sheets.

It 1s an uncommon thing that these two structures should
be found outside the inner gopuram and in the space known as
the third Avaranam between the second and the third prakaram),
Tn its earhiest days this temple would have had only one Avaranam
surrounding the Garbhagriham. The Agama rule, rather practice,
in such a case is to locate Garuda, the Dhvajasthambham and
the Balipitam 1n the first dvaranam itself in the following order.
Divide the frontage of the first avaranam into four equal parts.
Garuda and Dhvaja would be in the second quarter, Garuda
being nearest to the Vimanam. The Balipitam would be in the
third quarter.  Where there is a second dvaranam also (the space
between the inner gopuram and the first prakiram wall) Garuda
would be placed in the second quarter of this &varanam and Dhvaja
and Balipitam would come in the third quarter of the dvaranam.
This second dvaranam was built about 1190 A.D. Garuda, the
Dhvajastambham and Balipitam would therefore have been
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within the second avaranam until the date of construction of the
Tirumdmani Mantapam about 1417 A.D. As that comstruction
left little space for the Dhvajastambham and Balipitam, they were
shifted to the third avaranam. The Vaikhanasa dgama however
recognises this arrangement also as a last resort; but they should
be in the third quarter and not in the first where we find them now.

The other three sides, viz., south, west and north sides of
the Sampangi Pradakshinam were, while constructing the prakaram
walls, left as mere open space. But in due course, corridors of the
mantapam type were constructed abutting the walls on one side
and carried on pillars at the other end. These have high basement.
On the south side this corridor is about 17 to 18 ft. in width, leaving
an open space of 30 ft. width for the pradakshinam. But in recent
times the corridor has been converted into a number of rooms
for storing the samans of the floats for the floating festival and also
for storing the wooden dolls used for decorating the car for the
car festival. On the west side the corridor is 26 ft. in width, with
three rows of pillars. A large part of this space has been converted
intorooms called Ugranam (store room) for storing the provisions
required for preparing food offerings such as rice, pulses, ghee,
jaggery, sugar, oil etc. These are usually purchased in bulk and
stored. The pounding and cleaning of rice, pulses and other
articles are carried out here under the supervision of an officer
called Ugranam Parpatyadar till recently. This duty was originally
performed by the Jiyangar who about the year 1390 A.D. was
entrusted with the task under the designation * Koil Kelvi * Jiyar.
It was his job to examine and approve the quality of the articles
and to issue the daily requirements. Without his permission no
article would have been received or issued. It is stated in the
Asiatic journal (already referred to) that in 1831 A.D. the Jiyangar
assisted by his Ekangis was the Store keeper acting under the
orders of the Parapatyadar (the chief officer). The north side
corridor is similar to that on the west and has been converted
into a number of rooms. The open space or the Pradakshinam
on the west side is 22 ft. 6 in., wide while that on the eastern end
is 25 ft. There is a long room known as Ramanuja Kotam where
the portion of the food intended for pilgrims is freely distributed.
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The next room is known as Padi Potu where panyarams or (fried
and baked preparations and sweets) are made for being offered
to the Deity. As in these preparations portions of ghee and some
other articles once used are kept over for future use, the place of
preparation is removed from the kitchen where cooked food is
prepared. Next to this room is the Yamunatturai where flower
garlands are daily made to exact sizes requircd for decorating the
Dhruva Beram and other deities. It owes its name to Yamuna-
charya or Sri Alavandar who is said to have given a start to this
kind of work in his days. The next room is filled with articles
of the float. The original purpose for which these corridors were
constructed might have been for the procession of the Utsavar
Beram around the Pradakshinam on rainy days when street
procession was impracticable and also to afford shelter to pilgrims
in inclement weather. That purpose, however, is not being served
now.

Saluva Narasimha's four Mantapams in
the Sampangi Pradakshinam.

At cach of the four corners of the open space there is a small
mantapam on four pillars measuring about 10 ft. square. These
were constructed by Saluva Narasimha about 1470 A.D. in the
name of himself, his wife, and his two sons. It was arranged
that on almost all fest:val occasions the processional Deity should
be seated at each of these and that food offerings should be made
there and distributed to the pilgrims. Even now they serve the
purpose during the forty days of Vasantotsavam soon after the
Yugddi day. This pradakshinam is called in the inscriptions
Sambaga chchurtu (s i1 & pm) the word Sambagam being the
Tamil equivalent of Sampangi or Champaka. There might have
been several Champaka trees therein, whose sweet smelling flowers
were daily offered to the Deity.

The Inner Gopuram.

After circumambulating the Sampangi pradakshinam we arrive
at the inner gopuram. The inner gopuram measures at its base
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24 feet east to west and 36 ft. south to north, the width of the
gate-way or entrance being 9 feet. It is similar to the outer gopuram
in design. The compound or priakaram walls emanating from
this gopuram measure on the outside 235 ft. east to west and 160 ft.
north to south. These walls as in the case of the outer prakaram,
are faced on both sides with well dressed cut-stone, the thickness
of the walls being about 3 feet. There are numerous inscriptions
on the outer as well as the inner face of these walls and also on
the base and the walls of the gdpuram. The general feature of
these is that the older inscriptions are on the basement and walls
of the gopuram, the next in point of time being those on the inner
face of the prakaram walls. The outer faces of these walls contain
inscriptions of the 15th and 16th centuries.

The date of construction of the gopuram is not given in any
inscription. There are however a number of these-some complete.
some incomplete and others fragmentary-on the base and the walls
of the gopuram itself which enable us to fix the date of construction
with some degree of probability, if not of accuracy. The carliest
of the complete inscriptions is on the south base (left inner sidc)
dated the 19th regnal year of Tirukkalatti Devan. It records an
endowment made by him of all the lands of Kudavur village to
Tiruvengadamudaiyan for His daily Nimandam or daily worship
and food offerings. There are two other inscriptions, one dated
the 34th regnal year of Sri Viranarasinga Yadavaraya on the south
base (right inner side) The other is an incomplete inscription
of the Saka year Vikrama on the north base (left outer side) and
it records the grant of some village (name missing) by Nayanar
Pillai-Viranarasinga. The year Vikrama corresponas to 1220-21
A.D.! The earliest inscription being of the year 1209 A.D. we can
safely assume that the inner gopuram was then in existence. There
are, however several other inscriptions which though fragmentary
still enable us to state that the gopuram would have been constructed,

1. Asthe word Nayanar is prefixed to the name we presume that the
inscription belongs to the later Chola period when either Viranarasinga or
his son Pilla viranarastngar made the grant. The later Vikrama year 1280 A.D
is not the likely one as the Cholas were not then in power and the prefix
Nayanar would not have been used
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at least the base portion of it, some time in 1160-1170 A.D. These
inscriptions are on the north base of the gopuram and are partially
hidden by the thickness of the prakaram wall which obviously
was constructed a fairly long time after the gopuram itself. If
at the time the inscriptions were made the construction of the
prakaram was at least in immediatc sight sufficient space would
-have been left for the thickness of the wall while inscribing: Or
it may be that this portion of the prakiaram wall,was cut open
and reconstructed in 1244-50 A.D. when the temple was renovated
which will be discussed later. These inscriptions are largely the
work of Sri Anandalvan’s grandson Venkatatturaivar. Anandalvin
is presumed to have been born in 1048 A.D. and would have been
90 years old when Sri Ramanuja died in 1137 A.D. Assuming
that Anandalvan's son and grandson were born at intervals of
40 years, the grandson Venkatatturaivar would have been 10 years
old when Sri Ramanuja died. The inscriptions made by him
convey his pledge (probably to his father) to carry on the Nanda-
vanam work and also the amudu padi and sattuppadi (either for
Tiruvengadamudaiyan or for Sri Ramanuja’s temple in Tirumala).!
The temple or shrine of Sri Ramanuja might have come into exis-
tence about 40 years after his death. Seeing that a similar temple
was in affluent state in Tirupati in 1220 A.D. the assumption of an
earlier origin for the one in Tirumala is justifiable. Tradition
ascribes the consecration of this shrine to Pillai Tirumalanambis.
More details about this fragmentary inscription are given in the
chapter on the temple of Govindarajaswami.

THE VIMANA PRADAKSHINAM.

After crossing the inner gopuram we enter the open space
which is now called the Vimana Pradakshinam. This is a quad-
rangular space enclosed between the walls of the second prakaram

1. This is a fragmentary ioscription 1.79 D on the East wall inner side
south of the inner Gopuram which indicates hing about R
Emperumanar on a dayin Saumya year. This year can be no other than
1129-10 A.D. If the base of the inner gopuram was then in existenee’Anandal-
war's son would have got it inscribed on the base like so many others. The
inference therefore is that the inner gopuram was commenged after 1130 A.D,
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of the inner gopuram and the walls of the first prakaram which
surround the Sanctum. The open space of this Pradakshinam
between the gateway of the inner gopuram and the large mantapam
to the west of it, the Tirumamani or Mukha mantapam, is hardly
18 ft. Consideration of the Sanctum will be taken up later. In
addition to the structures composing the ‘Sanctum, there are a
large number of other cut stone-structures, shrines and mantapams
within this Viméana Pradakshinam. These leave a comparatively
narrow width of open space surrounding the Sanctum. It is this
open space which is called the Vimana Pradakshinam.

Anga Pradakshinam.

It is in this space that pilgrims circumambulate the Sanctum.,
Women and men while in great distress of body and mind some
times take a special vow (or prarthana) that when freed from
distress by the Divine Grace they would take a cold plunge bath
in the sacred waters of the Swami Pushkarini and with the wet
clothes on circumambulate the Sanctym in a prostrate condition.
This circumambulation is called Anga Pradakshinam. The person
rolls round the Sanctum on the stone pavement of the Vimana
pradakshinam in a prostrate condition so that every part of the
body touches the floor. Some attendant (a relation usually)
would help him or her in keeping to the correct position and in
changing at corners. The structures abutting the second prakdram
wall will now be stated.

Sri Varadarajaswami shrine.

This shrine is about 7 feet to the south from the inner gopuram
and 2 feet from the East prakdram wall. It is a small one about
20 feet in length and 15 feet in width and is dedicated to Sri Varada-
rajaswami. The history of this shrine will be given later. The
pilgrim circumambulates this shrine also except during Anga
pradakshinam.

An inscription on its north wall dated sixtgenth regnal year of
Srirangandtha Yadavardya (1354-55 A.D.) shows that the Temple
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was built before that date. It was probably built during the Malik
Kafur’s invasion of the South and was meant for Sri Varadaraja-
swami of Kanchi. To the south of this shrine is the main kitchen
known an P&tu and is about 61 ft. X 30 ft. standing on a basement
2} ft. high. The cooking of all articles for the day’s food offering
to the Deity is done here. New earthen pots only are used every
day. Once used they are broken and never used again. The
supply of these is a Mirdsi right called Kumara Svaripam.. The
supply of fire wood from the temple forests was also a Mirdsi
right. The present supply is however from Government forests
taken on contract by the Devasthanam, the coupes being worked
under the supervision of the Government Forest department.
There is a small shrine inside and close to the door-way of the
kitchen and the presiding Goddess therein is known as Madapuli
Nachchiar, who keeps watch over the doings of the cooks. In
front of this kitchen and adjoining the corridor which runs to the
west is the well known Bangaru Bavi from which all the water
required for the temple and the kitchen in particular is drawn.
This well is.considered to be a holy one. The site of it is as directed
in the dgama

Corridor:—The height of basement of the Corrider which
starting from the kitchen runs west is the same as that of the kitchen.
Its roof adjoins at one end the second prakaram wall while the other
end is carried on cut-stone pillars. There is also an intermediate
row of pillars 7 ft. distant from the end row. The total width
is 19 ft.

Kalyana Mantapam.

The western end of the corridor has been converted into a
large mantapam 80 ft. X 36 ft. called the Kalyina mantapam.
The date of its construction is not known but it may be assigned
to the end of the 16th century. Architecturally it is similar to
the Tirumalariya Mantapam. The pillars are exquisitely well
carved and the ceiling of the roof of the central portion possesses
beauty. At its western end is situated a small shrine with a small
but beantiful mantapam carried on slender cut stone pillars well
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sculptured and surmounted by a Vimdnam. Behind the shrine
is a raised portion called the Yagasala where Homams are performed
in connection with Brahmotsavam and other festivals. This manta-
pam is called the Kalyana Mantapam because Kalyanotsavam
(or marriage festival) is celebrated here. Whenever a pilgrim
pays the prescribed fee and requires it to be done, Malayappan
and His Consorts are brought here to take part in this festival.
The mantapam and the festival are both of late origin. The festival
is described in a separate chapter along with other festivals. This
mantapam is also used by the processional Deity Malayappan
and His consorts in connection with the Brahmotsavam and thc
Adhyayanotsavam for long periods. The idols are then houscd
in the small shrine above referred to and the decoration etc., take
place in the small mantapam in front of it. From the day of
Dhvajarohanam of the Brahmotsavam to the day of the Dipavah
Asthanam (in the Purattasi and Arppasi months) Malayappan
resides here and not in the Sanctum Sanctorum. So also for a
period of twenty-three days in the month of December in connection
with the Adhyayanotsavam. The Asthanams take place during
those days in this mantapam only.

The width of this mantapam necessarily contracts the open
space of the Pradakshinam to about 11 feet width and even the
processions of the Deity have to pass through this narrow space
with difficulty.

The west cerridor:—This corridor is similar to the one on
the south side, but a little wider. It is also divided into a number
of rooms for storing Vahanams. In a small room the Devas-
thanam publications are now being kept for sale. In this part
of the Pradakshinam some Arjitam Festivals are sometimes ccle-
brated in haste. A devotee might have taken a vow to perform
a Garudotsavam. But on that particular day it might not be
possible to spare the time to take Deity in street procession on
the Vahanam. In a case like that the Vihanam would be placed
in the pradakshinam with the Deity seated thereon; thc music
played with tom tom and the harathi performed. A silver wand
would during this short time be placed in the hands of the devotee
who will go an even number of times round the Vihanam in
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pradakshinam and the festival would be considered to have been
fully performed. We next pass on to the Northera corridor. This
one has acquired a little more importance than the others. At
nearly the western end of this corridor which is an open verandah
those who are religiously minded would sit down and read portions
of religious books. The Madhwas will particularly be seen doing
this. Standing at the edge of the corridor opposite to the north
face of the Vimanam the pilgrim’s attention would be drawn to the
bas-relief representation of the gold gilt copper plate repousse
of Sri Venkateswara the Dhruva Mirti, on the top portion
of the Vimdnam. On this side of the prakaram wall also are to
be seen the most ancient inscriptions of the Chola period in full
and also Sri Vira Krishna Devara Maharaya’s endowments. There
are a few rooms in the corridor which are occupied by the Mirdsi
servants, such as the Gammikars (cooks), the Kaikalas or lighting
servants and the Vagapadi (the place where panyarams are stored
for purposes of issue or sale to pilgrims) people. There is also a
room for keeping the pallaki (Palanquin) of the Deity. In another
small room partitioned out of the verandah are preserved the
copper plate engravings of songs in praise of Sri.Venkateswara by
Tallapakkam Annamacharya and his descendants. Next to this is
the Sabha Arai which is the wardrobe of the used-up clothing
of the Dhruva Mrti. Pilgrims are permitted to press this cloth to
their forehead in veneration.

Sri Ramanuja Shrine.

The next one is the shrine of Sri Ramanuja, the great Sri
Vaishnava Acharya. The history of this shrine will be given
separately in this chapter. In front of the shrine and on a level
with it is its Mukha mantapam. All Sri Vaishnavas worship
here and receive tirtham and Sathari. There is however no inde-
pendent puja for the Acharya. A portion of all prasadams offered
to Sri Venkateswara is first transmitted to this shrine to be offered
to Sri Ramanuja. Alsog on several occasions the distribution of
food offerings in goshti (i.€); ccording to the order of precedence)
is made in this Mukha mantapam. Special honours are shown
to this Acharya on certain festival occasions as he was responsible
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for placing the worship and other affairs of this temple on a sound
working basis. No other Acharya and none of the Alwars find a
place in this temple although they have been admitted into the
pantheon in other temples. Ramanuja's adherence to the Pancha-
atra form of worship did not stand in the way of the recognition
of his shrinc by the Vaikhanasa archakas, who serve him every
day with tirtham and prasadam.

Sri Narasimhaswami Temple.

This shrine is much later in origin than that of Sri Ramanuja
or of Sri Varadarajaswami. As will be seen from its position and
its environs, it is a make-shift arrangement made in haste, The
history of this will be given separately.

There were other rooms such as the Chandanam room and the
Parimalam room which have since been removed. In the former
the grinding of the sandal paste on the sandal stone was carried
on daily by manual labour for making up the required quantity
of chandanam. In the Parimalam room the articles of perfumery
required for the daily abhishekam of Bhoga Srinivasa Mirti
and for the Friday abhishekam of the Dhruva Mirti as well as
punugu tailam, turmeric paste, saffron paste are prepared and
kept here by the Periya Jiyar who supplies the same when required.
Devotees who pay for the performance of Friday abhishekam
are given these articles in separate silver cups to carry round the
Vimina Pradakshinam and then to deliver them in the Garbha-
artham before the abhishekam commences. Of the articles of
sacred Panyarams the one which is known as Manoharam Undai
(or ball) kept in  Vagapadi room bas acquired a special fame, On
occasions when high dignitaries of State, Maharajas or great
men of religious fame are received by the temple authorities in
Tirumala, according to custom, Manoharam, Chandanam and
Sripadarenu are taken on a silver plate and given as a mark of
distinction at a spot prescribed in the rules and regulations of the
temple. This Manoharam is made of cleaned black gram and
rice fried in ghee pounded, mixed with juggery treaclc and madg
into balls. Although other sweets of greater delicacy have come
into vogue, Mandharam claims antiqumy, priority and distinction.
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CHAPTER VIII

Part (3)
THE TIRUMALA TEMPLE—THE SANCTUM.

IN this part of the chapter the following subjects will be dealt
with,

The construction of the architecturally designed walls encom-
passing the old walls of the Garbha Griham and the construction
and gold gilding of the Vimanam.

The demolition of the walls of the original first prakaram,
the consequent mutilation of the stones bearing inscriptions, the
construction of the walls of the present first prakaram and the
use of the old stones bearing the mutilated inscriptions for lining
the inner face of these walls.

The conversion of the front portion of the pradakshinam
formed by the above walls into a room called Ramar Méda.

The closure of the other three wings of the Pradakshinam
also, from daily use. The conversion of the Snapana mantapam
into a safe room and the construction of a new mantapam in front
of it called Tirumdmani mantapam.

The removal of the Garuda)var shrine, the Dhvajastambham
and Balipitam from their old places to the present ones. The
shrines of ‘Sri Ranganatha, Sri Varadardja and Sri Narasimha
Swami. The shrine of Sri Ramanuja.

Facts which at one time would have been common knewledge
have long since been forgotten. So also circumstances which
gave rise to certain practices have been forgotten, but the practices
have grown into usages which are now considered inviolable.
Even silly ones which violate the dignity of man became sacerdotal.
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As an example of the latter the difficulty which the poor pilgrim
always had to face for worshipping Sri Vénkat&swara in His temple
may be cited. Even the Finance Minister of the Nizam of
Hyderabad, Rajah Raghottama Rao had to seek the help of Lord
Clive to obtain the privileges of darsan due to his rank. He left
a message to Lord Clive suggesting ways in which the hard lot
of the poor worshipper could be bettered. In those days and
even till 1933 A.D. the crowd was so unmanageable and the diffi-
culties were so many that the servants in the temple, whose duty
it was to maintain order within the Sanctum, got into the habit
of using freely a deer skin thong on the back and even the head
of the worshipper. The scene became so common that the wor-
shipper soon attached to that blow a certain sanctity. He who
did not receive that blow was considered to have been left unnoticed
by Sri Venkateswara. People courted the blow. Next came on
the scene the policeman and the boy scouts. Till 1876 A.D., the
policeman was an unwelcome figure on the Hill. He now dominates
the innermost precincts of the temple with his uniform and head
dress. The agamas proclaim curses on the man who goes into
the Temple with the upper part of his body covered with clothing.
These are days when we seek the policeman and not our acharyas
to help us in our devotional visits. Who enters the Sanctum now
without a shirt on? In Tirupati itself there is a Gangamma temple
—a sacredotal importance attached to the pujari of the Kshudra
Devata—who during the days of the annual jatra goes through
the streets with a broomstick and a dust pan (b, o6). Morning
and evening women can be seen waiting with their young children
for this pricst to pass by and to hit the head of the children with
his dust pan and the broomstick. This act is supposed to bestow
on the recipient immunity from visitation by evil spirits and ill-
nesses.  So much importance is not attached even to the Sri Sathéri
of Sri Venkateswara.

The real shape and size of the temple in Tirumala have remained
a secret or a riddle. There are practices, rather usages in relation
to the structures which no one can question and not even enquire
into. Some of these will be described in this chapter for the first
time. Even persons who are intimately and hereditarily connected
with the working of the temple are not aware of these. A description
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of these: practices has now been made possible by a study of the
relevant inscriptions found on the walls of the temple and in the
light of careful measurements of the Sanctum structures. Mathe-
matical accuracy is not claimed for these measurements; but they
are accurate enough for all practical purposes. There is really
no such interval as off time’ in the daily routine work of the
temple to afford facilities for taking measurements. There are
again structures which are treated as sacred and which should
not be subjected to measurement. Who could stretch a tape
or a piece of string to measure the height or the width and girth
of the Dhruva Béram (Mila Mirti) and the other Bérams and
appurtenances in the Sanctum? The entire structure including
the Vimanam is proportioned to the size of the Dhruva Beram.
The measurements taken subject to these limitations claim sufficient
accuracy.

The Garbhagriham and Mukhamantapam a double
structure.

For the first time we learn that the Sanctum Sanctorum,
consisting of the Garbhagriham and the Mukhamantapam attached
thereto, is a double structure. Two distinct and separate sets
of walls do exist one set enclosing or gripping the other with perhaps
an airspace (or antarmandalam) in between. The Vimanam was
built along and in connection with the new (or outer) walls of the
Garbhagriham between the years 1244 and 1250 A.D. The outer
faces of the walls of the old temple bore at least four ancient inscrip-
tions in Tamil referable to years 966 A.D., to 1013 A.D. True
copies of these were taken before the new walls were built to enclose
the old ones. By inference we learn that the old temple had a
pradakshinam and prakaram walls surrounding it, wherein twenty
oil lamps were daily burning and also that those prikaram walls
were, and should necessarily have been, demolished to make room
for the width of space required for the construction of the new
walls of the Garbhagriham. In the process of demolition of the
prakatam walls all old inscriptions relating to gifts and endowments
made by members of the royal families of the Cholas and their
feudatories and dependants got mutilated due to careless dismantling
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THE TIRUMALA TEMPLE-THE SANCTUM

work. ~ A new set of prakaram walls was constructed for the new
temple and such of the inscribed stones as were- salvaged were
lined on the inner faces of these walls. The outer faces of the
new walls were kept perfectly clean and clear of inscriptions except
for the ancient ones which were copied out from the walls of the
old temple. We also learn that the local ruler Vira Narasinga
Yadavardya who probably financed the reconstruction work and
who was a feudatory chief under the Pandya King Sundara Pandya
and who raised himself soon to the status of a king, had himself
weighed against gold and made use of that gold to make Tirumala
rival in brilliance the Suragiri of the Dévas. This should be taken
to mean that after building the Vimanam he covered it with gold
gilt copper plates. His overlord Sundara Pandya placed a gold
gilt Kalasam on top of the Vimidnam (about 1262 A.D.). The new
first pradakshinam which was in usc for some years after its con-
struction was soon closed to the public and the front or eastern
wing of it was walled up on the north and south sides converting
the enclosed space into an apartment which is now called Ramar
Meda (grwr Guen. omems La) in front of the Mukha-
mantapam.  Two inscriptions found on the* ~outh wall go to
show that this closure might have taken place sometime between
1265 and 1285 A.D. The other three sides of the pradakshinam.
now known as the Mukkoti-pradakshinam were also closed to the
public by doors placed at the two ends which are kept locked.
except for two days in the year (r.e.. on the Mukkoti Ekiidasi and
Dvadasi days). It is also noticed that the width of thes pradak
shinam is not the same on all the sides  The north wing 15 more
than double the width on the other two sides.  The pillars in the
middle row of the north wing indicate that the change of width
was a eleventh hour idea, A Gomukham (01 narow passage
in the wall to drain off water from the Ga:bhagriham) about nine
fect in length running through the wall was bustt and subsequently
closed, as it would have been found impossible to keep it function-
ing.

The outer face of the south and west prakaram walls was
left untouched by the engraver’s chisel for nearly 130 years between
1250 and 1380 A.D. and of the northern wall till 1446 A.D. In
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this interval several endowments made by the Vijayanagar king
and his feudatories and generals were inscribed in nooks and
corners of the two gopuram structures and on the walls of minor
temples. We have to, and shall speculate for a proper explanation
of this phenomenon. There were additions made to the temple
structures by converting the old snapans mantapam into a safe
room and by the construction of a mew asthana mantapam which
went by the name of Tirumamani mantapam (which by the way
is the name of the mythological &sthana mantapam in Vaikuntam
or the Sri Vaishnava Heavens). These were done early in the
fifteenth century. Consequently, the shrine of Garuda &]vér, the
Dhwajastambham and the Balipitam appear to have been shifted
from their original position to their present place. The dgama
rules support this mnference.

The above are the subjects which will receive attention in
this part of the chapter.

The Sanctum Sanctorum—A Double Structure.

Reference is invited to the ground plan, drawn to scale, of
the buildings composing the sanctum (attached hereto). The ground
plan of the old temple is also marked thereon. The two are shown
in different colours. Parts of the old temple which remain intact
are shown in red colour. Portions which were demolished to
make room for the new structures are shown hatched in red. The
old prakaram walls and the pillars which supported the terrace
of that pradakshinam, the old shrine of Garuda and the original
site of the Dhvajastambam and Balipitam are the portions shown
hatched.

The effective thickness of the walls of the Garbhagriham is
found to be about seven feet two inches.! In the language of the

1. The old “silpis‘ did not use the foot and the inch for setting out
their buildings.  Their were the dandam, the hastham and the
manangulam.  The thickness of walls would usually be in hasthams and
fractions thereof, such as quarter half and three quarters, Where extreme
minuteness was called for, they might have used an eighth also.  Twenty-four
ménangulams made one hastham. The Sanctum Sanctorum had its size deter-
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silpi this overall thickness is about five hasthams. The inner
measurement of the Garbhagriham is about 12 feet 9 inches
square; or nine hasthams (chaturasram sama vrittam) square.
This is the largest size mentioned in the dgamas, and is adopted
for this temple as the Dhruva Béram is very tall. The thickness
of the walls invariably depends on the proportion which the area
of the inside floor space of the Garbha griham bears to the area
of the base of the proposed Vimanam which the walls have to
carry. This proportion would vary on the quality of the stone availa-
ble, the excellence of workmanship and the personal equation of the
silpi. Ordinarily it would be }. The other proportions are between
1/3 and } and also 3/5,4/7, 5/9, 6/11 etc.! The proportion 1/3 would
be for poor material and workmanship. The average would be
3. For our temple the area of the base of the Vimanam (if the
old temple had a Vimanam) would have been (2x12'9"x 12'9")
324 Sq. feet. Each side of the Vimanam would therefore have
been 18 feet. This would give a wall thickness of 2 5/8 feet or
314 inches. The nccessary thickness would thus be less than
two hasthams. The silpi might have adopted two hasthams.
As the overall effective thickness of the existing wall is 7 feet 2
inches or a little over five hasthams, it is clear that there are two
walls enclosing the Garbha griham, the inner one being a little less
than two hasthams and the outer a little more than three hasthams
in thickness. Calculation shows that a thickness of four-feet,
or two and three quarter hasthams, would meet the requirements
of safety. The overall thickness of five hasthams might have been

mined so as to be proportionate to the size and the posture of the Dhruva
Béram (Mila Mirti). Fora Murti of the standing posture with no other
miirti by the side, the room will be square in size, called Ekatalam or single
plot. The dimensions of the sides would depend on the height of the Dhruva
Béram. As the hastham refers to the human hand it would vary in length.
1t was therefore the habit of the silpis to leave engraved ona stone slab in a
safe part of the building the exact measure of the hastham adopted.  Such a
stone does not appear to have been yet spotted in the Tirumala Temple.
But from the dimensions of the Garbhagriham it is clear that the hastham
adopted would measure about 17 inches in length.

1. “Vimanavistgram trf chatush pancha sapta navaikadasa bhagam
kritva yathakram@na €ka dvi tri chatush pancha shad amsam garbha griha
vistaram”
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made up of outer walls of three hasthams closely gripping the inner
-walls of two hasthams thickness. Or it might be that the calculated
thickness was employed in both cases and an air space of about
6 inches left between the two sets of walls. This space would be
called an ‘ Antarmandalam’ or antardlam or void left between
the two structures. The latter supposition might be the correct
one judged by the language used for describing the two structures
in inscripsion 1. 88. The Tamil expression used for the old temple
is Koyil Alvar (the saintly abode). The second structure is called
Koyila)varku koyil (Qsr e pantide GsmuS) or the temple
for the Koyilalvar. The latter is a well understood term among
Sri Vaishnavas. In fact every house where puja is offered to God
in some form or other would possess a wooden structure of the
usual type having one room and a small mantapam in front of
the same height as the room. It usually has only a flat roof. It
is not improbable that the original temple in Tirumala was of this
pattern, but of a large size and in cutstone. If this assumption
is correct, that temple might not have had a Viminam until the
construction of the new temple took place sometime between 1244
and 1250 to 1262 A.D. The method employed for constructing
2 new temple did in no way adversely affect the old structure, which
would have been considered very sacred because it was presumed
to have been built by the Devas themselves.

The Motive for Renovation,

There were beauuful temples built for images made and
consecrated by man (Manusha pratishia), in other places. Here
was a poor temple on the most sacred Hill for a Svayam-vyakta
Mirti. The temple was attracting streams of enlightcned men.
Judged by the fact that the walls of the old temple had on its three
faces four long ancient inscriptions, the surface of these walls
would have been plain and devoid of any architectural features
«nd sculptures worth mentioning. It probably had no Vimanam
to boast of. The word Vimanam does not occur in our inscriptions
till about 1262 A.D. in which year Sundara Pandya is said to
have placed a gold gilt sikharam on top of it. Every other temple
of fame conducting puja according to the Vaikhanasa or the
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Panchardtra agama had a Garbhagriham whose architecture
answered to the agamic stipulations. The Yadavarayas were the
patrons of this temple and Sri Vira Narasinga was the most famous
of these. having risen from the rank of a chieftain to that of a
king. He set his heart on building a temple worthy of his Patron
Deity and of his own importance. He and his queen werc of a
devout disposition and had already given away Paiyindipalij
village for several services in the Tirupati temple, including the
constructior of the big four faced car, its gold gilt kalasam ctc.
To the Vaikhdnasa archakas also it meant a higher status sinee
the new temple would make adcquate provision for the installation
of all or most of the Deities which according to their dgama should
find representation even during the daily puja.!

It has to be pointed out in this connection that in those days
the daily puja was a function in which none but the Vaikhanasa
archaka had a share. The Jeeyars came into the temple a century
and half later. There was no recitation of the Tamil Prabandham
at any stage of the puja. nor for that matter any where in Tirumala.
The First Alvar for whom a shrine was erccted was Tirumanga:
alvar. It was erccted in Tirupati n 1234 AD. It was an inde-
pendent temple for which the Tirumala Sthanattars agreed to be
trustees.  Fifty years later (about 1287 A. D.) a shrinc for
Namma)var was also built at Tirupati (near Alwar Tirtham).
Tirumo)i was sung in Tamil during the Brahmotsavam in Tirupat
only from the year 1259 A.D. But no such Tamil song was sung
in Tirumala. The only person who played a part in the daily
puja was some member of the family of Tirumala Nambi who
recited mantrapushpam slokas during the puja and that was m
Sanskrit. Neither the Vaikh@nasa nor the Pincharitra agama of
those days countenanced the recital of the Tamil prabandham in
congregational worship of the kind mentioned in Silappadhikaram
as having been in vogue in Srirangam as carly as 756 A.D. (ue
Gsrlss®). The recitation of the Vedas in congregation daily
or during the festivals is not mentioned in any of the carly inscrip-
tions. It was only in the first quarter of the fifteenth century

1. What the idol and the minimum features of a Vaikhanasa Temple
should be are given in a seperatc chapter.
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that Sri Virapratdpa Dévardya Mahdrdya made arrangements for
employing twenty-four mahdjans for this service, two persons
serving by turns every month. The descendants of Tirumala
Nambi and Anandd}var who were the Achdryapurushas of the
Temple appear to have been the only Sri Vaishnavas who were
associated with the Archakas in daily worship. The renovation
work of the temple would therefore have been influenced more
by the notions of the Vaikhanasa agama (marichi samhia).

The Renovation work of the Garbhagriham.

In the inscription I. 88 the old temple is called the Kayil alwar
and the renovation work is called Koyil or Temple. The latter
was meant to serve as a temple to house the former, which even
now is called Koyilalvars. The idea is a novel one, because there
is no space left between the walls of the two, as far as we can see.
Even if there be a space it is not visible. There is nothing said
about the Vimanam, whether it is a new one constructed by Vira
Narasinga on the walls of thc new Koyil or whether there was
an old one which was improved by him.!

The old temple also had a covered corridor surrounding it
on all sides, with an open or covered antaralam to permit rain
water from the vimanam or roof to flow into the drain below
surrounding the walls. These had to be demolished to make
room for the foundations and walls of the new structure. A
reference to the ground plan, which shows the old as well as the
new structures, will make this clear to the reader. The old prakaram
walls should have been demolished before the foundations for the
new temple were laid. The inscription does not speak of the old
prakaram walls nor does it state in clear terms that new prakaram

1. 1f measurements are taken of the base and the height of the present
Vimanam it would be casy to form a correct notion. Sentiment however
makes it an act of pollution to tread upon the terrace of the pradakshinam
for taking This pradakshi is pow known as the Mukkdti
Pradakshinam and has been a closed enclosure open to the worshippers only
on two days in the year as already stated. People go round and scribble on
the walls of the Garbhagriham also on those two days. But treading on its
terrace is ap act of sacrilege.
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walls were built. It says that certain old inscriptions which were
on the walls of the old temple and true copies of which were already
taken (before building the new temple walls) should be reengraved
on the outer face of the north wall of the first prakaram.! That
there were the old prakaram walls together with pradakshinam
could easily be understood from the very large number of stones
showing fragmentary and incomplete inscriptions which have been
built into the inncr face of the walls of the new pradakshinam
and also the roughly dressed bald round stone columns used in
the new pradakshinam. These columns do not go well with
architectural beauty and finish of the new temple walls. The inner
faces of the new prakaram walls containing fragmentary inscriptions
on the roughly dressed faces of the old stones present a sorry
contrast to the walls of the new temple. The portion of the old
temple from which these stones could have come should be the
old prakaram. The new pradakshinam along with its prakaram
walls is also called a temple in the inscription. «* Gsr uier paurr it & &
Garulgués Gamude’’ (atemple for the temple of the Koyilalvar).
It is unusual to call the first pradakshinam a temple. A temple
usually contains an 1mage for worship. So we must presume that
this new pradakshinam was designed to hold within it one or more
images for worship. The design of the outer face of the new
Garbhagriham walls and the closure of the antaralam space in the
roof of the pradakshinam support this view. A look at the plan
and elevation of the south wall will show that a niche is sculptured
centrally in the body of the wall. There are similar niches on the
western and northern walls also. There was (and probably still
is) one on the east wall also, a little to the south of the doorway.
This has been covered up by one of the thick walls subsequently
formed which enclose the Ramar Médai. The space enclosed by
these two bits of walls on the south and north sides formed the
eastern wing of the new pradakshinam. This was however sub-
sequently walled up.  These niches form an essential feature of
the design of garbhagrihams according to the Vaikhanasa as well
as the Pancharatra agamas. The Vaikhanasas attach greater

1. wse OnargsP0e aLse dmsde yp arw
00 s Gov @eluug
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importance to them. In fact they would have had three more
niches at corners on the south. west and north faces to instal
deities in all tiesc. It is with a view to preventing ram water
from dripping upon and beating against the images that the
antaralam or open space in the terrace was closed, leaving only,
small openings to admit a littlc Jight.!

North side of the Pradakshinam.,

For some reason which cannot be ascertained the north wing
of the new pradakshinam was made very much wider than the wings
of the other sides. On all the sides one end of the roof rests on
the prakaram walls. The other end is carried on stonc beams
resting on stone columns of circular section. As was already
stated these columns and the beams have no claim to beauty and
stand unfavourably by the sidc of the fine walls of the Sanctum.
On the north side the greater width was negotiated by an inter-
mediate row of columns. But thesc columns (seven in number)
being shorter than those in the other row arc supplemented by
short lengths of cutstone basc similarly shaped. This leads to the
suspicion that the idea of making this wing wider was an after
thought and that such stones as were readily available were used.

It was also pointed out already that the construction of a
Gomukham through a wall about nine feet thick was the result of
hasty execution. A Gomukham which connccts the interior of
the Garbhagriham with the pradakshinam to serve as a drain should
necessarily be of small calibre but capable of being kept clean and
clear of all obstruction. Probing with a piece of stick a hole nine
feet in length could not be managed from the inside of a shrine
which is 12’ square and having little free space. Probing from the
outside could be managed only if the pradakshinam is more than
about 10 feet width, Even so clogging matter would not be per-
mitted to be driven back into the Garbhagriham. So the Gomukham
seems to have been closed ultimately. The wider space on the

1. Asketch showing the ideal * Vaikhanasa temple is given and will be
explained at length in a separatc chapter on Temple worship and the
Agamas.
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north side would have been used for holding Asthinams which
were increasing in number.  1'here was really no other mantapam
in the temple during those davs  The snapana mantapam had its
specific purposes to serve.

First Pradakshinam soon closed.

We however find that this first avaranam or pradakshinam
deliberately built was soon closed.  Two inwcriptions on the south
face of the south wall of the Raimar Médai go to show that this
closurc would have taken place sometime after 1262 A.D. when
sundara Pandya placed a gold gilt hulasam on top of the Viminam
and when in all likelihood Vira Narasinga Yadavaraya made a
gold gilt copper sheet covering to the vimanam.  The two inscrip-
tions above referred to relate to one Vijayaganda Gopala. a Telugu
Pallava chieftain who was one of Sundara Pandya's adherents just
like Vira Narasinga. The date usually assigned to him as a ruler is
1250-1285 A.D. But his political life should have commenced much
carlier. There are fragamentary inscriptions on the inner face of
the Mukkoti pradakshinam walls which go to show that some of
his gifts were made before the construction of the new temple and
of the new prakaram walls. Of the two inscriptions which arc
on the south wall of the Ramar Meda onc is a complete inscription
and was presumably inscribed after that wall (of the Ramar Medw)
was constructed. It extols Vijayaganda Gopala for his chari-
table disposition and states that every living being was benefited
by him and that every one was grateful to him. The other inscrip-
tion is an incomplete onc and even fragmentary. The queen ot
Vijayaganda by name Devarasiyar presented cows for the per-
petual lighting of three lamps in Sri Venkateswara's temple.
When an incomplete inscription of this type is seen on a new wall
of a later date the inference would be that the stone was originally
in some other place and was subsequently taken out and sct in its
present place. It would originally have been on the South
wall of the new prakaram at its junction with the east wall. To
form the Ramar Meda that end wouid have been cut open and
the stongs semoiiad in. Je proggss useg forthe Ramar Meda wall.
The inscribed stone might have got mutuarea m the process of
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removal and resetting. The surmise therefore is that the Ramar
Méda was formed sometime between 1262 and 1285 A.D. The
eastern end of the south and the north prakaram walls would
thus have been opened out while walling up the Ramar Meda.
Although the formation of the Ramar Meda blocked up the eastern
wing, the other three sides of the pradakshinam were perhaps open
to the public for some years. The doors and the walls which now
completely seal the pradakshinam are of later date and are not in
keeping with the other parts of the structure.

The intention of the builders to treat this first pradakshinam
as a Koyil for four additional Murtis was frustrated by the formation
of the Rimar Méda although the other three sides since remain
open to the public. It could not be classed as a pradakshinam
as it is incomplete having lost the eastern wing. The locking up
of the passages has also a purpose and significance. It prevented
the Pancharatras from making an attempt to form a Chatur murti
alayam by putting up Pancharatra images on the south, west and
north walls of the Garbhagriham.

The Closure of the Mukkoti Pradakshinam and the
formation of the Room, Ramar Meda—Reasons.

The architectural features of the new temple presented scope
and facilities for extending the Vaikhanasa form of worship to the
maximum limit. The images on the Vimanam are all of the Vai-
khanasa pantheon—Purusha, Satya, Achyuta, and Aniruddha on
the first tier and those above likewise. We need not here go into
it at length. Lower down on the walls of the Sanctum are provided
niches wherein Satya, Achyuta, Aniruddha and Purusha might
be installed and consecrated. The pradakshinam was constructed
in a manner to serve this end. The ideal Vaikhanasa temple should
have nine Murtis. If Nara Narayana, Viardham and Narasimha
were also installed in addition to Purusha Satya, Achyuta and
Anirudhha a completely equipped Vaikhanasa temple would have
been the result. The Pancharatras also favour a Pancha (five)
Murti temple. Instead of Satya etc., they would prefer to instal
the Vyuha avatars Sankarshana, Pradhyumna and Aniruddha and
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Vyuha Vasudeva. It would not stop there. Within the Garbha
griham itself Brahma, Siva, Markhandeya and Bhrigu have a right
to be installed according to the Vaikhanasa and Pancharatra
agamas. Vikhanasa Rishi himself would be placed at the second
doorway. They have been and, 1 believe, are still having their
share in the daily puja mentally. Once the installation of new
deities was permitted all these would have been installed. Ganesa
and Durga, would also come in. Would the followers of Sri
Ramanuja and others of the Alvdr school of Bhakti have looked
on these possibilities with complacence?

In this context we have to review the changes through which
teraple worship has been passing. The Murtis installed and the
form of the worship are only concrete presentations of certain meta-
physical ideas of the later Pancharatras. The primeval Being or
Paran is conceived of as going through some evolutions for purposes
of destruction, creation and sustenance. These are called Vyiha
avatars. He is credited with six gunas or characteristic divine
powers for these purposes. They are the pairs Giianam, Balam;
Aisvaryam, Tejas; and Sakti, Viryam which are the essential powers
required for destruction, creation and sustenance. All the six
gunas are however present in each. In the conception and modes
of evolution the Vaikhanasa differs from the Pancharatrin and
Sri Ramanuja’s Visishtadvaitam differs from both the above. It
is the representation of the above mentioned Vyuha forms that
creates differences between the Vaikhanasa and the Pancharatra.
According to Sri Ramanuja and his commentator Sri Vedanta
Desika these Vyuha froms are not avatars in prakrita sarira like
the Vibhava avatars. They are only aprakirta forms having
specific powers of the Supreme Being to be meditated upon by
Yogis for the attainment of special spiritual faculties. Then
again in the actual work of creation, Brahma is said to have sprung
from the navel of Vishnu and Siva or Sankara sprang from the
irate forehead of Brahma. Brahma was commissioned to create this
world and its living beings. His first attempt ended in a failure as the
first ones he created, Sanaka etc, were pure Satvic beings who had no
desire to procreate and who straight away merged into the Supreme
Being. Brahma in his mood of frustration created from his irate
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forehead Siva or Sankara who was full of Tamoguna. That also
having failed to fulfil his purpose he created the Svayambhu Manu
who peopled this world and so on. This story is briefly told here
because they were being represented in a concrete form in temples,
and images installed and consecrated according to the Vaikhanasa
and the Pancharatra dgamas. We know that Poygai Muni and
Pey A]vir took delight in worshipping Sri Venkateswara when
dressed to look partly like Vishnu and partly like Siva. That
happened before the Image of Sri Venkatéswara came to be worship-
ped according to the Vaikhanasa agama. In the normal Vaikha-
nasa temple the Garbhagriham area would be cordoned into four
zones. The central one is known as Brahmya where the flowers etc.,
of worship are deposited. The standing Dhruva Murti would be
installed in the next zone called Daivika. In other cases a portion of
the next zonc called Manusham would also be taken up. The outer-
most zone is called Paisicham. While the Dhruva Murti is in the
Daivikam, Brahma would be in the Manusham close to the wall on
the right and Siva would be in the Paisicham zone close to the wall
on the left. Markhandeya and Bhrughu would be in a bending und
kneeling posture close to the Dhruva Murti. The Vaikhanasas
who pride in calling themselves Adi Vaishnavas conceived of this
arrangement in their zeal. Siva in particular is made to wait on
Vishnu and is represented as a being born from Brahma and full
of Tamogunam. He would reccive a Nyasa flower only after all
the Vyuha Murtis and Devatas have been propitiated. Havis or
food offering made to Siva in this manner is considered fit to be
partaken of only by menial servants. To those who can follow the
detailsof the formof worshipand who happen to be non-Vaishnavites
the procedure would be provocative. But to the common run of
temple goers it would mean that Brahma, Vishou and Siva form
Trimurtis of equal status. In fact, the Vaikhanasa procedure
defeats its purpose. The only benefit was to the Archaka who would
receive more food offering in the name of each of these images. The
Visishtddvaithins of the Ramanuja School would have considered
this form of worship as pantheistic. They are monotheists owing
allegiance to Vishnu alone. There is another objection to the intro-
duction. of the Vaikhanasa images in the temple. The ancient
tradition about Tirumala is that Brahma is every night doing
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puja to Sri Venkateswara in this temple. The absurdity of setting
up images of Brahma, Siva etc., and of the Vyuhas should therefore
be apparent. Brahma would worship only his creator Para
Vasudéva. Sri Ramanuja is said to have converted all the ancient
temples in Southern India to the Pancharatra form of worship,
because the latter quickly adapted themselves to forms suited to
Sri Ramanuja’s metaphysical ideas. They abandoned the setting
up of those images which irritated both friends and foes. The
Vaikhanasa archakas also took to the Pancharatra form as modified
by Sri Ramanuja. In Tirumala there was no necessity for him
to interfere, because right from the commencement the worship
was for one Murti only (Eka Murti), although the orthodox Vai-
khanasa considered it the Adhama form of worship. The Kautuka
Beram (or Bhoga Srinivasa) was made and consecrated during the
days of Sri Alavandar and bears the impress of the Shadguiya
yantram of Sri Venkateswara, or Para Vasudeva manifesting Him-
self on carth. There has been no other Dhruva Murti in that temple.
The old temple did not display on its outer or inner face any feature
which would lend itself to the installation of any other Deity. Sri
Ramanuja did not therefore find any necessity to change the Vai-
khanasas over to Pancharatra. They carried on worship agreeably
to his metaphysical ideas. All the flowers during ‘nylisam’ are
deposited between the feet of the Dhruva Aurti. Even the Bali
offering is not made in detail, but all are deposited en masse, as it
it were, on the five Bali stones which stand between the Dhvajastam-
bham and the Bali pitam. The possibility of Purusha, Satya etc.,
being installed in the rcnovated temple and of other images,
in consequence thereof, in the Garbhagriham or elsewhere in the
temple was shut out by closing up the front portion of the first
avaranam (pradakshinam)and therefore the place of ‘Purusha’

in particular.

Whether this closure took place during the life time of Vira
Narasinga Yadavardya or later it is not possible to say. The
complete closure of the pradakshinam might have been done with
a view to screening from public view all vestiges suggestive of the
attempt to make vital innovations intheform of worship. Vijayaganda
Gopéala (Telugu Pallava) became a frequent visitor to Tirumala;

10 145



HISTORY OF TIRUPATI

he arranged for the feeding of pilgrims during the festivals in Tirupati
and Tirymala and so endeared himself to the Sri Vaishnavas of those
days that an inscription on the south wall of the Ramar Meda
(one of the two walls which effectually prevented innovation being
made in the temple worship) extols him as one at whose hands every
one was benefited and to whom every one felt grateful. The great
protagonists of the Visishtadvaita Siddhantam in those days were
Nadadir Ammal and Kidambi Appullar of Kanchi who would
undoubtedly have shaped the religious faith of Vijayaganda Gopala.
His attachment to the temple in Tirumala at this juncture (more
so after the death of Vira Narasinga) has therefore a special
significance.

The non-recognition of other Murtis is the basic principle of the
Tirumala temple, There are shrines for Varadarajaswami and
Narasimhaswami; but separate puja is not offered to these. There
are the images of Sri Rdma and Sri Krishna. They share the worship
offered to Sri Venkateswara. It has been the custom from the
carliest times that even on the days of Sri Rama Navami, Sri Jayanti
and Nrisimhajayanti the speial food offering is made to Sri Venka-
teswara and not to the concerned deity. This is the main reason
for prohibiting the erection of any other temple in Tirumala.
Processions connected with festivals for alien deitics or even acharyas
were not allowed. Even the Sri Vaishnava A]vars were not given
recognition in their individual capacity. But in recent years, these
ancient usages and customs have been lost sight of.

The Outer Faces of the Walls of the First Prakaram.
(Vimana Pradakshinam.)

It was stated in the earlier portion of this chapter that except
. for the four ancient inscriptions which were re-engraved on the outer
face of the north wall of the first prakdram in the year 1250 A.D.
there were no new ones made for about 130 years thercafter on the
south and west walls. On the north wall however it was only
in 1446 A.D. (two centuries after the re-engraving of the ancicnt
ones) that the next inscription was made. This requires some
comment.
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Inscriptions of endowments made by very great men between
the years 1250 and 1380 A.D. are found in other places in the
temple and not on the walls of this prakdram. There must be
some reason for avoiding the clean walls of this Vimana Pradak-
shinam.!

During all this period of about 120 years the walls of the first
prakaram were left without a scratch of the engraver’s chisel.
Inscriptions were made in odd corners. Endowments mentioned

1. Of those made during the rcign of Jativarman Sundara Pandya I,
oneis by Vira Narasinga himself in 1262 A.D. of the grant of the village of
Padirivédu which is inscribed on the north base of the inner gopuram.
Sundara Pindya's ratification of an old Chola grant of two villages situated
on the banks of the Kaveri is inscribed on the west base. The inscription
which records the TularGhanam of Vira Narasinga and the use of that gold
for gilding the Vimanam is on the south base. There are again a large number
of insctiptions in Sapshrit Grantha characters which sing the glory and fame
of Sundara Pandya. All these are recorded in some part or other of the base
of the inner gopuram. Inscriptions of grant made to Mahapradhani Singdyya
Damnayaka of the village of Pongaliir and of his endoxment of the same for
specific services (including a daily sardhi food offering); of another endow-
ment by Tiruvenkatanatha Yadavaraya himself of the ycars 1328, 1332 A, D.
are on the outer face of the second prakaram wall to the south of the inner
gopuram and two in Sri Govindarajaswamy Temple, Tirupati. Tnscriptions
of endowments made during the reign of Sriranganatha Yadavaraya between
the years 1339 and 1360 A.D. are also in other parts of the temple. (I-104.
1339 A.D. is on the outer side of the cast wall north of the inner gopuram ;
another 1-106, 1357 A,D. on the north wall of Sri Varadarajaswami Temiple;
1-109, 1358 A.D. which states that he built a palace for himself on the Tiru-
mala hill is on the door jamb wall of the {Padikavili or outer gopuram). Ins-
criptions of endowments made by the Vijayanagar Mahanayakkar brotlicrs,
Yeriamanchi Pappunayakkar and Periya Pemmu Nayakkar are also eon the
door jumb wall of the outer gopuram,

1 411262 AD, 1 451264 AD,

An inscription which records the gold gilding of the Vimanam by Maha-
mangdaleswara Mangi Deva Maharaja (in grantha and in Kannada Script)
are on the north base of the inaner gopuram. The grant of u village by the
Vijayanagar Emperor Bukkaraya {about 1365 A.D.)for daily sandhi ‘offering
and Brahmotsavam and gift of cows by the Vijayanagar Prince Vira Kumara
Kempanna are recorded on the outer gopuram door jamb wall,

1 179;180; 1357AD. 1. 178 I I81; 1368 AD.

147



HISTORY OF TIRUPATI

in the foot note were made by great warriors who saved Hinduism
and its tamples from Muslim spoliation and vandalism. Emperors
—Bukkaraya and Sundara Pandya; the Yadavaraya rulers, Mangi-
déva Mahargijah, Vira Kumére Kempanna and the Mahéngyakkar
brothers visited Tirumala, worshipped Sri Venkateswara and
made their endowments as thanksgiving offerings for the success
they achieved against the Muslims. W" i made them refrain
from having their endowments inscribed m the most conspicuous
place which should have been staring before them as blank surface?
We are left to speculate on this.

Why were the walls of the Vimana Pradakshinam
left bare for more than a century?

We may take it for certain that Vira Narasinga Yadavaraya
would not have felt proud of the temple he built in spite of the
fact that he had the Vimanam covered with gold gilt plates and
that Sundara Pandya placed a gold gilt kalasam on top. The
use of the old rough-chiselled stone columns in the new pradak-
shinam bears testimony to this view. He would have been smitten
with remorse at the sight of the mutilated stones bearing fragmentary
inscriptions lining every side of the inner prakiram. He would
also have been told, though at a very late hour, that the smothering
of the old temple was uncalled for and that the architectural features
of the new temple were not in keeping with the Eka Murti tradition
of the place. He might himself have had the pradakshinam closed
and Ramar Meda built in his life time itself.

But what followed after his death would have weighed con-
siderably with those who visited the temple and made endowments
in later years. It is not known who succeeded him as king, for he
assumed the emblems of royaltyand hadhis Tularhanam. The
use of that gold to gild the Vimanam of Sri Venkateswara would not
have been considered by the wise men of those days as an appro-
priste use. Service to God should be in a spirit of true humility.
Tulardhanam in connection with his assuming the emblems of
royalty was quite the opposite in spirit. The fact that no one
worthy of the name succeeded him and that between 1264 and
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ab.at 1320 A.D. there was a sort of interregnum in his domain,
would have been pointed to as a sign of divine displeasure. It
was only about the year 1320 A.D. that we hear of Tiruvenkata-
nétha Yadavaraya as ruler of the country. He perhaps assumed
that name in the spirit that he governed in the name of that God.

South India itself was in a perilous state. Sundara Pandya's
conquests up to the river Krishna and the gold gilt Kalasam which
he placed over the Vimanams in the temples in Tirumala, Kanchi,
Chidambaram and Srirangam did not secure peace to the country.
He seems to have had troubles nearer home. Historiams tell us
that sub-kings had to be appointed to appease his kith and kin.
Jatdvarman Vira Pandya became sub-king in‘1253 A.D. In 1268
A.D. Miravarman Kulasékhara succeeded as Emperor. Jafa-
varma Sundara Pandya II was made sub-king in 1276 A.D. Mara-
varman Vikrama Pandya II in 1283; Jativarman Sri Vallabha
in 1291 A.D.; Vira Pandya II in 1296 A.D. and Jatavarman Sundara
Pandya Il in 1303 A.D. Maravarman Kulasekhara the Emperor,
was murdered in 1310-11 A.D. That was the signal for a civil
war between Sundara Pandya III and Vira Pandya II. Muslim
help was sought by one of these and the invasion of the south by
Malik Kafur was the result. These events would have had their
repercussions in Tondaimandalam also. Tirumala at any rate
seems to have been a no-man’s land at the end of the thirteenth
century. In between 1264 and 1328 A.D. there is a solitary Inscrip-
tion dated cyclic year Kilaka and Saka 1230 (1308 A.D.) I. 98
which is recorded on the north wall of Sri Andal’s shrine in Tirupati.
This endowment makes provision for the feeding of devotees
resorting to the temple on certain special festivel occasions. Inscrip-
tions were being invariably dated citing the regnal year of the local
ruler or his overlord. In this instance there is no reference to
the name of the ruler and the regnal year. For a similar situation
we have to go back to the Saka year 824 (902 A.D.). That was
a period when the Pallava rule had broken down and the Chola
rule had not effectively taken its place. The Sabhaiyar of Tiruch-
chukanoor acted on their own responsibility in expending the
nett proceeds of taxes for the “upkeep of the temple and the Saka
year is cited. After a lapse of nearly 400 years there is now 2
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similar situation. The Pandyan rule had broken down although
it was least felt in Tirumala. There was no local ruler whose
name and regnal year the donors of the endowment could cite.
The cyclic cum Saka year was therefore cited. The citation of
the regnal year is again reverted to from 1328 A.D. to the closing
days of Sriranganatha Yadavaraya in 1360 A.D. All the mis-
fortunes to the country would naturally have been attributed to
Vira Narasinga’s impropriety in closing up the old temple and in
erecting a new one which pointed to innovations in temple worship.
Even in our days we find ignorant people attributing the failure
of rains and consequent famine to the so called sins of the
Governments.

The Muslim invasions would have been considered a sign of divine
wrath, If Malik Kafur had marched down by the Damalcheruvu
or the Kalahasti route, Tirumala with its new gold gilt Vimanam
and Sikharam would have afforded him the first good booty.
But he selected the western route. That choice would have been
attributed to the Will or the Sankalpam of Sri Venkateswara.
The Hoysala king Vira Ballala was one of the first sufferers as
his capital was ransacked. But he soon made peace in 1313 A.D.
with the Delhi Emperor Allauddin Khilji by becoming his vassal,
Malik Kafur plundered other temples in the South and had to
return to Delhi. Mubarak who became Emperor in Delhi sent
in 1316 A.D, another invasion and Devagiri was annexed to his
empirc Vira Ballala therefore took the necessary precautions to
meet a further attack on him.

The mountain passes in the Tirupat: hills had to be protected.
He did this by sending his Minister and Commander Mahapradhani
Simgayya Dannayaka to Tirupati to be an ally and military protector
to the local ruler. (1. 102, 99). From the language used in the
"inscription of his endowments we find that he was a highly cultured
Sri Vaishnava. He therefore sought Divine help by inducing
Tiruvenkatanatha Yadavaraya, the local ruler, to grant a village
from the income of which a daily food offering called Sitakara
ganda Sandhi was instituted for the first time. (I. 9. 1328). The
Yadavaraya himself made another endowment for a similar Sandhi
offering for the merit of his forebear Yadava Narayana. (I. 100
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1332 A.D.) But both were careful to avoid making the inscription
on the walls of the first Prakaram whose faulty construction wrought
havoc. The inscriptions were therefore made on the second
prakaram wall and in Tirupati.

As a result of the Muslim invasion the Utsava Beram of Sri
Ranganatha Swami of Srirangam was carried by a circuitous route
to Tirumala for safety. Here the idol was receiving separate
worship till about 1360 A.D. when it was reconveyed to Srirangam
on the annihilation of the Muslim Sultanate of Madura. Sri
Vedanta Desika (one of our great icharyas of those days) composed
his Dayésatakam in praise of Sri Venkateswara during the period
of invasion and his Abhitisthavam before Sri Ranganatha in Sri-
rangam after the downfall of the Sultanate. A confederation of
the Hindu rulers under the leadership of Vira Kumara Kempanna
the Vijayanagar prince, brought success to the Hindus. The
names of all the great men connected with the struggle and the
endowments made by them as thanks-giving were mentioned
above. The still blank walls of the first prakaram could have been
pointed to as the mysterious cause of all troubles or as one too
sacred to be touched by the engraver’s chisel. 1t is also possible
that none of these entered the first pradakshinam as it would
have been kept closed.

The Spell Broken after 1360 A.D.

The spell was however broken after 1360 A.D. Sri Ranganatha
the last of the Yadavarayas left no successor. As a result of the
political changes in the country the Vijayanagar king became the
overlord of South India. Mangideva Mahdrdya seems to have
been appointed Viceroy of Tondaimandalam. A new set of Sthanattar
or trustees came into existence for the managemen! of the Temple.
They were natives of Tirupati and knew that there could be nothing
wrong with the walls at any rate.

Alagappiranar Tirukkalikanri dasar who was the leader (o1
Mudaliar) among the Sri Vaishnavas of Tirupati was the first
to have his endowment inscribed on the south wall of the prakaram
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in 1380 A.D. (I. 184, 1380 A.D.) This was followed by Mullai
Tiruvenkata Jiyar in 1390 A.D. since he then rose into importance
having become the ‘kartar’ or manager of the Arisanalayam
Nandavanam and matam and also one of the Sthanattar of the
temple. Then followed other inscriptions. But the north wall
was still left untouched till 1446 A.D. in which year Periya Mallaya-
deva Mahardja had his endowments inscribed by the side of the
ancient inscriptions of the Chola period. The famous Saluva
Narasimharaya also left some of his inscriptions on the north
wall. But Sri Virapratapa Vira Krishna deva Maharaya made
the greatest use of the north wall even by extending its length
(and encroaching into the width of the Vimanapradakshinam). The
great gifts made by him and his two queens are inscribed on the
north wall and some are also on the south wall. The outer and the
inner faces of these walls contain valuable information commencing
from about 900 A.D. to the end of the 16th century and some are
of even later date. The careful protection of these from the des*
tructive effects of sun and rain is a matter worthy of attention.

The Snapana Mantapam.

This is now a dark room which we enter after crossing the
Bangaru Vakili or the golden door way of the temple. It is being
used more as a safe room and not as Snapana Mantapam for per-
forming special Abhishekam on certain calendar days. It is no
longer a mantapam. The four cut-stone pillars standing in the
centre of the room are the only vestiges of the mantapam. Even
these pillars do not appear to be the original ones. The old pillars
set up about 960 A.D. would have been of circular section. What
we now see are square in section, a pattern common during the
Hoysala and Vijayanagar periods.

It was in this place, then known as Tiruvilankdyil, that the
silver Miirti (Bhoga Srinivasa) received His Abhishekam and con-
sccration in 966 A.D. The western wall and the doorway into
the Ramar Méda would have been constructed (or reconstructed
in its present shape) alongwith the new temple and prakaram
walls. The other three sides would have been kept open as that
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was the only mantapam available for commencing celcbration
of festivals and the abhishekam known as Snapana Tirumanjanam.
It was however soon realised that this mantapam should be converted
into a strong room for keeping the costly articles and jewels of the
temple in safety. From a study of the dates of inscriptions now
found on its walls (south, east and north walls) it is inferced that
when, or just before, the construction of the present Mukha
mantapam (or Asthdna mantapam or Tirumamini Amantapam as
it was then called) this Snapana Mantapam was converted into
a strong room in the carly years or the fifteenth century A.D.!

The doorway in the east wall is now known as Bangaru Vakili
(Golden gate). The old circular section pillars in the centre were
replaced by those of the square section. The alterations made are
shown on the plan which exhibits the original as well as the re-
modelled condition of the building.

This room would have certainly served as a safe room ever
since a new department under the name Por-Bhandiaram was

1. This inference is drawn on a reading of the following inscriotions
On the cast wall in which is the Bangaru Vikili and to the south of that door
way and behind the twin bells, there is an inscription in Tamil dated Wednes-
day Bahula 12. Mina Month Avittam nak of Sarvadhari year (along with a
short stutement in Grantha Sanskrit) that vne Madhava Daser renewed an old
river channel and that from tte increased yield thus obtained a daily food
offering of one TiruppGnaka-1 should be made. On the door jamb wel! of the
Bangaru Vakili itsclf is an inscription in Kanarese script dated Monday sukla
dasami, Maigasira month of Saumya year. saka 1351 which recordsa magni-
ficent endowment made by Sri Maharajudhiraja Rajn  Paran €wwara S1i Vnia-
pratapa Dévaraya Maharaya, the Vijayanugar Emperor. Another irscription
in Sanskcit (Grantha)on th.2 north wall records the gift of a gold paftam
(Kireetam) to Sri Venkatesw.ra by Sirigir€svara, the son of Vissanna Dévaraya
on Satu day,Sukla Dasami of Ashadha mnth in the year Sadharana,saka 1352
As against the above there is an 1nscription on the wall  of the record room
near the Yagasala which states ti at the Tirumamani mantapam was comp-
leted by Mallanna (Madhv Dasa1, in the year 1417, The infercree there-
fore is that the walls around the Snpana Mantapam are of dates laler than
1430.

Sak1 1330 I 194; 195 13-3.149AD
I 192, 5-12-1429 AD.
1. 193, 1-7-1430
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created about the end of the fifteenth century. From an article
appearing in the Asiatic Journal for 1831 A.D. it appears as if the
‘gangalam’ and ‘koppara’ into which votive offerings are deposited
by the pilgrims were kept in this room in ditect view of Sri Venka-
teswara. '

The Tirumamani Mantapam.

This is the open mantapam or pavilion standing on 16 stone
pillars, 1t is now called Mukha Mantapam and serves the purpose
of an Asthdna Mantapam also. It measures about 43 fect by 40
fect and is divided by the pillars into three aisles. At the eastern
end of the central aisle 15 the shrine of Garuda. The Dvarapalas
(or Divine gate keepers) are on either side of the Bangaru Vakili at
the western end of this aisle. While the side aisles are being used
for other purposes the central one is feft unoccupied and is used
for certain daily and other functions and for distinguished pilgrims
to stand or rest for a while. Tt is in this portion and in front of the
door way that early in the morning every day Bhaktas recite and
sing- songs called Suprabhatam in praise of the Lord as if to wake
Him up from sleep. This is done during the interval taken by
the archakas etc., to transfer Bhoga Srinivasa from the swing cot
on which He was reposing to His place in the Garbhagriham, to
trim the lights, etc. It is in the central quadrangle of this mantapam
that the idol known as Koluvu Srinivasa (the Bali Beram) holds
His durbar after the morning puja known as Tomala seva of Sri
Venkateswara is finished; the day's panchangam or calendrical
details are read, the daily rice ration called Matradanam is given
over to the archaka and a preparation of fried gingelly sceds,
powdered dry ginger and country sugar is offered to the Deity
and distributed to those assembled. On the afternoon of the
commencement of the annual Brahmotsavam, the ‘utsava murti’
Sri Malayappan with the two Nachchimars are decorated and
seated here in a Tiruchchi. Those who have made the prescribed
payment for the celebration of the Brahmotsavam are invested
on the wrist of the right hand with the Kankanam (the saffron
coloured string) in the usual ritualistic manner and receive the
silver wand which they later carry in procession with the Deity.
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In the old days when there was no Kalyana Mantapam, the Utsava
Murti was accommodated here night and day for a long period,
from the day of commencement of the festival to the day of cele-
bration of the Dipavali festival. The same was done for about
22 or 23 days during the Adhyayandtsavam in the month of Margali.
On the night of Sri Jayanti, the Abhishekam for Sri Krishna takes
place in the central quadrangle and simultaneously an abhishekam
and twelve aradhanams (Dvadasa &ridhanam) are done for Ugra
Srinivasa (or Venkatatturaivar) at the eastern endnear Garudalvar's
shrine. The latter is an anomalous apology for the Dvadasiri-
dhanam (12 aradhanams) which He should have received on the
tenth dayjof the annual festival. This mantapam (its central aisle)
is also used for heaping on the floor an enormous quantity of
cooked rice and condiments so that Bhoga Srinivasa Murti might
be brought over to the Bangdru Vakili for accepting the food
offering called Tiruppavadai. The poor from the adjoining villages
gather by previous intimation and take away all that food. God
does the poor feeding off and on in Tirumala. It is a very costly
festival. A special abhishekam festival known as Sahasra Kalasa-
bhishekam (1008 vessels of water are consecrated with appropriate
rituals) is held in this central aisle. Sri Malayappan with Nachchi-
mar, Bhoga Srinivasa and Vishvakséna are brought ovcr here
for receiving the abhishekam. Devotees pay heavy sums for this.
On the night of the Sattumurai of Sri Ramanuja’s twelve days,
festival he is given here a grand reception by the Utsava Murti.
The reading of the Kausika Puranam and other Puranams take
place here in the dsthanam. The four principal asthanams or durbars
on the occasion of the Yugddi, Anivarai (Dakshindyana Punya-
kilam), the Dipavali and the Makara sankramanam or Sankranti
also take place here. The Anivara asthanam is a particularly
impressive function when the drama of observing an old tradition
is annually enacted. All the principal officers of the temple
(hereditary and otherwise)depo it there the ensignia of office at the
feet or Sri Malayappan and are reinvest:d because they have
been found fit to continue in office. It is again in this maatapam
that the marriage festival of Sri Venkateswara known as Kalya-
potsavam used to be celebrated before the kalyanamantapam was
constructed.
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It is in the northern aisle of the mantapam that the daily
financial transactions of the temple take place. In its west
quadrangle is placed a long gangdjam (large brass vessel) covered
with a long canvas spout and guarded by peons. All votive
offerings are deposited tn this vessel called koppara. They range
from hairs removed from the head of men and women to diamond
necklaces, earrings, kammals, gold bangles set with precious
stones, bundles of currency notes, gold, silver and copper coins
of all denominations, current and uncurrent. It is sometimes a
moving sight to see ladies removing all the valuable ornaments
they wear so dearly and wrap them in a yellow cloth and drop
the bundle into this koppara, then worship the koppara, circumam-
bulate it and go away contentedly. Even those who have not
taken a vow deposit at least a rupee or some coin into this koppara.

In the next compartment the chief officer of the temple called
Parapatyadar is scated in direct view of the koppara. The contents
are emptied every afternoon soon after the second bell or naivedyam
and the sorting and counting take place openly in the presence
of all assembled. This is called parakamani. Some of the
respectable visitors are invited to witness the scenc and to attest
after the counting and sorting is completed and entered in the
books by the parapatyadar. Tickets are issued by accountants
and shroffs sitting in the next compartment for moneys received
for admission to the various arjitham darsans.

At the western end of the southern aisle hang the twin bells
which keep ringing with their deafening noise for well nigh an hour
when Sri Venkatesa is presumed to be going through the naivedyam
or the Divine Dinner of all the food offerings prepared. All the
doors of the sanctum remain closed during this interval, the archakas
alone having the privilege to remain inside. In other temples a
pair of hand bells serve the purpose as perhaps the quantity of
food offered is small.

Lastly it is through this mantapam that the poor pilgrim
approaches the sanctum in a queme during the short period set
apart for Dharma darsanam. The soul of the donor of this manta-
pam, Mallanna is surely dancing round the mantapam every day
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in ecstacy while the soul of Samavai has become one with Bhoga
Srinivasa in the Garbhagriham itself, another Andal of this yuga.

Sri Narasimha Swami Shrine.

This Deity is known by two other names in our inscriptions,
viz., Alagiyasingar (the beautiful lion) and Venkatattari (lion of
Venkata). The Shrine was constructed in haste perhaps during
the years 1330 to 1360 owing to the fear of desecration of Hindu
Idols by the Muslim iconoclasts, and meant either for the Deity
in Sholangipuram or the one in Ahgbilam. But it does not appear
to have served that purpose. The archakas have a special attach-
ment to Narasimha and Varahaswami as they go to make up
the Nava Murtis of their dgama. Narasimhaswami is also the
patron Deity of the Ahobila matam, also called the Van Satha-
gopan Matam. In 1469 A. D.!! Kandadai Raménuja Iyyangar
made the first endowment for a food offering of one Tiruvslakkam
to this Dejty on the Panguni Amavasya™and Vasanta Pournami
days. This might have been to appease the archakas and bring
them round to accept his next move to celebrate Adhyayanotsavam
in Sri Ramanuja’s temple in 1476 A.D. In 1493 A.D. one Dattiraja
Timmayya of Konakonta who was a disciple of Sri Van Sathagopa
Ji,yar made an endowment for food offerings during the 30 days of
Tiruppalli eluchchi and for offering atirasappadi on each of the
days of Sri Jayanti, Vasanta Paurnami, Sri Rama Navami and the
seventh festival day of each Brahmotsavam of Sri Venkateswara.
The food offerings would be made to Sri Venkateswara only in
honour of Narasimhaswami. He made over to his dcharya the
donor's share of the prasidams. Again two of the accountants of
the Tirumala Temple made an endowment for food offerings in
connection with the reading of the Kaisika Puranam on the Utthina
Dvadasi day. There is separate provision in this endowment for
food offerings in the name of Sri Narasimhaswami, Ponmeynda

-perumal (or Varadaraja) and Varahapperumal.

11. 88, 39 28-2-1469
1. 101, 15-6-1463
IL 118, 9-3-1494
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The Shrine of Sri Ramanyja in Tirumala.

This Shrine abuts on the north wall of the second prakaram;
and the vimana pradakshinam separates it from the Tirumimani
mantapam. In size it is about 15’ x 12’ with a Mukhamantapam 20
ft. long. The Shrine is in fact a portion of the north corridor
abutting on the prakaram wall. It could not therefore be assigned
a date prior to the construction of the prakaram wall, whcih, as
was already discussed, could be assigned to the second quarter of
the fifteenth century. Sri Vaishnavas would not however subscribe
to the belief that the Shrine was constructed about that time.
Certain inscriptions,traditions and considerations arising thercform
will be placed before the readers. They may draw their own con-
slusions.

There are three shrines of Sri Ramanuja; one in Tirapati, one
on the way to Tirumala at a place called Malangal murrippan (or
mokalla metlu at the summit of that hill) and the third in the Tirumala
temple. Although we are for the moment concerned with the one
in the Tirumala temple it is necessary to refer to the shrine in
Tirupati also because a near enough date can be assigned for it.

Sri Ramanuja’s Shrine in Tirupati,

An inscription (I-89) on the west and the south bascs of Sri
Ramanuja’s Temple in Tirupati states that in the month of Avani of
the Vikrama (cyclic) year (@@ is wrongly put for er@ i the inscrip-
tion) the fiftecnth regnal year of Vira Narasinga Yadavaraya, certain
Sri Vaishnavas made an endowment (dharmam) for the lighting
and the supply of flowers for the Emperuméndr Shrine. This
year corresponds to 1220 A.D. A later inscription in the third regnal
year of Sri Ranganatha Yadavaraya shows that the shrine owned
some lands which were overgrown with shrubs and that water supply
was made available for 'its cultivation (and reclamation) from the
Periya-&ri (big tank) in Tirupati This inscription is a niche on
the right side below the inner gopuram in Tirupati, A third
inscription? in the left wall in the front mantapam of Sri Ramanuja’g

L. 1.103; 1339 A.D. 2. IL 57; 9-7-1475 AD.
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Shrine in Tirupati shows that it had its own corpus for which onc
Yatiraja Jiyyar was the ‘kartar’ (or manager) and that Udaiyavai
Emperumanar’s annual festival was being celebrated in the month
of Chitra. The endownent was made in connection with that
festival by one Annan Tiruvenkatayyan. There is a fourth
endowment® dated 20th October 1475 (inscribed on the east wall of
the front mantapam of that shrine by Mudaliyar Sathagopadasar
Narasimharaya Mudaliyar (one of the chief Sri Vaishnavas or
Mudaliyars of Tirupati) in connection with Sri Ramanuja’s
Sattumurai during the Chitra festival. On the 9th of May. 1476
another endowment! was made by the same donor in the name ot
Kandadai Rimanuja Ayyangar for offering a daily Tirupponakam
etc., in the Tirupati Shrine.

Sri Ramanuja’s Shrine in Tirumala.

Sathagopadasar Narasimharayar also made an endowment
for food offerings to be made on various other occasions and
for differcnt purposes in Tirumala. The inscription relating to
this is one of the key inscriptions in the Tirumala Temple. [t is
placed on the south wall of the second prakaram. It makes
provision for offering daily onc Tirupponakam to Sri Raghunatha
(Sri Rama) in the Tirumala Temple. It is the first time that the
existence of this Deity in Tirumala Temple is mentioned. It 15
also the first time that the shrine of Sri Ramanuja and the cele-
bration of an Adhyayana utsavam in front of his shrine for 12
days in the month of Chittra are mentioned. There is a further
provision therein of 11 tiruvolakkam for the celebration of his
monthly birth star in the other months of the year. There is also
provision for the celebration of the annual birth star (attai tiru-
nakshatram) of all the 12 A)vars by havingltheir respective works
ricited in front of Ramanuja’s Shrine. The inscription shows
that the Non-brahmin Sattdda Sri Vaishnavas also recited the
prabandhams along with the Sattina or Brahmin Sri Vaishnavas
in front of the Udaiyavar shrine during the 12 day festival for
Udaiyavar in the Chittirai month. Kandadai Ramanuja Ayyangar

3. IL 63; 4. 1L 67
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was responsible for this innovation. We have shown that there are
references to Sri Ramanuja’s shrine in Tirupati from 1220 A.D.
onwards; but for the shrine in Tirumala the earliest one is of
the 1476 A.D. The shtrine abuts on the prakaram wall which
obviously came into existence in the second quarter of the fifteenth
century A.D. The inscription does not say that Sathagdpadasar
constructed the Tirumala Ramanuja’s shrine (as he did Raghu-
natha’s temple in Tirupati in 1481).

There is a tradition that the shrines of Sri Ramanuja ia Tirumala
and Tirapati were constructed more or less simultaneously soon
after the death of Sri Ramanuja. The Guruparampara account
says that a shrine was constructed in Srirangam (Koil) by Thiru-
kkurukaippiran pillin, the gianaputra of Sri Ramanuja; that
Mudaliyéindan (another disciple) constructed the shrine in Sri-
perumbiididr, the birth place of Sri Ramanuja; that Kidambi
Achchin, Nallin and some others constructed a shrine in Tiru-
nardyanapuram and installed A]vars also there; that Nadadir
alvar installed Sri Ramanuja’s idol in Kanchipuram and that
Pillai-Tirumala Nambi installed one in Kee]ai Tirupati, a second
at the spot now called Dovabhashyakar Sannidhi, where Tirumala
prasidams of Tiruvéngadamudaiyan were presented to him on
the occasion of his glorious visit and the third in the Sannidhi
of Tiruvéngadamudaiydn. Apart from this tradition and account
we know that Ananda]var and his son were devoted disciples of
Sri Ramanuja. The grand-son viz., Anandilvin Venkatatturaivan
has left an imscription (which stands as an incomplete one) on
the north base of the first gopuram in the Tirumala temple. It
reads translated into English. (I. 172,)

—in the Marga]i month of—year (—evy $g wrisf wres )
—ta)van’s grand son (~-grpardr Curee)

—offered for kind acceptance (—a.s 45 @eriiu ov enfl—-)

—for amudupadi, sattuppadi (——p@ sep Uy #75g0UY).

1. The DEvasthanam epigraphist translates & &6 5orLiav enfl
a8 "having installed. The word a. &g does not mean ‘installed.’ It
means only making one to be pleased or be agrreable 1o do something.
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There are two other inscriptions in a similar incomplete
condition which only go to show that Anandalvar Venkatathuraivar
took a pledge to carry on the Tirunandavanam (or flower garden)
and some other dharmam of Sri Ramanuja. This pledge might
have been given to his father when he was in his old age or about
to die.

There is nothing in these inscriptions which could be construed
as stating that there was a shrine for Sri Ramanuja in Tirumala
on that date which may be about 1170 or 1180 A.D.! Inscription
1-172 only shows that ‘amudupadi’ and ‘sattupadi’ were meant for
some (Deity) in the month of Margali when the inscription was
made. It might well have been for Sri Venkateswara’s Temple
for Dhanurmasa food offering.

The Tirumala Temple in those days had not sufficient resources
to carry on the daily Nimandam (puja including food offering)
and the Sthanattir represented the matter to Tirukkalattidéva
Yadavaraya when he was camping in Avilali near Tirupati in his
19th regnal year (1209 AD.). He then granted with libations
of water all the nanjai and punjai lands situated within the four
boundaries of Kudaviir together with all taxes, etc., for the niman-
dam. So at the time Venkatatturaivar made his inscriptions the
temple stood in need of ‘amudupadi’ and "sattuppadi.’ It is therefore
reasonable to assume that Sri Ramanuja himself would have asked
that ‘amudupadi‘ and ‘sattupadi’ should be supplied by his disciples

2, L 17l—a®ryd aér s.oweart (to the end of mylife)
as my Udaiyavar
—w U3 H& pLssésOGaer (as Emperumanas
Dharmam I shall carry on)
— HWpsTpaurer Qadsgg (Anandelvan Venkatattu)
wegyh may stand for oo et o Grere ey id)
( for e1bQuemiom @@ eLv)
1. 173.—é6 BouPdé gerdw ymay ~ Acheryapurusha in

i Tirupati
—ppoireie Jerdn QeubisLgg - alvan pillai Venkatattu

—wdvuld Pmeersuersd g - on hill thiru nandavanatti
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regularly to the Temple of Sri Venkateswara, There was no likelihood
ofa shnuhvm;beenemtodfor Sri Ramanuja at that time. The
tradition however is that his inmages were installed ﬂmult;neonoly
in Tirupati and in Tirumala. In Tirupati there was one in 1220
A.D, (which was after 1209 A.D.). It is therefore not unlikely
- that a small shrine was built in Tirumala also or at any rate that
an idol was installed in the temple. The idol might have been
subsequently shifted to the present shrine after it was built some
time before 1416 AD. Since then attention was paid to the mainte-
nance of the shrine. In fact it needs no mainténance. We find
that food offerings even when intended for Sri Ramanuja were
by stipulation of the donor first offered to Tiruvengadamudaiyan
and then brought to the shrine for being offered to Sri Ramanuja.
This has always been the procedure in Tirumala. It is incon-
ceivable that a shrine would have been built in Tirupati when
there was none in Tirumala.

Other Relevaut Considerations.

Sri Ramanuja’s association with Tirumala was intimate in
many ways. His mother (Bhuppirdtti) was married to Kesava
Somayaji of Sriperumbiidirin Tirumala after the latter’s conversion
to Sri Vaishnavism by Tirumala Nambi. When Yadavaprakasa
from whom Ramanuja was receiving his general education in
Sanskrit in Kanchipuram declined to give him any further instruction
owing to acute differences between the pupil and the teacher in the
interpretation of certain debatable texts and when Sri Ramanuja
sought his mother’s advice as to what he should do next she unhesita-
tingly advised him to follow the footsteps of his great ungle Tiru-
mala Nambi and carry water from the Sala well in Kanchi for
the daily Abhishekam of Sri Varadarajaswami (s 2vé Qem it 8
w@sem @sbatwi), It was lin Tirumala that Sri Ramanuja
learnt from his uncle the several esoteric meanings of Srimad
Ramayanam. When in later years he visited Tirupati and Tirumala
as the acknowledged leader of all Sri Vaishnavas, his uncle received
him' with unprecedented temple honours at the spot where stands
the Dova Bhashyakar Sannidhi on the Mokalla parvatam or the
knee breaker hill. !Sri Tirumala Nambi’s second son Tiruk-
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kurukaippirin Pillin was adopted by Sri Ramanuja as his giidna-
putra. 'We are also aware of the tradition that when Saivites laid
claim to the Tirumala temple as being a Saivite one it was Sri
Ramanuja who came to Tirumala to establish it as a Vishnu
Shrine. In his great work Sri Bhashya, the opening verse is a
devout prayer to the Supreme Brahman. He equates therein
Brahman with Srinivasa. His prayer in short is that Srinivasa
may endow him with knowledge founded on Bhakti and not mere
intellectual learning. He emphasises therein the universal tradition
that Para Brahman has manifested Himself on the Tirumala Hill
as Srinivasa! His association with Tirupati has been equally
intimate. He installed and consecrated the idol of Sri Govinda-
rajaswami after the same was cast away from Chidambaram by
Koldttunga Chola I. He formed the little village surrounding that
temple which was known for a long time as Ramanujapuram. He
converted Tirupati into & flourishing little town by making it
incumbent on those who wished to serve in Tirumala to become
permanent residents of Tirupati.t

Knowing so much about all that was done by him for enhancing
the fame of Tirumala and Tirupati it would be a surprise to be
told that no shrinc was dedicated to him in Tirumala when there
was one in Tirupati about 1200 A.D. Inscriptions are not the only
evidence for this. There are inscriptions in Tirupati because every
temple and shrine there was and had pecessarily to be provided
with an independent corpus for its maintenance. The Temple of
Sri Govisdaraja, the shrines of Sri Ramanuje and Tirumangai
Alvir had cach its own funds. Not so in Tirumala. Sri Rama-
nuja’s shrine would have been from the commencement a part
and parcel of Sri Venkateswara’s pantheon. There could not
exist, according to ancient usage and tradition, any other inde-
pgndent shrine, except of course the Shrine of Sri Varahaswami.
There could not therefore have been independent puja for any
other Deity there. The Alvars have not been installed there,
because they do not dovetail into the Vaikhanasa Agama according

1. That slokam has lhce_hun mtaponud as part of the mantra-
pushpam during the daily plja.

2. 1124 fragmentaty inscription but imtelligible
163



HISTORY OF YIRUPATI

to which the daily worship of Sri Venkateswara was fashioned
from the days of the installation of Bhoga Srinivasa when we
hear of a karmarchana for the first time Sri Ramanuja did not
consider it desirable, nor would it have been possible for him,
to disturb old arrangements to which his own uncle Tirumala
Nambi was a party.

There however still remains the question how is it that none
of the great bhaktas and the other great men who made endowments
ever thought of associating Sri Ramanuja’s name with some endow-
ment or other and how was 1t that the year 1476 A.D. was singled
out for the celebration of a twelve day festival in Chitra month,
for his monthly birth star days and for the recitation of the praban-
dham of the Alvars in his presence during their birth star (or Sattu-
murai) in Tirumala? The chequered history of prabandham
recital during Adhyayandtsavam in Sri Vaishnava temples, working
even on the Panchardtra system, gives the reply. Serious objections
were raised by worshippers of Vishnu in general who did not
subscribe to the Sri Vaishnava doctrines as promulgated by Alavan-
déir and Ramanuja to the recital of Tamil songs in'a temple where
worship was being carried on according to rituals prescribed in
the Agama based on Vedic texts in Sanskrit. The use of Tamil
verses at any stage within the holy precincts of the temple was
considered an act of pollution. Sri Vedanta Desika is said to
have exposed the hollowness of the objections 1n his Satadiishani
No. (65) which is said to have been composed before the invasion
of the south by Malik Kafur. There was subsequently confusion
caused by the Muslim invasion and Sri Ranganatha was removed
from Srirangam to Tirumala. Until all the confusion came to
an end and Sri Ranganatha was taken back to Srirangam, (after
a brief stay in Senji) by the Vijayanagar commander Gopanna
all festivals were suspended. When shortly after 1348 A.D. the
Adhyayanotsavam was resumed, the same objections were again
raised and Sri Vedamta Desika had again to meet these objections
in an assembly specially convened by Gdpanna. These difficulties
arose in the biggest Panchardtra temple at Srirangam where the
recital of the A]virs’ Prabandhams was in vogue before. In Tiru-
mala the objections to the recital of these songs would have been
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all the stronger as the Vaikhanasa Agama docs not recognise any
other mantrams or slokams than those contained in the Sanskrit
Agama. Nor do they recognise the A]vars as saints with the spark
of divinity in them. Even Sri Ramanuja did not unsettle the
Vaikhanasa form of worship in vogue. His uncle Tirumala
Nambi contented himself with bringing water from Akasaganga
for the abhishekam and puja and with performing the mantra-
pushpam by reciting the riks, etc., and offering Tulasi. According
to the Vaikhanasa agama even this is the prescriptive right of
the archaka. It is seen from our inscriptions that until the year
1360 A.D. the prabandham was not recited in any part of Tirumala.
In that year the first attempt was made in front of the main Gopuram
(Periya Tiruvasal or outside the temple) by reciting the Tiruvoimoli
of Namma]var during the Brahmotsavam before the Deity was
taken back into the temple. The recital was not within the temple.
Sri Vaishnavas who had witnessed the grandeur of the recital of
the prabandhams in the Pancharatra temples of the south set
their heart on initiating it in the Tirumala Temple. The first
attempt was therefore made in the Udaiyavar Emperumanar
shrine in Tirupati in the year 1475 A.D. or a short time before
that. In that year two endowments were made, onc by Apnan
Tiruvénkatayyan on 9-7-1475 and the other by Sathagdpa dasar
Narasimhardya Mudaliar on .20-10-1475 for food offerings in
connection with a twelve day festival for Udaiyavar Emperumanar
in Tirupati ending with Sattumurai on the day of his birth star
Arudra in the Chitra month. The inscriptions do not state
in clear terms that the prabandhams of the Alvars were sung at
the ‘time. This attempt was extended to Tirumala in 1476 A. D.
The non-brahmins were associated with the brahmins in the recital
of the prabandhams in front of the shrine of Sri Ramanuja. The
dissenters if any would have been the Vaikhanasa archakas and
other Vaishnavas who did not profess the Sri Vaishnava cult,
As there were other items in the endowment such as a daily food
offering for Sri Raghunatha etc., and as the recital did not take
place in the presence of Sri Venkatesa, the attempt proved successful.
Further, just about that time, the Vaikhanasa archakas were under
a cloud as one of their folk was guilty of embezzlement of temple
jewels, etc.  Sri Ramanuja’s shrine and festival offered the most
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convenient venue for the attempt to introduce the Tamil praban-
dham into the temple. In this all Sri Vaishnavas joined. Sri
Vedanta Desika had established beyond a shadow of doubt that
the Prabandhams were as sacred as the Sanskrit Upanishads and
he had published his tract called “Dramiddpanishad-siram”. But
for this earnest desire of the Sri Vaishnavas for prabandham recital
Sri Ramanuja’s shrine might have continued its quiescent existence
in Tirumala. After 1500 A. D. we notice a greater recognition
of Sti Ramanuja and also the Deity known as Sri Raghunatha in
Tirumala.

It may incidentally be stated that there is a general impression
that Ramanujakitam (a place where the offered prasadam is freely
distributed to pilgrims) is an institution, or practice which owes
its origin to Sri Ramanuja. There is no authority for this. The
first time we hear of a Ramanujakutam is in the year 1450 A.D.
in an inscription recording an endowment made by one Chenna-
kesavadasar for making daily one food offering to Vira Narasinga-
pperumal in Tirupati. The donor’s share was given away to
those residing in the Ramanujakitam which was his creation
(sbgperwu stvwra Welarm yrs®é @Quroraye
s&Ls86 DwéBplui Qupp Burss aLugTaeyb).
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The Temple of Sri Varahaswami is on the west bank and
at the northwest corner of the Swami Pushkarini in Tirumala;
There is a tradition that Sri Vardhaswimi, also known as Giidnap-
pirdn, was the oldest Deity in Tirumala. Although there are no
inscriptions to confirm the existence of this temple before the year
1380 A.D. it is generally believed that Sri Varahaswami was the
original Deity presiding over the Tirumala Hill. According to
Hindu mythology we are now (of time),in the eighth sub-division
of what is called Vaivasvathamanvantaram of Svéta Varaha Kalpam
and in Kaliyuga. Mythology also tells us that all the Vedas and
Vedangas revealed by God Himself go into hiding or oblivion
on the occurrence of a Mahdpralaya, when all manifested creation
is dissolved and absorbed into Him, There is then nothing but
an ocean of tamas or darkness. It is in this ocean that the Vedas
lie hidden. After another creation takes place God in His avatar
as Sri Varaha rescues and restores to us the eternal but hidden
Vedas. This is probably the reason why Sri Vardhaswami is
regarded as the oldest God on the Tirumala Hill. Mythologically
Tiruvengadamudaiyan’s manifestation on the Hill was only at
the beginning of the Kali Yuga of Vaivasvatamanvantara of the
Sveta Varahakalpa. His Archavatara then usurped the seat which
Adi-Varaha was occupying.

There is also another apsect to be considered. According to
the Bhniguvalli of the Taittiriya Upanishad the Embodied Soul
passes through five stages in its spiritual evolution-Annamaya, Prana
maya, Manomaya, Vigiianamaya and the Anandamaya kosams.
The pilgrim to Tirumala approaches the Hill with his Annamaya
kosa. After a bath in the waters of the Alvar Tirtham which is
presumed to issue from the right toe of Tiruvengadamudaiyan
and with faith in the teachings of Sri Namma]var whose shrine
is near that Tirtham he enters upon the Pranamaya stage in his
ascent of the Hill. When he reaches the knee-breaking ascent he
changes into the Manomaya kosa, a period of serious searchings of
the heart and the mind. Sri Ramanuja (whose shrine is there)
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is supposed to help him with his metaphysics of the real relationship
between Prakrith, Jivatma and Paramatma. After reaching the
Hill top and bathing in the Swimi Pushkarini, which is supposed
to possess the virtues of all sacred waters, he gets inspiration from
_Gianappiran (Sri Varaha) and true knowledge or the Viganamaya
kosa. The final stage is reached when he worships Tiruvengada-
mudaiyan in His Ananda Nilaya Vimanam. So worship of Sri
Varahaswami (Vignanamaya stage) should precede worship of
Tiruvengadamudaiyan with the Anandamaya kosam. This
perhaps is also what is meant whenitis stated that Tiruvengada-
mugaiyan usurped Varahaswami residence. When Anandam takes
possession of the soul there is no further need for Vigfianam as such.
This is perhaps the reason for the injunction that one must first
worship Sri Vardhaswami or Gnanappiran before attempting to
worship Sri Venkatesa. None of the A]virs however has composed
verses in praise of that shrine in Tirumala.

Tirumala is called Varaha Kshetram. Those living around
Tirupati while doing Sankalpam for all ceremonials recite “ Varaha
Kshetre, Ananda Vimana chchayayam * to define the position of
the place in space. But the place is not called Vardha Kshetram
in any of the inscriptions nor by any of the A]vars.

The metaphysical relationship between Giianappiran (Varaha-
swami) and Sri Venkateswara is demonstrated every day in the
procedure adopted for offering Naivédyam. A quantity of the food
prepared m the kitchen of Sri Venkateswara is sent to Sri Varaha-
swami Temple. It is only when the bell in the latter temple strikes
to signify that the prasadam has reached that temple and is ready
for offering, that the bells in Sri Venkatesa’s temple begin to ring
and the Naivédyam takes place simultaneously in the two temples.
The Avatira Nakshatram of both the Deities is Sravanam (Onam)
sacred to Vishnu,

The existence of a temple for Sri Varahaswami comes to notice
only in 1380 A.D. In that year one Alagappiranar Tirukkalikanri
dasar, the foremost Sri Vaishnava resident of Tirupati, made an
endowment (I. 184, 31-1-1380) of 400 panams and from the
interest thereon a tiruvdlakkam food offering was made every year
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for Malaikuniyaninraperumal onthe second day of each of the
Brahmostavams and also one kurini of cooked rice for each of the
Deities, Periya Perumal and Sri Varaha Nayanar. The next reference
is 96 years later, ie., in 1476 A. D. in an endowment (II. 68
2-3-1476) made by Sri Sathakopa dasar Narasimharaya Mudaliar,
of 5200 panams making provision for a series of food offerings to
Malaikuniyaninraperumal on festival occasions. One of these
items is the offering of one Sukhiyan padi,while Malaikuniya ninra
Permumal is seated in a flower mantapam (Tiruppimantapam)
in the temple of Gnanappiran, (Sri Varahaswami) on the bank of the
Swamipushkarini on the sixth festival day of each of the Brahmot-
savams. This is not an offering intended for Sri Varahaswami.
It is worth noting that in 1380 A.D. the Deity was called
Varaha Nayinar whereas in 1476 He is named Gfianappiran which
became the more popular name.

Aithough the temple came to notice only in 1380 and the next
mention thereof was made in 1476, it will be seen from the account
of endowments made since then that this temple maintained its
hold on the devotces since then till now. Therc are however a
few persons who seem to think that a temple was constructed
for the Boar God with a view to making the Muslims dctest the
Hill as the God there was represented to them as Suvar Allah.

The next reference is to an endowment (II. 76. 7-7-1481)
for offering daily 2 tirupponakam to Adi Varahapperuma! and
4 tirupponakam to Tiruvengadamudaiyan. This was made by
Saluva Timmaraya, son of Saluva Mallayadeva Maharaya. Another
reference is to an endowment (II1. 132, 133) made by Sri Kandadai
Vedantacharya Doddappayyangar on 13-4-1519 for offering 40
atirasappadi during the 8 Brahmotsavams, when the Utsava Murti
(Malaikuniyaninra perumal) hears Tirumo]i in the shrine of
Gfianappiran.*

1. The other endowments made for this Deity are:—

One Venkatatturaivar, son of Malaininrar Bhattar Appayyan made
(IV-138. 9:11-1539) an endowment of 195 panams for makind certain food
offerinds on festivel occasions. Amonp those offerinds was one of 30 tirup~
ponakam to Glanppiran during the 30 days of Tiruppalli Eluchchi and ome

169



HISTORY GF TIRUPATI

In the Tasdik prepared by the East India Company about
1819 A.D. Sri Varahaswami Temple was classed as a minor temple.
It received no contribution from the circar, but depended entirely
on Kéanukas paid by pilgrims, on ubhayams and on contribution
made by the dharmakartas of the temple. Its average income anij,
expenditure was about Rs. 250/- a year (79 pulli varahas 12 maili
and 65 kasus).

padi on the day of his father's annusl birth star. The donur was an
archaks and as such the dharmekarta of Sri Varshaswami temple. We
have elsewhere noticed that a larBe part of the tunds which constituted this
endowment vepresented the payment made to him by Achyutaraya Maharaya
on the occasion when he himself performed the archana to Sri Venkateswara
ond the srchaka recited only the 1008 names.

Tallapakkam Tirumalayyangar constructed, (IV 40 1535' amon} other
things, the mantapams surroundin the prakaram walls and the east opuram of

(“ Poaugrssfd umLwPa sHY wvEL_UPDL Gow
ocﬂqn@ll)”) Sri Varaha's temple, on the full-moon day of Vaikesi of
Sake 1457,

- One of the items of en endowment (IV-157. 13-2-1541 of 2770 panam)
by Settalur Srinivasayyen was the offeriny of one dosaipadi to Sri Vara-
haswami on the day of his annual birth star (Arpisi Sravanam)
@mew Sy e qdmt_ﬁgqu)mqﬁuﬁﬁ@cmnmgggnw
Apain one Ellappas Pillai made an endowment (1V-105, 3-8-1541) for
conductiny Mukkoti Dvadasi festival for 3 days commencing from Dasami.
On the Tirthavari dey (or dvedasi) he provided for offering 9 Tiruppo-
nakam when Malaikuniya ninra Perumal was seated in the shrine of Sri
Varahsswami in 1he early morning of that day.

Kuppa Venkattarasu {one of the accountants) made an endowment
(V-5-2-1543) of 1282 panam for the merit of his mother. The amount was
to be utilised for offering of 4 timpponakam on each Mukkoti Dvadasi day
to Gliansppiran when Tiruve]i-slven (Sri Sudarsans) was bathing in the
sacred waters of Swamipushkareni, For the same occasion but after Tiruvali
alvan's bath in the tank and when Malaikuniys ninran, Nachchimar and
and Tiruvali Alvan aere sested in the front pam of Gfianappiran’s
temple, Ellappa Pillai made an endowment for offerind one nayaka talipai
For the same Tirudvadesi day Kupps Venkatatarasu mede an endowment
(V. 8. 5:10-1543) for offerind 6 tirupponakam to Sri Varsh f,

. Atai Tirunakshatram of Sri Varahaswami was arraned to be celebrated
with Tirumanjansem by Tallapakkem Tiruvenkatanathan (V. 71, 17-7-1546)
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There need be no doubt about Varahaswami Temple being
an ancient one in Tirumala. Its late recognition in inscription
may be explained in a manner. The temple has always been the
sole concern of the archakas, who were archakas for both the
temples. It might have continued to be a temple unnoticed in
inscriptions made by the Sthanattar of Sri Venkatesvara's Temple
but for two innovations which the Sri Vaishnavas and the Sthanattar
were anxious to effect, and in which the Vaikhanasa had to be
made to acquiesce. These were the admission of Malaikuniya
ninra Perumal and Nachchimar into the sanctum and the recital
of the Prabandhams of the Alvars without a protest from the
archakas. It was already pointed out that Malaikuniya ninra
perumal got admission about 1339 A.D. and the recital of Tiruvai-
moli in front of the (Gopura vasal) main gate of the temple took
place in 1360 A.D. We consequently find that Alagappiranar
Tirukkalikanri dasar (one of the Sthanattar) included Sri Varaha
Nayanar in his endowment for food offering in 1380 A.D.

Sottai Tirumala Nambi Srinivessyyenpar provided {or offerings one
appepadi to Sri Varsheswami on the second day of the Adhyayanotsavem
in Tirumala in Marali month.

Rejosri Sivaraya Ramachendra Yodumatars Dabirsa in an endowment
(VI. 24, 19.3-1634) for daily food offerings to Sri Venkatesa made provision
for offerinp deily to Sri Varahaswami onc talipai prasdam end one pot (30n)
of psyasam.
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CHAPTER VIIL

PART (4)
MURTI SWARUPAM OF SRI VENKATESWARA

THE Murti Swarupam of Sri Venkateswara, arid the complemen-
tary metallic idols (or Berams); and the Utsava or processional
idols of Sri Rama and Sri Krishna which make up the Pantheon
of Tirumala.

Around the Marti of Sri Venkatéswara have gathered all the
other idols mentioned above. The main Murti is apparently a
stone image; but we cannot be too sure about it. The tradition
is that it is not an image wrought by the hand of man and that God
manifested Himself in a form which man could comprehend, being
similar to his own. The material from which this form is shaped
is seemingly lifeless matter. But we Hindus fully belicve that It is
full of divine life. We worship not only this idol but similar or
nearly similar ones installed in other temples. Not being content
with this we get small metallic idols manufactured in gold, silver or
copper, worship them at home and leave them as precious legacy
to our legal heirs. Itis not stone or tree worship, nor even
nature worship. It is said to have Divine sanction. Divine
sanction for the Archa Avatar (or Idol) worship has a mythological
backing. The erection of temples and the installation of ancillary
and complementary images are also copies of a mythlogical pattern
held out to us in the traditional account of creation and dissolution
of all mundane (prakrit) matter and its innumerable forms, shapes
‘and  activities.

In this chapter some idea will be conveyed of such matters
and more particularly about identifying Sri Venkateswara’s Image
with the Supreme Being and the rationale of idol worship in general,
In all matters which we could not verify by direct observation or
by reasoning with the aid of our limited senses, we place implicit
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faith in what the Sastras and Puranas say and in the observations
and sayings of great seers and Acharyas.

Divine origin of Sri Venkateswara Murti and divine sanction
for the archa form of worship.

In the Yugas preceding the advent of our Kaliyuga the method
adopted for God realisation was the practice of penance, mental
concentration and meditation, known as Yoga Marga. This has
its own intermediate pitfalls brought about by the acquisition of
undreamt of psychic powers and the consequent temptation to
imagine oncself as being co-equal with God!. Our Mythology.
Itihasas and Puranas abound with stories to illustrate these pit
falls. The yearning to achieve God realisation by easier means
has always been there in the human breast. The Divine Will gave
a response to this desire at the end of the Dvapara Yuga which just
preceded our Yuga.

As Adharma or evil was stalking the earth in the later period
of that Yuga, the Supieme Being of His own free will appeared on
earth as a Man (Sri Krishna) and in a human manner brought about
a colossal war which wiped out the evil clements which then threa-
tened to destroy the human soul. Having done this Sri Krishna
designed the manner of his terminating that Avatar of His in an
equally natural manner. In the Treta Yuga (preceding the Dvapara
Yuga) the Supreme Being had come on earth as Sri Rama to destroy
evil. One of the incidents of that Avatar was his shooting with a
deadly arrow Vali, the great king of the monkey race. He commi-
tted this act by hiding himself behind seven Sal trees because

1. Nammalvar Tiruvoimoli (3-5-9).
Sy AETPL LR dT K% GHVGE G bITm i
Sswgwer sao Curgymiips wwgaley Qurams
Koy sFoiu adaris QarrPuauder gaulydar
HogPies QswisTy wepguls sEwle.
The import of the Stanza is that * with the exception of those Yogis who
while realising the Brahman within the self dare to come to the exclusion that

they are one with or co-equal to Him, all others consider it the right thing to
do when they deeply meditate, sing praises and and dance in ecstasy "
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VAli’s psychic powers were such that he drew into himself all the
powers of an enemy who faced him. Before his death he accused
Sri Rama of having acted in a cowardly fashion and of being an
unworthy son of the great Dasaratha. Vali was in the eye of God
entitled to a quid pro quo. So Vili was given another birth as a
hunter by name Jara. Sri Krishna having accomplished His self-
imposed task on earth and desiring to cast off the material body
went into a Yoga trance resting His body on the ground in a thick
forest, with the right foot placed on the left knee. Jara came that
way in search of game and mistook Sri Krishna for a beast of prey.
Instantly he shot a deadly arrow shod with a piece of steel which
was the remanent left after fulfilling a curse made by the Rishi
Dhurvasa for the destruction of the Yadava race. Sri Krishna was
the last great figure of that race left and so offered himself for that
piece of steel. Jara found that he committed a huge blunder and
incurred a great sin in having killed a man. That man appeared to
him as being unique with four hands. He fell prostrate and caught
hold of the feet of Sri Krishna begging pardon. He was not only
pardoned but freed from any future birth. The above portion
of the story is only a prelude to the setting in which divine sanction
was given to Idol worship.

Divine Sanction for Idol worship

Rishis, Munis, Devas and others headed by Brahma (the
creator) gathered on that spot and praised Sri Krishna for having
rid the earth of all evil elements.  But they regretted very much
that by the termination of that Avatar they were losing touch with
Divinity and they being only mortals could not hope to see Him
in His abode the Divyalokam or Sri Vaikuntam. The Divine
Spirit on whose breast Sri Devi was seen seated was worshipped
by all with flowers. The Devas addressed Him as one who wielded
the Divine bow Sirngam; perhaps because they saw in Him Sri
Rama as well. The Spirit ascended the Heavens illuminating the
earth and the Heavens. As it entered the Siiryamandalam (the
Sun’s disc), it took a shape and form with four hands but made of
lifeless stable matter. Simultaneously a voice from the Heavens
(asarfri viikku) exhorted the Devas and the others to behold that
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form which was to descend. or had already descended, on earth
where He would dwell for ever and which form they should worship
This incident is taken to be the divine sanction for the worship of Idols,
Srimad Védanta Désika in his Tamil tract known as “Srimad
Tatva Matrukai” quotes Sri Bhagavan’s own words then uttered
as given in Sri Maha Bhératam (Chapter V. Mausala Parvam).
“Bhimiu gatam piijayatam praméyam.” It was a direction given
to Brahma, the Devés, Munis and others in response to their request,
so that by doing puja and other acts of service for that form they
might obtain Salvation. This sanction has been extended by our
acharyas to images manufactured and consecrated by mortals,
namely the Devas, Risis and great men. Sages subsequently
framed rules for standardising the size and proportion of idols, the
material of which they should be made, the erection of temple
structures and the procedure for consecration of these idols. This
was done because indiscriminate and chaotic form of worship
will not eventually prove beneficial. The form of the temple, the
deities to be installed, their appropriate places and the manner
and time of worship are the subjects dealt with in the Agama
Samhitas. There are two Agamas which deal with worship of
Vishnu, the Vaikhdnasa and the Pancharitra. Each claims
greater antiquity and higher sanction for itself. But so far as
Tirumala is concerned, neither of these Agamas could lay claim
to have manufactured or installed the Murti as the belief is that It
is Self-manifest Brahman. As some form of ritualistic worship
had to be adopted the Vaikhdnasa form was adopted in course of
time. For a long time however, there appears to have been no
regular or standard form of worship.

Sri  Venkateswara’s Image is self - manifest Brahman or
Svayam Vyakta Murti.

We have Sri Bhagavan’s own statement in Sri Maha Bharatam
that He has manifested Himself on earth to make it easy for men
to do puja and render such other services as would satisfy their
desire to keep close touch with the Divine form. Those who have
faith in the Itihasam would have faith in this episode mentioned
therein, unless it is argued that the narrative or portions of it are
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later interpolations by interested persons. Such an objection has
not yet been raised.

We next have Sri Namma]var's assurance that “Paran” has
come down to Tirumala from His Divyalokam for our spiritual
benefit, not at the request or in answer to the prayers of any one,
but of His own choice. He illustrates God's solicitude for our
spiritual salvation by giving two instances, viz., the manner in
which He held up a hill to protect dumb cattle left to His care from
the threat of danger to life caused by heavy pelting rains and biting
cold, and the odd and unsolicited” manner in which He saved the
soul of Maha Bali. He tells us that the devas headed by Brahma
himself daily worship Sri Venkateswara on this hill just as we
do.! Again Sri Ramanuja in the Mangala Slokam of his great
work “Sri Bhashya” while enunciating concisely and yet com-
prehensively the nature and functions of the Supreme Being, lays
stress on His great solicitude for the salvation of mankind (Rak-
shaika diksha). He equates that Brahman with Srinivasa (Sri
Venkateswara). So we believe that Sri Venkateswara is self-
manifest Brahman come to Tirumala for our salvation,

It will now be shown that the Mairti was not wrought by
human hands.

The Murti (Sri Venkateswara) not a man-made one,

Images manufactured by men for purposes of worship are
usually made of stone, clay, wood or some metal, A temple (or
mantapam) is built and the Murti consecrated therein according
to rituals prescribed in one or the other of the Agamas. The
Agamas have prescribed in detail rules for the relative proportions
of the idol, the posture of the body, the hands etc., and the weapons
borne by it as also the jewellery carved on its body. If there be
any defect in the execution, or any variation from the prescribed
rules that image would be considered unsuitable for consecration
and therefore rejected and even destroyed. We will examine the
image of Sri Venkateswara im the light of the rules given in the
‘Agamas for the manufacture of an idol of that type.

1. Al ‘thceltliet Alvars bave stated likewise.
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Types of Dhruva Murtis prescribed in the Agamas.

The broad classification is into three main types. The standing,
the sitting and the reposing or lying posture. Each of these is
again divided into four classes depending on the physical and
menial attitude of the l1dol. They are Yogam, Bhogam, Viram
and Abhichirikam. The environments and the purpose for which
a Marti 1s installed decide the kind of Idol. A Yoga Mirti
would be selected if the worshippers prefer to follow Yoga
Marga.  Such a Murti should be installed outside a village. in
the midst of forests, on mountain and hill tops, at the confluence
of rivers and on river banks. It should not be in the heart of a
town or village as the Mirti would bring about destruction of the
place. A Bhoga Marti should invariably be installed in the heart
of a town or village. A Vira Mirti should be on the outskirts of
a village. An Abhichdrika Marti would be installed in forests,
mountains, fortresses, at the outer limits of a Rashtra and facing
the cnemy country. The Tirumalai temple is on a hill and in the
midst of forests. It does not appear that at any time there was
a fortress, or a village there. It might prehaps have been politically
the boundary line between one country and another. The kind
of image chosen would therefore be either Yoga or Abhicharika,
not even Vira. Bhoga would be out of consideration.

The features of the Murti for each situation and type are also
prescribed in the Agamas. There arc three grades of temples
depending on the complementary deities. These are called
Utthama, Viadhyama and Adhama(Best, middling and low or mean
type). In the Utthama temple the Mirti would be associated with
the complementary deities. Brahma, Sankara, Markandeya,
Bhrigu, Sanaka, Sanandana, Sanatkumara, etc.' In the Madhyama
type Markandeya etc., would be omitted but Brahma and Siva
retamned. In the lowest type Brahma and Siva also would be
omitted, leaving the Murti to stand alone. The above rule
governs the installation of Yoga, Bhogd and Vira Murtis alike.
In the case of an Abhicharika Murti,however, there is only one type,
the Adhama type and therefore, the principal Murti alone would
be installed. Further, in the former types the temple would have
Vimanams and the consecration would be on an auspicious day in
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Sthira Lagna (at any ratenot ina chara lagna). For the Abhichirika
Murti the installation should be at an inauspicious moment and in
Chara Lagna. The temple should not have a Vimanam.

The features of the Murtis are also prescribed in the Agamas.
Before considering the features we might as well see under which
type the image of Sri Venkateswara should be classed presuming
that it was the handiwork of man. Being on a hill and in a forest
where there was no village or fortress in the earliest days, it should
be a standing Yoga Adhama, a Standing Abhicharika or perhaps
Standing Vira Adhama Murti. It is not likely to have been a
Bhoga Murti in those days. Since Sri Venkateswara has always
been the only Murti in the temple, the temple is an Adhama one.
A standing Yoga murti of the Adhama type should have four
hands, the two upper hands should be invested with Chakram and
Sankham; the right lower hand should be in Abhaya posture while
the left lower hand should assume the Katyavalambita posture or
holding on to the loin. The presence of Sri Devi on the chest is
not mentioned in the specification. But Sri Devi is on the right
breast as an integral part of the image of Sri Venkateswara ana
not onc subsequently invested or detachable. The lower right
hand is (giving boons) Varada hastam and not Abhaya. The
Sankham and Chakram on the two upper arms are detachable
and not integral with the Image. The image could therefore not
be taken for a Yoga Murti.

A standing Abhicharika Marti might have two or four hands,
but without any of the divine weapons. The posture of the hands
is not mentioned in the specification. So we might place Sri
Venkateswara's image under this type but for other disabilities.
The Abhicharika Murti should have a shrunken chin, lean ‘angas’
(hands, legs, body should be lean). It should have upturned
eyes exhibiting [amogunam (evil intentions). The Image of Sri
Venkateswara is however a lovely figure having well formed and
plumpy ‘angas’ and decorated with all the divine ornaments
associated with the description of Para Visudeva. Sri Devi is
an integral part of the image, The Image could not therefore
be classed as Standing Abhicharike,
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Nor does it answer to the Vira type, because the Vira type
should have Sankha and Chakra permanently. Sri Devi is not
mentioned as part of the image. The posture for the lower arms
is not given in the specificaiion.

If we wish to examine for the Bhoga type also as a last attempt,
the Sankham and Chakram should be permanent fixtures, Sri
Devi and Bhu Devi should both be permanently on the breast,
The posture of the right lower arm in the Varada Hasta position
is the only satisfactory element. The lower left hand should be in
the Katyavalambita Simha Karna posture which is not seen in the
Image of Sri Venkateswara. The result of the examination is that
the Image of Sri Venkateswara does not fall under any onc of the
types which the Agamas prescribe for installing a Dhruva Murti.
It the Image had been one wrought by man, it should therefore
have been done in an age when the Agamas had not been compiled.

The only description which we have not considered is that
usually given of Para Brahman or Para Vasudeva in the Heavens.
Different Samhitas describe Him differently in His Divyalokam.
A short one given in Bhrigu Samhita (33rd Adhyaya) shows that
He has four hands, is invested with the five weapons or dyudhas;
the two halves of His body are symmetrical and beautifully shaped,
that he wears all the divya dbharanas (jewellery), (that Sri Devi
ever abides in His Form and that He is full of all the Kalyina
gunas and wanting in none and that He shines with His six gunas
(Shadguna). This description is not a detailed one. The weapons
(divya dyudhas)are not in Sri Venkateswara’s hands. The mention
of the Shadgunas is worth noting. We will refer to it later. The
Pancharatra Agamas describe Para Vasudeva in different terms,
rostly as bemng seated on Ananta, the Divine Serpent. They
are all out of place for our purpose.

In the seventh chapter, sixth amsa of Vishnupuranam there is a
description given of the Murta Rupam of Vishou for purposes of
meditation. Four stages of meditation are mentioned. In the
lowest the Murti is meditated upon as having all the weapons,
all the bhishanams (ornaments) and with eight or four hands,
In the next higher stage the meditation is upon the Marti, dropping
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out the divine weapons; in the next higher even the bhiishanams
or ornaments are also left out. In the next higher only the principal
‘angas’ such as body, two hands etc., are presumed te be seen.
This description states that the Marti has a ‘ Prasanna’ (spotiess
and brilliant) face, beautiful eyes shaped like the petal of the lotus
flower, beautiful temples, broad fore-head, Kundalams (ear orna-
ments hanging down the even earlobes, the kantham (or neck)
shaped like the right-handed Sankham (Chank), broad chest with
Sri Devi seated on the Srivatsa marks, Udara’ (or belly) in three
folds as it were and a deep seated navel, long hands eight or four
in number, well knit and symmetrically shaped thighs, spotless
pitambara clothing, with ornaments such as Kireetam (crown),
Haram (necklace) K&yiiram (shoulder ornaments), Katakam etc.,
rings on the fingers and toes. The dyudhams (weapons in his
hands) are Sarngam (bow),Sankham (conch),Gadd (mace), Khagdam
(sword), Chakram (disc). Akshamala (garland of beads) is m the
sixth hand; of the remaining two hands one is in the Abhaya
posture and the other in Varada posture. When only four hands
are meditated upon Sankham, Chakram, Gada and the lotus
flower adorn them. The above description in full is of the form
for the lowest stage of meditation. This description does not
apply to the form of Sri Venkateswara. In the next higher stage
all the weapons are left out and the four hands would therefore
be free. All the bhuishanams or ornaments however remain on
the Mirti. This description would apply to the Mirti form of
Sri Venkateswara in a general way. The lower hands have however
a definite posture, the right Varada and the left Katyavalambita
and correspouds to a Marti for meditation in the second stage.

As the Murti form of Sri Venkateswara does not answer to the
specifications given in the Agamas, the Image should be taken to
belong to an earlier age than that of the Agamas. Besides the
description given in the Vishnupuranam, what are given in other
places also have to be taken into account. Soon after His birth
Sri Krishna appeared before his father Vasudéva in His real form,
This form is described in Vyasa’s Sri Bhagavatham in the Slokam
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commencing with “Tam adbbutam balakam ambujekshanam.”’
Therein He had four hands holding Sankha and the other Ayudhams
there were the Srivatsam marks and Kaustubham; He wore pitam-
baram, He wore a brilliant kireetam set with diamonds, kundalam
etc., he wore gold waist band and other ornaments. It is the
same Sri Krishna whose Divine spirit appeared in Suryamandalam
and he was then addressed by the Devas as the one who bore the bow
Sarngam. If the same apparition did descend on earth on the Tirumala
hill as Sri Venkatesa, we would expect to find on the form of the
Murti some traces to connect the one with the other. The Devas saw
the figure in the Sun’s disc from a long distance and it would not
have been possible to notice any ornaments on the figure, even
if they existed. But the absence of weapons was noticed, although
before the spirit entered the Sun's? disc the bow was distinctly seen
by them. We learn from the description given in Silappadikaram
that the bow was on the Murti along with Sankham and Chakram
and all the three would have been detachable ones put on the figure.*
There are, however on the form of Sri Venkateswara marks on
both shoulders running down from the ends of the collar bones in
the direction of the arm-pit resembling scars made by the constant
wearing of the bow and the pack of arrows. This scar may be taken
to connect the Murti with the avatar of Sri Rama. The connection
with Krishna avatar is told in the story itself. That this connection
was implicitly believed in ancient days is indicated by the presence
of the Ut-ava images of Sri Rama and Sri Krishna in the Sanctum
Sancterum itself. It is worth stating that during the Margasira
month the Utsava image of Sri Krishna acts as the Sayana Beram
stead of Bhoga Srinivasa who does so during the other eleven
months of the year. The preference given to Sri Krishna during
that sacred month might be to connote the connection between
the Avatars of Sri Krishna and Sri Venkateswara. The arrange-

AR FIAFEAAA A TS FETITITLNT |
ftaegasd TaMfRleg Frarat aFEIRTENTE O o 3 ns

2. Sii Nammalvar also stated that there is Srivatsam and Sri Devi
(Pmwy and yeiGwéd wires H@iwriue) and that Sappgam
was in his hand. This will be deait with at length in the Chapter on Temples
worshin v &lvar, See Tiruvoimoli (3, 4-3) and (€-10 4,5, 10).
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ment of the Riks and Slokas of the Mantrapushpam recited during the
daily puja helps to remind us that this Archavatar has a direct
connection with those of Sri Rama and Sri Krishna. The order of
recitation is (1) the opening ‘rik’ of each of the four Vedas (2) the
Ashtiksharam from the Narayanopanishad (3) reference to the
‘avatar of Sri Rama (4) reference to Sri Krishna avatar and the
Mahabharata war (5) Sri Krishna revealing his true form to his
father (6) Narayana in His Vaikunta loka (7) all creation is the
form and abode of Vishnu (8) Vishnu's advent from Vaikuntam
to Tiruvengadam, (9) one of the Nammalvar's songs because
he has assured us that Narayana has come over here (10) a sloka
cach from Sri Alavandar and Sri Ramanuja who have likewise
assured us that Srinivasa and Narayana are identically one. This
form of Mantrapushpam is peculiar to the daily ‘worship in Tiru-
mala and was obviously composed by Sri Tirumala Nambi. It is
very different from what the Vaikhanasa and the Pancharathra
&gamas give. It is also different from what Sri Ramanuja has
prescribed as a pattern in his “ Nityam.” The only two avatars
of Vishnu included in our Mantrapushpam are those of Rama
and Krishna, Processional idols representing these two avatars
only are included in the Garbha griham. From the earliest times
the belief seems to have been that Sri Venkateswara’s image is
Self-manifest (Svyaam Vyaktam) and has a direct link with the
avatars of Sri Krishna and Sri Rama, perhaps as disclosed in the
account given in Mausalaparva of Sri Maha Bharata. The
tradition' that Brahma worships Sri Venkateswara every day is kept

adr@ CamsT wevemer g5 Al sam wwTES sTwUS D
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up by keeping overnight in the Garbha griham five large gold cups
filled with the Akasaganga water and all the other ingredients
required for a regular worship. It is this water consecrated by
Brahma’s worship that is distributed to the worshippers during
the Visvarupaseva early in the morning.

We have necessarily given already some of the main and
characteristic features of the Dhruva B&ram of Sri Venkateswara,
viz., Sri Devi on the right breast seated on Sri Vatsam, the scars
on the shoulders, the free and easy posture of the two upper hands
into which Chakram and Sankham have subsequently been placed.
the Varada posture (freely giving away boons) of the lower right
hand and the Katyavalambita posture (holding near to the left hip)
of the lower left hand. These might require 2 word of explanation
as we have seen that the Varada posture is not associated with
any of the Agama forms of the standing Murti. The palm and the
fingers arc quite open and point downwards to the right foot.
What that signifies is the unrestrained grant of all boons the wor-
shipper seeks. It seems to have a bearing on the boon granted
unasked to Maha Bali. Nammalvar in his ten songs about Tiru-
vengadam! makes reference to this the Thrivikrama Avatér as the
one in which He measured the Earth and saved the soul of Maha
Bali. Sri Alavandar also in his Stotra Ratnam makes a prayer for
those feet being placed on his head. After the entire universe
was measured with the right and the left foot, Trivikrama seems
to point to His right foot and to ask with a smile what Bali has
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to offer for the remaining portion of the gift promised to Vamana,
Maha Bali offered his head which was all he had to give. His
promise was fulfilled; and Trivikrama gsve in return, unasked by
Bali, the highest gift which the Human Soul should ask for, vir.,
absorption into His feet. The position of the fingers and particularly
of the thumb of the left hand in juxtaposition with the hip and the
thigh suggests that the bow itself or the string of the bow which
He bore as Sri Rama (and which was placed on the Murti as- stated
in Silappadhikaram and in Tiruvoimo]i) passed inside of the thumb
to maintain a steady position. The next important features are
the Pralamba sutram and the Kati sutram. The former is the
sacred thread (Yagnopavitam) and the latter the loin string* These
distinctly show that the figure does not represent a female Deity nor a
Kshudra Devata, They characterise Sri Vishnu. The Kaustubham
hanging centrally on the chest is also characteristic of Sri Vishnu
and is also described in Silappadhikaram.

The other abharanams or ornaments are those mentioned in
Vol. 1. 8 as being worn by the silver Kautuka Beram. These
ornaments are exactly similar to those on the body of the Dhruva
Beram. The Agama rule is that the Kautuka Béram should be
an cxact representation of the Dhruva Béram. These have been
already described in Chapter VII. We have only to emphasise
here that there is nothing like a Nagabharanam on the form of the
Dhruva Murti. The gold ornament or plating worn on the arm
is a subsequent present made by some votary. Naga or Adisésha
is presumed to be inseparably associated with Vishnu and a Tamil
song of Sri Poigai a]var is daily recited during Mantrapushpam®
to remind us of this connection. But the form of the serpent
is not represented anywhere in the Garbhagriham, not to speak
of its absence on the body of the Deity. There is no Yantram on
the Kireetam or crown. Incorrect notions are, however, being
repeated through ignorance by bigots of alien creed. These mis-
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representations will. however, be referred to at length at the end of
this chapter.

The Idols which form a necessary complement to the
Dhruva Beram, viz., the Kautuka, the Snapana.
the Utsava and the Bali Beram, will now hc mentioned.

BHOGA SRINIVASA, THE KAUTAKA BERAM,

This Idol is made of silver and was conseerated by the donor
Samavai in 966 A.D. This was discussed ut length in Chapter VII.
The idol is a true copy of the Dhruva Béram. The Chakram and
Sankham are, however, permanent [iztuies in the case of Bhoga
Srinivasa.  For a small idol made of silver such a fixture was
anecessity.  Further we have to bear in mind that when the Kautuka
Béram was made in 966 A.D. the Dhruva Beram had the Chakram
and Sankham on the hands. There is another feature on the
Bhoga Murti which we presume  in the Dhruva Béram also.
It is impossible to verify it now. On the pedestal (Pitham) and
below the feet of the Kautuka B&ram are counterparts of o Yantram
(a six pointed figure) as if two equal equilateral triangles o ¢ sym-
metrically interlaced, onc being an invert of the other. 1t i« possible
that a similar Yantram is on the form of the Dhruva Beram. But
none can assert this positively. Sri Nammalvar gives in (3-4-4) a
cryptic description of the feet of the Dhruva Beram which when
compared with a similar description of the feet of the Tirumal in
Tirumal-irum-solai (3-1-1) discloscs that under the fect of Tiru-
vengadamudayan there was a figure representing radiating arms,
whereas in the case of the other Deity the feet rested on a Padmam,
The radiating arms would represent the six-pointed ends or vertices
of the Shadgunya Yantram, the feet resting on the centrally situated
hexagonal portion. The wording of the two descriptions is given
below :—

About Tiruvengadamudayan—

LhsWE & wsery Qe eh Gaml Laené Qa e aunw Qe w Gan?
Nbs® pyu QererGan? SEprar weanew QerarBar?
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The word “Kadir” s 9. has the meaning, radiating arms,
About Tirumil-irum-solai— '

wpuslesr® wrw eewg ws4Bsn P v s &Gan?
8@ ® v p prinewyurys o segBan?

Nammalvar's description was given about two centuries
before the date of installation of Manavalapperumal. There was
then obviously no pedestal of the Agamic pattern surrounding the
Dhruva Béram. This figure would be on top of the Pitham or
pedestal which as usual is represented as if made up of four planks
onc above the other. All the four are shown as bound together
by three girdles known as “Trimékhala”. This is a mythological
pedestal which will be explained in the Chapter on the Agamas.
In short the four planks represent Dharmam, Gninam, Aisvaryam
and Vairdgyam. They appear in a slightly different order in the
Vaikhanasa and the Pancharathra dgamas. But they are essential
as pedestals in both. On top of this pedestal would be a Padmam
with eight or sixteen petals. In the centre of this, or in place of this,
should be the six pointed Yantram referred to above. In the case
of the.Dhruva Béram, the Padmam itsell is covered over and could
not now be scen even by the archakas unless the structure of the
pedestal is broken up.

But the pedestal itself would have been constructed when
the temple was constructed and possibly not before. This statement
is based on the practice that the pedestal, the Vedi and the walls
of the temple are all proportioned to the height of the standing
Murti. There is no evidence that the present temple was built
before about 900 A.D. This was discussed in the chapter on
Early Accounts (Chapter V). 1t would have been a known fact
about 966 A.D. if there was a Yantram under the feet of Sri Venka-
teswara. This Yantram would have been copied in the case of the
Kautuka Beram.

We could, however, state that a Yantram of this type would
represent the six gunas of Para and Vyuha Vasudevas. These
gunas are recognised by the Vaikhanasa Agama also:—
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*Nitya muktaika sambhavya schaturbhuja dhard Harih
Anyinénatiriktais svairgunaish shadbir alankritah™

It 15 by the predominance of two of these six gunas at a time
that the three Vyuha avatars take place. These six gunas arc
** Gnanam, Aisvaryam, Sakti; Balam, Tejas and Viryam.” We
could explain the pairing off on the analogy of the proton and
the electron. More will be stated about this Yantram in the
chapter on " Temples and Agamas,”

The Kaatuka, Snapana, Utsava and Bali Berams.
Kautuka Beram.

Kautaka Beram:—This Mirti was instalied to mahe 1t possible
to render daily abhishekam and all the other forms of puja for
which a portable Murti is essentiél.  He was intimately connected
with the Dhruva Murti by means of a silk cord at the time of instai-
lation. A gold link and sitk cord are used to maintain the connection
even on occasions when He is brought outside the Sanctum Sanc-
torum for deputising the Dhruva Muiti on special festive occasions.
He possesses all the powers of the Dhruva Murti. The fisctions
over which He presides arc given in the Chapter on Festivals and
need not therefore be mentioned here.

Ugra Srinivasa:—Hc was originally called Venkatatturaivar
(Qauiss_ s gempard). The Tamil word shows that He was the
resident Deity in the temple, perhaps even before Bhoga Srinivasa
was consecrated. He seems to have been the old processional Murtj
before Malayappan and the Nachchimar came on the scenc. But
there are even now three occasions on which He alone figures—
Utthana Ekadasi, Mukkoti Dvadasi and Dvadasaradhanam.

Koluvu Srinivasa:—Also called Bali Beram. Every day after
the morning Tomala S&va (which will be described in the chapter

1. fraqads sarearagaa aft

srgfa Radeeddiengfamesa: 1

Bhrigu Samhita, Chapier 33, (page 387).
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on daily worship) is over a function known as Koluvu is held
in the Tirumamani Mantapam when the Deity is brought out and
seated on a silver chair with gold umbrella held over Him. The
Panchangam or Calendar for the day is read out and then follows
the reading of the collections from the Hundi (Koppara) made
during the previous day. The number and value of all varieties
of coins, precious stones. jewels, ctc., arc given in detail. This
is read in public. It is also here in His presence that what is known
as Matradanam of rice etc., which by custom the archakas are enti-
tled to receive is made. [t is not possible to state when this custom
had its beginning, nor could we say at what time and how this
Murti was introduced into the Sanctum Sanctorum. Although
He is also known as Bali Beram, He has never been taken out to
offer Bali after the daily puja is over.

Malayappan (the Utsava Murti) and his consorts
(Sri Devi and Bhu Devi).

The first mention of this Deity is under the name Malai Kuniy
Ninra Perumal (o0& 4 aflus £ 1 Quicmun ir) about the year 133
A.D. This has been discussed in detail already. Immediately before
that date Ugra Srinivasa was in all probability the Processional
Deity. He has no consorts with Him. He is like the Dhruva
Murti a single Murti wearing the Chakram in a peculiar posture
(called the Prayoga Sthiti) as if about to use it. [t is’ possibl
that before the Pancharatra cxerted its influence on the old Vai.
khanasa system this Murti was considered good enough for a
procession. A tradition is current among the archakas about
how Malai Kuniya Ninra Perumal superceded Ugra Srinivasa,
who was known as Venkatatturaivir. On one occasion during
the Brahmotsavam when: the procession was going round the
streets in Tirumala, a terrific fire broke out in the small village
which destroyed the houses. The archakas and the devoteeg
did not know why and how this happened. When they prayed
to God to forgive any short-coming on their part, an Avésam
came {0 a man which stated that times have changed and that
He should no longer be used as the Processional Deity on pain
of recurrence of such calamitics. They were also told that ir
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one of the glades of the mountain there was another Murti whom
they should search for and use. So the irate Murti came to be
known as Ugra Srinivasa and the new Murti with His consorts who
was found after a search was called Malai Kuniya Ninra Perumal
(because He was found where the hill bowed very low). In later
years the name was shortened into Malayappan. The glade where
He was found is now known as Malayappan Kodnai. But for
this divine sanction in the form of an Avésam there would have
been serious objection from the archakas to the introduction of a
Utsava Murti with the Nachchimars when the Dhruva Murti
was a sclf-manifest single Murti. This would have happened
some little time before 1339 A.D. when Sri Ranganatha of Srirangam
was also on the Tirumala hill owing to the terror caused by the
Muslim invasion of the South. There is no harm in making the
guess that this Malayappan would have been the Pancharatra
Tiruvilankoy:l Peruman of Tiruchchukanoor and that Koluvu
Srinivasa (above mentioned) was the Tirumantra Salaipperumal
in the same place. During the disturbed days these two Murtis
would have been brought for safety to the glade in the hill. A
processional Murti with Nachchimars would otherwise have been
considered an innovation.

The portable images or Bérams who are by convention taken
to represent the Dhruva Murti in their order of precedence are
Bhoga Srinivasa, Malayappan with his two consorts, Ugra Srinivasa
and Koluvu Srinivasa In the language of the dgamas they stand for
the Kautuka, the Utsava, the Snapana and the Bali berams (or Bim
bams).If the Agamarules of installation had been observed the above
would be the order of precedence. The Kautuka-beram would
have received consecration direct from the Dhruva Murti and
from the Kautuka the Utsava beram gets its consecration and in
like manner the Snapana and the Bali berams. But in Tirumala
the Dhruva Murti is self-manifest Brahmam and therefore not
consecrated by man. The first consecration of a portable image
was that of Bhoga Srinjvasa (called at that time Manavalapperumal)
in 966 A.D. There was however another portable image even
before 966 A.D. called Venkatatturaivar. But He would not
bave been consecrated according to the Agamas, since the Agama
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form of worship was introduced only in 966 A.D. at the time of
consecration of Bhoga Srinivasa. Nor is He a correct replica
of the Dhruva Beram. That was why Manavalapperumal had
to be made in silver and consccrated. So, in the language of
the Agama, Manavalapperumal became the Kautuka Béram.
Venkatatturaivar was made to rank next in importance and served
as processional Murti (Utsava Murti) till about 1330 A.D. when
" as already described He was superceded by Malai kuniya.ninra
perumal with the two consorts (now known as Malayappan).

This manner of introducing new idolsis not in the true Agama
style. So the inscriptions do not call Malai kunia ninra peruinal
as the Utsava Beram, nor is Bhoga Srinivasa called Kautuka
Beram. Nor are Venkatatturaivar and Koluvu Srinivasa described
in the inscriptions as Snapana Beram and Bali Beram respectively,

We thus find that in Tirumala - these portable idols are ncg
known by the Agama names but only by their popular nomenclature
because the Agama rules of consecration were not observed.

Sudarsana: (or Chakrattd]var) is another Deity in the Sanctum,
He figures in separate procession on the Ankurarpanam and on
the Tirthavari day of the Brahmotsavam on the Pushkarani bund
i front of Sri Varahaswami temple.

The Murtis who deputise for the Dhruva Murti have been
described above. We next have to consider the presence of the
Processional Murtis* of the Sri Rama (Raghunatha) pantheon
and those of Sr: Krishna.

Sri Raghunatha and Sri Krishna,

The pantheon of these two processional Murtis will be con-
sidered together. Logically ncither would be cxpected to be within
the Garbhagriham of Tiruvengadamudaiyan. Their presence
has therefore to be accounted for. There is no inscriptional
evidence jn the matter. In the case of Sri Krishna there is, however,
a fragmentary inscription which states that Avani Mujududaiya),
the queen of Kuldttunga Chola I made an endowment for milk
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and curds for “our Tiruviyppadi Alvan,” The words Tirumala
Alvan also occurs in it. Although the fragment does not make a
coherent statement we may assume that the supply of curds and
milk was for the Tiruvayppadi Alvan (or Sri Krishna), who is
in the temple of Tiruvengagamudaiyan. The year might be about
1100 A.D. There is also an ancient usage of the Tirumala temple
that during the Dhanur mésam it is the idol of Sri Krishna that
daily adorns the bed at night during the Ekanta séva; but during
the remaining eleven months Bhoga Srinivasa is the Murti for
that function. Sri Raghunatha (Sri Rama) however, is not referred
to in any inscription before the year 1476 A.D. This will be
adverted to presently. That portion of the Sannidhi pradakshinam
of the temple which was converted into a room about 1245-1250
A.D. known as Ramar Meda might not have been occupied by
the Idols of Sri Raghunatha’s pantheon, in 1250 A.D. The proba-
bility is otherwise even if Sri Rama and Sri Krishna were in the
temple in those days. For neither Malayappan and His consorts
nor Koluvu Srinivasa were then in the temple. They appear to
have come in after 1330 AD. There was no shrine or temple
of Sri Raghunatha even in Tirupati till 1481 A.D. when one was
built and the idol of Sri Raghunatha installed by a staunch Sri
Vaishnava, Sathakopadasar Narasimharaya Mudaliyar (II. 73,
and 74, 29-10-1481) on Monday, Saptami and Sravana Nakshatra
in Tula month Plava year. The same donor made a large endow-
ment (II. 68, 23-11-1476) in 1476 A.D. in connection with the
celebration of an annual twelve days’ festival for Sri Ramanuja
in Tirumala. One item of that endowment is for a daily food
offering for Sri Raghunatha who is stated to be in the Tirumala
shrine. The inscription does not state that he installed Sri Raghu-
natha. The inscription in Tamil reads «* @GHudGué rEsrsdar
5Tér alf) Hype QFrusnemnd uyds Sollurwsd
pF @',

Inscriptions of endowments made for newly installed idols
clearly state that they were newly installed. The installation of
Sri Raghunatha in Sri Ramanuja’s temple in Tirupati (II. 88,

1127,
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12-8-1488) is one such. So also is the installation of Sri Ramanuja
in Sri Raghunatha’s temple in Tirupati (1. 137, 3-6-1497). Wherever
there is a shrine for Ramanuja there would be a Raghunatha
installed there by His side. Food offerings to Sri Ramanuja
could not be made independently. There must be & Divine Murti
alongside so that food offered to that Murti could be made over
to Sri Ramanuja. The appropriate Murti for Ramanuja’s shrine
is Raghunatha since Ramanuja is considered to be the incarnation
of Lakshmana. Therefore when the food offering was made in
1476 to Sri Raghunatha of Tirumala by name as an adjunct to
an endowment for Sri Ramanuja the only inference to be drawn
is that at the time of installation of Sri Ramanuja in Tirumala
there would have been a Raghunatha also there. Although the
inscription dated 1476 A.D. does not state that Sri Raghunatha
was in Tiruvengadamudaiyan’s Sannidhi, another inscription of
the year 1504 A.D. of an endowment for a Nandavilakku (IIL. 1.
4-9-1504) distinctly states that it was for Raghunatha existing
in Tiruvengadamudaiyan’s sannidhi <« @Qaudsc qwiwrer
pPPIG auisne QEisd UEsTIWES PBEIT
Hard@ pL. 4G UYEGL..." .

We could not however dogmatise that a Raghunatha did
exist on the date that a shrinc was constructed for Ramanuja.
In Tirupati for instance there was a shrine for Ramanuja from
about 1200 A.D, but a Raghunatha was installed by his side only
in 1488 (I1. 88-12 8.1488) by one Vignésvara Sriman. Even the
independent temple for Raghunatha and the installation of His
Image were made only in 1481.

There would have been no objection from any sect of Hindus
for installing Sri Raghunatha and Sri Krishna as adjuncts to Tiru-
vengadamudaiyin because He is Narayana come here from Vai-
kuntam and the two deities are only His Avatars. We have
already shown that the Archavatar of Sri Venkateswara has a
logical connection with Sri Rama and Sri Krishna, We have
also shown that slokas of the Mantrapushpam referring to these
Maurtis are based on that conception. There are two stories connected
with the life of Sriman Nathamuni and Yamunécharya, which
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suggest that Sri Tirumala Nambi might have installed the idols
of Krishna and Rama as he would have had strong sentimental
reasons for doing it. The tradition about Nathamuni is that
after a long life of 340 years he had an unexpected call from Sri
Rama. On a morning when he had gone out for the morning
bath two Villis (huntsmen) and a woman with a monkey called at
his lodgings. His daughter who was at home informed them that
he had gone for his bath. They went away leaving a message that
he was wanted by them. This message was delivered to him
and straight away he went in search of them. And after a long
search got darsan of them in a forest and obtained release from
this life. Relating to Sri Yamunacharya (Alavandar) the story
is that impelled by a sincere desire to be initiated into Yoga marga
he went to meet the great guru Tirukkurukaippirdn at a moment
when he was in deep meditation with an image in front of him,
For fear of disturbing him Yamunacharya hid himself behind a
wall in rear. The Yogi suddenly asked whether there was on
the spot any scion of the Sotai family (Qeri e goggmri
».e@wGmr). Yamunacharya came forward, submitted with pros-
tration that his humble self was a scion of that family and en-
quired how the Yogi came to suspect his presence. The reply
was that the idol of Sri Krishna turned his face to the wall which
could have occurred only if there was one of the Sottai family there;
for he is so partial to them. Yamunacharya was Tirumala Nambi’s
grand-father at whose feet the latter learnt his spiritual lessons.
It was after hearing hi< exposition of a portion of Namma}var’s
Prabandham in praise of Sri Venkatesvara he came away to
Tirumala and dedicated himself solely and unreservedly to the
service of Tiruvengadamudaiyan. Sriman Natha Munigal was
Yamunacharya’s grand father and was the founder of that system
of faith or Bhakti which culminated in Sri Ramanuja Siddhantam
dealt with in his Sri Bhashya. There is another point also.
Tirumala Nambi himself was in his life time the best exponent of
the esoteric meanings of Valmiki’s Ramayana and Sri Ramanuja
sat at his feet for one year to imbibe the interpretations. His
intense devotion to Sri Raghunatha and Sri Krishna could
therefore be well appreciated by us.
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Therefore, the probability amounting to a certainty is that
Tirumala Nambi installed in the Garbha Griham the images
of Sri Rama and Sri Krishna during his life time even if they were
not installed before.

It may be mentioned here that neither Sri Raghunatha nor
Sri Krishna enjoys separate daily puja. They share in the Nityar.
chana for Sri Venkatesa. All food offerings made in the Garbha
Griham are first offered to Sri Venkateswara even when intended
for Sri Rama or Sri Krishna. But in 4sthanams and processions
outside the Garbhagriham the particular idol gets the offerings
direct. This procedure is distinctly mentioned in the inscriptions,
such as (II. 88. 12-8-1486)" for offerings made outside the temple
direct to Sri Krishna.

THE TEMPLE, ITS PECULIARITIES,

It has already been shown that the temple with its one Murti
(Exa Murti) and devoid of ancillary deities which the Samhita
prescribes shows distinctly that from the earliest days it stood out
as something different from the Agama types. It was also shown
how the idea of setting up more Mdrtis in the niches of the first
pradakshinam did not succeed. There are some other features
also which will be referred to now.

We do not find the undermentioned Agama bimbams figured
in their respective place:—

1. @guip® prar Sopaewprud PowasTrn
uariwds stasféd Paleds_ypeaLurgids Sné
squeL. Holurwssd gérgo (IL68; 12-8-1486).

“Bgsemdr BosspsBrv Oynaded ageyth 6-4

prer sh-4g PoCubis_gpoLura Sy Criyd syou
uy ®A, (T, 165; 8-11-1524),

2. "PDpéQary PEsrd o Pés SwiCsrlarh
seyuid s wir usPd B-b PEsTdr Bpapewyrudr
o soed ape Qsismwems Gsres uyg &0 III, 173;
19-7-1521.
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Dhatri and Vidhatri guarding the door-way, the former on
the south side and facing North, the latter on the North side facing
South. Bhuvanga lying on the sill of the door frame with his head
on the south and facing up. Patanga would be pictured on the
soffit stone with his head on the North and facing down. The
Dvarapalas on (the first door-way) either side of this door would
be Manikam and Sandhya. TheDvarapalas at the Mukha mantapam
door-way would be Vikhanas and Tapasa. The Dvarapalas at
Prathamavarana doorway would be Kishkindam and Tirtha. The
Dvarapalas at the second avarana doorway would be Vakratunda
(Ganesa) and Nagaraja (Serpent). Not one of these is depicted in
this temple. Other essential elements (in addition to the above)
to make up an Adbamadhama temple (lowest) are Vishvaksens,
Garuda, Sribhutam, Nyaksha and Bhutapitham. We have only
Vishvaksena and Garuda in their proper place in the temple. Sri
Bhitam who should be 1n the Sopanam in the first dvaranam finds
his place among the five stones placed between the Dhvajastam-
bham and Balipitham which are outside the inner gopuram.
Nyaksha is not figured. The next higher type of temple, the
Adhama Madhyama, should have in addition to the above, Indra
and the other digdevatas (8), Bhaskara, Chakram, Sankham. The
digdevatas are only to be imagined in this temple while Bhaskara,
Sankam and Chakram are grouped into the five stones referred
to above.

Vishvaksena, and Garuda as also Dhvajastambham and
Balipitham are common to all classes of temples, Vaikhanasa
and Pincharatra, even of the commonest type. The devatas and
the dikpalas etc., are essential deities in a Vaikhanasa temple.
Every day the Bali Beram of Sri Venkateswara should be taken
out for offering ‘havis’ to these. The procession should be in a
palanquin accompanied by music, dancers, songsters, etc. There
are nrittam, ragam and music to be done before each devata,
in the appropriate manner prescribed for each. This is called
Nityotsavam and is common to Vaikhanasa and Péincharatra
temples. Such a festival does not appear to bave been in vogue during
any period of the history of this temple. It was already stated
that the Mantrapushpam ritual is something specially coined
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for this temple. It is not of the pattern given in any Agama. The
Brahmirddhanam by night seems to have cut out the necessity
for strict observance of the Agama procedure. The Vaikhanasas
have however been doing the puja from time immemorial. The
abbreviated form of worship which was current seems to have
in the course of ages affected their competency and to have made
it necessary for them to import one family from some other part
of the country for celebrating the rituals of the annual festival .
in the proper manner. This family consequently enjoys a.greater
share in the emoluments than the others. If the daily pujas were
performed scrupulously and in strict accordance with the Agamas
there would be little time left to the pilgrims for Darshan.

The Other Berams.

In this connection a few words have to be said about the
other Berams, that is other than the Kautuka Beram, in the matter
of food offering. Each Beram should get its own share of food in
relationto the quantity offered to the Dhruva Beram. The usual share
wollli be something like the following. Dhruva Beram one dronam
or mdrakkal or timbu. For Devi half a timbu, Kautukam half
dronam; Utsava Beram, half dronam; Snapana, half dronam
and Bali Beram half dronam. Jaggery in addition by day and
payasam by night. When a temple is consecrated for the first
time all these Murtis and Berams would be installed and due
provision made for the ration to each (at least for the day time).
We know that Samavai while consecrating the Kautuka Beram
made a provision of four nali of rice per day (four nili may be equal
to a dronam). There was not a Utsava Murti then. Malayappan
comes to light only about 1339 A.D. Nobody made an endowment
for the supply of food ration for this Murti. Nor do we hear
of any endowment for the other Berams. If Bhoga Srinivasa was
offered 4 ndli of rice per day, the Dhruva Beram and Sri Devi
should have been receiving (12 nalis) one dronam and a half
per day. Inscriptional evidence for the quantity offered to the
Dhruva Beram is wanting. But from a certain inscription of
the thirteenth century! we learn that one half of the village of

1, L9, 1234A.D.
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Paiyidipalle was the property of Sri Venkateswara from ancient
times. One family of the Archakas is known as Paidipalle dikshitulu.
It is likely that this family was from very early days in enjoyment
of the income from one half of the village of Paindipalle. This
Archaka would have been offering to the Deity a certain quantity
of cooked rice and, as has been the ancient usage, himself enjoying
that food. The Agamas make it incumbent on the donor who
consecrates a temple to make an adequate endowment of land to
enable the archaka to lead a happy and contented life. All the
other idols which came in later do not appear to have been provided
for separately. From the Vaikhanasa point of view these were
intruders, not having been consecrated properly. This affords us
indirect evidence that the temple was not consecrated strictly in
accordance with the Vaikhanasa or Pancharathra Agama.

Some Crude and;Incorrect Notions.

The description and the explanation given above show that
the Dhruva Murti in Tirumala represents some form of Vishnu.
There are, however, some persons, they might be few in number,
who consider the Murti to represent Subramaniaswami, Durga or
some form of Sakti. They point to this or that emblem or symbol
which is common to several Deities, to sayings or statements
alleged to have been made by Sri Sankaracharya and to incorrect
information given by men. Some of these are given collectively
in a book recently published by one Sri V. N. Srinivasa Rao, a
Retired Tahsildar.

(1) Because North Indians call Srinivasa by the name Balaji
and becausc Durga seems to be known by the name Bald when
she was nine years of age, Sri Venkatesa is Durga. Is this not
fine logic? He forgets that North Indians commenced going to
Tirupati only from the days of Sivaji in the middle of the seventeenth
century A.D. The Bhagavata slokam—“ Tamadbhutam Bala-
kamambujekshanam etc.,” in describing the Darsan which Sri
Krishna gave to His father soon after His birth may be referred
to in this connection. We have already shown how closely this
avatar has been recognised to be associatedswith Sri Venkateswara.
A standing Murti with a lovely countenance and plump body
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fully decorated with ornaments would appropriately be called
* Balaka.”

(2) People considersd the Tirumala Hill a form of Méru-
chakram which is a form of Devi. No one could take objection
to that conception if one stretches his imagination to that extent.
But the range of hills has always been called Vengadam. Even
the name Séshachilam is of recent origin. Because the hill is so
sacred as to burn away all sins and because people wish to worship
the God thereon it is considered good manners to ascend the
hills after bathing and wearing fresh or wet clothes. We are
only surprised that the author did not add another argument
that those who have a prarthana to fulfil wear cloth dyed in turmeric
water to please Durga thereby.

(3) He adds that the real name of Galigopuram is Ka]i Gopu-
ram. The gopuram itself was constructed in 1628 A.D. a fact
perhaps not known to the author. The gdpuram was built by a
rank Sri Vaishnava (Matla Anantaraja) who would not have
left an inch of space for Kali there.

(4) “ At the corners of the top of the central Vimanam are
placed forms of couchant lions, the vehicle and emblem of Sakti.’,
We do not dispute it. But the Vaikhanasa and the Pancharatra
Agamas require that either the lion or the eagle (Garuda) should
be placed at the corners.

“ Sukhasanasamdyuktam Sarvalankarasamyutam
Vyalordhvakonakamchaiva Visam va'tha mrigesvaram.

also

“ Vakratundam cha Durgdmchapyagramandapabhittishu
Sthitamevam susamsthapya yadhdlabham samarchayet.”!

Bhrigu Samhita (Vimona devata)
ATHTAANT FAAEIELIT |
seYsARIE §a i Ansy qAEAT 1)
FwyEsY gisaAEwveafafay |
feqaid geieqre quraTe gRay
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Not only on tap of Vimanam but also at corners on top of
mantapams either of these should be placed. The lion is selected
to ward off enemies of the King if the temple is situated in a locality
where that consideration is necessary. If for spiritual and cultural
ends only Garuda. We know that Vira Narasinga Yadavariya
built the Vimidnam. The couchant lion would naturally have
been preferred . It is unfortunate that the images of Ganesa and
of Durga who should also find a place in the temple as per Agamas
have not been placed in this temple. If that had been done Mr.
Srinivasa Rao could have pointed to them to strengthen his argu-
ments.

(5) Simha lalatams, Jata and Srichakram on the crown. There
is no jata on the head of the Murti, a fact already mentioned.
Nor is there a Sri Chakram on the Kireetam. Mr. Rao could
have had no occasion, to go near the Dhruva Béram to observe
the features of the Crown (or Kireetam). Even the Acharya-
purushas do not enjoy that privilege. Unless the officiating Archaka
is a very tall man even he could not satisfy the desire to observe
at close quarters.

The so-called Simha lalatam is a common engraving on certain
ornaments, including those covering the marmasthanam of male
as well as female figures. It is a very rough delineation which
by a stretch of imagination we associate with the face of a lion.
It could be seen on many images of both sexes.

(6) The Ritual aspect-Sakti. Here again Mr. Rao is ill-
informed. Referring to the “ Drapery  which is usually called
*“ Ulchattu,,” he points to its long length as a definite proof of
the Deity being Durga or Sakti. This Ulchattu is of recent origin
and has been necessitated by the large number of heavy ornaments
and dyudhams with which the Deity is decorated. Commonsense
would tell us that a thick padding should be provided if these
ornaments, many of which have sharp edges, are not to injure
the fine markings etc., on the form of the Murti. How much
care is bestowed in the arrangement of the folds of the cloth, it is
only those who have the privilege to witness that could realise.
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The Nagabharana is not an ornament integral with the body
of the Murti. There is nothing corresponding to it on the image.
The Naga is one df the Nityas ever present with Vishnu Murti.
Its absence. even as the Seat or Sandals of Srinivasa is a unique
feature. The Nagabharana connotes nothing in particular.

The sandal paste was introduced only in the fifteenth century
‘A.D. Inscriptions are our authority. Balls of perfumed sdndal
paste not only adorn Sri Devi on the chest by night but two balls
(billas) are placed over the feet of the Dhruva Beram. Gandham
is sacred to Vishnu.

The abhishekam and its origin have been explained in connection
with the installation of Bhoga Srinivasa. Turmeric bath is not
given to Srinivasa on Fridays. Saffron paste is added to the
water. For Snapana Tirumanjanam of all Vishnu Murtis, turmeric
is however one of the ingredients. Neither Vada nor payasam
is offered to the Deity after the bath. Poli is offered during the
second bell. Even that is of recent origin. It has no antiquity
behind it.

Abhishekam for the gold emblem of the Goddess
Alarmel Mangai.

This image is not an integral part of the Dhruva Beram. It
is really an ornament presented by some Bhakta (they say it is
one of the Maharajahs of Mysore) for permanent wear; and endow-
ment also was made for its abhishckam. This Goddess is removed
and abhishekam done separately for the simple reason that it
should not receive the same along with the Murti and Sri Devi.
It is not open to every worshipper to see how it is hung and how
it is removed and refitted. Hence the screen and the secrecy.

(7) There is neither a meru chakra under the pedestal of Bhoga
Srinivasa nor any puja therefor. All puja is only for the Dhruva
Murti, the Bhoga Beram and the other idols. If the screen is put
on it is for replacing the Bhoga Murti from the Snapana pitham
to its Archa pitham,
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These operations conld not be carried out in the presence
of all. The Agamas cnjoin screeming on such occasions. The
Yantram which is on the pedestal and also under the feet of Bhoga
Srinivasa has already been referred to.  The idol itself was installed
m Sri Alavandar’s life time in 966 A.D.

(8) Bibva Patram:—This s onc of the eight punyva pushpams
acceptable to Vishnu in the daily puja:

Padmasamhitd. 12 Adhyaye (Charvapade):—

* Thulasichathushtay amdiirva bilvapathram cha Piajarhani.
Thulasyau sithakysnecha kevalakshapakasthatha
Chathyarasthulasibheda dirvabilvadalanicha
Sarvadaradhanarhani”

From Brigu Sambita Page 185:—

* Nandyavarthaiicha padmarcha thulasivishnu Parnika: |
Bilvaiicha karaveeraiicha padmam humudamévacha
Ashta vai punyapushpani grahyani thu yathakramann™ |

Both the Agamas recommend its use. The question should be
put the other way. Why is it not used every day along with tulasi?
Its cxclusion was meant probably to keep off ignorant fanatics
laying claim to the Deity as something other than Vishnu.

(9) Brahmotsavam:--Mr. Rao does not probably know that
it has always been called Purattdsi Brahmotsavam and that the
period is regulated by the criterion that the Tirthavari should be
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on the morning of the day when Sravana Nakshatram is current.
The additional or second one which coincides with the Dasara
occurs once in four years when there is an adhika mdsam. The
latter practice commenced with the advent of Saluva Narasimha
and the Vijayanagar kings to give satisfaction to those who observe
the Saura Chandramana Panchangam.

(10) Sri Venkateswara’s image is in the centre of the Gubln
Gribam and is therefore a Saivite Murti:

Here again Mr. Rao wrote out of sheer ignorance. If he had
madea cursoryacquaintance with the Agama rules for the installation
of standing, sitting and reposing Murtis of Vishnu he would have
realised his mistake. The location of the Murti in the Garbha
Griham has already been explained in the chapter dealing with
temple structures. The place for Siva in a Vishnu Garbha Griham
is the Paisacha zone just abutting the walls. The Dhruva Beram
should occupy the Daivika zone. Sri Venkateswara's image is
precisely in this zone.

(11) There is an outlet (Gomukham) from the Garbha Griham.
Why it is not working has already been explained. Regarding
the height of the Garbha® Griham, it has already been explained
that it bears a definite relation to the height of the Murti. The
builders have observed the rule.

(12) The floor has st no time been raised. The height of the
Dhruva Béra Pitham makes this obvious and is proportionate
to the Bhuvanga or height of door-step.

(13) Srivatsam:—Mr. Rao writes that.the markings of the
Srivatsam on the right chest, near the shoulder (instead of on the
middle of the left chest as is usual with the Vishnu images) betray
hasty and imperfect execution by later artists. He displays here
not only his ignorance but the audacity in stating that some later
artist interfered with the Murti and executed the work. The
place of Yoga Lakshmi and that of Srivatsam may be gathered
from the quotation given below from the Bhrigu Samhita, Lakshmi
kalpam (in the case of new temples and the installation of idols
therein),
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‘“ Atha vakshye viséshena lakshmisthdpanamuttamam |
Ashtadha prochyaté lakshmip Prathama thvanapayini |
Vishnirvakshasthale karya sarvalankdrasamyutd |
Dakshasthanasysrdhvabhdge Vahnyasré divyamandalé ||
Padmamadhye samasinam padmadvayakararichitam |
Varadabhayahasthaficha mandasmitamukhambujam !
Evamripam Prakurvita yogalakshmisthu samathd |
Yogalakshmim prathishtapya Srikamassamyagarchayét |
Vrthva Srivatsaripam thu dharayédvishnumavyayam |
Thatthadbimbanuriipaiicha kurvat srivatsalakshanam.” | *

Lakshmi is on the upper portion of the right breast (Daksha
Stana—urdhva bhagam) Vahnyasra mandalam and her place is
over the Srivatsam as is well known to every Sri Vaishnava. The
last line of the quotation deserves attention. The markings of
Srivatsam depend on the riipam or form of the particular Murti
and is not identical for all. Srivatsam represents the Mula Prakriti
and Sri Devi is its Adhishtana Devata.!

(14) Crystal Lingam:—There is no Crystal Lingam anywhere
in the Tirumala temple. Mr. Rao imagines that Sri Vidyaranya
has stated so. Sri Vidyaranya was the contemporary of Sri V&danta
Desika in the latter part of the 13th and early part of the 14th
century. As for the connection which Kapila and Bhrigu are
said to have had it may be-stated that Kapila, Bhrigu, Ganesa,
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Durga, Siva, and Brahma are all Upadevatas in a temple con-
secrated to Vishnu according to both the Vaishnavite Agamas.
But they never had a place in Tirumala for the simple reason
that Sri Venkateswara is svayamvyakla murti and not consecrated
according to Agamas. There is also no antiquity about the temple
of Sr1 Kapileswara Swami.

1 Ancient autherity from Sr1 Namma]var’s Tiruvoimo}i for the existence
of Snivatsam and Lakshmi on the breast of the Dhruva Murti has already
been referred to, The relevant portions of the stanzas are given below and
also Sr1 Andal’s statement n Nachchiar Tirumoli with the same effect 1s
quoted. T
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CHAPTER IX.

NITYARCHANA (OR DAILY WORSHIP) IN THE
TIRUMALA TEMPLE.

PROM what has been stated in the previous chapters it would
be clear that as the Dhriiva Marti was neither made nor consecrated
by man, the temple could not have had a definite form of ritualistic
worship in its early days. It was also pointed out that for the
worship of the dual form (a combination of Vishnu and Siva in
one Marti) which one of the Mudal-A]virs appear to have scen
in Tirumala there is no ritual prescribed in any of the Agamas.!
The description given in the Silappadhikaram does not also speak
of any ritualistic worsiip. The proportioning of the size of the
Garbha Griham which bears a relationship to the height of the
Dhruva Mirti shows that the temple was built to accord with
the Vaikhinasa Agama (and Agamas in general). Tt was stated
that the probable date of the construction of the original templc
of cut-stone might be about 900 A.D. 1t was also inferred from
the wording of inscription No. I. 8 that ritualistic worship (or
Karmérchana) commenced in 966 A.D. when the silver Kautuka
Béram called Manavalapperumal (or Bhoga Srinivasa) was installed
and consecrated for that special purpose. The sanctity of Tiru-
\éngadam however did not depend on the temple structure or
on the Karmirchana which man introduced, because divinity
was not invoked by a consecration ritual. God manifested Himself
there and Brahma along with the Dévas has been doing the pija
by night for their own spiritual bencfit just as we are doing for
our benefit, spiritual and temporal. This tradition that Brahma

1. TiruppZpa Alwar says in verse 3 of his Amalanadapiran that on the
Vengadam Hills the worship is being carried on by the Heavenly beings which
refer to Brahma, Indra, Rudra, and the others.
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conducts a worship by night has always been kept up in Tirumala,
Every night before the doors of the Garbha Griham are closed
five large gold cups (vattils) are filled with clean water and all the
spices required are put therein. All the other puja articles are
also left on a plate. It is this consecrated water that is distributed
to the devotees during the morning Darsan knwon as Visvariipaséva.
Devotees who are not Sri Vaishnavas have thus the satisfaction
“that the tirtham offered to them is water consecrated by Brahma
himself. The worship which the Vaikhanasa Archakas carry on
is therefore secondary in character, Imperfections in that form
of worship and differences from other forms are therefore ignored
in practice. When the Supreme Being (Para Vasudéva) manifested
Himself in Tirumala, He did not bring with him a Vaikhanasa
Archaka or the Marichi Samhita. This is where Tirumala differs
from other places of worship.

Although the Vaikhanasa form of worhsip has been in vogue
from ancient times there has not been in practice strict observance
of the procedure laid down therefor. For instance in 966 A.D.
only 4 nalis of rice per day were endowed by Samavai for the daily
nimandam of Bhoga Srinivasa. The probability therefore is that
there would have been only one piija performed during the day
time when cooked food or Havis was offered. We do not bear
of a night puja for a long time. A puja along with Havis at dawn
(Arunddaya kilam) was instituted by Tirukkalikanridasar Ala-
gappirandr in 1434 A.D.; and that was only for six months covered
by the Dakshinayanam. *

Before giving an account of the daily puja which is now in
vogue it is desirable to state the recommendations made in the
Vaikhanasa Agama. The Panchartra Agama has its own classi-
fications and recommendations which will also be referred to
wherever necessary.

The Vaikhanasa Agama recommends puja six times a day,
viz., PratyGsham (Arunddayam or Ushashkalam); (2) Prabhitam
(Pratahkalam); (3) Madhyahnam (noon); (4) Aparihnam (after
noon); (5) Sayankalam (evening); and (6) Nisi (midnight or Ardhaya-
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mam). This order is not being observed in Tirumala.!  Except
during the month of Margasira there is no puja performed before
day break. Nor is there puja done early in the morning soon
after sunrise. The Visvariipaseva which takes place early in the
morning affords only an occasion for devotees to worship the
Deity. Milk, butter and sugar are offered on this occasion. The
third item viz., Madhyahna puja corresponds to the Tomalaséva
and archana. The food offering which accompanies it is called
the first bell. This is the only occasion during the daytime when
Abhishekam is done. The fourth item is the Aparahna’puja which
corresponds to the second archana and second bell with food
offering. This function is an abbreviated one. The fifth is the
Sayankalapuja which takes place as a strictly private function.
There is food offering in connection with this also. The sixth
or Nisi puja corresponds to the Ekantaseva which is really no
puja. Bhoga Srinivasa adorns the bed prepared for the night.
Milk, payasam, fruits, nuts etc., are offered and sweet music played.
This function should logically have no place in this temple where
during the night puja is done by Brahma himself and therefore
the Deity would not be sleeping in bed.

Benefits Conferred by the Shatkala Pujas.

The Agama says that the pujas performed six times a day are
really for our own material welfare. Puja in Ushahkilam promotes

1. Kulasckbara Alwar in his Tirumo]i 1-7 states that worship 6 time
a day was carried onin Sri Rangam and that would have been early in the
8th century A.D. But there is no such worship in Tirumala.
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the vriddhi (or increase) of praja and pasu. Pratahkala puja pro-
motes japa and homa. Madhyahna puja is for the abhivriddhi
of the Rajarashtram. Aparahna pija brings about the destruction
of daityas (evil doers). The Sayankila puja is for increased produc-
tion of grains and pulses (sasya). The midnight (Nisi) puja is
for increase of cattle wealth. But as it is not always possible
to do puja six times a day in every temple, the same agama re-
commends 2 minimum of one puja a day.!

* Shatkalam va thrikdlam va dvikdlam
¢kakalam va Pijanam dévadevasya.” |

We know that in Tirumala it is impossible to have six pujas
performed every day in a leisurely manner. The Pancharatra
Agama goes a step further than the Vaikhanasa and spcaks of
one, two, three, four, five, six, or even twelve pujas a day if that
could be managed.

In Tirumala there are really only two pujas performed in
extenso. The one in the morning is associated with the name
Tomala Séva which is open to the public on payment of a fee.
The second one in the evening (night) is, as already stated, strictly
private in which the Archakas, the Paricharakas and the Acharya-
purushas only take part. There is also an abridged puja in the
afternoon. Among the lakhs of pilgrims who go there, there
would only be an infinitesimally small number who have even
an elementary knowledge of the form of puja. It is perhaps for
this reason that the component parts of the puja are not mentioned
by their ritualistic names. They are called Sévas; such as Visva-
rupa seva, Tomala Séva, First Archana, Koluvu seva, Naivédyam,
Sattumurai, second archana, second Naivédyam, Dharma seva and
Ekantaséva. Dharma seva, Koluvu and Visvarupa sevas are open
to all freely.” For Naivedyam only the Archakas are allowed inside
the sanctum. For Sattumurai (reciting portions of the Tamil
prabhandam and praise of some Vaishnavite Acharyas) Srivaishna-
vas only are allowed since they alone take an active part in it.
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Darsan in connection with the Tomdla Seva and Ekanta Seva
could be had only on payment of the prescribed fee. The pilgrim
would only be witnessing the functions. In the case of archana
however the name of the ticket holder with his gotram would be
mentioned at the end of the archana and the Lord invoked to give
His blessings. Usually there is hardly standing space available
for all the ticket holders to witness the functions with a feeling
of physical comfort.

As there would be at least a few who would like to know what
the course of the daily puja is like, a short description will be
attempted. The routine of the puja is mainly of the Vaikhanasa
type, but not in strict accordance thereto. There are intrusions,
deviations and abridgements. In the orthodax Vaikhanasa form
of worship there is no room for one who is not a born Vaikhanasa
to participate. If for any unavoidable reason an alien takes part
in the puja, that other is known by the name D&valaka, and he is
looked down upon. In the Tirumala and the Tirupati Temples
the Paricharaka is a Sanyasi who does not go through the formality
of receiving diksha or initiation at the hands of a Vaikhanasa
dikshita. Yet another person who performs the Mantrapushpam
is an Acharyapurusha whom the Vaikhanasa would look upon
as Dé&valaka. It does not however appear from the inscriptions
that a sanyasi was doing the Paricharaka service before Srimad
Mullai Tiruvenkata Jiyar became the Kartar of the Arisinalayam
matham about 1380 A.D. and one of the Sthinattars about 1390
A.D. He was probably the first sanydsi who took up the Pari-
charaka service in addition to his other duties as one of the
Sthanattars. The claim of the Vaikhanasas to have their own men
in the religious services does not appear to have been ever recognised
in this temple. As the Dhruva Murti was not consecrated by the
Vaikhanasa, any Srivaishnava is eligible to render religious service
of one kind or another.

The routine of Nityarchana.

Early in the morning the Archaka after finishing his bath and
his nitya karmdanushthanam should do his ‘pragimam’ to the key
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of the sanctum and proceed to the temple holding it on his head and
accompanied by the Parichiraka and the temple paraphernalia
and music. After duly perambulating the pradakshinam and
prostrating before the dvira devas, he should open the door uttering
the mantram appropriate for the occasion and enter the sanctum.
Facing the Deity he does his pranimam reciting the mantram
“Atd Déva........... " The Paricharaka should attend to the
lighting of the lamps. A mirror should be presented to the Deity
while still in bed. Songsters, maidens, horses, cows etc., should
be made to stand before the Deity. Brahmins should recite the
Vedas (Brahmanin Veda vidushah), dancers should dance and
songsters sing praises. They should all remain intheMukhamantapam.
Then Harati (Nirdjanam) should be done. At this stage fresh
drawn cow's milk, navanitham and sugar should be offered to
the Deity.!

The Deity who was in the bed is now removed to the jivastha-
nam. The practice in Tirumala however is for the donors to be
closed soon after the archaka, paricharaka and the golla (lamp
lighter and sweeper) enter the Sanctum. In front of the closed
doors the songsters sing and certain Sanskrit verses in praise of
Srinivasa are recited till the doors are reopened after Bhoga
Srinivasa is shifted to His jivasthanam from the bed. Cows,
horses, elephants etc., are not present for the function, neither do
Brahmins recite the Vedas. The camphor, harati, cow's milk
and navanitham are offered only after the Idol is removed to the
jivasthinam and not while yet in bed. No mirror is presented
to the Deity’s face.

The Visvarupa Seva.

Devotees are then allowed to have darsan of the Dhruva Beram
and Bhoga Srinivasa. This darsan is known as * Visvaripa
Séva.” It got mixed up with the function of waking up the Kautuka
Beram called Bhoga Srinivdsa. This Visvariipa Séva is the darsan

. Dharoshgam ®huva gokshiram navanitam sasarkaram
NEvEsaya nivedyathu kuryad yavaniksm punaha
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which is associated with the piija performed by Brahma overnight.
Worshippers get the Tirtham of that pja as part of the darsan.
Pilgrims get this darsan free, except on Friday mornings.

There are a few adjuncts to this seva which grew up gradually.
A pinch of sandal paste from out of a big ball might be given to
some. A small piece of perfumed silk cloth would also be presented.
The small paste is called Sripada chandanam and the cloth Sri pada
vastram. The former is applied to the forechead by the devotee
and the cloth pressed to one’s forehead in reverence and returned.
These are articles which were in contact with the Holy feet of the
Dhruva Murti overnight. When Bhoga Srinivasa was put to
bed overnight, a’half billa (cupful) of perfumed sandal paste was
placed over His Chest; a quarter billa was placed over “ Alamélu
Mangai Nachchiyar ” adorning the chest of the Dhruva Murti.
Another quarter billa was left along with articles for the Brahma
puja during the night. In addition to the above, two full billas
(two balls) were placed over the Holy feet of the Dhruva Murti
after removing the gold kavacham covering the feet and after
wiping off the civet oil with the piece of silk cloth referred to. It
is from these two balls of perfumed chandanam that the devotee
is given a pinch during the Visvarupa seva. The billas would
also be placed in one's hands so that he might press them both
to his eyes. The practice is not however an ancient one. It
seems to have had its origin in the middle of the fifteenth century
A.D. (Vol. 1l No. 40. 1469 A.D.). The use of civet oil was the work
of Tirukkalikandridasar Alagappiranar. Subsequently Saluva
Narasimha and Kandadai Ramanuja Ayyangar introduced the -
others. The term Visvarupa seva does not however occur in the
inscriptions. There would in any case have been a morning darsan
of the God arranged for the benefit of the pilgrims. The fine
songs of the Tallapakkam Annamachar would have been sung
for the first time in Tirumala only during the reign of Sri Krishna
Deva Mahiraya in the first quarter of the sixteenth century A.D.
The heartening Sanskrit slokas of the Suprabhatam would have
been recited at the beginning of the fifteenth century or in the
closing years of the fourteenth century since Pratividibhayankaram
Annan, reputed to be the composer, flourished in the closing years
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of Sri Vedanta Desika. Sri Téjlapakkam Tirumalai Ayyan
seems to be the first among the members of the Tallapakkam
family who made Tirumala his abode and he flourished in the
sixteenth century. How the morning was welcomed in the temple
in the centuries before the fifteenth it is not possible to conjecture,
We are certain that the Vedas were not recited in congregation
before 1430 A.D. in which year Sri Virapratipa D&vardya Maharaya
made the first arrangement for recitation of the Vedas. We are
also sure that the Tamil Prabhandams were not recited inside
the temple before the year 1476 A.D. In fact the Tamil Prabhan-
dam songs known as Tiruppallieluchchi (waking the Deity while
in bed) are not sung along with the Suprabhatam and the Talla-
pakkam songs for waking up the deity. The Tamil songs are
recited later at the commencement of the Tomala seva, as if the
morning sun was just then peeping over the horizon. These songs
are also not in praise of Srinivasa but of Sri Ranganatha. We
must assume that the morning function was in the early centuries
a silent one. In fact 1434 A.D. seems to have been the first year
when a ushahkalam (arunodaya) sandhi offering was made.

It is likely that the singing of the Tiruppallie]uchchi in the
morning in front of Sri Ranganatha when he was sojourning in
Tirumala between the years 1330 and 1360 A.D. gave the impetus
for composing the Suprabhatam slokas in Sanskrit in praise of
Sri Venkateswara. The Tallapakkam songs in Telugu would
have come in a century later.

THE TOMALA SEVA OR THE MAIN PUJA
FOR THE DAY.

The Tamil expression Tomdlai (Ggmiomdy) is probably a
contraction of @gr@®éswri (made up flower garlands). The
decoration of the Dhruva Béram with flower garlands has been
the characteristic feature of the Tirumala Temple. The expression
is intended to call the pilgrim’s special attention to the flower
decoration which takes place at the fag end of the puja. The
flower garlands are made in several pieces, each piece being of a
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particular size 50 that the decoration could be done in a spectacular
manner and without waste of time.

After the dharma darsan of the early morning called Visvariipa
Seva is finished the sanctum is cleared of the pilgrims and the big
screen is put on at the Bangiru Vakili. The Sanctum Sanctorum
is cleaned, which process is known as Suddhi (%3), In this
process are included such things as the removal of all the previous
night's flower decoration of the Dhruva Murti, etc., and the cleaning
of all the vessels required for the puja. Such of the garlands as
adorned the Dhruva Murti are presumed to be used to adorn
Visbvaks&na.

* Devanirmalya séshena Vishvaksenam Vibhiishya cha
Anyanirmalyamadaya suchisthane'psu va kshipet.”

The other flowers are bundled up and thrown into a well.
No part of it could be used by any human being, nor could it be
used for any other deity. But in practice even Vishvaksena is
ignored as there is no direct approach to Him from within the
Sanctum. His shrine unfortunately came to be segregated in the
first dvaranam of the temple about 1250 A.D. and He therefore
stands neglected. The removat of old flowers is known as ¢ Nir-
malya Sodhana.”

In the meantime the water required for the puja would have
arriyed from the Akasaganga water falls. The bringing of three
potfulls of this water is the inalienable right and bounden duty
of the family of Tirumala Nambi who form the Prathama Acharya
Purushas of the temples in Tirumala and Tirupati. One pot
of water is used for the forenoon puja, one pot for the evening
puja while the third is kept in reserve for the Brahma dradhanam
after the temple doors are closed for the night. This Akasaganga
water is used for filling up the five vattils, or large silver cups used
for the puja. The Vaikhanasa Samhita says that every day the
water for the puja should be brought in procession on the back
of an clephant. But it is so done only during the days of the
Brahmotsavam, Even then the water which is so brought is not
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used for the puja but only what is brought on the head by
brahmins.!

Marichi Samhita (Vimanarchana kalpam) does not however
say that the water should be conveyed in procession on an elephant.

A detailed account of the Nityarchana might not interest
the average reader or worshipper. It is enough to state that
the water brought for use should be consecrated ritually and that
some herbs and articles of perfume are recommended to be put
into the five vattils or large cups which are filled with the water.
As this is not being observed in Tirumala, what these articles
are and their medicinal properties will be given in a separate note-
The puja or archana is divided into the following parts. These
are (1) Mantrasanam when the Deity is presumed to be cleaning
the teeth and washing the face, (2) Snanasanam, when the Deity is
given a bath, (3) Alankardsanam, when fresh clothes are put on,
irdhva pundrom painted, etc. It is as it were, the durbar, (4)
Bhojyasanam, when Neivedyam or cooked food is offered (5)
Yatrasanam when Bali Homam is done and the Bali Idol is taken
out in procession to see that food is given to all the parivara dévatis,
(6) Sayanam takes place only by night after the ardhayamapija or
Ekantaséva.

Mantrasanam:—This does not require any comment.. The
Deity is represented as if cleaning the teeth, washing the mouth etc.
Spoonful of water is offered for arghyam, padyam and dchamanam

1. Alankritya ghatam samyak kshauménichchadya tanmukham
Qdjé sirasi va kehiptva sarvavadya samayutam
Punaralayam avisya kritvachaiva pradakshinam
* SOmam rajanam,” uchcharya garbhag&h€ tu dakshing”
Vinyasgcbcha tatah kumbham tripadd pari sObhité
EIO siradicharitya gasdhadravyam yathavidhi
Dadyadarchakahasté tu gribitva tattupujahkaha
Pilrnakumbhé tu nikshipya tSyam tadadhivasay&t
Alabh& kusadhurvair va tulasidalamisritaih
(Bbrigu Samhita 18th chap)
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(for cleaning the hands, washing the feet and for sipping or washing
the mouth).

Snanasanam:—As it is not feasible to do abhishekam to the
Dhruva Beram every day, the Agama practice is to do the abhishekam
to the Kautuka Beram. In this temple the gold (covering or) kava-
chams of the Holy Feet of the Dhruva Beram are also removed
to a separate scat and given abhishekam. A large number of
Saligramams also receive the abhish&kam.

The Kautuka Beram, i.e., Bhoga Srinivasa, 1s shifted from
His permanent seat or jivasthanam and placed on a bathing seat
(snapanapitham). Before this is done the gold wire connecting
1t with the Dhruva Murti is detached. A light clothing 1s provided.
The abhishekam 1s a ritualistic function which takes place to the
accompanment of the recitation of Vedic hymns such as Purusha-
siiktam, etc. The 1dol is first anointed with perfumed o1l and
the oily matter removed by use of tamarind (or such like) paste
and water Then follow a series of baths with cow’s milk, sandal
paste, honey (madhu) and turmeric water (haridrodakam). Every
time clean water bath i1s given before the abhishekam is done
Agam gandhodakam (sandal paste water) bath 1s given Finally
a clean water bath A sahasradhara plate 1s nvariably used so
as to give a shower bath  Then the 1dol 1s wiped dry with cloth,
pushpanjah done before being restored to the jivasthanam  After
domg prokshana to the Dhruva Béram the sambhandam o1 connect-
g link between the two 1s restored and pushpanydsam done to
the feet of the Dhiuva Béram At every stage the appropriatc
mantras are pronounced

The next step 1s the perfoimance of Pushpanyasam for the
Devas in the first, second and third avaranas in the piadakshina
order commencing from Purusha in the east  Similar pushpanyasa
1s done for the three avarana devas of the Kautuka Beiam then
for Markandeya, Bhrigu, Brahma and Sankara. Then come the
pushpanyasams foi the Dvaradévas, dvarapalas, the Vimanapalas.
etc. Lastly, the dooi-step of the garbhagriham would be cleaned
with water at either end and in the centre and archana done like-
wise foi Dharmam, Giignam, and Aisvaryam  This does not
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appear to be done in Tirumala. Marichi Samhita is cryptic in
its account as the detailed procedure would be given to the archaka
during his diksha only. The Agama rule is that the nyisa for an
absent (unrepresented) deva should be deposited between the
feet of the Dhruva Beram. We know that in the Tirumala Temple
not one of these devatas is represented by an image or even by a
painting on the wall. So all the nyisa flowers are deposited in
between the feet of the Dhruva Beram. This fact is of interest
to us as it is possibly for this reasom that tulasi is not given to the
worshippers as one of the prasidams of Sri Venkateswara. If
these d&vas had separate representation in the temple the puja
flower for each would have been laid at its feet and the tulasi at
the feet of Sri Venkateswara would represent His prasadam only.
The mass of flowers and tulasi now being laid at His feet however
represent the prasadams of other dévatas also. The prasadams
of other d&vatas would be acceptable only to those who do upasana
or worship to them individually for the attainment of material
benefits which they could bestow. But to the worshipper of the
Adi Murti, viz., Sri Venkateswara they are taboo. It is probably
for this reason that all flowers, etc., at the feet of the Dhruva Beram
are dumped into a well. The flowers worn by the Adi Murti are the
exclusive property of Vishvaksna and should be used to adorn
him. We will point out presently how the absence of the images
of the devas and the mutilated condition of the first &varanam
(Mukkoti pradakshinam) account for the perfunctory manner
in which Bali (food offerings to Devatas) is done without celebrating
the Nitydtsavam ordained by the Agamas.

Alsnkarasasam:—In this dsanam, vastram, bhishanam and
uttariyam (clothes, ornaments and flower decorations) are put on.
Urdhvapundram mark is invested to the accompaniment of the
ashtakshara mantram and yagnopavitam (sacred thread) also-
In Tirumala refined camphor and musk are used for putting on
the rdhva pundram mark. This practice seems to have commenced
from about 1465 A.D. The next item is the performance of the
¢ Mantrapushpam ** ritual. The riks, slokas and mantras recited
in this connection are quite different from what is given in the
Bhrigu or the Marichi Samhita and different also from what the
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Pancharatra Pddma Sambhita gives or what Sri Ramanuja gives
in his work “ Nityam.” It is one which obviously was composed
exclusively for Sri Venkateswara as His Murti Mantram.. Bhrigu
Samhita says,

* Tagvishnoriti mantréna pushpadyaih pujayét tatah
Mirtimantram samuchcharya késavadibhiré vava
Ashtottara sataistadvadashfottarasahsrakaih
Anantairndmabhih pijyo’ nantanama bhavan harih.”

It was already stated that this unique composition was made
0 as to trace this archavatar here direct from the Transcendental
Being connoted by the Ashtakshara mantra and by the avatars of
Sri Rama and Sri Krishna. Quotations from the works of Sri
Nammé]var, Sri Alavandar and Sri Ramanuja are also made’
The text of this mamantrapushpam is not given here as it might not
be of interest to the reader.

A function known by the name ‘° Matradanam >’ is included
in the Bhrigu Sambhita as the closing part of the Alankdrdsanam.
Although it is not mentioned in the Marichi samhita, which is
presumed to regulate the details of worship in this temple, Matra-
danam is in vogue here. This takes place as part of the function
known as koluvu.

Koluva or Durbar.

The Alankarisanam itself is a durbar held in the Sanctum
Sanctorum. According to the description given in the Bhrigu
Samhita the Matrddinam should take place there. It is however
done outside the Sanctum Sanctorum in the Mukhamantapam
(or Tirumimani mantapam). This deviation may be taken to
indicate that matrddanam did not form a part of the ritual of
worship in ancient days and that it is an innovation. * Matra-
danam ” is the function in which a certain quantity of rice, gingelly
seods, betel leaves and nuts with some cash are given daily as a
ration gift to the archakas. The Samhita says.

217



HISTORY OF TIRUPATI

“ Tandulardhatilair yuktam mukhavasaphalanvitam
Grihitva kiamsyapatré tu dévasyagré nidhdya cha”
Darsayét dévadévesya “ Somam rdjanam ” uchcharan

* Ghrihitat parite " mantréna sparsayitva karam haréh
Archakéya pradéyam syan matradanamiti smrutam
Bahuso dakshinam dadyaddanasadgunya siddhaye.”

For this function “ koluvu Srinivasa ™ (or the Bali Beram)
is brought to the Tirumamani mantapam on a silver chair with
silver umbrella and other paraphernalia. A laghu archana is
conducted offering arghyam, padyam and dchamaniyam. A mixture
of powdered gingelly seeds, dried ginger powder and jaggery is
offered to the deity and distributed to the congregation. The
day’s calendrical details are read out from the panchangam (almanac)
and also an abstract account of the previous day’s collection in
the hundi, in the shape of coins, gold, jewellery etc. There is
no reference to this function (nor to koluvu Srinivasa) in any
of the inscriptions. When the British took over the administration
of the Temple about 1800 A.D. and resumed all the temple lands
it would have been considered fair to give an extra daily ration
to the archakas for the loss of income sustained by them on account
of the reduced tasdik which the Government allotted to the temple.
The daily income was asked to be read out in public during koluvu
and the extra ration to the archakas would also have been arranged
to be given openlv on the occasion.

SRINIVASA SAHASRANAMARCHANA.

This archana is a part of the routine puja, but one conducted
for the material and spiritual welfare of individual devotees who
pay special fees for the performance. This is performed only
once after the Koluvu function is over. All those who have ob-
tained tickets on payment of the prescribed fee are admitted into
the Sanctum Sanctorum. The recital of the 1008 names of Sri
Venkateswara is done. After the recital, general blessings are
pronounced and the names and gotram of the ticket holders read
out. Some people make a lumpsum endowment, the annual
income there from being credited as the annual fee. There are
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others who pay an annual compounded fee. But the majority
pay for the individual archana. In other temples seperate archana
done for each worshipper mentioning his or her name, gotram,
etc., and the whole fee, or the major portion of it, is appropriated
by the archaka. In Tirumala the archaka is paid by the Devas-
thanam a few annas for the extra service rendered. We are not
certain if this archana was being performed in ancient days. The
names recited in this archana are appropriate only to Sri Venka-
teswara whereas the usual Vishnu Sahasrandmam is commeon
to all Vishnu temples and is recited by almost all Hindus. The
first mention of Sahasranama archana is in an inscription of the
year 1518 A.D. (Jan.)!. The Emperor Sri Virapratapa Vira Achyuta
Raya performed this archana personally, asking the archaka to
stand aside and recite the names. More details are given in the
chapter on Festivals. This function earns a lot of money for
the Temple.

BHOJYASANAM OR NAIVEDYAM.

The Suddhi, or cleaning of the floor of the Garbhagriham
would be done and all the cooked food would be transported
to the Mukhamantapam (just in front of the Garbhagriham) in
large vessels called gangalams. These vessels are made to exact
sizes called Solai, Half solai, etc., measures. The Bangaru Vakili
doors (the outer doors of the Sanctum) are closed and the large
twin bells in the Tirumdamani Mantapam would set ringing with
deafening noise. The archakas alone arc allowed to remain
within. All the others should walk out before the doors close-
Bhrigu Samhita says that before the cooked food or Havis is offered,
‘¢ Madhuparkam *’2 should be presented to the Murti. But Marichi

1. 11 123, Dark fortnight of the Dhanur masam of Isvara, Saka
1439,

2 ud e qF Fa anrfuanfEaT |
FEqArt § SR ATIHHREAS ||
Ghee, honey, jaggery, milk and curds.
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Sambhita is silent on the point. An attempt was made in recent
times to introduce *‘ Madhuparkam” but was soon given up
after a short life. The temple has its own traditions which could
not be easily broken.

*“ Havirarpanakalé tu na sévyo hariruchyaté.
Tasmad vaikhanasin hitvd brahmana anyasutrinah.
Na visgyu stathé any& cha tat kal& vishnu mandiram."
Kavatam bandhayét paschat. ghantd nidam cha karayét.”

HOMAM.

After the Neivedyam there is @ Homam which is recommended
to be performed three times a day, or at least once in connection
with the morning puja. It does not appear to be performed in
Tirumala.

* Nityagnikundé chullyam va parishichya cha pavakam
Charunajyéna juhuyanmirtimantraih kramat budhah.”

YATRASANAM OR BALI OFFERING.

For offering Bali or food to all the dévatas garrisoning the
prakdras etc., in the temple the Bali Beram (Koluvu Srinivasa)
should be taken out in a palanquin with full temple paraphernalia
including music, dancers and songsters. Singing and dancing
should be in the ragam, tilam and abhinayam presumed to be the
beloved ones of each devata, and food, water and flowers offered.
To some only water and flowers would be offered. The perambu-
lation should be at least round the three prakarams or avaranams
surrounding the Sanctum. In Tirumala however such a function
does not appear to have ever been conducted. The reason would
be obvious to readers who have gone through the earlier portions
of this chapter. For one thing the temple is consecrated for a
single Murti. The first dvaranam stands mutilated. The archaka
could not therefore locate or reach the spot where each devata
would be presumed to be located. The procession therefore
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does not take place. The archaka and the paricharaka go round
the Vimana pradakshinam, offer Bali to Vishvaksena and Garuda
in their respective shrines, then to the Dhvaja and Yidadhipa
and deposit the balance enmasse on the five Bali stones placed
between the Balipitam and the Dhvajam. Some seem to think
that the archakas shirk the work. But what is being done is the only
practicable and rational course to adopt.

According to the Pancharatra practice and the practice of Sri
Vaishnavas in their houses, one fourth quantity of the cooked
food should be set apart for Vishvaksena whose shrine is presumed
to be in close proximity to the Dhruva Murti. But in Tirumala
Vishvaksena gets no preference and has to wair till the archaka
reaches his shrine during his pradakshinam. Sri Bhiitam who
is presumed to have his seat on the sopanam of the Mukhamanta-
pam inside the Sanctum gets his share deposited on the five stones
near the Dhvajasthambham. Even the names of the dévatas
who are eligible to get food do not appear to be mentioned.

SATTUMURAL

The word Sattumurai is used to designate the recitation of
portions of the Tamil Prabandhams of the Alvars in the manner
which custom and usage have stamped as inviolable. There 1s a
prologue and an epilogue. These do not form an essential part
of the Prabandham, but were coined several centuries after the
days of Sri Ramanuja and at a time when the Sri Vaishnava commu-
nity lost its homogeneity and got divided into two warring sections,
even if at the commencement they did not mean to carry on an
internecine war. The two sects are known as the Tengalais and
Vadagalais. No further explanation is required to describe the
two communities as the unceasing criminal and civil litigation
carried on during the last century and half would have made these
names very familiar to every one in South India. What Sri Rama-
nuja built with great care has been destroyed by his followers.

The prologue is known as the ‘ Pitram ’ and is the real red rag,
In simple terms the followers of a particular Acharya who flourished
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some centuries after Ramanuja recite a sloka paying obeisance to
that acharya. The epilogue is known as * Vali Tirunamam *
(ergf §@prwu) which phrase means “long may his name live.”
(Some thing like “ long live the King.”). Communities other than
Sri Vaishnavas have no place in the Sanctum during this function
as they do not and could not take part in the recitation of any
portion of the three component parts. Women and children
have by custom been wisely excluded so that they may not witness
any possible unseemly squabbles.

Sri Vaishnavas headed by the Jiyyangar stream into the Sanctum
soon after the Archaka returns thereto after offering Bali. Portions
of the Prabandham commencing with the Patram and ending
with the Vali Tirundmam are recited. The congregation is then
served with Tirtham, Sathari, Chandanam and Prasddam, paying
due heed to the order of precedence of the temple hierarchy. This
function is not mentioned in any of the inscriptions and that means
that to the end of the eighteenth century there was no such function.
It therefore does not seem to havc any antiquity behind it. The
first mention of the Sattumurai of the Alwirs is in an inscription
of the year 1476 A.D. and the recital of the Prabandham in that
year took place in front of Sri Ramanuja’s shrine and not inside
the Sanctum Sanctorum. The subsequent adhyayanotsaram
were celebrated in the Tirumamani Mantapam originally and in
the Kalyana mantapam later. The Sattumurai function wherever
performed is the exclusive right of the Sri Vaishnavas. The Madh-
yahna Piija (Tomala Séva) ends with the Sattumurai.

DHARMA DARSANAM.

A period of about an hour or more is then set apart for Dharma
Darsanam (except perhaps on Fridays) which is for the benefit
-of pilgrims and worshippers who could not have had Darsan of
the Deity during the previous functions for which payment has
to be made. The conveniences and inconveniences experienced
during the Dharma Darsanam have already been commented on.
Then Suddhi takes place.
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APARAHNA PUIJA.

This is usually called the Second Bell. A shortened form of
puja is conducted, the principal item being the second archana
in an abbreviated form, although the fee to be paid is the same as
for the first archana. A second Neivedyam then takes place
heralded by the long continued ringing of the twin bells.

After the second bell the day’s work is presumed to have
ended and the box containing payments made by pilgrims within
the Sanctum is brought over to the Parapatyadar and the doors
closed.

NIGHT PUJA

The night Pija is similar to the morning Tomila séva. But
it is strictly private and none but those who have a religious duty
to perform are allowed to be present. The food offerings for the
night are fewer and lighter in variety.

NIGHT DHARMA DARSANAM.

There is Dharma Darsanam during the night also except on
Thursdays.

ARDHAJAMA PUJA.

The last function for the night is known as the Ardhajama or
Nisi Puja. This is a laghu or abbreviated one and is meant more
for offering sweets, payasam etc.,

PARYANKASANAM.

The Deity is put to bed. Bhoga Srinivasa is the Idol which
plays the part except during the Mrigasira month. A velvet bed
is laid out on a swing cot suspended by silver chains hanging from
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a beam in the Mukhamantapam which is therefore called Sayana
mantapam. The fee for admission to this Seva is heavier than
for the others. The Seva is known as the Ekdnthaseva. Boiled
and sweetened milk, fruits, almond nuts etc., are offered to the
Deity and a portion distributed among those present.

As was already mentioned two billas of perfumed chandanam
are placed over the feet of the Dhruva Murti after removing the
kavacham covering the feet. Perfumed chandanam (half a billa)
is also placed on the chest of the Bhoga Srinivasa, a quarter billa
for Alarmélmangai on the chest of the Dhruva Murti. A quarter
billa is left for the night puja by Brahma. These details are not
to be found in any inscription. The practice however seems to
be a long established one.

The two queens of Sri Krishna Deva Maharaya (Chinndji
Devi and Tirumala Devi) presented each a gold cup weighing
374 thitkams for offering milk during this seva (1513 A.D.). Obala
Nayakkar Rama Nayakkar, one of the generals of Krishna Devaraya
presented two hundred cows (1514 A.D.) for offering one nd}i
or measure of well boiled or paledu Kulambu for Ardhajima
Seva. This is a thick preparation of sweetened and spiced milk.

THURSDAY PULANGI SEVA.

On every Thursday after the midday puja is over the Dhruva
Murti is divested of all ornaments, flowers etc., and is given a
light dressing of dhoti and uttarfyam. The Tirumankippu and the
Kasturi mark are scraped down leaving only a slight trace. The
second bell naivedyam then takes place and the doors close. In
the evening after the opening of the doors suddhi is performed
and from the Yamunatturai are brought with temple music ali
the flower garlands specially prepared for decorating the Murti
This decoration exclusively with flowers is called Pulangi Seva
When and why this arrangement was made we do not kmow. But
in the description of the Murti given in the Silappadhikaram this
seva is described in the following words,
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'Quretty arecuh Qurd sy Camerfu
Qedisen QgyOurdr.’’

The Tamil expression «« yarewe’® ‘ Phviidai’ is the literal
equivalent of the Telugu “ Palangi.” We are therefore certain that
about-the year 756 A.D. this seva exclusively with flowers was
currenf. But whether it was a daily feature or one on Thursdays
only we do not know. It may however be stated that it is a prelimi-
nary operation for preparing the Marti for the abhishekam on
Friday, the next day. It would be a tedious task to remove all
tiruvibharanams, clothing etc., on Friday itself before performing
the abhishekam. The Murti is therefore divested of all these
on Thursday.

FRIDAY TIRUMANJANAM
(Abhishekam)
AND PULUGUKEAPPU.

The Friday Abhishekam is for the Dhruva Murti since he
does not get a bath every day. Pulugukkdppu simply means the
application of or anointing with prepared civet oil which is called
Meditta pujugu (G a5y ®) The application of this scented
oil over the entire body of the Murti is of recent origin. The
Friday Abhishckam however appears to be more ancient. It was
already suggested in Chapter VII that in connection with the
abhishekam and consecration of Bhoga Srinivasa (or Manavala-
pperumal) an abhishekam would have been done for the Dhruva
Murti also since the occasion was a unique incident in the history
of the temple. That day happened to be a Friday and on subse-
quent Fridays or other Fridays coinciding with a festival day the
Dhruva Murti would have received an abhishekam. The appliction
of civet oil or Meditta Pulugukk3ppu seems to have had its origin
in an endowment! made by Mudaliyir Thirukkalikanri Disar
Alagappirindr one item of which was the supply of this scented oil
(GurPis yapebsmiy) Jto be applied every day to the face

1. L 207, 16-7-1434 A.D.
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of the Dhruva Murti durin'g the six months of the Dakshindyanam
commencing from the first day of the month of Adi (Katakam) to
the end of the month of Marga]i (Dhanus). It may be pointed out
here that the whole body was not anointed nor was the application
made all round the year. The current practice is to apply the
civet oil daily to the feet and not to the face. The use of civet or
Punugu (by which was meant the exudation from the pouch of
the live rivet cat) for perfuming the articles of worship-was intro-
duced by Devaraya Mahataya in 1429 A.D. (I. 192;). It is not
the same substance as civet oil.

Why the application of civet oil was thought of it is difficult
to find out. We know however that in certain temples oil extracted
from sandal wood (Chandanadi tailam) is applied to the Miila
Murti perhaps as a preservative and also to keep off cocroaches
and other insect pests. This is however done only once a year.
Civet oil is extracted by killing a large number of civet cats. The
process is not the same as for the collection of civet as perfume
From an endowment made in 1496 A.D. (II. 136) by Kandadai
Appéachi Anna Ayyangar, we learn that on every alternate Friday
Pujugukkdppu was applied. This endowment was for food
offering in connection with the function. When the application
of civet oil for the whole body commenced we cannot say. Since
Alagappiranar made his endowment in 1434 A.D. and Appachi
Anna Ayyangar made his in 1496 A.D. the practice should have
commenced sometime during the intervening period. From an
inscription of the year 1506' we learn that the application of Pujugu-
kappu after the abhishekam was for the Dhruva Murti only and that
Alarmélmangai Néchchiyar was having only the abhishekam,
This is also the current practice.

The Pulugukkappu murai and the Friday abhishekam however
became & weekly function during the days of Sri Krishna Dévaraya

1 1l 4 (1-3-1506) by Dharmapuram Sittamu Setti. “Sure@dLw
BupnBw @ ésTUY gpepuaBsn i HrCudar iy
wna yYGSsTUY sTSRumel HwiCudvias grédunrt

Souweysarh s dn_@efleoGurle... . **, Tre Epigrapher has
made an incorrect translation of this as if th: Nachchiar also was having
Pujugukkappu
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Maharaya (III 80; 1517 AD.). He set apart the sunkam (xso¥c)
of one thousand varahams from Gudagr Nadu for pulugukkappu
on every eighth day (doma o su:s). We might therefore state that
the weekly Friday Tirumanjanam commenced only in January
1517 A.D. The inscription does not give details of the articles
used for the function. A detailed enumeration of these is given
i an inscription of the year 1583 A.D. (VI. 5) which records an
endowment made by Eftur Tirumalai Kumdratatichariar. The
details are:—

Gambura . 4 kudiram
. (1 kudiram=210 vardham weight)
Civet Bags ..o 200
Rose water vessels .. 12
Saffron .. 30 pana weight.
White cloth for face .. 1 (selai).

Note:—Kasturi and turmeric paste which are included in the
current practice do not find place in the above list.

The weekly Friday abhishekam is now an arjitam function
for the performance of which pilgrims make payment, carry in
procession round the sanctum as a mark of honour the perfumed
articles for which they paid and deliver the same inside the sanctum
sanctorum. The abhishekam is done not only for the Dhruva
Murti but also for the Goddess Alarm&l Mangai Nachchiyar who
stands on the bosom of the Dhruva Murti. It is therefore necessary
to dilate a little on its details. The articles now being used in
this connection are:—

Gambura or Pachchai Karpiiram—3} Kuchcha seers (84 tola

weight).
Civet bags (yp@sib)—T} K. seers (=1} viss).
Saffron (Kunkumappu)—1} K. seers (36 tola weight).
Kasturi (musk)—3 varahan weight.
Turmeric paste—} K. seer.

TURMERIC PASTE.

It does not appear that in the early days turmeric paste was
used in connection with the Friday function although it was used
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daily for, the abhishekam of the Kautuka B&ram (Bhdga Srinivasa).
The latter was first introduced by Kandidai Ramanuja Iyengar
in 1465 A.D.! On that date there was not an Alarm&l Mangai
Nachchiyar on the bosom of the Dhruva Murti. She first comes
to notice in an inscription dated 22—5—1477 A.D. (Vol. IL. 69)
whnéii & Sandhi food offering was instituted for her. Her name
occurs again in II 134 daied 31—8—1495 AD, It is however
from an inscription dated 21—12—1496 (Vol. II 136). that we
learn that she shared the food offering after the Pulugukkappu
on every alternative Friday. From an inscription III. 4 dated
1—3—1506 we learn that she receives Her abhishekam after the
Dhruva Murti has had his” abhishekam and pulugukkappu. This
is also the current practice. The Turmeric Paste (} kuchcha seer)
is intended for Her abhishekam only. In 1583 Sri Kumara Tata-
chariar did not however provide turmeric paste. The larger
quantity of saffron in his endowment probably includes what was
required for the Nachchiar’s abhishekam also. All these details
are gone into with a view to remove the misapprehension of some
people that turmeric paste is used for the Dhruva Murti and that
therefore the Murti is really a female deity.

GAMBURA OR PACHCHAI KARPURAM.

Gambura or Pachchai karpuram and Kasturi are both used
for the toilet after the abhishckam and the Pulugukkappu. This
toilet is called Tirumankappu or putting on the Urdhva pundram
for the Dhruva Murti. This as we have seen is not an ancient
practice, but commenced from about the middle of the 15th century,
It was first used for the Utsava Murti. For we find in an inscription
of the year 1380 A.D. that for the Tirumanajanam of the year
1380 A.D. that for the Tirumanjanam of Malaiyappan and the
Nachchiyars gingily oil 1 ollock, chandanakkappu 1} palams,
kastarikkappu, karprakkappu and kumkumakkappu were supplied.
The use of Pachchakarpuram and kasturi might have commenced
then. ‘A few words might be said about pachchaikarpiram and
kasturi. While chiidan karpuram or crude camphor used for
hdratti is mentioned from about 1000 A.D. the use of refined
camphor is mentioned only in 1380 A.D. The presumption is

1. 1V, 22 (18-1-1465 A.D.).
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that its use as an article of toilet and in the water used for the
Puja is of much later date. There are said to be three varieties of
camphor,’ viz. (1§ Formosa Camphor; (2) Borneo Camphor known
as Bhimsenikarpur (3) Blumea camphor. The second variety is
Pachchaikarpuram so highly priced. It is said to be formed in
the stems of the Camphora plant grown in Dutch Sumatra, As
this substance is largely used in the Sanctum Sanctorum and as
camphor is a very inflammable substance, the practice in Tirumala
is to offer the camphor haratti and straight away put it into water
so that there may be no room given for anything to catch fire.

KASTURI

Kasturi:—The Kasturi in use is also known as Mriganabhi
in Sanskrit (English Musk). It is an ‘‘inspissated and dried
secretion from the preputial follicles of the musk animal found
generally in China, Russia, Assam, Central Asia and in tke in-
accessible cliffs of the Himalayas.”? There are said to be three
varieties of musk: (1) Kamripa of black colour and superior
quality coming probably from China and Tibet. (2) Nepal musk
of bluish colour and intermediate quality; (3) Kashmir musk of
inferior quality. Musk (or Kasturi) is therefore an animal substance-
There is however another Kasturi plant which grows erect in the
Punjab, Himalayas and western Tibet. The leaves of this have a
strong scent of musk and are offered to idols. This leaf might
therefore be the one which according to the sastras should be offered
to Vishnu to be placed on the forehead as Urdhva pundra or Tilaka.
This statement is only a presumption of the writer, since it would
be highly improper to place an animal secretion on the forehead
of a Deity who is being universally worshipped. It is a puzzle
how religiously minded people tolerate the use of this on the fore-
head of the Deity.

CIVET OIL (Pulugukkappu) AND ROSE WATER.

It is likewise a matter for wonder as to how rose water and
civet oil were allowed to be used on the Deity. For abhishekam

1. See page 149, Indian Matera Medica by K. M. Nadkarni.
2, The Indian Matera Medica by K. M. Nadkarni pages 1119, 1120,
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water has to be supplied only by Sri Vaishnava Brahmins. But
rose water is prepared generally by Non-Hindus such as Persians
hnd Muslim$. And civet oil is prepared by soaking civet bags
(said to be the pouch of the civet cat, situated between the anus
and the genital organs, usually taken after killing the cat) in gingly
oil and allowing the secretion contained in the pouch to exude
into the oil by pressing while hot. The term pujugu itself explains
the process as one of making the civet pouch to sweat_out the
unctuous secretion. In any case it is an animal secretion obtained
after dealing with the animal in a violent manner. We and our
forbears of the 15th century have reconciled ourselves to the prop-
riety of its use as a toilet for the Dhruva Murti.  This civet oil is
smeared all over the body of the Murti after abhishekams with
saffron water (Kumkumappukkappu) and then again with clean
water. The Murti is wiped dry with cloth before the smearing
is done with the oil.

As already mentioned the tirumankkappu is put on soon
after the abhishckam of Alarmelmangai Nachchiyar is conducted
with turmeric water. These are strictly private functions. The
above is the procedure for the Friday abhishekam and Puluguk-
kappu murai which is really composed of four different functions:
pamely the abhishekam of the Dhruva Murti; the application
of Pulugukkappu; the abhishekam of the Nachchiar and the toilet
called Tirumankappu. After these are done the decoration of
the Dhruva Murti takes place with clothing, all abharanams, etc.

FOOD OFFERINGS.

In connection with the Friday abhishekam there have been
endowments made for food offerings during the second bell.
Appichchi Ayyangar in 1496 A.D. made provision for two athirasa-
ppadi. One Sittamu Setty endowed in 1506 A.D. for one Nayaga
taligai and one appappadi. One Bandaram Siruthimmaiya endowed
in 1534 A.D. for one vadaippadi. Rayasam Konappaiyer endowed in
1558 A.D. for two atirasappadi and Kumara Tatachariar provided
in his endowment of 1583 A.D. for offering one appappadi, one
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vadaipadi one godippadi and one iddilippadi. It will thus be
seen that different kinds of food offerings were made and there
will be no justification for drawing an inference from these, as some

people do, that the deity is female because vadaippadi was offered
at one time.

THE FRIDAY ABHISHEKAM WATER
(Tirumanjana Tirtham)

The kneaded paste of saffron is applied to the face etc., of
the Dhruva Murti and when the abhishekam is done with water
the first take-off is a more concentrated solution of the saffron,
traces of gambura and civet oil. This water is usually appro-
priated by the archakas who may be sharing it with the Jiyyangar
and the Parapatyadar of the Devasthanam. The others only
get the water from the subsequent take-off. This tirumanjana
tirtham is a highly prized prasidam. Along with this a quantity
of the sweet cake offering called Pali, is sent down the hill to Tirupati
distributed to the principal officers of the Devasthanam and to
some local Government officials. Pilgrims and residents of Tirupati
also try to get a few spoonfuls of this water from the Brahmin
who makes the distribution. As the water will keep for some days
it is sent to other places also. This practice has since been stopped.

(Sripadarenu.)

The Gambura or Pachchai Karpuram and Kasturi removed
from the face of the Dhruva Murti are mixed with the civet oil
which is collected from near the feet of the Murti and well kneaded
by hand by the Jiyyangar. The resulting stuff is weighed and
distribution made among those of the religious hierarchy of the
Temple who might be present, after setting apart tiie Devasthanam's
share. A small quantity is intended for distribution to the pilgrims
(or desantaries) present. What remains which nvariably is the
biggest ball is appropriated by the Jiyyangar according to usage.
This is called “ Kaimidi ” (what is left on the hand). This Sripada
renu is a greatly valued prasidam and is a lucrative article of trade.
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Spurious mixtures are therefore made in Tirumala and sold as
Srivri prasadam.

OBSERVATION.
Saffron (Agnisikha, Kumkuma).

It is worth pointing out that kneaded saffron paste as an
article for abhishekam is not contemplated in any of the Agamas.
The herb is a native of Levant in Asia -Minor (now cultivated
on a small scale in Kashmir). As an article of commerce it would
have come into use after the Portugese commenced their trading
with the East in the 16th century. All the inscriptions up to the
beginning of the sixteenth century A.D. mention only chandana
kappu for abhishekam. Medicinally saffron is said to be used
in small doses in fevers, melancholia, enlargement of the liver
and in spasmodic cough and asthma and also for flatulant colic.!

Refined camphor (Pachchaikarpur) which is also an imported
article mostly from Borneo would have come freely into the
market late in the fifteenth or early in in 16th century A.D. Ordinary
camphor @ e pHyp Was more common. The use of
refined camphor for the Urdhva pundram would therefore have
had a very late origin. It is not mentioned in the early
inscriptions nor in the agamas.

1. See Indian Materia Medica by K. M. Nadkarni.
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NOTE ON THE SPICES AND OTHER ARTICLES
USED IN THE PUJA-PATRAMS OR VESSELS,

Although the current practice in Tirumala does not appear
to be in consonance with the instructions given in the Vaikhanasa
and the Pancharatra agamas, and in “The Nityam” of Sri Ramanuja,
the instructions given in the Agamas will be mentioned for the
information of the readers. This will furnish one more instance
to show that in this temple even the Vaikhanasa acharam is not
necessarily followed and that the temple developed its own usage
and custom,

Five large cups or vattils are invariably in use for a regular
puja. These vessels are given distinctive names, viz., arghya,
padya, achamaniya, and snaniya patrams which are placed in the
south-east, south-west, north-east and north-west corners on a
large circular gold, silver or copper plate standing on a tripod.
The fifth cup, or vattil in the centre is for sarvarthatsyam (general
purposes water). In the other four vattils certain herbs and spices
are put in along with the water so as to produce a cold infustion.
What these ingredients are will now be given.

PUJA DRAVYAM OR MATERIALS USED FOR PUJA

The vessels used as also the other metallic articles such as the
bell, plates for offering haratti, the perforated plate for giving shower
bath (Sahasradhara) etc., are included in the term pija dravyam.
In this note however it is proposed to confine our attention to the
herbs, spices and other articles which are put into the waters used
for the purja.

In the conduct of the puja cretain upachdras or respectful
observances are ordained. According to Hindu customs, the proper
manner of receiving even an ordinary visitor is to offer water for
washing the hand (Arghaym), then for washing the feet (Padyam),
then for washing the mouth and drinking (achamaniyam); and
fourthly water for taking a bath (snaniyam). It is only after having

233



HISTORY GOF TIRUPATI

the bath and after having the toilet done (alankaram) that the guest
is invited to have his meal (Bhojanam) This procedure is observed
in doing puja to the deity also. For this purpose four suitable
cups, called in Tamil vattils, are used for holding water and are
named according to the purposes above mentioned and the fifth
one in the centre. Besides these five there will be a larger one of a
special shape called Pratigraha patram. Its purpose will be presently
seen. .

Drugs and spices which should be put into the respective cups.

Before commencing the actual puja, the vesels, water and all
the other materials go through a purificatory tantric process. The
five cups are filled with the sanctified water and the spices etc.,
are put into the vessels as will be detailed presently. The Vaikha-
nasa and the Pancharatra Agamas give the details which are intended
to be adopted in Temple Worship. Sri Ramanuja in his work on
the subject of puja known as “Nityam” also makes his recommenda-
tions which are mainly intended for adoption by Grihastas in their
home puja. It needs no saying that in every Hindu houses a daily
puja used to be performed in a suitable manner although modern
conditions of life have largely liquidated this. Some rich people
employ a purohit who does it for remuneration. Ramanuja’s
recommendations embody in substance what is contained in the
Agama Samhitas. The Samhitas are numerous; for our purposes
however, the Bhrugu Sambhita representing the usual Vaikhanasa
practice, the Padma Samhita representing the pancharatra practice
and the Marichi Samhita presumed to represent the Tirumala
Temple practice will be tabulated and examined in addition to
the Ramanuja practice. This examination will be instructive in
view of the fact that the current practice in the Tirumala Temple
is divergent from all the above. This divergence could not have
been an ancient practice since the tradition is that Sri Ramanuja
played a great part in framing correct rules for worship in all the
temples.  Even the Marichi Samhita recommends the soaking of
certain herbs, grasses and grains in the waters ¢ the puja pétram,
although it mentions their names in a compact and compendious
manner. But as the spoonful of water offered whether as Arghya,
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Padya, or Achamaniya is at once put into the same Pratigraha
patram and as the Snaniya water also gets into the same patram
it does not matter to the worshipper how the herbs, etc., are distri-
buted in the four cups. Before mentioning the names of these
article and their specific medicinal values, it may be stated that
Hindus who have strong faith in temple worship as well as in the
individual idol worship at home implicitily believe that all
oilments of the flesh due to the disturbance in the tridosha(Pitta,
Vayu and Sleshma) are effectually cured by the continued taking
in of consecrated puja water. It is not only the psychological effect
due 10 this belief, but also the medicinal values of the herbs soaked
into the water that give relief to the sufferer. How these herbs are
distribued in the different vessels according to recommendations
of the two systems of Agamas is shown in the subjoined table.
In some cases the same article finds place in more than one vessel
which only means that a stronger infusion of the water is made
with that herb.

Compendiously the articles so used for making a cold infusion
are the following:—

Vrihi (Rice), Yava (Wheat), Tila, (gingily), Masha (blackgram),
Priyangu (Valmilagu or tailpepper), Siddrartha (Whitemustard or
Nayi Kadugu), Kusagram (tips of kus grass), Akshata!, Gandha,
(Sandal wood pieces)* Pushpa (Flowers); Vishnu parni or Vishnu
krantham: Padma Dalam; Dirvam (Grass), Syamakam (Thenai
or korra), Usiram (Khus-Khus), Thakkolam, Elam., Lavangam
Karpiram, Jiti (Jasmin), Pushpam, Lamajjaka, the two turmerics,
Mira (Maruth kiJangu), Saileya (Lavangapattai), Champaka,
Koshtamansi (Kuriviver or Musk root).

Each of the above has its own properties and medicanil value.
It is however needless to enter into their virtues in detail here.
Those who have a desire to have detailed information would do
well to refer to “Indian Materia Medica " by K.M. Nadkarni?,

1. Both akshata and vrihi are mentioned in the same breath in the Bhrigu
samhita. Aksbata is probably the same as Aksrbta or AKrot.

1, Short notes are given at theend.
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The diseases which the collective infusion might be meant to cure
are epilepsy, hysteria, flatulence, dysentery, menorrhabia, bleeding
of piles, vomitting, bowel complaints, fevers attended with diarrhoea
or indigestion, pain of parturition, giddiness caused by biliousness,
gastric and intestinal pains, gout, rheumatism, cholera, intermittent
fevers attended with inflamation and irritability of the stomach,
dyspepsia, fevers accompanied by bilious symptoms, enlargement
of spleen and lever, gonorrhoea, heart disease, itch, leprosy,
glandular enlargements, typhoid fever, bad teeth and foul breath,
palpitation of the heart, nervous headache, chorea, menstrual
disturbances, hysterio epilepsy and similar convulsive ailments
and generally for the promotion of appetite and maintaining proper
functioning of the various organs.

Unfortunately in Tirumala, these herbs are not used. The
Marichi Samhita which is presumed to have been specially composed
for this Temple gives compendious list of the articles to be used
for infusion:—“Tandula, Vrihi, (Yava), Masha, Sarshapa,
Misramakshatam” i.., a mixture of rice, wheat, blackgram and
mustard, also Siddhartam, Tilam, Kusigram (Dadhi, Ksheeram,
Gritham). It is probable that owing to the temple being on an
inaccessible hill the daily puja could not have been carried on in
the early days in the elaborate manner given in the Bhrigu and the
Padma Samhitas. But when Sri Ramanuja about 1100 A.D.
reorganised the system of worship on a satisfactory basis, he would
not have failed to introduce the use of the herbs recommended
by the Agamas and by himself in his Nityam. In the course of
centuries strict observance does not appear to have been insisted
on. The result has been that the current practice is something
entirely different from all the previous ones. Refined camphor
and saffron are the articles in current use for the puja patrams as
well as for the Friday Abhishakam. These two could have come
into general use only after they became articles of commerce and
trade between Asia Minor, Malaya, Borneo, China and South
India. Such trade would have flourished only after the advent
of Vasco-de-Gama to the East.

1t is a subject deserving consideration whether the herbs which
have been in use in the past as the result of experience to safeguard the
health and the lives of the worshippers should not be reintroduced.
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Dravyam or Oshadhi used in the Waters of the Puja patrars.
N.B: (The Pétrams or vessels are called Arghya, Padya, Achamaniya

and Sniniya and Sarvirtha Toya. The dravyams are shown
hereunder as prescribed in the Samhitas.)

AGNEYA or S. E. for KEEPING THE ARGHYA PATRAM.

Oshadis according to the different Samhitas are:—

Bhrigu Samhita:—Kusa, Akshata, Tila, Vrihi, Yava, Masha,
Priyangu and Siddhértha.

Padma Samhita:—Kusigram, Akshata, Tila, Yava, Siddhartha,
Pushpam, Phalam, Malayajam.

Ramanuja’s Nityam:—Kusagram, Akshata, Siddhértha, Gandham,
Pushpam.
NAIRUTAM or S.W. for PADYA PATRAM.
Bhrigu Samhita:—Vishnuparnam, Padma dalam, Dérvam,

Padma Samhita:—Vishnuparni, Padmakam, Diirvam, Syamakam,
Tilam, Akshata.

Ramanuja’s Nityam:—Vishnuparni, Padmakam, Dirvam,
Syamékam.
VAYAVYAM or N.W. for ACHAMANIYAM.
Bhrigu Sambita:—Elam, Lavangam, Usiram, Takkolam.

Padma sambita:—FElam, Lavangam, Takkolam, Karpliram, Push-
pam Jiti, Chandanam,

Ramanuja’s nityam:—Elam, Lavangam, Takkolam, Limajjakam,
Jati pushpam.
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ISANYAM or N.E. for SNANIYAM.
Bhrigu Samhita:—Karpuram, Usiram, Elam, Lavangam, Gandham.

Padma” Samhita: —Kusam, Ratna phala bijam, Gandham, Tilam,
Akshata, Dadhi, Kshreeram, Ghritam, Sarvaushadhi.

Ramanuja’s Nityam:—The two Haridra, Mira, Sailéyam, Fakkolam
Jatamansi, Chandanam and Champaka moggu.

Sarvaushadhi is composed of Kashtam, Mamsi, Heridrad-
vayi, Mlra, Saileya and Champaka moggu.

CENTRE SARVARTA TOYAM.

Bhrigu Samhita:—Pushpam, Gandham.
Padma Samhita:—Tulasi, Tilam.

Ramanuja’s Nityam:—Nil.

SHORT NOTES ON THE PROPERTIES AND
MEDICINAL VALUES OF SOME OF THE
DRAVYAM OR OSHADHI, USED IN
THE PUJA-PATRAM WATERS

FOR A COLD INFUSION.

Vrihi is rice:—Water in which unboiled rice is soaked is known
as Tandulambu. This water is used as a vehicle for some powders
and also for washing ulcers and wounds.

Yava is Wheat.—It has three outer skins besides the three inner
portions. The outermost skin is fibrous and excites mechanical
action in the stomach resulting in digestion of food. The next
two skins contain acids and salts which produce bone, hair and
teeth. Yava is the name used for barley also, but less frequently.

Tila is gingelly seeds or Sesanum:—There are three varieties
black, white and red. The black one is the best for medicinal
purposes. The seeds are specially useful in piles and constipation.
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Masha is ulundu (Tamil); minimu (Telugu) black-gram:—It is
the most demulcent, cooling as well as nutritious of all pulses;
also aphrodisiac and nervine tonic. Medicinally it is used internally
in gastric cattarrah dysentery, diarrheoea, cystolis, paralysis, piles*
rheumatism, and affections of the liver and the nervous system,

Priynagu:—a Sanskrit dictionary for Vaidika terms gives
this as representing Manjal (turmeric) Kunkumum, Valmilagu
(tail pepper) or Tippili(long pepper). As turmeric and Kumkumum
are referred to separately, tail pepper or vdlmilaku is meant here,
It is used as a carminative spice in diseases of the genito urinary
organs. It produces tension of the vocal cords and clears the
throat of the tenacious mucus.

Siddbartha:—whitc mustard, gru s@@. In small doses it
promotes digestion and removes flatus.

Kusa grass:—Diirva; an infusion of its herb is used as diuretic
and astringent.

Durvam:—Arugampul (Tamil) garike (Telugu) cold infusion
stops bleeding of piles.

Akshata:—This could not mean the akshata which is rice
mixed with a little turmeric powder, since both rice and turmeric
are separately mentioned as puja dravyam. It is probably an
incorrect rendering ot the word Akshdta which is the Sanskrit
name for Akrot which grows wild in the Himalayas, and cultivated
in Kashmir, Tibet and Afghanistan. The husks of the fruit, or
pericarp possess vermifuge and antisyphilitic properties. The
ripe fruit possesses aphrodisiac properties.

Gandham:—This is the same as Srigandham.

The term Gandham in Sanskrit is used for Sitaphal and sandal
wood or Srigandham or Chandanam. The astringent bark of
Sitaghal is said to be used as a tonic. We have to assume that
by Gandham Srigandham is meant. The wood is cooling, seda-
tive and astringent. Medicinally sandalwood is useful in bilious
fovers. The powder of the wood taken in cocoanut water checks
thirst. It is also a specific for gonorrhoea.
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Vishauparni or Vishnukranta:—The herb is used medicinally
in the form of an Infusion. It is a sovereign remedy in bowel
complaints and in fevers attended with diarrhoea or indigestion.

Padmadalam:—Tamarai. The filaments and flowers are coo-
ling, sedative, astringent, bitter, refrigerant and expectorant.Medici-
nally the entire plant, ihe root, flower, stalks and leaves are all
useful. The flowers, filaments and juice of the flower stalks are
useful in diarrohoea, cholera, in liver complaints and also in fevers,
It is a cardiac tonic.

Syamakam:—Tenai (Tamil); Korra (Telugu).

Italian millet (English). It is diuretic and astringent. A
popular domestic remedy for alleviating pains of porturation. It
has heating properties and if taken solely as food is likely to
produce diarrhoea.

Usiram:—(cuscus grass) Véttiver (Tamil) Kurver (Telugu).
Tonic, stimulant, antispasmodic, diaphoretic, diuretic and emmena-
gogue. Being a cooling medicine, it is in the form of infusion a
grateful drink in fevers, inflammations and irritability of stomach.

!

Takkolam:—It is not known if it is thesame as Takoli (Dalbergia
Lanceslaria, or D. Froudosa). The bark, the leaves and the roots
are employed medicinally.

Elam:—Truti (Sanskrit), cardamum. Powerful aromatic,
stimulant, carminative, and diuretic. Valuable in many stomach
complaints, used for relieving giddiness caused by biliousness.

Lavangam:—Cloves. It is a stomachic, carminative, aromatic
and antispasmodic. Internally increases circulation, raises blood
heat, promotes digestion of fatty and crude food, promotes nutri-
tion and relieves gastric and intestinal pains and spasm. Stimulates
the skin, salivary glands, kidneys, liver and bronchial mucus
membrane. Relieves flatulence.

Lamajjakam (Sansk.):—Lamjak (Hind and Punj) grows in
Lower Himalayan tracts and plains of U.P. and Sind. Fibrous
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roots and flowers used as a stimulant, diaphoretic in gout, rheu-
matism and intermittent fevers; also in coughs and cholera. Purifies
the blood. The flowers are used as haemostatic.

Mura (Sans.)—Marut Kilangu (Tamil), purgative, heavy,
sweet, pungent tonic and cardiacal, a remedy for heat of blood,
gonorrhoea, tridosha, thirst, heart disease, itch, leprosy, fever,
rheumatism, and glandular enlargements.

Saileyam (cinnamon):—probably the same as Saila Myah
(Persia).

Gudetvak (Sans.):—Lavangappattai (Tamil). The bark is
carminative, antispasmodic, aromatic, haemostatic, astringent,
antiseptic and germicide. Infusion useful for dyspepsia, flatulence,
diarrhoea and vomitting. As a powerful stimulant cinnamon
is given in cramps of the stomach, enteralgia, tooth ache and
paralysis of the tongue. ~ As germicide it is used internally in typhoid
fever. It strengthens the gums and perfumes the breath.

Jatamansi (Sans. Tamil, Telugu):—Musk root.

Aromatic tonic, nerve stimulant, antispasmodic, deoles truent,
duiretic, emmanagogue, sedative to the spinal cord. Promotes
appetite and digestion. Employed in the treatment of hysterical
affections, especially palpitation of the heart; nervous headache,
chorea, flatulence, exc  Useful also in menopause disturbance,
hysteroepilpsy, and similar and convulsive ailments.

Karpuram:—(Camphor) Diaphoretic, stimulant, antiseptic,
antispasmodic, expectorant, sedative, temporary aphrodisiac and
narcotic. It exhilarates in moderate doses and raises the pulse
without producing febrile symptoms; promotes perspiration and
sometimes induces sleep.

Koshtam (costus English) Gostam (Tamil):—The powdered
root is used. It is a tonic, alterative, anti spasmodic, and aphro-
disiac; as aromatic stimulant in the form of infusion with a little
cardamom is used in coughs, asthma, chronic rheumatism and
skin diseases, fever and dyspepsia.
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Champaka:—(Kusuma, Suvarna) Sampangi, or Sampagam
(the golden yellow champa).

The flowers are used as stimulant, tonic and carminative,
also as demulcent and diuretic. Infusion of the flowers recommen-
ded in cases of dyspepsia, nausea, and fevers in doses of half to
two ounces. Also oserul in preventing scalding in gonorrhoea
and renal diseases.

Kumkuma (Skt.):—Kunkumappu (Tamil) saffron.

Its action is stimulant and stomachic. Slightly anodyne and
antispasmodic, also emmenagogue. Used in small doses’ } to
 grain in fevers, melancholia, enlargement of the liver and in
spasmodic cough and asthma. It is given in anaemia, chlorosis
and seminal debility; also in rheumatism and neuralgia; also to
relieve flatulent colic and in amenorrhoea, dysmenorehoea leucor-
rhoea etc.

Haridra:—Turmeric, Manjal, Pasupu.

Aromatic, stimulant, tonic and carminative. Internally it
acts as anthelmintic. Useful in cases of flatulence, dyspepsia and
weak state of the stomach.

Daru haridra:—Mara manjal.  Kasturi manjal. Kasturi
pasupu. Barberry. It is a tonic, stomachic, astringent, antiperiodic,
diaphoretic, anti pyretic and alternative. Its medicinal uses are
many including tinctures. Used as infusion also. The tincture
is much recommended in fevers accompanied by bilious symptoms
and diarrhoea, enlargement of spleen and liver.
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CHAPTER X.

TIRUPATI AND SRI GOYINDARAJA’S TEMPLE.

A FTER the downfall of the Pallavas and with the advent of the
Chola power Saivism grew in importance and the Vaishnavites
to whom the worship of Tiruvengadamudaiyan was all important
thought it prudent to abandon gradually the substitute Tiruvilankail
at Tiruchchukaniir and transfer their activities to Tirumala itself
in spite of the difficulties which the pilgrims might have had to
undergo. Their object was to avoid all possibilities of a conflict
with the growing influential Saivite community in the temple of
Parasar&svara in Tiruchchukanir. That was possibly one of the
reasons for Sdmavai’s consecrating the silver image of Manavala-
pperumal (Bhoga Srinivasa) in the Tiruvengadam temple in 966
A.D. There might have been another reason also. The Tiruvilan-
koyilperumén, the Tirumantrasalai Perumén and even the Tiru-
vengadattupperumanadigal in Tiruchchukanir were all proxies
of the God in Tirumala and were all probably consecrated not
according to the Vaikhanasa but according to the sister constitution
of the Pancharatra t¢ which Sri Alavandar and his ancestors adhered
Therefore it must have been feared that even the temples at Tirumala
and Tiruchchukanur must some day or other come into conflict
with each other. It seems therefore to have been decided that
theactivities of the Sri Vaishnavas should be transferred to Tirumala
itself. There was however the practical difficulty to overcome in
the matter of offering daily abhishekam to the Dhruva Mirti
whose size was too large. The installation of a silver Replica of
Tiruvengadamudaiyan (Bhoga Srinivasa) in Tirumala obviated
such -difficulties. To provide for the daily puja including
Nivédanam of this Marti Simavai purchased outright some of the
lands belonging to the Tiruchchukanur Tiruvilankdyil and also
some lands from the Sabhaiyar of Tiruchchukaniir. The manage-
ment of the property and the performance of the Kainkaryams
were 1eft to the managers of the Tirumala temple. Thus no
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room was left for any possible future conflict between the
Vaikhanasa temple at Tirumala and the Pancharatra one at Tiru-
chchukanur. We however find that even as late as 1234 A.D.
(No. 40 Vol. I) the hall of the latter continued to be the meeting
place for the Sabhaiyar and the Naftars on important occasions.
But the Tiruchchukanur Tiruvilankoyil of Tiruvengadamudaiyan
ceased to exist or sank into insignificance. And this may be
inferred from the fact that the last endowment therefore was some-
where about 1000 A.D. during the reign of Raja Raja I. (Vol.
1. 17) by one Raja Rajamiivendavelan. The next endowment for a
Vishnu Temple in Tiruchchukanur was about the year 1220 A, D,
in the 4th year of the reign of Raja Raja.III;but it was for an Alagiya-
perumal temple by one Pokkaran Pindyadardyan.

To the pilgrim however, the difficulties of pilgrimage must
have become greater. Before 966 A.D. such of the piglrims as
could not afford to ascend the hill after a ten mile walk from Tiruch-
chukanur were content with worshipping the proxy Gods in the
latter place, and also offering worship at the foot of the hill without
ascending it.  After the installation of the silver Murti in Tirumala
they necessarily had to ascend the hill. The founding of a new
village nearer to the foot of the hill having a claim to sanctity
was therefore necessary if pilgrimage to Tirumala was to be en-
couraged. The only such village with a name to boast of was
Kottur. In the southern part of this village there seems to have
existed a temple dedicated to Sri Parthasarathy Swami near which
would have resided the family or families of the Archakas who
wete doing worship in the Tirumala Temple.

THE FOUNDING OF TIRUPATL

When about 1130 A.D. Sri Ramanuja (the disciple of Sri
Alavandar and the nephew of Tirumala Nambi) was hard put to
finding a place for installing the image of Sri Govindaraja which
was externed by the Chola king from the Chidambaram Temple,
he must have thought of the site of this Parthasarathy Shrine as
the most appropriate one. This Sri Govindaraja’s idol was an
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ancient ene of Chidambaram whose installation at the foot of the
Tirumalai Hill would appeal to the spiritual instincts of the Sri
Vaishnava pilgrims. They could make a day or a night halt,
partake with propriety such food as the temple could offer, have
a bath in the Alvar Tirtham at the foot of the Hill and ascend the
seven hills of Tirumala. Thus after an interval of about a century
and three quarters from the date of installation in Tirumala of
Manavalapperumal Tirupati was ushered in by Sri Ramanuja (so
the tradition says). It was planned by him with the four Rajavidhis,
a north Mada Street (known at the time as time as Ayyengar
Tiruvidhi) and a Sannidhi Street. It was named Ramanujapuram.
There is no inscription to tell us what the plan and elevation of
the temple in Tirupati looked like at the time. Nor have we any
inscription to show the exact year of its construction. From the
fact that the shrine of Sri Ramanuja in Tirupati bears an inscription
on its west and south base referring to the year 1224 A. D. and that
the shrine stands outside the inner gopuram of Sri Govindaraja’s
temple—next to the Shrine of his uncle Sri Tirumala Nambi—we
have to infer that the inner gopuram and prakaram of the Tirupati
Temple were built along with the main shrine during Sri Ramanuja’s
life time. This inscription in Ramanuja’s shrine also tells us, that
the daily lighting and flowers for the shrine were the charity of
his disciples, showing thereby that it might not have been an integral
part of Sri Govind i-raja’s temple. It always had a separate Kartar
or manager as in the case of Tirumala Nambi's temple. As Sri
Parthasarathy Shrine had been consecrated according to the
Vaikhanasa igama, the consecration of Sri Govindaraja at a later
date followed the same 4gama. This temple and the small settle-
ment around it however compare unfavourably with Tiruchchukanur
village and its temples. There in Tiruchchukaniir we have the
Svarnamukhi river and spring channels; and the village was reputed
to have as residents a Sabhaiyar of over 108 learned Sri Vaishnava
families. Making Tirupatia flourishing village was therefore not an
easy matter. It consequently seems to have been made obligatory
on every Srivaishnava who was in anyway connected with the
Tirumala temple to own property and to reside in Tirupati. The
families of the Vaikhanasa Archakas, the Acharyapurusha, the
temple servants and the merchants who suppiled provisions to the
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temple were thus obliged to reside in the new . settlement. An
inscription bears evidence to this.

The popularity of this new temple would naturally have been
in propqrtion to its financial resources, about which we have no
definite information. In 1219 A.D. the queen of Vira Narasingayé-
davaraya presented 32 cows and one bull to provide ghee for one
Tirunandavilakku (perpetual light) daily before Sri Govindaraja.
From I. 40 (1234 A.D.) we also gather that the management of
this temple was in the hands of the managers of the Tirumala temple,
but that it had a separate account of income and expenditure.
From I. 86 (1234 A.D.) we further learn that the Yadava Nachchiyar
(or queen )of Vira Narasinga made over the second half of Payindi-
palli village as sarvamanya for Sri Govindaraja (the first half having
already become the property of Tiruvengadamudaiyan). The
income from this village was to be used for the new Ani Brahmot-
tsavam instituted by her, for the preparation of a golden Sikharam
for the four faced car newly constructed by her for the God and for
its repairs. Any balance that might be left over was to be utilised
for improvements of the temple of Sri Govindaraja. We conclude
from this that the temple from the commencement had separate
assets to meet the cost of its amudupadi and sattupadi. The temple
tastik should have been very limited; and when pilgrimage became
heavy as during festivils, private charity had to come in to augment
the normal tastik prasidams. Thus(l. 61. 1254 A.D.) we are told
that some devotees made permanent arrangement in 1254 A.D.
for the daily supply of eleven timbu of rice per day from the second
day to the end of the Vaikasi festival. This would have sufficed
for about 80 to 100 pilgrims per day. Some residents of Nerku
village made permanent arrangements in 1308 A.D. for the feeding
of a limited number of Srivaishnava pilgrims resorting to the
place on certain special days, such as Kaisika dvidasi, Mukkoti-
dvadasi, Makara Sankramanam etc. Such small endowments
go to show that enough prasadams were not available in the temple
to feed pilgrims. There were no Ramanujakiitams, choultries or
matams in those days. It took at least one more century for
such institutions to rise along with the growth in pilgrim traffic.
The growth of Tirupati in size and importance was in ‘proportion
to the volume of this pilgrim traffic.
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THE BUILDING OF SRI GOVINDARAJA’S SHRINE.

It is designedly called here Govindaraja’s shrine and not His
Temple. There was already a temple of Sri Parthasarathy on
the spot and it is not improbable that the gopuram was the one
attached to it. This Gopuram is what we now call the inner
gopuram. The town of Tirupati had to be formed anew. The
word Tirupati, to denote the name of the place, came into use
only after Sri Ramanuja planned and gave that name. It might
have been a part of the village of Kottiir originally as already
surmised. Sri Ramanuja took it on himself to see that a regular
town came into existence and so named it Tirupati—a Tamil name.
The portion of the town surrounding the temple came to be known
as Ramanujapuram. Somewhere about the same time the Chola
King ordered that Sri Govindaraja’s Utsava Murti in Chidambaram
should be thrown into the sea, as Vishnu’s place of Sayanam (resting)
was the ocean. This order is believed to be that of Kulothunga I,
since we know from traditions that one of Sri Ramanuja’s disciples
Kirratalvan behaved impudently before the King by giving a reply
to the statement “ Sivat parataram nasti “’saying that the measure
¢ Dronam’ was bigger than * Sivam.” The King’s Order to expel
the image of Govindaraja from Chidambaram would have been
an act of reprisal. We also know that Sri Ramanuja and his
disciples forsook the Chola country and found asylum in the
Hoysala country fo' nearly a quarter of a century till the death
of Kulothunga 1 took place in 1120 A.D. So the building of a
shrine for Sri Govindaraja should have taken place after 1120
AD. The idol seems to have been kept in safety in Tirupati
during the interval. That the temple was not built exclusively
for Sri Govindaraja but only formed an adjunct to the shrine
of Sri Parthasarathy, is obvious from a look of the site of the
temple as it now stands. There is no raain gateway or gopuram
in front of the doorway of Sri Govindaraja’s shrine.

About the year of construction, Dr. S. Krishnaswami Iyengar
in his history of Tirupati (Vol. I. Chap. XI) has gone into much
speculation based on vague statements contained in the Guru-
parampara and the Itihdsamala accounts. He had even to assume
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that Sri Ramanuja’s life period was from 1050 to 1150 A.D. instead
of what is usually stated to be from 1017 to 1137—38. Even
if the date and year of his birth could not have been stated with
certainty, there could be no doubt that the year of his death would
have been noted by the Sri Vaishnavas of those days correctly.
The date so recorded seems to be given by a chronogram recording
and Dr. Swami Kannu Pillai has it as the year 1137—38. Sri
Ramanuja was not born in obscurity. He was the son of a well-
known person Kesava Somayaji, and the nephew and great grandson
of the then leaders of the Vaishnavite community. Even if the
exact year of birth was not well remembered, it is inevitable that
the month and the nakshathra (Chittirai Arudra) would have been
remembered. These are invariably required in connection with
the Aksharibhyasam, Upanayanam and other rituals a brahmin
youth has to go through. There is no valid authority for the year
of Sri Ramanuja’s death being shifted by about 13 years. Dr. -
Iyengar missed noting a fragmentary inscription on the east
wall inner side, south of the first (inner) gopuram in the Tirumala
Temple. This reads in Tamil.

1. @nasaumiya gev@eversws 2. torunal Ggma prer
3. Ramanuja @rrwngug. 4. en emperuma (sr 1> Quepion)

Translated into English:—

1. In Saumya. 2. On a certain day.
3. Ramanuja. 4, Emperumanar.

It makes clear reference to Ramanuja at a period of his life
when h. bore the honorific surname ‘ Emperumanar’ (or our
great mahdn). He had under that honorific name become the
supreme leader of all Sri Vaishnavas. There are only two Soumya
years in his life time between 1617 and 1137 A.D. These are
1069 and 1129 A.D. By 1069 his age would have been only 52
and he would not have attained that eminence which got him to
be recognised as Emperumanar. So the only appropriate year is
1129—30 A.D. The inscription is in the Tirumala Temple and
has found its place in a fragmentary state on the east prakaram

248



TRupkT 00 SR AR’ TR

4—%

oy o S GOUNDARAA S 0] VAR TEMPLL T TRUAALL

.
SOUE A8, qeene pasmon ol

2% Avaratak

fP=a 1 S
mwmn

Hﬂ Lﬂ[ DE”

L

P ) PracAvsHNM
m%’ aunslon



TIRUPATI AND SRI GOVINDARAJA'S TEMPLE

wall (south side of the inner gopuram). How it happens to be
there as a fragment requires some explanation. It was already
shown in Chapter VIII (part 2) that the inner gopuram in Tirumala
was constructed after the life time of Sri Ramanuja and about
the year 1180 A.D. This inscription made in 1129—30 A.D.
could not be therefore expected to be anywhere in the gopuram.
The prakaram walls of that gopuram were constructed at a later
date and are known as the second prakaram walls. There were
however the first prakdram walls of the original temple which
temple was called Kayilalvar® (Vol. I, 88, 1244 A.D.). There
were four long inscriptions in the walls of the Koyilalvar. There
were also a large number of inscriptions on the first prakaram
walls of that temple. When the reorientation of that temple
was executed the walls of the prakaram were demolished to make
room for the new walls which encases the Koyilalvar. The demo-
lition was done recklessly and the stones bearing ancient inscrip-
tions got mutilated. These mutilated stones were used while
building anew the first prakaram walls and now line the inner
face of the walls, now known as the Mukkoti pradakshinam.
This has been fully dealt with in Chapter VIII, part 3. There
were however several stones which were left loose. Some were
used for paving the flooring, some in building the second and
third prakaram walls and one is found even in the first tier of the
main or outer gopuram. The fragment under reference is one
such.

The inference therefore is correct that Sri Ramanuja visited
Tirupati and Tirumala in 1129—30 (Saumya year). He was
then 102 years old. Traditionalso asserts that he visited Tirupati
at that age.

We may therefore well assume that the shrine of Sri Govinda-
raja was built some time before 1129—30 and that the Idol was
installed in the year 1129—30 A.D. There is no need to shift
Sri Ramanuja’s birth and death dates. The Tirumala inscription
referred to gives a clear indication. That the consecration (rather
reconsecration) of Sri Govindarajaswami took place in 1130 is
confirmed by a verse in the mantrapushpam portion of the daily
puja which reads “Phalguné masi pirniyam uttararkshéndu
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Visare Govindardjo bhagavan pradurdsin mahdmune.” Govinda-
raja Bhagavan is said to have manifested himself on a day when
Phalguna Paurnami, Uttaranakshatram and Monday were current.
Knowing as we do that it was Sri Ramanuja who consecrated
the Idol in Tirupati, it must have taken place in some Saumya
year (as stated above) during his life time. The only Saumya
year in which Palguna month, Paurnami thithi and.Uttara nak-
shatram coincided with a Monday is the 24th February 1130 A.D.
In Saumya 1070 A.D. the day Palguna Paurnima Uttara was a
Saturday and not Monday. There are in all 10 days between
the years 1052 and 1147 in which the month, thithi and nakshatra
and the week and day are the same as above. But only one of
these is in Saumya year.

We may therefore with confidence state that Sri Govindaraja-
swami was installed in the Tirupati temple on the 24th February
1130 A.D., if the tradition that Sri Ramanuja was responsible for
the installation is accepted. Phalguna Pournimi has since then
been observed as a day of Pilangi festival (flower decoration)
for Sri Govindaraja.

We have to remember that the Temple with its inner gopuram
and prakaram walls appears to have been built for Sri Partha-
sarathyswami only. The dimensions of the prakaram walls are
length 263 feet east to west and width, 186 feet north to south;
and the main gateway (gopuram) is more or less in the centre of
the latter and right opposite to the doorway of Sri Parthasarathy-
swami temple. Whether these were built after the installation
of Sri Govindaraja along side of Sri Parthasarathy, or before
that event, is a question which we have no means of deciding.
An inscription (L 85) on the door jambwall, rightside front face
of the inner gopuram shows clearly that the gopuram was in existencr
before 1219A.D. At the time of the installation of Sri Govind
rajaswami in 1130 A.D. the temple of Sri Parthasirathy bei.,
the older one would have been the more important one. And
it would have continued to be so for some time longer until, for
some reason or other, its doors were closed for worship Its
dhvajastambham and balipitham were removed. Now t+
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no worship in that shrine as the Murti there is said to have suffered
some sort of mutilation or defect. It is perhaps the Garudalvar
of that shrine who is now found accommodated separately adjoining
the prakaram. In this connection it is worth remembering that the
inner and the outer gopurams of the Tirumala temple were built
between the years 1180 and 1217 A.D. That seems to have been
a period when the Yadavaraya rulers did this kind of service to
the temple. It is not unlikely that the gopuram in Tirupatiis of
the same period.

Then there is the problem of finding out the probable date
of construction of the outer gopuram and the extensions of the
prakaram walls to the limits of the outer gopuram. We know
from an inscription (I. 89) on Sri Ramanuja’s shrine that the shrine
was in existence outside the limits of the inner gopuram in 1220
A.D. But as the inscription is only on the south and west base
of the shrine, it would not go to prove the date of construction
of the prakaram wall. In 1220 A.D. Sri Ramanuja’'s shrine had a
private endowment, and did not form a part of the Govindaraja
temple.

The earliest inscription (I. 223) we have outside the inner
gopuram which can in some manner be taken to give a clue to the
probable date of construction of the outer gopuram and its prakaram
walls is the onc on the north wall (outer side) of the verandah
in front of Salai Nachchiyar temple which is dated as 21-2-1457.
This shrine has the south prakaram wall (connecting the inner
and the outer gopuram) as its back wall and therefore shows that
the outer gopuram was in existence long before 1457 A.D. The
other nscription on the walls of the adjacent shrines are of later
date. An inscription on the west, north and south walls of the
second storey of the outer gopuram (Padikavali gopuram) is dated
8—1—1496. There are a few others of much later date.

We thus see that the construction of the temple structures
was a matter of slow and continued progress.. . Between 1130 A.D.
(Govindarajaswami’s installat*~ ' - and 1219 A.D. (construction
of the inner gopuram) t+ - ;eriod of about 89 years. Between
1220 A.D. (Ramanuja’s temple inscription) and 1457 A.D., there
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is an interval of 23 years. There were of course some endowments
during the latter interval for daily food offerings, festival celebrations
etc. We are also aware that from about 1330 onwards till the
Vijayanagar empire stood on a firm basis and Siluva Narasimha
took an abiding interest in these temples, the best that could be
expected was adequate provision for the daily pujas to be performed.
Besides the gopuram and prakaram walls, we have a few more
structures intimately connected with and which are essential com-
ponents of Sri Govindaraja Temple. These are the Dvarapalas
on either side of the entrance into the shrine in the Chitra-kiita
Mantapam, the shrine of Garudalvar, the Dhvajastambham
and Balipitham, the shrine of Hanuman and one or two mantapams
specially constructed for the use of Sri Govindaraja. These do
not appear to have existed in their present form from the beginning.

DVARAPALAS, 1549 A.D.

We may be under the impression that these two divine gate-
keepers were installed simultaneously with the installation of
Sri Govindaraja. But it is not so. They were installed on 18th
March 1549 A.D. (Kilaka year. Saka 1470, Mina month, Bahula
Panchami, Monday) by one Nandyala Narapparaya who endowed
the two villages of Pallipattu in Nagari Simai and GundipOndi
in Anjir division for offering daily 4 Vellai Tirupponakam food
to the installed deities.

Dhvsjastambham (Old).

This was constructed by one Raja Sri Ramaji Madarsu Pantulu
of Siddaluru. The year is not given. Anyhow we have now
quite a new gold gilt one.

The Big Gopuram about, 1628 A.D.

This gopuram in the Sannidhi Street was constructed by
Matla Kumara Anantaraya of the Deva Chola family and is one
of his numerous and costly acts of charity.
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Hanuman Shrine, 1509 A.D.

This was constructed by one Karavattippuli Alvir Appa
Pillai in 1509 (Saka 1431). He arranged for daily food offerings
also. This temple is at the end of the Sri Govindarajaswami
Sannidhi Street and in the Car Street, facing the temple.

Vasanta Mantapam, 1494 A.D.

This mantapam which is in front of the outer gopuram was
commenced by Van Sathagdpa Jiyar of the Ahobila Mutt, some
time before 1494. One Nallir Angindai took the unfinished
mantapam by paying 2000 panam to the Devasthanam as compen-
sation and completed it at his own cost. He made an endowment
for the celebration of a Vasanta festival therein.

Mantapam in front of Sri Govindaraja’s Temple,
1494 A.D.

This is perhaps the four-pillar mantapam near Sri Vedanta
Desika’s temple. It was constructed by Sriman Mahamanda-
leswara etc. Narasaraja Udaiyar, son of Kommaraja Siru Timma-
raja Udaiyar who endowed for food offerings therein on several
occasions noted in the inscription.

Nirali Mantapam, 1506 A.D.

One Appa Pillai, son of Karavattippuliyalwar one of Krishna-
deva Raya's generals, constructed a mantapam within the first
prakaram and near the kitchen. Water used to be poured round
it so as to make it look like a mantapam situated in the midst
of a tank. He called it the Nird]i Mantapam, and made endow-
ments for accommodating the Utsavar therein during the 12 days
of the Vaikasi festival and likewise during the Ani festival and
for food offerings on such occasions. This arrangement was
made as, at that period, there was no pushkarini or tank for the
temple and therefore no Nirili Mantapam. This mantapam
is still there, but not used for the purpose intended. As a Nirdli
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Mantapam it was being used till 1512 and perhaps also till 1522
AD.

Govinds Pushkarini (Krishnarayan Koneri) 1522 A.D.

This pushkarini came into notice for the first time m an inscrip-
tion 1522 A.D. One Govindaraja, son of Richiraja (one of
Krishnadevaraya’s officers and brother of the famous Siluva
Timmarasu) built a small shrine for Sri Gopala Krishnaswami
on the bank of Govinda Pushkarini and endowed for daily food
offerings. The pushkarini is again mentioned in 1530 A.D. and
on its banks a mantapam was constructed by one of the temple
accountants, Villiyar, for the special use of Sri Andal during her
Nirdtta Utsavam in Margali month. It fell into disrepdir and
was renovated in recent times when the Devasthanam was under
the management of the last Mahant. Both the names, Govinda
Pushkarini and Krishnarayan Koneri refer to this tank.

Chitrakuta Mantapam, 1493,

This is the mantapam in front of the shrine wherein we find
the Dvarapalas, and it extends up to where Garudélvar's shrine
is located. Tt is in two parts, the one near the main shrine having
the floor higher in level than the eastern half near the Garudalvar
shrine. It may be that the two were constructed at different times,
although now they form one structure. Whether the two together
were called Chitra Kuta Mantapam in 1493 or whether the one
near the main shrine had that name we cannot be sure of

Lakshmidevi Mantapam, 1542 A.D.

A Lakshmidevi Mantapam is distinctly mentioned in 1542
in an endowment by one Gangu Reddi in connection with food
offerings to Sri Govindardja and the Nachchimar after Tiruman-
janam on the Kartikai festival day. There was 2 Lakshmidevi
festival for Sri Govindaraja instituted by one Némi Setti.dn 1537.
The festival contemplated food offerings etc., in the temple and
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in a mantapam outside the gopuram. We have therefore to con-
clude that this mantapam was constructed later than 1537. It
perhaps is an extension of the old Vasantamantapam already
referred to.

The above are the principal structures which may be considered
as integral part of the temple of Sri Govindarajaswami.

Financial Status of Sri Govindaraja’s Temple,
(1130 A.D.—1467 A.D.)

What the financial position of Sri Govindaraja’s temple was
after the installation of the Deity in 1130 and right up to the year
1234 A.D. we are not in a position to state. In the year 1219,
the Queen of Vira Narasinga Yadavaraya presented 32 cows and
one bull for maintaining one Nandavilakku daily. From inscription
No. I. 40. which mainly refers to the endowment of land in Kotta-
kéalvay of Tirukkudavurnadu for the amudupadi and sattupagdi
of Tirumangai Alvar, we incidentally gather that Sri Govindaraja-
swami’s temple had its own resources in the shape of land probably
in the same Kudaviirnadu, that the produce from Kottakalvay
was amalgamated with the income of Sri Govindaraja and that
the two were managed by the Sthanattar of Tiruvengadamudaiyan
temple. There was therefore income for the daily puja of the temple.
In the same year 1234, Sri Vira Narasinga Yadavaraya endowed
in favour of Govindarija’s temple half the village of Payindapalle
in Kudaviir nadu, the other half being already the property of
Tiruvengadam Temple. We thus see that the corpus of Govindaraja’s
temple was a separate item. The Payindapalle village was ear-
marked for the expenses of the Ani Festival for Govindaraja,
first started by Vira Narasinga; also for making a Kitam for
the four-faced car; and what was left was for improvements to
the temple itself. Unless there was ample provision for- the daily
puja, this arrangement would not have been made for a festival.
We also learn from I. No. 90 dated 1255 A.D., that Periyamambattu
was a Tiruvidaiyiftam village of Sri Govindaraja. But who
endowed this property we are not told. Wa further learn from
1. No. 98 dated 1308 A.D., that certain brahmins of Nerka village
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made arrangements for giving rice and other provisions for feeding
pilgrims on Kaisika and Margali Dvadasis, on Makara Sankra-
manam and Chittirai Vishu. The next endowment that we
meet with is in 1390 wherein Mullai Tiruvenkata Jiyar
couples food offering for Govindapperumal during 10 days of
his Adhyayanotsavam, with the singing of Tiruppavai in Tirumala
during Margali month (There was yet no Adhyayanotsavam in
Tirumala). In 1387 Kollikkavalidasar made an endowment for
a daily offering of one Tirupponakam. Fifty years later in 1442
one Karunakaradasar made an endowment for offering one Tirup-
ponakam (food offering) daily to Sri Govindaraja. This is the
second private endowment for the Deity since the installation in
1130 A.D, )

We will therefore be justified in stating that the temple of
Sri Govindaraja was an unimportant one till the middle of the
fifteenth century A.D. Neither the Chola nor the Pandyan Kings
considered it as of any importance. Vira Narasinga Yadavaraya
was the only ruler who paid some attention to it. We know that
the Yadavardyas disappeared after 1360 A.D., with the death
of Sri Ranganatha Yadavaraya. None of the Vijayanagar Kings
nor any of their generals seems to have paid even a visit to this
temple. It was only after Saluva Narasimha the Viceroy established
himself firmly in Chandragiri with a dominating voice in the affairs
of the kingdom that the Tirupati temple received any attention.
Karunakara Dasar’s endowment for one Tirupponakam daily
made in 1442 was thus the second recognition. There were endow-
ments for festival offerings made in 1445 and 1446 by the Sabhaiyar
of Tiruchchukanur who had become one of the Stanattars of
Tirumala Temple. Emperumanar Jiyar’s endowment for one
Tirupponakam daily was made on 21—2—1457. Likewise Chenna
Kesava Dasar made an endowment for one Tirupponakam in
1450—51. Kollikkavalidasar's endowemnt for one Tirupponakam
was on 24—2—1387 long before even Karunakara dasar’s. On
25—8—1454 one Rigvedi Hariappar of Chandragiri ‘endowed
for one Tirupponakam and also for feeding 12 brahmins daily.
On 7—3—1464 Sottai Tirumala Nambi Tolappar Ayyangar
made an endowment of 7000 panams (the largest one up to that
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date) for offering every night one appapadi. There was no provision
for night offering till then (rdppadi). Saluva Narasinga Deva
Maharaya endowed the villages of Muppaduvéta, Mangoduvelada
and Manavuru for offering daily 26 harivana, one appa harivana
and one Tirukkanamadai. He also issued an edict permitting
the Sthanattar of the temple to distribute amongst themselves
the prasadams offered, following the practice in Tirumala.

We thus see that Saluva Narasinga Deva put the coping stone
over the structure which was being slowly built by the efforts of
private individuals from 1387 to 1467 A.D. We will see later
how one Kandidai Ramanuja Ayyangar who came in as a desantari
or stranger became his chief lieutenant in all temple affairs. We
have already gone a little too far ahead of the history of the Tirumala
temple itself. But it is necessary as Tirupati was intended to
be the subsidiary temple to afford convenience to pilgrims before
they commenced the ascent of the Hill.

The Govindaraja temple received considerable impetus from
Saluva Narasimha till his death in about 1494 A.D. During the
reign of the Vijayanagar Kings, particularly Krishnadevaraya
Maharaya and Achyutaraya Maharaya, there was no royal patronage.
But some of the officers under them did much. During Sadasiva-
deva Maharaya’s reign there were unprecedented endowments
for Sri Govindaraja from private individuals of all classes and
grades. As almost all these endowments are mixed up with the
endowments for Tiruvengadamugaiyan also, they will be considered
together later. The period after 1467 A.D. was a prosperous
one for Sri Govindardja and continued to be so even after the
downfall of the Vijayanagar Empire.

Note: The absence of Dhvajastambham till about the 16th century was
due to the temole beiog an Adhama Madhyama one which accroding to the
Agamas could get on with temporary bamboo pole flag staff installed for
each ‘festival occasion. Hanuman Shrine is foreign to the Vaikhanasa
Agama. The Dvarapalas are a misfit, the proper ones should be Ganesa
and Nagaraja.



CHAPTER XI.

SHRINES ATTACHED TO SRI GOVINDARAJA’S
TEMPLE AND OTHER TEMPLES,

THERE are some .shrines inside the enclosure formed by the
Inner Gopuram and its prakdra walls. From an inscription
which is on the door-jamb wall of the inner Gopuram and which
relates to the 15th year of the reign of Vira Narasingadevar Yadava-
rayar, we infer that this Gopuram was in existence before 1219 A.D.
This Vira Narasingadeva probably constructed the Padikavali or
outer Gopuram in Tirumala also about the same year (1217 A.D,).
The unconfirmed tradition, however, is that the Govindaraja
Temple and the Gopuram were constructed during the life time
of Sri Ramanuja (i.e., about 1130 A.D.).

Within the enclosure formed by this Gopuram and the prakaram
walls there were originally only two shrines, one dedicated to Sri
Parthasarathy and the other to Sri Govindaraja. The shirnes
to saints which are now there seem to have sprung up much later.
For we learn that an image of Tirumangai Alvar was an addition
to the pantheon made in 1234 A.D. and special provision was
made for the daily offerings on account of that a]var. The inscrip-
tion does not however state that a shrine was built inside the temple.
It may be that an idol alone was installed.

_ Andal Shrine:—Very near to the shrine of the principal Deity
is the shrine dedicated to Sri Andal. The shrine is only a part
of the front mantapam screened off by walls. An inscription!
referable to 1308 A.D., which is on the north wall inner side of
the shrine makes it certain that Her shrine was constructed before
1308 A.D. From I 61; (1254 A.D.) we learn that Tirumo]i was
recited regularly on all the days of the Vaikasi Brahmotsavam
for Sri Govindaraja and food offerings were made and distributed
to the public in that connection. This word Tirumo]i may be
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taken to refer to Nachiyar (Andal) Tirumoli, or the periya Tirumo)i
of TFirumangai Alvir or to Nammalvar Tirumo)i, or to all the
three. But it is only in or about the year 1495 A.D. (because
the donor Kandadai Ramanuja Ayyen is described as Manager
of Por-Bhandaram which he became only on 1—1-—1495) that
we find that Friday Tirumanjanam was provided for her throughout
the year and also special food offerings after procession with Sri
Govindaraja and Nachchimar on the Tiruvadipiram day. Andal
was also taken to the foot of the hills to receive the appappadi
sent fiom Tirumala in connection with the birth day celebrations
of Kandadai Raméanuja Ayyengar. Thus it is only from 1495
A.D., that Andal emerges into full notice.

Nammalvar Shrine 1287 A.D.

We thus see that Sri Andal and Tirumangai Alvar have both
been installed within the Temple, whereas, Nammalvar’s shrine
was placed on the bank of the Alvar Tirtham waterfall. This
might have been because in those days there was no Pushkarini
(or sacred tank) attached to the temple and the Alvar Tirtham
was selected for the purpose of bringing water for the daily Tiruman-
janam of Sri Govindarajaswami. The waterfall which is now
known as the Alvar Tirtham was probably first sanctified by the
location of Nammalvar’s shrine on its bank. Since then the water
from that piace might have been brought everyday for the daily
puja of Sri Govindaraja, in the same way that water from the
Akisa Ganga waterfall in Tirumala is brought for the daily puja
of Tiruvéngadamudaiyan. Although the Gopuram, Vimanam,
Prakaram walls etc., of the A]var Tirtham Nammalvar Temple
weie constructed by .one Pallavardyar or Vaneduttakai Alagar,
of Tunjalur about 1287 A.D. (the date is inferred from an other
inscription in Nandalur, Cuddapah Dt.) the shrine itself should
have been older than that of Sri Govindaraja since it is probable
that the shrine gave sanctity to the waters of the waterfall. It is
also likely that this Namma]var shrine acted as a landmark for
the pilgrims’ route from Tiruchchukanur before Tirupati was
founded.

1. 1 98 Saka 1280
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"Kulasekhara Alvar’s Shrine—1469 A.D.

We learn that in 1469 A.D. Kandadai Ramanuja Ayyengar,
the-disciple of Alagiya Manavéla Jiyyar erected a shrine and con-
secrated therein the image of Kulasékhara A}var right in the open
ground to the north of Tirupati and within Kottir village limits
in 1469 A.D.!

(There is a Mila Béram as well as Utsava Béram). The
preference shown by Ramanuja Iyengar for a Kshatriya Alvar
was probably meant to please his patron Saluva Narasimha who was
treated as a Kshatriya. There is reference to a Kulasgkhara
A]vir street in an inscription dated 1512 A.D. _ There was a manta-
pam in this temple called Kumara Ramanujaiyyan mantapam.

Periya Alvar Shrine (before 1300 A.D.)

There is an inscription in Tamil Venba metre I. 177.2 on the
west ‘wall of the Periya Alwar's shrine at the foot of the Tirumala
Hills (Alipiri or gy rsy) from which we may assume that the
temple was built during the Chola or Pandya rule and that its date
may be fixed before 1300 A. D., the same as for the Namma Jvar
shrine near Alvar tirtham. The ancient practice was for the pilgrim
to take his bath in the A)var Tirtham as a purificatory measure
and then take the blessings of Periyalvir at the foot of the Hill
before commencing the holy ascent. We could affirm that Periya
A]var's shrine was in existence at the foot of the hill at any rate
before 1485 A.D. as an inscription on the wall of the Shrine ascribes

1. fouufdéd a_dig Paddéd Csri.........ewd
gwdar W E0rsr ypauri esad,...... U, G Hpar
aryd  Sod, P@@@apyd udemd Csrdgid sL@

dig...... ”
(Saka 1391 or 1469 AD)

2. aestuuTL o sagisTw déd s HulAuiu
Hé® 5HGurdyl L Tél@er gluran Guéabaw U
ugSy dw_papiy spﬂ;si-—&mw Tzl o
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that date for the construction of the Lakshmi Narasimha’s Temple
at Alipiri by Saluva Narasimha Déva. Periya Alvar's shrine
served as the point where Sri Venkateswara’s prasidams in the
shape of appapadi, parivattam, sittupadi, etc., were and are
received with temple honours at Tirupati on the occasion of the
Sattumurai festivals of the Alvars.

There is another Periya Alvar’s shrine built by Pedda Man-
gamma, mother of Téllapakkam Tiruvengalappan onPedda Chimugu
Hill (near A}var Tirtham). There is a third Periya Alvar Temple
located in Sri Lakshminarayanapperumal temple (supposed to
refer to the one in the present Govindaraja South Mada Street
for which Prativadi Bhayankara Family are the Kartas). These
two temples of Sri Lakshminarayana and Periya Alviar would
have come into existence early in the 17th Century.

Thirumangai Alvar shrine in Tirupati (1234 A.D.)

Although an inscription of 1234 A.D. (1. 40) mentions arrange-
ments made by the Periya Nattar, in Kottakalvay village for the
pija of Tirumangai Alvar, it is not clear from the inscription
whether on that date there was a separate shrine for Tirumangai
Alvar and whether it was within Govindaraja’s temple itself. We
come across other inscriptions to show that a separate shrine
existed. An inscription in Tirumala Temple dated 1328 A.D.
(1. 99) (east wall outerside, south of the inner Gopuram) shows
that Mahapradhani Singayya Dannayaka made provision from
out of the income of Singanalltr (Pongaliir) for one Tirupponakam
(4 marakals of rice) daily for Tirumangai Alvar along with a similar
provision for Vira Narasingapperumal in Tirupati. The inference
is that there was a separate shrine for the A]var in Tirupati, before
1328 A.D. An inscription dated 1472 A.D., however, makes
it clear that the village of Vennaivasal (on the banks of the Kaveri
river) was granted by one Miivarayar of Viramadakkippatti for
the daily offering of two tirupponakam to Sri Venkatesa and for
constructing a Pallikonddn Tirumantapam and other buildings
for Tirumangai Alvar temple in Tirupati and that Emperumanar
Jiyar was made the manager (Kartar) thereof. Another inscription
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which is on the north wall of the second prakara of Tirumangai
Alvar’s shrine on the Alvar Tirtham road, distinctly shows where
the temple stood perhaps from its earliest days of 1234 A.D. The
shrine was there on the Alvar Tirtham road and was obviously
enlarged by stages. It is now in ruins and blocked up. * We find
tha